THE ASSOCIATION OF OTHER AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES IN PATIENTS WITH THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY

EDITED BY: Alessandro Antonelli and Salvatore Benvenga PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-625-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-625-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

THE ASSOCIATION OF OTHER AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES IN PATIENTS WITH THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY

Topic Editors: Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, A.O.U. Policlinico Gaetano Martino, Italy

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) are T cell-mediated organ-specific autoimmune disorders resulting from an immune dysregulation leading to a thyroid immune attack (Antonelli and Benvenga). Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis are the two main clinical presentations of AITD, and their clinical hallmarks are thyrotoxicosis and hypothyroidism, respectively.

In many cases, AITD may be associated in the same patient with other organspecific autoimmune attacks (such as in the case of type II autoimmune polyglandular syndrome, or type I diabetes, etc). Furthermore, AITD and thyroid function abnormalities have been frequently described in patients with systemic rheumatologic autoimmune diseases. Conversely, patients affected with the above mentioned autoimmune disorders are more frequently affected by AITD.

In this Research Topic, constituted by nineteen papers, we review and discuss new evidence about the association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with AITD. Among other organ-specific autoimmune disorders, the associations of AITD with chronic autoimmune gastritis (Cellini et al.), vitiligo (Baldini E et al.), lichen (Guarneri et al.), psoriasis (Ruffilli et al.), myasthenia gravis (Lopomo and Berrih-Aknin) and glomerulopathies (Santoro et al.) have been treated. Also the associations of AITD, in systemic autoimmune diseases have been treated (as Sjögren's syndrome, Baldini C et al.; systemic sclerosis, Fallahi et al.; systemic lupus erythematosus, Ferrari et al.; Antiphospholipid syndrome, Versini; sarcoidosis, Fazzi et al.; the autoimmune/ inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants, Watad et al.; rheumatoid arthritis, Bliddal et al.; Hepatitis C Virus and mixed cryoglobulinemia, Ferri et al.; and, psoriathic arthritis, Ruffilli et al.). Furthermore peculiar aspects associated with post partum thyroiditis have been reviewed too (Di Bari et al., Le Donne et al.).

The exact pathogenetic mechanisms underlying the above reported associations are not completely known. It has been hypothesized that the influence of genetic (Coppedè), and environmental factors (Antonelli and Benvenga), could lead to the onset of autoimmune phenomena in different organs in the same subject, characterized by predominance of a Th1 immune pattern at the beginning, and in the active phase of these disorders.

In conclusion, an association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with thyroid autoimmunity has been shown, and this Research Topic provides an extensive update of the literature, and suggests interesting points for new investigations.

Citation: Antonelli, A., Benvenga, S., eds (2018). The Association of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Patients With Thyroid Autoimmunity. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-625-3

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: The Association of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Patients With Thyroid Autoimmunity

Alessandro Antonelli and Salvatore Benvenga

- 09 Epigenetics and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases Fabio Coppedè
- **15** Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Autoimmune Gastritis Miriam Cellini, Maria Giulia Santaguida, Camilla Virili, Silvia Capriello, Nunzia Brusca, Lucilla Gargano and Marco Centanni
- 20 Vitiligo and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders Enke Baldini, Teresa Odorisio, Salvatore Sorrenti, Antonio Catania, Francesco Tartaglia, Giovanni Carbotta, Daniele Piron, Roberta Rendina, Eleonora D'Armiento, Severino Persechino and Salvatore Ulisse
- 26 Thyroid Autoimmunity and Lichen Fabrizio Guarneri, Roberta Giuffrida, Flavia Di Bari, Serafinella Patrizia Cannavò and Salvatore Benvenga
- 33 Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis, and Thyroid Autoimmunity Ilaria Ruffilli, Francesca Ragusa, Salvatore Benvenga, Roberto Vita, Alessandro Antonelli, Poupak Fallahi and Silvia Martina Ferrari
- 38 Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Myasthenia Gravis Angela Lopomo and Sonia Berrih-Aknin
- **46** Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Glomerulopathies Domenico Santoro, Carmela Vadalà, Rossella Siligato, Michele Buemi and Salvatore Benvenga
- 52 The Association of Sjögren Syndrome and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders Chiara Baldini, Francesco Ferro, Marta Mosca, Poupak Fallahi and Alessandro Antonelli
- **57** Associations Between Systemic Sclerosis and Thyroid Diseases Poupak Fallahi, Ilaria Ruffilli, Dilia Giuggioli, Michele Colaci, Silvia Martina Ferrari, Alessandro Antonelli and Clodoveo Ferri
- 63 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Thyroid Autoimmunity Silvia Martina Ferrari, Giusy Elia, Camilla Virili, Marco Centanni, Alessandro Antonelli and Poupak Fallahi
- 69 Thyroid Autoimmunity and Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Not Such a Trivial Association

Mathilde Versini

- 75 Sarcoidosis and Thyroid Autoimmunity Piera Fazzi, Poupak Fallahi and Silvia Martina Ferrarii
- 81 Autoimmune/Inflammatory Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Abdulla Watad, Paula David, Stav Brown and Yehuda Shoenfeld

86 Thyroid Autoimmunity and Function After Treatment With Biological Antirheumatic Agents in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Sofie Bliddal, Stina Willemoes Borresen and Ulla Feldt-Rasmussen

- 93 The Daily Consumption of Cola can Determine Hypocalcemia: A Case Report of Postsurgical Hypoparathyroidism-Related Hypocalcemia Refractory to Supplemental Therapy With High Doses of Oral Calcium Valentina Guarnotta, Serena Riela, Marina Massaro, Sebastiano Bonventre, Angela Inviati, Alessandro Ciresi, giuseppe pizzolanti, Salvatore Benvenga and Carla Giordano
- **98** Autoimmune Abnormalities of Postpartum Thyroid Diseases Flavia Di Bari, Roberta Granese, Maria Le Donne, Roberto Vita and Salvatore Benvenga
- **106 Postpartum Mood Disorders and Thyroid Autoimmunity** Maria Le Donne, Carmela Mento, Salvatore Settineri, Alessandro Antonelli and Salvatore Benvenga
- 112 Thyroid Involvement in Hepatitis C Virus-Infected Patients With/Without Mixed Cryoglobulinemia

Clodoveo Ferri, Michele Colaci, Poupak Fallahi, Silvia Martina Ferrari, Alessandro Antonelli and Dilia Giuggioli





Editorial: The Association of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Patients With Thyroid Autoimmunity

Alessandro Antonelli^{1*} and Salvatore Benvenga^{2,3,4}

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ² Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Section of Endocrinology, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ³ Master Program on Childhood, Adolescent and Women's Endocrine Health, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴ Interdepartmental Program on Molecular & Clinical Endocrinology, and Women's Endocrine Health, University Hospital, A.O.U. Policlinico Gaetano Martino, Messina, Italy

Keywords: autoimmune thyroid diseases, rheumatological autoimmune disorders, Graves' disease, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, thyroid autoantibodies, postpartum, epigenetics, environmental factors

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Association of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Patients With Thyroid Autoimmunity

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) derive from a dysregulation of the immune system causing an immune attack on the thyroid, and involve two main clinical presentations: Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (AT) (1).

Recently, a significant increase of the prevalence of other autoimmune disorders in AT patients has been shown (by a large prospective, case-control, study) for the following diseases: vitiligo (Vit), chronic autoimmune gastritis (CAG), sjogren disease (SS), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis, polymyalgia rheumatica (Polym), celiac disease, diabetes, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), sarcoidosis (S), alopecia, psoriathic arthritis (PsA), systemic sclerosis (SSc), and hepatitis C virus (HCV)-related mixed cryoglobulinemia (MC); and a near significant prevalence has also been shown for Addison's disease and ulcerative colitis (2). Furthermore, the association of three autoimmune disorders was observed in AT patients (the most frequent associations were AT + CAG + Vit and AT + CAG + Polym) (2).

Moreover, in a large number (n = 2,791) of UK patients with GD a significant association with RA, pernicious anemia, SLE, Addison's disease, celiac disease, and Vit has been shown. A relative "clustering" of AITD in the index case with parental AITD was present. Furthermore relative risks for most other coexisting autoimmune disorders were strongly increased among parents of index cases (3).

Conversely, patients affected with the above mentioned autoimmune disorders are more frequently affected by AITD (1).

In this Research Topic, constituted by eighteen papers, we review and discuss new evidence about the association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with AITD, providing a stimulating overview of the present knowledge.

The paper by Coppedè discusses the increasing evidence about the importance of epigenetic modifications (such as changes in DNA methylation, non-coding RNA molecules-mediated gene silencing, and covalent modifications of histone tails) in the pathogenesis of AITD, as a possible result of environmental injuries that trigger these disorders.

The autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA), presented by Shoenfeld and Agmon-Levin (4), is constituted by different autoimmune conditions induced by the exposure to various adjuvants, that are present in many vaccines, and induce immune reactions (5). The review by Watad et al. summarizes the current knowledge on ASIA syndrome presented as endocrinopathies, concentrating on adjuvants-associated AITD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Rauf Latif, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*Correspondence: Alessandro Antonelli alessandro.antonelli@med.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 18 June 2018 Accepted: 28 August 2018 Published: 13 September 2018

Citation:

Antonelli A and Benvenga S (2018) Editorial: The Association of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Patients With Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 9:540. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00540

5

Fallahi et al. provide evidence on the association of SSc and thyroid disorders. The majority of the reviewed papers report an association among SSc, hypothyroidism, and AT (and few cases of GD). Moreover, a high prevalence of thyroid cancer, in SSc patients with AT, has been observed.

Increased incidence of AT and hypothyroidism has been shown in SLE patients, particularly in females. The review by Ferrari et al. suggests female patients with SLE, showing a high risk profile of AITD [a small and hypoechoic thyroid, a thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) in the upper quartile of the normal range, and antithyroid peroxidase antibodies (AbTPO) positivity], should be periodically re-evaluated for thyroid dysfunction, and when necessary due treatments.

Mixed crvoglobulinemia is the most important systemic HCV-related extrahepatic disease (6). HCV is a hepato- and lymphotropic virus responsible for many autoimmune/lymphoproliferative and/or neoplastic disorders and a high incidence of new cases of AT and thyroid dysfunctions have been reported in MC patients (6). The paper by Ferri et al. describes the prevalence and the clinical and serological features associated with thyroid involvement, in particular AT and papillary thyroid cancer, in patients affected by chronic HCV infection in presence/absence of cryoglobulinemic vasculitis.

Regarding RA, many studies have reported that the therapy with biological antirheumatic agents (BAAs) are able to modify the inflammatory response both in RA such as in AITD. The paper by Bliddal et al. investigates how the use of such agents affect the thyroid function and autoimmunity in RA patients.

Psoriasis (PsO) is a chronic autoimmune skin disease, and PsA (a chronic inflammatory arthritis) is present in about 30% of patients with PsO. An increased rate of new cases of patients with positive AbTPO, hypothyroidism, thyroid dysfunctions and appearance of a small thyroid with signs of hypoechogenicity, overall in females, has been reported in PsA (7). PsO, PsA, and their association with AITD have been evaluated by Ruffilli et al. suggesting that a thyroid screening should be done routinely in PsA female patients with an elevated risk pattern (a TSH level in the upper quartile of the reference range, AbTPO positivity, a small and hypoechogenic thyroid).

Also the association of S and thyroid autoimmunity has been shown by different studies in a wide range of variability, particularly in the female gender (8). Fazzi et al. provide evidence about the possible association between S and thyroid autoimmunity.

Sjögren's syndrome and AITD frequently coexist in clinical practice, leading to a complex overlapping disorder that represents a particular example of the expression of heterogeneity in patients with autoimmune disorders. Baldini et al. provide a critical overview of the recent literature on the pathogenesis and clinical features of SS-AITD overlapping disease.

Non-segmental Vit is an autoimmune disorder arising from an autoimmune response against melanocytes in the skin, and it is often associated with other autoimmune disorders (9). Baldini et al. describe the clinical association between Vit and AITD and evaluate the possible common molecular pathways involved in their pathogenesis. Lichen planus (LP) and lichen sclerosus (LS) are cutaneousmucous disorders, too. Their etiology is unknown, clinical and histological data suggest an autoimmune pathogenesis; however only few papers evaluated their association with AITD. Guarneri et al. review the scientific literature about the correlation between AITD and lichen, and the genetic risk factors in common between these conditions.

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is a neuromuscular disease caused by a deficient transmission of the nerve impulse to muscles, leading to muscle weakness and exaggerated fatigue, that is mediated by autoantibodies. AITD and MG are frequently associated; their etiology is multifactorial and depends on genetic and environmental factors. The review by Lopomo and Berrih-Aknin focuses on AITD and MG, their common features and their diversities.

The association between CAG and AITD has been first shown at the beginning of 1960s, and recently has been included in polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type IIIb (10). Cellini et al. summarize the most recent achievements on this peculiar association.

Santoro et al. evaluate the association between AT and glomerulopathies. IgA nephropathy, membranous nephropathy, membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, amyloidosis, minimal change disease, and antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA) vasculitis are renal disorders frequently observed in AT. Different hypotheses have been reported about the association between AITD and glomerulopathies. A probable mechanism at the basis of the association between ANCA vasculitis and AT is the cross-reactivity between antigens in presence of a genetic predisposition.

Moreover, this Research Topic evaluates also thyroid autoimmunity during the complex period after childbirth, that is critical for the *de novo* appearance or exacerbation of autoimmune diseases, and AITD. Di Bari et al. describe the postpartum thyroid diseases that consist of postpartum thyroiditis (PPT), but also GD and non-autoimmune thyroiditis.

Postpartum mood disorders are a common form of maternal psychiatric morbidity, owing to the rapid endocrine and psychological alterations in the postpartum period (11). Le Donne et al. discuss the interaction between thyroid autoantibodies and mood disorders.

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune disorder manifesting as recurring venous or arterial thrombosis that can induce complications during pregnancy and is associated with the presence of persistent antiphospholipid (aPL) autoantibodies. Versini conducts a literature review on the present data on aPL/APS and AITD, and particularly on the role of this association in obstetrical complications.

The exact pathogenetic mechanisms underlying the above reported disorders are not completely known. The effect of genetic on the association of different autoimmune disorders has been shown, as: (a) there is significant clustering of AITD within families (40–50% of AT patients have another family member with AT) (12); (b) a clear evidence comes from twin studies for GD (13) and AT (14) with concordance rates of 30–40% in monozygotic twins and 0–7% in dizygotic twins. Moreover, new recent insights in genome-wide association studies (GWAS) about autoimmune and immune-mediated diseases have increased the knowledge of the pathogenesis underlying these disorders (15), suggesting a common genetic susceptibility (15).

Environmental factors [selenium, and vitamin D deficiency, high iodine intake, exposure to radiation (owing to nuclear fallout or medical irradiation)] are of particular importance for the appearance of AITD in susceptible subjects (16). Cigarette smoking is associated with GD and Graves' ophthalmopathy (GO), although it reduces the risk of hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmunity. Also viral infections can drive AITD, in particular human parvovirus B19 (EVB19) and HCV. Regarding the various existing chemical contaminants, pesticides and halogenated organochlorines differently disrupt thyroid function. Polychlorinated biphenyls and their metabolites and polybrominated diethyl ethers bind to thyroid transport proteins (i.e., transthyretin), displace thyroxine, in this way disrupting thyroid function. Considering drugs, interferon- and medicines containing iodine have been associated with AITD. These environmental issues have been presented in a recent paper by Ferrari et al. (16).

REFERENCES

- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2015) 14:174–80. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016. 09.009
- Boelaert K, Newby PR, Simmonds MJ, Holder RL, Carr-Smith JD, Heward JM, et al. Prevalence and relative risk of other autoimmune diseases in subjects with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Am J Med.* (2010) 123:183.e1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.06.030
- Shoenfeld Y, Agmon-Levin N. 'ASIA'-Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants. J Autoimmun. (2011) 36:4–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2010.07.003
- Watad A, Quaresma M, Bragazzi NL, Cervera R, Tervaert JWC, Amital H, et al. The autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA)/Shoenfeld's syndrome: descriptive analysis of 300 patients from the international ASIA syndrome registry. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2018) 37:483–93. doi: 10.1007/s10067-017-3748-9
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, et al. Incidence of thyroid disorders in mixed cryoglobulinemia: results from a longitudinal follow-up. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:747–51. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.03.012
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Miccoli M, Sedie AD, et al. Increased incidence of autoimmune thyroid disorders in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a longitudinal follow-up study. *Immunol Res.* (2017) 65:681–6. doi: 10.1007/s12026-017-8900-8
- Antonelli A, Fazzi P, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ferrannini E. Prevalence of hypothyroidism and Graves disease in sarcoidosis. *Chest* (2006) 130:526–32. doi: 10.1378/chest.130.2.526
- Ferrari SM, Fallahi P, Santaguida G, Virili C, Ruffilli I, Ragusa F, et al. Circulating CXCL10 is increased in non-segmental vitiligo, in presence or absence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2017) 16:946–50. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2017.07.006

A prevalent Th1 immune pattern has been shown in patients with AT, GD, GO (17, 18), type 1 diabetes, SLE, SSc, RA, MC, and others (19), in the initial phase of these disorders. Furthermore, in GD, GO, SLE, MC (and others) a Th1 prevalence has been shown in the active phase, that switches to a Th2 profile in the inactive phase (20, 21) of the disease. So it has been hypothesized that the influence of genetic and environmental factors could lead to the onset of autoimmune phenomena in different organs in the same subject (1), characterized by predominance of a Th1 immune pattern at the beginning, and in the active phase of these disorders.

In conclusion, an association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with thyroid autoimmunity has been shown, and this Research Topic provides an extensive update of the literature, and suggests interesting points for new investigations.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AA and SB gave substantial contribution in writing the article, and revised it critically for important intellectual content. AA and SB agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

- Vita R, Santaguida MG, Virili C, Segni M, Galletti M, Mandolfino M, et al. Serum thyroid hormone antibodies are frequent in patients with polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type 3, particularly in those who require thyroxine treatment. *Front Endocrinol.* (2017) 8:212. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00212
- Le Donne M, Settineri S, Benvenga S. Early pospartum alexithymia and risk for depression: relationship with serum thyrotropin, free thyroid hormones and thyroid autoantibodies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37:519–33. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.08.001
- Brix TH, Christensen K, Holm NV, Harvald B, Hegedus L. A populationbased study of Graves' disease in Danish twins. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1998) 48:397–400.
- Ringold DA, Nicoloff JT, Kesler M, Davis H, Hamilton A, Mack T. Further evidence for a strong genetic influence on the development of autoimmune thyroid disease: the California twin study. *Thyroid* (2002) 12:647–53. doi: 10.1089/105072502760258613
- Brix TH, Kyvik KO, Hegedus L. A population-based study of chronic autoimmune hypothyroidism in Danish twins. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:536–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.2.6385
- Cho JH, Feldman M. Heterogeneity of autoimmune diseases: pathophysiologic insights from genetics and implications for new therapies. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:730–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.3897
- Ferrari SM, Fallahi P, Antonelli A, Benvenga S. Environmental issues in thyroid diseases. *Front Endocrinol.* (2017) 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017. 00050
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Pupilli C, Mancusi C, Metelli MR, et al. CXCL9 and CXCL11 chemokines modulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptoralpha agonists secretion in Graves' and normal thyrocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2010) 95:413–20. doi: 10.1210/jc.20 10-0923
- Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Pupilli C, d'Annunzio G, Lorini R, et al. Serum Th1 (CXCL10) and Th2 (CCL2) chemokine levels in children with newly diagnosed Type 1 diabetes: a longitudinal study. *Diabet Med.* (2008) 25:1349–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008. 02577.x
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Ferrannini E, Ferri C, Fallahi P. Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)10 in autoimmune

diseases. Autoimmun Rev. (2014) 13:272-80. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013. 10.010

- Zignego AL. Enhanced TH1 cytokine production in hepatitis C virus-infected patients with mixed cryoglobulinemia: understanding the pathological issues. *J Hepatol.* (2004) 41:1045–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.10.007
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Sebastiani M, et al. High values of CXCL10 serum levels in patients with hepatitis C associated mixed cryoglobulinemia in presence or absence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Cytokine* (2008) 42:137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2008. 01.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Antonelli and Benvenga. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Epigenetics and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases

Fabio Coppedè*

Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, Section of Medical Genetics, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Increasing evidence suggests that epigenetic modifications, including changes in DNA methylation, covalent modifications of histone tails, and gene silencing mediated by non-coding RNA molecules, play a substantial role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders and might be seen as the result of environmental insults that trigger these conditions. Studies in cells and tissues of patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD), and particularly in Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), are increasingly revealing altered epigenetic marks and resultant deregulation of gene expression levels, but the available data are still limited to be translated into the clinical settings. Particularly, genome-wide methylation and histone tail modification screenings are limited to a few studies in GD patients, and the diagnostic values of the observed epigenetic changes or their potential prognostic utility are still unclear. Similarly, data concerning microRNA expression in AITD patients are largely descriptive and not yet translated into the clinics. In addition, studies relating certain environmental exposures to specific epigenetic changes in AITD and studies evaluating the crosstalk between different epigenetic mechanisms are largely missing. In summary, despite that there is a clear evidence of epigenetic impairment in AITD, further research is required for a better understanding of the epigenetic networks involved in disease pathogenesis, thereby opening the way for potential diagnostic and prognostic tools, as well as for epigenetic interventions in the patients.

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Reviewed by:

Roberto Vita, University of Messina, Italy Flavia Di Bari, Policlinico di Messina, Italy

***Correspondence:** Fabio Coppedè fabio.coppede@med.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 28 April 2017 **Accepted:** 14 June 2017 **Published:** 29 June 2017

Citation:

Coppedè F (2017) Epigenetics and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 8:149. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00149 Keywords: autoimmune thyroid diseases, Graves' disease, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, epigenetics, DNA methylation, non-coding RNAs, microRNA, histone tail modifications

INTRODUCTION

Epigenetics is an umbrella term referred to heritable and reversible marks, such as DNA methylation or covalent modifications of histone tails, that regulate the chromatin structure and switch genes "on" and "off" without changing the primary DNA sequence (1). In addition, several classes of non-coding RNAs, ranging from small to long molecules, play a substantial role in the epigenetic regulation of gene expression (2). Some studies performed at the end of the last century revealed that CD4+ T cells treated with 5-azacytidine, a substance that inhibits DNA methylation, respond to the presentation of self antigens and cause a lupus-like syndrome when injected in mice (3, 4), suggesting that epigenetic mechanisms, and particularly impaired DNA methylation, could be involved in auto-immune reactions (3, 4). A few years ago, we reviewed the literature for studies addressing epigenetic modifications in autoimmune diseases, most of them were focused on systemic lupus erythematosus or rheumatoid arthritis (RA), but increasing evidence was available for other autoimmune

pathologies, including autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD), a group of disorders characterized by loss of immunological self-tolerance (5). The major AITD are Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), both organ-specific autoimmune diseases characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid gland with accompanying evidence of humoral and cellular immune system activation and female preponderance (6). In GD, the autoimmune process results in the production of thyroidstimulating antibodies leading to hyperthyroidism, whereas in HT the immune response is destructive, leading in most cases to hypothyroidism (7). Genetic predisposition and environmental factors, such as infection, chemicals, and nutrition, play a role in the pathogenic process of autoimmunity (8). Recent studies have clearly demonstrated a significant increased risk of other autoimmune diseases in patients with AITD and there is evidence of genetic factors that influence the association of different autoimmune disorders (9). In this regard, the investigation of the genetic risk factors for AITD has revealed that some genes are unique for GD or HT, while others are common to both diseases or to AITD and other autoimmune diseases (10). Increasing evidence suggests that epigenetic modifications may be seen to bridge the gap between genetics and the environment (10, 11), so that epigenetic modifications of autoimmune-related genes, resulting from environmental exposure, are increasingly recognized to play a pivotal role in autoimmunity (5). This article critically discusses the most recent evidence of epigenetic modifications in AITD.

DNA METHYLATION IN AITD

DNA methylation consists of the addition of a methyl group to the DNA, mediated by enzymes called DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). The best-characterized DNA methylation process is the addition of a methyl group to cytosine in a CpG dinucleotide context, forming 5-methylcytosine (5-mC). When the promoter region of a gene is methylated, the expression of that gene is repressed because methyl-CpG-binding domain (MBD) proteins recognize and bind to the methylated DNA and, in turn, recruit other epigenetic factors to enhance chromatin remodeling and transcriptional repression (12–14). DNA methylation is a physiological mechanism required for several cellular processes, including genomic imprinting, embryonic development, cell differentiation, X chromosome inactivation, repression of repetitive elements, and maintenance of the cellular identity (1).

Skewed X Chromosome Inactivation (XCI) in AITD

Many, but not all, autoimmune diseases are more common in females than in males, with reported ratios ranging from 10:1 to 3:1 (15). A possible role of skewed XCI, mediated by epigenetic mechanisms, has been suggested in the etiology of AITD (16), RA (17), and scleroderma (18) to partially explain the female preponderance. The X chromosome contains several immune-related genes, including CD40 ligand (*CD40L*), forkhead box P3 (*FOXP3*), and toll-like receptor 7 (*TLR7*), and one of the two X chromosomes in each female cell is randomly inactivated by methylation to balance gene expression levels between males,

that possess only one X chromosome, and females who have two copies of the X chromosome (19). In some females, however, this inactivation can predominantly occur to either the maternal or paternal X chromosome, and this phenomenon is referred to as skewed XCI (19). Concerning AITD, studies performed over the last two decades have addressed the link between skewed XCI and AITD risk (16, 17, 20-23). A meta-analysis of those studies confirmed significant skewing of XCI with GD and HT (23), and studies on twins revealed that skewed XCI may be causally associated with clinically overt AITD, but not with the presence of thyroid autoantibodies in euthyroid subjects (7). A more recent study in AITD patients revealed that the proportion of skewed XCI was not significantly different with respect to control subjects, but was higher in patients with intractable GD than in those with GD in remission, and in patients with severe HT than in those with mild HT, suggesting that skewed XCI is likely related to the prognosis of AITD, rather than to their development (19).

Polymorphisms of Genes Involved in DNA Methylation and AITD Risk

DNA methylation depends on the cellular availability of dietary folates and related B-group vitamins, all required for the production of S-adenosylmethionine, the intracellular donor compound of methyl groups (24). Several investigators provided indirect evidence of impaired DNA methylation in AITD by addressing the role of genes involved in folate metabolism and DNA methvlation reactions as genetic risk factors for AITD. Particularly, those studies investigated polymorphisms in DNMT genes or in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) genes, the two latter coding for folate-metabolizing enzymes (25, 26). rs1801133 in MTHFR was associated with reduced GD risk in women (25), while rs2228612 in DNMT1 was linked to DNA hypomethylation and with the intractability of GD and rs1801394 in MTRR with the severity of HT (26). A more recent study addressed the contribution of DNMT gene polymorphisms in a large cohort of AITD patients composed by a total of 685 GD patients, 353 HT patients, and 909 healthy controls, revealing that both rs2424913 in DNMT3B and rs2228611 in DNMT1 were associated with AITD susceptibility (27). Interestingly, DNMT gene polymorphisms have been associated with other autoimmune disorders, for example DNMT3B polymorphisms were linked to increased risk of oral lichen planus (28), with the progression of joint destruction in RA (29), and with increased risk of thymoma in patients with myasthenia gravis (30). Collectively those studies suggest that variants in DNMT genes might account for a shared susceptibility to various autoimmune disorders.

Evidence of Impaired DNA Methylation in AITD

More direct evidence of impaired DNA methylation in AITD came from recent epigenetic screenings in blood samples, lymphocytes, and thyrocytes from the patients (**Table 1**). A genome-wide screening in peripheral blood cells of three GD patients and three age- and gender-matched controls revealed 82 hypermethylated and 103 hypomethylated genes in GD patients

TABLE 1 | Epigenetic studies in patients with AITD.

Endpoint	Tissue	Disease	Findings	Reference
DNA methylation	PBMC	GD	Genome-wide screening revealed 82 hypermethylated and 103 hypomethylated genes	(31)
DNA methylation	CD4+ and CD8+ T cells	GD	Genome-wide screening revealed 365 and 3,322 differentially methylated sites in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, respectively	(32)
DNA methylation	Thyroid gland	AITD	Impaired methylation and increased expression of the <i>ICAM1</i> gene	(33)
Histone tail modifications	PBMC	GD	Global reduction of histone 4 acetylation	(36)
Histone tail modifications	CD4+ and CD8+ T cells	GD	Reduction of histone 3 lysine 4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) and histone 3 lysine 27 acetylation (H3K27ac)	(32)
MicroRNA (miRNA) expression	PBMC	GD	No expression of miR-154*, miR-376b, and miR-431* in early disease stages	(39)
MiRNA expression	Serum	HT	Increased levels of miR-22, miR-375, and miR-451	(40)
MiRNA expression	Serum	GD	Increased levels of miR-16, miR-22, miR-375, and miR-451	(36)
MiRNA expression	CD4+ and CD8+ T cells	HT and GD	Differential expression of miR-200a and miR-155	(40)
MiRNA expression	Serum	GD	Correlation between circulating levels of miR-155 and miR-146a and Grave's ophtalmopathy	
MiRNA expression	Plasma and CD4+ T cells	GD	Upregulation of Bcl-6 and downregulation of miR-346	(44)
MiRNA expression	PBMC and thyroid gland	HT	Downregulated miR-125a-3p expression resulting in upregulation of interleukin-23 receptor levels	
MiRNA expression	PBMC	HT	Increased let-7e expression regulates interleukin 10 expression	(46)
MiRNA expression	Thyroid gland	HT	Increased miR-142-5p expression regulates claudin-1 expression	(47)
MiRNA expression	Thyroid gland	GD	Altered expression of 23 miRNAs with resulting deregulated expression of more than 2,000 messenger RNAs	(48)

AITD, autoimmune thyroid diseases; GD, Graves' disease; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells.

(31). Among them, the authors identified some candidate genes already associated to GD or other autoimmune diseases, such as the immunoregulatory factor ADRB2 (hypermethylated), ICAM1 (hypomethylated) coding for a glycoprotein of cell surface named intercellular adhesion molecule 1, B3GNT2 (hypermethylated) involved in the regulation of lymphocyte activity, and others (31). Besides, the transcription of DNMT1 and MECP2 (a MBD protein) at the messenger RNA (mRNA) level was significantly decreased in GD patients compared with normal controls (31). Another genome-wide analysis of DNA methylation was performed in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells of 38 GD patients and 31 matched controls. The study revealed 365 and 3,322 differentially methylated CpG sites in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, respectively (32). Among the hypermethylated CpG sites, the authors found enrichment of genes involved in T cell signaling (CD247, LCK, ZAP70, CD3D, CD3E, CD3G, CTLA4, and CD8A) and decreased expression of CD3 gene family members (32). Furthermore, the authors observed hypermethylation of the first intron of the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR) gene, a gene that contains several GD-associated polymorphisms (32). A more recent study revealed aberrant DNA methylation of the ICAM1 gene promoter, associated with increased gene expression, in the thyrocytes of 35 AITD patients with respect to 35 sex- and agematched controls (33).

HISTONE TAIL MODIFICATIONS IN AITD

Several posttranslational modifications occur on the histone tails of nucleosomes and are associated with either open or condensed chromatin structure. Collectively those modifications are involved in the regulation of gene expression, as well as in DNA repair, replication, and recombination processes, and include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, sumoylation, and other covalent modifications that directly influence the overall chromatin structure or regulate the binding of effector molecules (34). Among them, acetylation and methylation on histone tail residues represent the two best-characterized epigenetic marks regulating the chromatin structure (35). Histone tail acetylation is mediated by histone acetyltransferases and results in an open chromatin structure that allows transcription (35, 36). Histone tail methylation of core histones H3 and H4 can be associated with either chromatin condensation or relaxation, due to the fact that several sites for methylation are present on each tail (35, 36).

Little is known about histone tail modifications in AITD (**Table 1**). A pilot study in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of GD patients revealed reduced global histone H4 acetylation levels coupled with increased levels of histone deacetylase proteins with respect to healthy controls (36). Furthermore, the previously described genome-wide DNA methylation analysis in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells of GD patients (32) revealed that the hypermethylation of genes involved in T cell signaling was accompanied by decreased levels of H3K4me3 (histone 3 lysine 4 trimethylation) and H3K27ac (histone 3 lysine 27 acetylation), both marks usually found in nucleosomes that flank active promoters (32). Collectively, those studies confirm that gene promoter methylation observed in cells of GD patients is coupled to changes in the chromatin structure to allow the silencing of gene expression.

NON-CODING RNAs IN AITD

A growing body of evidence suggests impaired expression of non-coding RNAs, and particularly of microRNAs (miRNAs) in autoimmune diseases (33). MiRNAs are small RNA molecules ranging from 18 to 25 nucleotides in length that bind to the 3' untranslated region of target mRNAs and mediate their posttranscriptional regulation, leading to either degradation or translational inhibition, depending on the degree of sequence complementarity (37). MiRNAs target about 60% of all genes, and interact with other epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone tail modifications, to organize the whole gene expression profile (38). Early studies in the field revealed several miRNAs that were differently expressed in cells from patients with AITD than in cells from healthy subjects (Table 1). For example, it was observed that the expression of miR-154*, miR-376b, and miR-431* was suppressed in PBMC from initial GD patients with respect to healthy controls, but recovered in GD patients in remission (39). Others observed that serum levels of miR-22, miR-375, and miR-451 were increased in patients with HT compared with healthy subjects and that serum levels of miR-16, miR-22, miR-375, and miR-451 were increased in patients with GD (40), while another study revealed significant variations of miR-200a and miR-155 in purified CD4+ T-cells and CD8+ T-cells of patients suffering from GD and HT (41). More recent studies attempted to explain the biological significance of miRNA deregulation or their possible clinical implications in AITD (42-46). For example, it has been proposed that increased miR-155 and decreased miR-146a may promote ocular inflammation and proliferation in Graves' ophthalmopathy (42) and that circulating levels of miR-146a and interleukin 17 are significantly correlated with the clinical activity of Graves' ophthalmopathy (43). It was also observed that miR-346 regulates CD4(+)CXCR5(+) T cells by targeting Bcl-6, a positive regulator of follicular helper T cells, and might play an important role in the pathogenesis of GD (44). Similarly, a decreased expression of miR-125a-3p was shown to upregulate interleukin-23 receptor levels in patients with HT (45). Increased expression levels of the miRNA let-7e were observed in PBMC of HT patients compared with those in GD patients and healthy volunteers, and it was shown that let-7e may be associated with the pathogenesis of HT through the regulation of intracellular interleukin 10 expression (46).

Limited data are available concerning miRNA expression in the thyroid gland of AITD patients. In this regard, miR-142-5p, miR-142-3p, and miR-146a showed high expression in HT thyroid gland (47). Furthermore, miR-142-5p was also detected in HT patient serum and positively correlated with thyroglobulin antibody (47). In addition, the overexpression of miR-142-5p in HT thyrocytes resulted in reduced claudin-1 mRNA and protein levels (47). Claudin proteins are major constituents of the tight junction complexes that regulate the permeability of epithelia, and miR-142-5p-mediated reduced expression of claudin-1 led to an increased permeability of thyrocytes monolayer (47). Another study showed a differential expression of 23 miRNAs in thyroid tissue of GD patients, resulting in the upregulation of 1,271 mRNAs and in downregulated expression of 777 mRNAs (48). Particularly, an integrated analysis of differentially expressed miRNAs and their target mRNAs demonstrated that miR-22 and miR-183 were increased in thyroid tissue of GD patients while their potential target mRNAs were decreased. On the contrary, miR-101, miR-197, and miR-6 were decreased while their potential target mRNAs were increased (48).

Indirect evidence of a possible involvement of miRNAs in AITD pathogenesis came also from studies linking polymorphisms in miRNA genes to increased AITD risk (49–51), so that there is increasing interest to clarify the variability in miRNA expression in order to better discriminate between miRNAs that are deregulated in a given disease, from others that could account for several autoimmune disorders (52, 53). In this regard, a deeper understanding of miRNA mediated networks in autoimmune diseases and their crosstalk with other epigenetic mechanisms that regulate gene expression levels is fundamental to elucidate the potential translational implications of these biomarkers (52, 53). In addition, there is increasing evidence that other noncoding RNAs than miRNAs, such as for example long non-coding RNAs, might play a role in autoimmune diseases, even if evidence in AITD is still limited (54).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Autoimmune thyroid disease patients can be clinically categorized into those with hyperthyroidism (GD), those with hypothyroidism (HT), and euthyroid subjects harboring thyroid autoantibodies (7). However, despite their phenotypic differences, it is believed that AITD patients share some common etiological factors (7), and genetic studies have revealed that if certain genes are unique for GD or HT, others are common to both disorders or to AITD and other autoimmune diseases (10). Indeed, different AITD phenotypes are often seen in members of the same family (7), and a significant increase in the prevalence of certain other autoimmune disorders has been reported in AITD patients (9). Epigenetic changes have been observed in multiple autoimmune diseases, they can be induced by environmental factors, and are increasingly recognized as one of the mechanisms by which environmental factors can trigger autoimmunity (10, 11). In this regard, there is increasing interest in searching for epigenetically deregulated pathways that might be common to different autoimmune disorders, and others that characterize a given disease and might be relevant in the clinical setting for diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic purposes (5). For what is concerning AITD there is increasing evidence of epigenetic changes in these conditions, but the available studies are still limited (Table 1) to be translated into the clinical settings. Particularly, the two available genome-wide DNA methylation studies in blood AITD cells are limited to GD patients (31, 32), and one of them included only three patients and three matched controls (27) making it difficult to clearly discriminate disease-specific epigenetic changes from others that could result from interindividual variability. Also data concerning histone tail modifications are mainly available from GD patients (32, 36), and lack of similar epigenome-wide data in cells from HT individuals does not allow comparing the two conditions in terms of epigenetic differences or similarities, so that the diagnostic values of the observed epigenetic changes and their potential prognostic utility are not yet clearly defined. Furthermore, methylation data in thyroid cells of AITD patients are limited to the study of a single gene (33). Data concerning miRNA expression in cells and tissues from AITD patients have been largely descriptive, and even if some investigators attempted to evaluate their potential clinical utility (42-46), data are still limited to be translated into the clinics. Epigenetic data are also lacking for another AITD, the postpartum thyroiditis, in contrast with postpartum psychosis, concerning which a study on miRNA expression was carried out (55). In this study, changes in miR-146a and miR-212 expression were observed in the 20 recruited patients with postpartum psychosis, but only 3 patients developed autoimmune thyroiditis, the small number impeding statistical analysis (55).

In addition, at best of my knowledge, data linking environmental exposures to specific epigenetic changes in AITD as well

REFERENCES

- Martín-Subero JI. How epigenomics brings phenotype into being. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev* (2011) 9(S1):506–10.
- Wei JW, Huang K, Yang C, Kang CS. Non-coding RNAs as regulators in epigenetics (review). Oncol Rep (2017) 37:3–9. doi:10.3892/or.2016.5236
- Richardson B. Effect of an inhibitor of DNA methylation on T cells. II. 5-Azacytidine induces self-reactivity in antigen-specific T4+ cells. *Hum Immunol* (1986) 17:456–70. doi:10.1016/0198-8859(86)90304-6
- Quddus J, Johnson KJ, Gavalchin J, Amento EP, Chrisp CE, Yung RL, et al. Treating activated CD4+ T cells with either of two distinct DNA methyltransferase inhibitors, 5-azacytidine or procainamide, is sufficient to cause a lupuslike disease in syngeneic mice. *J Clin Invest* (1993) 92:38–53. doi:10.1172/ JCI116576
- Coppedè F, Migliore L. Epigenetics of autoimmune diseases. In: Maulik N, Karagiannis T, editors. Molecular Mechanisms and Physiology of Disease: Implications for Epigenetics and Health. New York: Springer (2014). p. 151–73.
- Weetman AP. Determinants of autoimmune thyroid disease. Nat Immunol (2001) 2:769–70. doi:10.1038/ni0901-769
- Brix TH, Hegedüs L. Twin studies as a model for exploring the aetiology of autoimmune thyroid disease. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2012) 76:457–64. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04318.x
- Long H, Yin H, Wang L, Gershwin ME, Lu Q. The critical role of epigenetics in systemic lupus erythematosus and autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* (2016) 74:118–38. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2016.06.020
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Tomer Y. Mechanisms of autoimmune thyroid diseases: from genetics to epigenetics. *Annu Rev Pathol* (2014) 9:147–56. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-012513-104713
- Xiang Z, Yang Y, Chang C, Lu Q. The epigenetic mechanism for discordance of autoimmunity in monozygotic twins. *J Autoimmun* (2017). doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2017.04.003

as studies evaluating the crosstalk between different epigenetic mechanisms are largely missing.

In conclusion, many investigators observed epigenetic changes in cells from AITD patients, but additional studies are required to confirm the observed changes and relate them to altered pathways that could be peculiar of a certain disease or of a certain environmental exposure, as well as to clarify common pathways in autoimmunity that could justify the onset of different autoimmune phenotypes in related family members, or in the same individual, in relation to different environmental exposures. Therefore, further research in this field could lead to a better understanding of the networks involved in disease pathogenesis, thereby opening the way for potential diagnostic and prognostic tools, as well as for epigenetic interventions in the patients based on miRNA silencing and/or chromatin remodeling agents.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by researcher's intramural funds (University of Pisa: 559999_2016_COPPEDE-F-ATENEO).

- Jones PA. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. Nat Rev Genet (2012) 13:484–92. doi:10.1038/nrg3230
- Goll MG, Bestor TH. Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem (2005) 74:481–514. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.010904.153721
- Fournier A, Sasai N, Nakao M, Defossez PA. The role of methyl-binding proteins in chromatin organization and epigenome maintenance. *Brief Funct Genomics* (2012) 11:251–64. doi:10.1093/bfgp/elr040
- Lockshin MD. Sex differences in autoimmune disease. *Lupus* (2006) 15:753–6. doi:10.1177/0961203306069353
- Brix TH, Knudsen GP, Kristiansen M, Kyvik KO, Orstavik KH, Hegedüs L. High frequency of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in females with autoimmune thyroid disease: a possible explanation for the female predisposition to thyroid autoimmunity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2005) 90:5949–53. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-1366
- Chabchoub G, Uz E, Maalej A, Mustafa CA, Rebai A, Mnif M, et al. Analysis of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in females with rheumatoid arthritis and autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2009) 11:R106. doi:10.1186/ ar2759
- Ozbalkan Z, Bagişlar S, Kiraz S, Akyerli CB, Ozer HT, Yavuz S, et al. Skewed X-chromosome inactivation in blood cells of women with scleroderma. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52:1564–70. doi:10.1002/art.21026
- Ishido N, Inoue N, Watanabe M, Hidaka Y, Iwatani Y. The relationship between skewed X-chromosome inactivation and the prognosis of Graves' and Hashimoto's diseases. *Thyroid* (2015) 25:256–61. doi:10.1089/ thy.2014.0318
- Ozcelik T, Uz E, Akyerli CB, Bagislar S, Mustafa CA, Gursoy A, et al. Evidence from autoimmune thyroiditis of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2006) 14:791–7. doi:10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201614
- Yin X, Latif R, Tomer Y, Davies TF. Thyroid epigenetics: X-chromosome inactivation in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2007) 1110:193–200. doi:10.1196/annals.1423.021
- 22. Brix TH, Hansen PS, Kyvik KO, Hegedüs L. Preliminary evidence of a noncausal association between the X-chromosome inactivation pattern and

thyroid autoimmunity: a twin study. Eur J Hum Genet (2010) 18:254-7. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2009.156

- 23. Simmonds MJ, Kavvoura FK, Brand OJ, Newby PR, Jackson LE, Hargreaves CE, et al. Skewed X-chromosome inactivation and female preponderance in autoimmune thyroid disease: an association study and meta-analysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99:E127–31. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-2667
- Coppedè F. One-carbon metabolism and Alzheimer's disease: focus on epigenetics. Curr Genomics (2010) 11:246–60. doi:10.2174/138920210791233090
- Mao R, Fan Y, Zuo L, Geng D, Meng F, Zhu J, et al. Association study between methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphisms and Graves' disease. *Cell Biochem Funct* (2010) 28:585–90. doi:10.1002/cbf.1694
- Arakawa Y, Watanabe M, Inoue N, Sarumaru M, Hidaka Y, Iwatani Y. Association of polymorphisms in DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, MTHFR and MTRR genes with global DNA methylation levels and prognosis of autoimmune thyroid disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2012) 170:194–201. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2012.04646.x
- Cai TT, Zhang J, Wang X, Song RH, Qin Q, Muhali FS, et al. Gene-gene and genesex epistatic interactions of DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Endocr J* (2016) 63:643–53. doi:10.1507/endocrj.EJ15-0596
- Fonseca-Silva T, Oliveira MV, Fraga CA, Farias LC, Gomes EP, Barros LO, et al. DNMT3B (C46359T) polymorphisms and immunoexpression of DNMT3b and DNMT1 proteins in oral lichen planus. *Pathobiology* (2012) 79:18–23. doi:10.1159/000330171
- Nam EJ, Kim KH, Han SW, Cho CM, Lee J, Park JY, et al. The -283C/T polymorphism of the DNMT3B gene influences the progression of joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol Int* (2010) 30:1299-303. doi:10.1007/s00296-009-1141-y
- Coppedè F, Ricciardi R, Denaro M, De Rosa A, Provenzano C, Bartoccioni E, et al. Association of the DNMT3B 579G>T polymorphism with risk of thymomas in patients with myasthenia gravis. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e80846. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080846
- Cai TT, Muhali FS, Song RH, Qin Q, Wang X, Shi LF, et al. Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis in Graves' disease. *Genomics* (2015) 105:204–10. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2015.01.001
- 32. Limbach M, Saare M, Tserel L, Kisand K, Eglit T, Sauer S, et al. Epigenetic profiling in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells from Graves' disease patients reveals changes in genes associated with T cell receptor signaling. J Autoimmun (2016) 67:46–56. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2015.09.006
- 33. Liu T, Sun J, Wang Z, Yang W, Zhang H, Fan C, et al. Changes in the DNA methylation and hydroxymethylation status of the intercellular adhesion molecule 1 gene promoter in thyrocytes from autoimmune thyroiditis patients. *Thyroid* (2017) 27(6):838–45. doi:10.1089/thy.2016.0576
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. Cell Res (2011) 21:381–95. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.22
- Berger SL. The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription. *Nature* (2007) 447:407–12. doi:10.1038/nature05915
- 36. Yan N, Zhou JZ, Zhang JA, Cai T, Zhang W, Wang Y, et al. Histone hypoacetylation and increased histone deacetylases in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with Graves' disease. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2015) 414:143–7. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2015.05.037
- Chen JQ, Papp G, Szodoray P, Zeher M. The role of microRNAs in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1171–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.003
- Sato F, Tsuchiya S, Meltzer SJ, Shimizu K. MicroRNAs and epigenetics. FEBS J (2011) 278:1598–609. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08089.x
- Liu R, Ma X, Xu L, Wang D, Jiang X, Zhu W, et al. Differential microRNA expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from Graves' disease patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97:E968–72. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-2982
- Yamada H, Itoh M, Hiratsuka I, Hashimoto S. Circulating microRNAs in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2014) 81:276–81. doi:10.1111/cen.12432
- Bernecker C, Halim F, Lenz L, Haase M, Nguyen T, Ehlers M, et al. microRNA expressions in CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell subsets in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2014) 122:107–12. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1361088

- Li K, Du Y, Jiang BL, He JF. Increased microRNA-155 and decreased microR-NA-146a may promote ocular inflammation and proliferation in Graves' ophthalmopathy. *Med Sci Monit* (2014) 20:639–43. doi:10.12659/MSM.890686
- Wei H, Guan M, Qin Y, Xie C, Fu X, Gao F, et al. Circulating levels of miR-146a and IL-17 are significantly correlated with the clinical activity of Graves' ophthalmopathy. *Endocr J* (2014) 61:1087–92. doi:10.1507/endocrj. EJ14-0246
- 44. Chen J, Tian J, Tang X, Rui K, Ma J, Mao C, et al. miR-346 regulates CD4⁺CXCR5⁺ T cells in the pathogenesis of Graves' disease. *Endocrine* (2015) 49:752–60. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0546-5
- Peng H, Liu Y, Tian J, Ma J, Tang X, Yang J, et al. Decreased expression of microRNA-125a-3p upregulates interleukin-23 receptor in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Immunol Res* (2015) 62:129–36. doi:10.1007/ s12026-015-8643-3
- Kagawa T, Watanabe M, Inoue N, Otsu H, Saeki M, Katsumata Y, et al. Increases of microRNA let-7e in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in Hashimoto's disease. *Endocr J* (2016) 63:375–80. doi:10.1507/endocrj.EJ15-0577
- Zhu J, Zhang Y, Zhang W, Zhang W, Fan L, Wang L, et al. MicroRNA-142-5p contributes to Hashimoto's thyroiditis by targeting CLDN1. J Transl Med (2016) 14:166. doi:10.1186/s12967-016-0917-6
- Qin Q, Wang X, Yan N, Song RH, Cai TT, Zhang W, et al. Aberrant expression of miRNA and mRNAs in lesioned tissues of Graves' disease. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2015) 35:1934–42. doi:10.1159/000374002
- 49. Inoue Y, Watanabe M, Inoue N, Kagawa T, Shibutani S, Otsu H, et al. Associations of single nucleotide polymorphisms in precursor-microRNA (miR)-125a and the expression of mature miR-125a with the development and prognosis of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) 178:229–35. doi:10.1111/cei.12410
- Cui Y. In silico mapping of polymorphic miRNA-mRNA interactions in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Autoimmunity* (2014) 47:327–33. doi:10.3109/08916934.2014.893575
- Cai T, Li J, An X, Yan N, Li D, Jiang Y, et al. Polymorphisms in miR499A and miR125A gene are associated with autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2017) 440:106–15. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.11.017
- 52. Otsu H, Watanabe M, Inoue N, Masutani R, Iwatani Y. Intraindividual variation of microRNA expression levels in plasma and peripheral blood mononuclear cells and the associations of these levels with the pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2017) 55:626–35. doi:10.1515/cclm-2016-0449
- Prabahar A, Natarajan J. MicroRNA mediated network motifs in autoimmune diseases and its crosstalk between genes, functions and pathways. *J Immunol Methods* (2017) 440:19–26. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2016.10.002
- Wu GC, Pan HF, Leng RX, Wang DG, Li XP, Li XM, et al. Emerging role of long noncoding RNAs in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:798–805. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2015.05.004
- 55. Weigelt K, Bergink V, Burgerhout KM, Pescatori M, Wijkhuijs A, Drexhage HA. Down-regulation of inflammation-protective microRNAs 146a and 212 in monocytes of patients with postpartum psychosis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2013) 29:147–55. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.12.018

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with the author and states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Coppedè. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Autoimmune Gastritis

Miriam Cellini, Maria Giulia Santaguida, Camilla Virili, Silvia Capriello, Nunzia Brusca, Lucilla Gargano and Marco Centanni*

Endocrinology Unit, Department of Medico-Surgical Sciences and Biotechnologies, Sapienza University, Latina, Italy

The term "thyrogastric syndrome" defines the association between autoimmune thyroid disease and chronic autoimmune gastritis (CAG), and it was first described in the early 1960s. More recently, this association has been included in polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type IIIb, in which autoimmune thyroiditis represents the pivotal disorder. Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) is the most frequent autoimmune disease, and it has been reported to be associated with gastric disorders in 10-40% of patients while about 40% of patients with autoimmune gastritis also present HT. Some intriguing similarities have been described about the pathogenic mechanism of these two disorders, involving a complex interaction among genetic, embryological, immunologic, and environmental factors. CAG is characterized by a partial or total disappearance of parietal cells implying the impairment of both hydrochloric acid and intrinsic factor production. The clinical outcome of this gastric damage is the occurrence of a hypochlorhydric-dependent iron-deficient anemia, followed by pernicious anemia concomitant with the progression to a severe gastric atrophy. Malabsorption of levothyroxine may occur as well. We have briefly summarized in this minireview the most recent achievements on this peculiar association of diseases that, in the last years, have been increasingly diagnosed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giampaolo Papi, AUSL Modena, Italy Giuseppe Barbesino, Partners HealthCare, USA

*Correspondence: Marco Centanni marco.centanni@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 March 2017 Accepted: 07 April 2017 Published: 26 April 2017

Citation:

Cellini M, Santaguida MG, Virili C, Capriello S, Brusca N, Gargano L and Centanni M (2017) Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Autoimmune Gastritis. Front. Endocrinol. 8:92. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00092 Keywords: thyroiditis, polyglandular autoimmune syndrome, thyroxine malabsorption, gastric atrophy, pernicious anemia, *Helicobacter pylori* infection, cellular immunity

INTRODUCTION

The thyrogastric syndrome was initially described in the early 1960s and initially characterized by the presence of thyroid autoantibodies in patients with pernicious anemia, the latter being used as synonymous for atrophic gastritis (1). More recently, the autoimmune gastritis has been better characterized classifying chronic atrophic gastritis, with or without the PA, based on the histological evaluation and the presence of serum parietal cell (PCA) and/or intrinsic factor (IFA) autoantibodies (2, 3). Based on these criteria, the association between autoimmune thyroid disorders and chronic autoimmune gastritis (CAG) has also been reassessed (4, 5) and nowadays is included in the adult form of polyglandular autoimmune syndrome (PAS), characterized by two or more endocrine and non-endocrine autoimmune disorders (6). In particular, Betterle and colleagues have proposed the inclusion of thyrogastric syndrome in the PAS Type 3b, in which Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) occurs also associated with non-endocrine autoimmune gastrointestinal disorders and where it plays a pivotal role (7, 8). This is in keeping with the

evidence that chronic autoimmune thyroiditis represents the more prevalent autoimmune disorder worldwide making the frequency of thyrogastric syndrome quite high (4). This notion is supported by the high percentage (12–40%) of positivity of PCA in adult patients with HT (9) which, in turn, is present in approximately 40% of patients with atrophic gastritis (10). Besides the fact that the thyroid and the stomach share some embryological and biochemical features (11), some intriguing similarities have been observed even in the putative pathogenic mechanisms, which characterize the thyrogastric syndrome (12). Furthermore, some specific clinical features characterize or lead to the suspicion of the coexistence of both thyroid and gastric autoimmune (13, 14) disorders. These similar peculiar features will be briefly described in this minireview.

THYROID AND STOMACH: EMBRYOLOGIC DERIVATION AND ROLE of Na⁺/I⁻ SYMPORTER

The thyroid gland and stomach, despite the different localization and function, share some similar morphologic and functional characteristics, likely due to their common embryologic origin (11). In fact, the thyroid gland develops from the primitive gut and therefore thyroid follicular share with parietal cells the same endodermal origin. Also, both these cells are polarized and are characterized by the presence of apical microvilli housing enzymatic activities.

Furthermore, gastric mucosal and thyroid follicular cells both show the ability to concentrate and transport iodine across the cell membrane (15). This process is mediated by the Na⁺/I⁻ symporter (15) and involves similar enzymes with an efficient peroxidase activity (12) (**Table 1**). Furthermore, besides its essential role for the synthesis of thyroid hormones, iodine regulates the proliferation of gastric mucosal cells (16). In fact, in the presence of gastric peroxidase, iodine acts as an electron donor and participates in the removal of free oxygen radicals, thus playing an antioxidant action (17). These effects may explain the regulatory role of iodine in the proliferation of mucosal cells

TABLE 1	Shared characteristics b	between thyroi	d and stomach.

Embryological origin	Primitive gut for both thyroid and stomach
Cell features	Presence of cells polarity
	 Cells characterized by apical microvilli
Biochemical features	 Presence of Na⁺/I⁻ symporter (sodium-iodide symporter)
	Presence of peroxidase isoenzymes (TPO and GPO)
Function	Ability to concentrate iodine
	 Presence of antioxidative activities
	Secretion of mucinous glycoproteins: thyroglobulin and mucine
Pathogenesis	Cellular immune involvement
	 Similarity of autoaggressive processes
	 Mechanisms of cellular damage
	Expression of autoantigens and related cross-reacting autoantibodies
Pathology	Clinically related autoimmune disorders
	 Peculiar associative clinical features

and its protective role against gastric carcinogenesis (11, 16). This hypothesis has been confirmed by the reported link among iodine deficiency, goiter, and increased risk of developing gastric cancer (18).

CHRONIC AUTOIMMUNE/HASHIMOTO'S THYROIDITIS AND CAG

Chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis is the most frequent autoimmune disorder and represents the prototype of organ-specific autoimmunity (19). Its prevalence, despite some difference of sex, age, race, and iodine intake, reaches about 5% in the general population (20). Much less frequent is the chronic autoimmune atrophic gastritis (type A gastritis or body/fundus gastritis), which represents only some 5% of the whole spectrum of chronic gastritis and must be differentiated from the one associated with chronic Helicobacter pylori (Hp) infection (type B gastritis or antral gastritis) (21, 22). HT is characterized by diffuse inflammatory changes with lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid gland, leading to the destruction of the thyroid epithelial cells with subsequent fibrosis (23). Similarly, autoimmune gastritis is a chronic inflammatory disease involving gastric body and fundus, with the progressive reduction and/or disappearance of the native gastric glands that are sometimes replaced by intestinal or pyloric epithelium (metaplasia) (3). The natural history of HT is the progressive reduction of thyroid function till overt hypothyroidism (24) with a rate of progression of 2-4% per year (23), while that of gastric atrophy features the progressive reduction, till disappearance, of parietal cells, leading to reduced or absent acid production (3, 22). These alterations interfere with absorption of essential nutrients leading, at first, to iron-deficient anemia, followed by PA if the self-injurious process involves the IFA (13). Increased risk of developing neuroendocrine tumors and gastric adenocarcinoma is also associated with the severity of damage of gastric mucosa (22).

Pathogenesis

Both these autoimmune disorders are characterized by a complex interaction between genetic susceptibility and environmental factors that results in the loss of immune tolerance to self-antigens and in the development of autoimmune diseases. The loss of immune tolerance may involve alteration both in the central tolerance with reactive T cells escaped from intrathymic deletion and in the peripheral tolerance as in the case of defective T regulatory lymphocytes (25, 26). Genetic susceptibility has been confirmed for both diseases since their incidence is higher among identical twins and first-degree relatives as well as their presence may be observed in association with further autoimmune disorders (6, 7, 20, 26). Both of these disorders show a definite association with different HLA aplotypes; in HT, it has also been proven that the involvement of many other immunoregulatory genes (27), while this issue has not been elucidated in the pathogenesis of human autoimmune gastritis (26).

Several environmental factors seem to be involved in the pathogenesis of HT (excessive iodine intake, selenium deficiency, and specific drugs use), while very weak evidence supports a role for infectious agents as trigger for this disease (hepatitis C virus, HHV-6, and Yersinia) (27). The role of environmental factors in triggering autoimmune gastritis has been more studied and a stronger link between H. pylori infection and CAG has been detected, despite not sufficient to establish a causative relationship between these two diseases (21). H. pylori infection affects approximately 50% of the world population and is in turn the most common cause of chronic gastritis. At first, the H. pylori infection involves the gastric antrum, but in some patients it may extend into the gastric body (pangastritis) and, in genetically predisposed individuals, it may be a trigger for autoimmune atrophic gastritis, being this hypothesis still debated (3, 28, 29). The pathogenic link may be found in a cross-reactivity mechanism (molecular mimicry) (30): in fact, the Hp infection may induce the proliferation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes that recognize epitopes of H. pylori structurally similar to those of H+/K+ATPase, an enzyme found on the apical membrane of parietal cells (31). Indeed, dendritic cells may present these shared epitopes to naïve T cells and, in the absence of peripheral tolerance, a Th1-driven autoreactive clone is activated (28). Again, the cellular immune mechanisms of autoimmune thyroiditis show some similarities with those of CAG. In HT, inflammation leads to secretion of IFN-y, a cytokine turning thyrocytes into antigen-presenting cells (32). The variation of costimulatory factors that drive the binding between an autoantigen and the T-cell receptor allows the proliferation and polarization of autoreactive effector lymphocytes (27). Due to a Th17 cell polarization, the inflammatory process and the subsequent fibrosis seem to prevail in the early phase of thyroiditis (33); in a later phase, when the lymphocytic infiltration and the parenchymal destruction are prevalent, a polarized Th1 profile has been reported (34, 35). The Th1 lymphocytes are able to aid cytotoxic T-lymphocytes and to produce specific cytokines (TNF- α and IFN- γ) able to induce the cellular apoptosis (35) in thyroid cells. The association of a gastric autoimmune disorder has been shown to add a Th2 cytokine profile to the described ones (36). The precise mechanism leading to thyrocytes and/or parietal cell death is still unknown. However, the involvement of Fas upregulation in thyrocytes, due to IL-1beta produced by activated macrophages, has been proven (37). Normal thyrocytes, in fact, express FasL but not Fas, while their concomitant expression induces an autocrine interaction that may represent the main mechanism inducing apoptosis (37). In experimental autoimmune gastritis, also parietal cells express Fas that, in this case, could trigger apoptosis by binding Fas-ligand on infiltrating T cells (28). Following cells damage, the production of specific autoantibodies ensues in epiphenomenal fashion (34). Cellular and humoral immune cooperation characterizes both autoimmune thyroiditis and gastritis leading to the production of specific autoantibodies (antithyroperoxidase, antithyroglobulin, and antiparietal cell antibodies). These autoantibodies are of paramount importance in the diagnosis but of little, if any, in the pathogenesis of these autoimmune disorders.

CLINICAL ASPECTS OF THYROGASTRIC SYNDROME

Clinical pathological aspects of this association are attributable to malabsorption of iron and thyroxine, both linked to a reduced gastric acid secretion.

Iron Deficiency and PA

Chronic atrophic gastritis is clinically silent in most cases and only a small percentage of patients may complain about dyspeptic symptoms. A well-described clinical feature of thyrogastric syndrome is represented by the presence of an iron-deficient and/or a PA. In fact, it has been demonstrated that an iron-deficient anemia, refractory to oral iron therapy, in patients with HT, may be due to chronic atrophic gastritis (13). The clinical signs of this disease appear after several years of its onset, when the progressive reduction to disappearance of the parietal cells leads to atrophy of the gastric mucosa, impairing the absorption of iron, vitamin B12 (cobalamin), folate, and other nutrients (22). At the physiologic acid pH (1.5-2) of the stomach, ascorbic acid, the most active form of vitamin C, allows iron reduction from the nutritional ferric (Fe +++) to the ferrous form (Fe ++), thus forming a complex that drives the absorption in the upper portion of the small intestine (22). In the initial phase of the atrophic gastritis, the damage of parietal cells can lead to iron deficiency microcytic anemia as the only clinical sign (38). When the gastric atrophy becomes severe and/or the IFA is no longer produced, even the absorption of cobalamin becomes compromised. Besides hydrochloric acid that promotes the separation of vitamin B12 from food, the parietal cells also produce the IFA that binds cobalamin and pipes it to the distal ileum, where it is absorbed following a binding to specific receptors (39). Vitamin B12 deficiency is responsible for hematologic changes (macrocytic anemia) and specific neurological disorders (paresthesia and neuritis) which are peculiar of PA (22).

Thyroxine Malabsorption in Chronic Gastritis

The worldwide used pharmaceutical form of thyroxine (sodium levothyroxine, T₄) is obtained by native hormone through its salification with sodium hydroxide. The absorption of T₄ occurs in all sections of small intestine being anyway incomplete and ranging from 62 to 82% of the ingested dose (40). However, increasing evidence of a relevant role of the intact gastric acid secretion on the subsequent intestinal absorption of sodium levothyroxine has been reported in the last years (41). In fact, an increased therapeutic T4 dose has been described in patients with gastric disorders (Hp infection, chronic gastritis, gastric atrophy) or chronically treated with proton pump inhibitors or in non-fasting patients (41-43). All these conditions are characterized by a modified gastric pH that may affect T4 absorption by changing the ionization status, as already described for iron, or the dissolution process of the pharmaceutical T4 form. Furthermore, in vitro studies have shown the pH dependency of the dissolution profile of different T4 preparations (44). This evidence boosted the research for novel thyroxine formulations as liquid or softgel capsules. These ones showed, as compared to the classic tablet formulation, a similar or better bioavailability as well as a lower number of excipients (45, 46). In clinical studies, softgel or liquid formulations performed better in patients with gastric disorders (47, 48) and in proton pump inhibitors users (49, 50).

In conclusion, the association of thyroid and gastric autoimmune disorders represents a frequent syndrome, included in the autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome. The similar or even common biochemical and pathogenic features fully support the term thyrogastric disease described some 60 years ago. From a clinical standpoint, the presence of iron-deficient anemia and thyroxine malabsorption may represent an alert signal for the presence of

REFERENCES

- Doniach D, Roitt IM, Taylor KB. Autoimmune phenomena in pernicious anaemia. Serological overlap with thyroiditis, thyrotoxicosis, and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Br Med J* (1963) 1:1374–9. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.5342.1374
- Sipponen P, Maaroos HI. Chronic gastritis. Scand J Gastroenterol (2015) 50:657–67. doi:10.3109/00365521.2015.1019918
- Neumann WL, Coss E, Rugge M, Genta RM. Autoimmune atrophic gastritis – pathogenesis, pathology and management. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2013) 10:529–41. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2013.101
- Centanni M, Marignani M, Gargano L, Corleto VD, Casini A, Delle Fave G, et al. Atrophic body gastritis in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease: an underdiagnosed association. *Arch Intern Med* (1999) 159:1726–30. doi:10.1001/archinte.159.15.1726
- Lahner E, Intraligi M, Buscema M, Centanni M, Vannella L, Grossi E, et al. Artificial neural networks in the recognition of the presence of thyroid disease in patients with atrophic body gastritis. *World J Gastroenterol* (2008) 14:563–8. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.563
- Kahaly GJ. Polyglandular autoimmune syndromes. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2009) 161:11–20. doi:10.1530/EJE-09-0044
- Betterle C, Dal Pra C, Mantero F, Zanchetta R. Autoimmune adrenal insufficiency and autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: autoantibodies, autoantigens, and their applicability in diagnosis and disease prediction. *Endocr Rev* (2002) 23:327–64. doi:10.1210/edrv.23.3.0466
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Checchi S, Montanaro A, Ciuoli C, Brusco L, Pasqui L, Fioravanti C, et al. Prevalence of parietal cell antibodies in a large cohort of patients with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (2010) 20:1385–9. doi:10.1089/thy.2010.0041
- Lahner E, Centanni M, Agnello G, Gargano L, Vannella L, Iannoni C, et al. Occurrence and risk factors for autoimmune thyroid disease in patients with atrophic body gastritis. *Am J Med* (2008) 121:136–41. doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2007.09.025
- Gołkowski F, Szybiński Z, Rachtan J, Sokołowski A, Buziak-Bereza M, Trofimiuk M, et al. Iodine prophylaxis – the protective factor against stomach cancer in iodine deficient areas. *Eur J Nutr* (2007) 46:251–6. doi:10.1007/ s00394-007-0657-8
- Kandemir EG, Yonem A, Narin Y. Gastric carcinoma and thyroid status. J Int Med Res (2005) 33:222–7. doi:10.1177/147323000503300210
- Sibilla R, Santaguida MG, Virili C, Gargano L, Nardo S, Della Guardia M, et al. Chronic unexplained anemia in isolated autoimmune thyroid disease or associated with autoimmune related disorders. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2008) 68:640–5. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.03091.x
- Centanni M. Thyroxine treatment: absorption, malabsorption, and novel therapeutic approaches. *Endocrine* (2013) 43:8–9. doi:10.1007/ s12020-012-9814-9
- Portulano C, Paroder-Belenitsky M, Carrasco N. The Na+/I- symporter (NIS): mechanism and medical impact. *Endocr Rev* (2014) 35:106–49. doi:10.1210/ er.2012-1036
- Venturi S, Donati FM, Venturi A, Venturi M, Grossi L, Guidi A. Role of iodine in evolution and carcinogenesis of thyroid, breast and stomach. *Adv Clin Path* (2000) 4:11–7.
- Das D, De PK, Banerjee RK. Thiocyanate, a plausible physiological electron donor of gastric peroxidase. *Biochem J* (1995) 305:59–64. doi:10.1042/ bj3050059

a gastric disorder in patients with thyroid autoimmunity and should trigger a specific diagnostic workup.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

- Tabaeizadeh M, Haghpanah V, Keshtkar A, Semnani S, Roshandel G, Adabi K, et al. Goiter frequency is more strongly associated with gastric adenocarcinoma than urine iodine level. *J Gastric Cancer* (2013) 13:106–10. doi:10.5230/ jgc.2013.13.2.106
- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:391–7. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2014.01.007
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Venerito M, Radünz M, Reschke K, Reinhold D, Frauenschläger K, Jechorek D, et al. Autoimmune gastritis in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2015) 41:686–93. doi:10.1111/apt.13097
- 22. Toh BH. Diagnosis and classification of autoimmune gastritis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:459–62. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.048
- Pearce EN, Farwell AP, Braverman LE. Thyroiditis. N Engl J Med (2003) 348:2646–55. doi:10.1056/NEJMra021194
- Effraimidis G, Wiersinga WM. Mechanisms in endocrinology: autoimmune thyroid disease: old and new players. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2014) 170:R241–52. doi:10.1530/EJE-14-0047
- 25. Kristensen B. Regulatory B and T cell responses in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease and healthy controls. *Dan Med J* (2016) 63:B5177.
- Toh BH, Chan J, Kyaw T, Alderuccio F. Cutting edge issues in autoimmune gastritis. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2012) 42:269–78. doi:10.1007/ s12016-010-8218-y
- Ajjan RA, Weetman AP. The pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis: further developments in our understanding. *Horm Metab Res* (2015) 47:702–10. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1548832
- Varbanova M, Frauenschläger K, Malfertheiner P. Chronic gastritis an update. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol (2014) 28:1031–42. doi:10.1016/ j.bpg.2014.10.005
- Smyk DS, Koutsoumpas AL, Mytilinaiou MG, Rigopoulou EI, Sakkas LI, Bogdanos DP. *Helicobacter pylori* and autoimmune disease: cause or bystander. *World J Gastroenterol* (2014) 20:613–29. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i3.613
- Amedei A, Bergman MP, Appelmelk BJ, Azzurri A, Benagiano M, Tamburini C, et al. Molecular mimicry between *Helicobacter pylori* antigens and H+, K+ – adenosine triphosphatase in human gastric autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198:1147–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20030530
- D'Elios MM, Bergman MP, Azzurri A, Amedei A, Benagiano M, De Pont JJ, et al. H+/K+-ATPase (proton pump) is the target autoantigen of Th1-type cytotoxic T cells in autoimmune gastritis. *Gastroenterology* (2001) 120:377–86. doi:10.1053/gast.2001.21187
- Yu S, Sharp GC, Braley-Mullen H. Thyrocytes responding to IFN-gamma are essential for development of lymphocytic spontaneous autoimmune thyroiditis and inhibition of thyrocyte hyperplasia. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:1259–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.2.1259
- Figueroa-Vega N, Alfonso-Pérez M, Benedicto I, Sánchez-Madrid F, González-Amaro R, Marazuela M. Increased circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and Th17 lymphocytes in Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:953–62. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-1719
- Weetman AP. Cellular immune responses in autoimmune thyroid disease. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) (2004) 61:405–13. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2004.02085.x
- Li D, Cai W, Gu R, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Tang K, et al. Th17 cell plays a role in the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in patients. *Clin Immunol* (2013) 149:411–20. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2013.10.001
- Santaguida MG, Nardo S, Del Duca SC, Lococo E, Virili C, Gargano L, et al. Increased interleukin-4-positive lymphocytes in patients with Hashimoto's

thyroiditis and concurrent non-endocrine autoimmune disorders. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) 165:148–54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04419.x

- De Maria R, Testi R. Fas-FasL interactions: a common pathogenetic mechanism in organ-specific autoimmunity. *Immunol Today* (1998) 19:121–5. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(98)80010-8
- Hershko C, Ronson A, Souroujon M, Maschler I, Heyd J, Patz J. Variable hematologic presentation of autoimmune gastritis: age-related progression from iron deficiency to cobalamin depletion. *Blood* (2006) 107:1673–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-09-3534
- Toh BH, Alderuccio F. Pernicious anemia. Autoimmunity (2004) 37:357–61. doi:10.1080/08916930410001705439
- Hays MT. Localization of human thyroxine absorption. *Thyroid* (1991) 1:241–8. doi:10.1089/thy.1991.1.241
- Centanni M, Gargano L, Canettieri G, Viceconti N, Franchi A, Delle Fave G, et al. Thyroxine in goiter, *Helicobacter pylori* infection, and chronic gastritis. N Engl J Med (2006) 354:1787–95. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043903
- Lahner E, Virili C, Santaguida MG, Annibale B, Centanni M. Helicobacter pylori infection and drugs malabsorption. World J Gastroenterol (2014) 20:10331–7. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i30.10331
- Bach-Huynh TG, Nayak B, Loh J, Soldin S, Jonklaas J. Timing of levothyroxine administration affects serum thyrotropin concentration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94:3905–12. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-0860
- Pabla D, Akhlaghi F, Zia H. A comparative pH-dissolution profile study of selected commercial levothyroxine products using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* (2009) 72:105–10. doi:10.1016/ j.ejpb.2008.10.008
- Virili C, Trimboli P, Romanelli F, Centanni M. Liquid and softgel levothyroxine use in clinical practice: state of the art. *Endocrine* (2016) 54:3–14. doi:10.1007/ s12020-016-1035-1

- Vita R, Fallahi P, Antonelli A, Benvenga S. The administration of L-thyroxine as soft gel capsule or liquid solution. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv* (2014) 11:1103–11. doi:10.1517/17425247.2014.918101
- Santaguida MG, Virili C, Del Duca SC, Cellini M, Gatto I, Brusca N, et al. Thyroxine softgel capsule in patients with gastric-related T4 malabsorption. *Endocrine* (2015) 49:51–7. doi:10.1517/17425247.2014.918101
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Antonelli A. Reversible normalisation of serum TSH levels in patients with autoimmune atrophic gastritis who received L-T4 in tablet form after switching to an oral liquid formulation: a case series. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2016) 24(16):22. doi:10.1186/s12876-016-0439-y
- Vita R, Benvenga S. Tablet levothyroxine (L-T4) malabsorption induced by proton pump inhibitor; a problem that was solved by switching to L-T4 in soft gel capsule. *Endocr Pract* (2014) 20:e38–41. doi:10.4158/EP13316.CR
- Vita R, Saraceno G, Trimarchi F, Benvenga S. Switching levothyroxine from the tablet to the oral solution formulation corrects the impaired absorption of levothyroxine induced by proton-pump inhibitors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99:4481–6. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-2684

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Cellini, Santaguida, Virili, Capriello, Brusca, Gargano and Centanni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Vitiligo and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders

Enke Baldini¹, Teresa Odorisio², Salvatore Sorrenti¹, Antonio Catania¹, Francesco Tartaglia¹, Giovanni Carbotta¹, Daniele Pironi¹, Roberta Rendina³, Eleonora D'Armiento³, Severino Persechino⁴ and Salvatore Ulisse^{1*}

¹ Department of Surgical Sciences, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ²Laboratory of Molecular and Cell Biology, Istituto Dermopatico dell'Immacolata-IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ³Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁴NESMOS Department, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Vitiligo represents the most common cause of acquired skin, hair, and oral depigmentation, affecting 0.5-1% of the population worldwide. It is clinically characterized by the appearance of disfiguring circumscribed skin macules following melanocyte destruction by autoreactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Patients affected by vitiligo usually show a poorer quality of life and are more likely to suffer from depressive symptoms, particularly evident in dark-skinned individuals. Although vitiligo is a non-fatal disease, exposure of affected skin to UV light increases the chance of skin irritation and predisposes to skin cancer. In addition, vitiligo has been associated with other rare systemic disorders due to the presence of melanocytes in other body districts, such as in eyes, auditory, nervous, and cardiac tissues, where melanocytes are thought to have roles different from that played in the skin. Several pathogenetic models have been proposed to explain vitiligo onset and progression, but clinical and experimental findings point mainly to the autoimmune hypothesis as the most qualified one. In this context, it is of relevance the strong association of vitiligo with other autoimmune diseases, in particular with autoimmune thyroid disorders, such as Hashimoto thyroiditis and Graves' disease. In this review, after a brief overview of vitiligo and its pathogenesis, we will describe the clinical association between vitiligo and autoimmune thyroid disorders and discuss the possible underlying molecular mechanism(s).

Keywords: vitiligo, autoimmune thyroid diseases, tyrosinase, TSH receptor, thyroglobulin, reactive oxygen species, CD8⁺ T cells, autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes

VITILIGO: AN OVERVIEW

Vitiligo represents the most common cause of acquired skin, hair and oral depigmentation, and often occurs as an inherited disease (1). Clinically, it is characterized by the progressive loss of melanocytes causing the appearance of well-circumscribed milky/white cutaneous macules. Histologically, skin lesions show basal hypopigmentation and increased dermal inflammation relative to perilesional normal skin, with complete or near-complete loss of melanocytes at the basal epidermal layer (2). Following the Vitiligo Global Issues Consensus Conference in 2011, the disease has been categorized based on clinical parameters into: segmental vitiligo (SV), non-segmental vitiligo (NSV), and mixed vitiligo (MV) (1). SV is characterized by a unilateral distribution of the macules and is less common compared with the NSV, which shows symmetrical and bilateral white patches (3). NSV includes different clinical vitiligo subtypes, namely, acrofacial, generalized, mucosal, and universal vitiligo. NSV may be initially classified as acrofacial and, over time, be reclassified as generalized or universal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

llaria Ruffilli, University of Pisa, Italy Silvia Martina Ferrari, University of Pisa, Italy Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, Italy Flavia Di Bari, Policlinico di Messina, Italy

*Correspondence:

Salvatore Ulisse salvatore.ulisse@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 19 July 2017 Accepted: 11 October 2017 Published: 27 October 2017

Citation:

Baldini E, Odorisio T, Sorrenti S, Catania A, Tartaglia F, Carbotta G, Pironi D, Rendina R, D'Armiento E, Persechino S and Ulisse S (2017) Vitiligo and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders. Front. Endocrinol. 8:290. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00290

20

vitiligo. On the other hand, MV includes the combination of an initial SV followed by the occurrence, after several months or years, of bilateral NSV patches (1, 4).

The prevalence of vitiligo has been estimated to be 0.5-1% of the world population. However, it can vary from country to country. In fact, the prevalence recorded in Denmark is 0.38%, whereas in India it is up to 8.8% (1, 5, 6). Vitiligo can arise at any age, even if about 50% of cases are diagnosed before the age of 20, and both sexes are equally affected (1, 6).

Due to its disfiguring effects, vitiligo may have a detrimental impact on patient's quality of life (QoL) and mental health (7-9). A recent review of studies published over the last two decades indicates that women show more QoL impairment than men, married women more than singles, young patients more than elderly ones, and dark-skinned people more than white people (7,8). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis demonstrated that vitiligo patients were significantly more likely to suffer from depression (9). Although vitiligo is a non-fatal disease, exposure of affected skin to UV light increases the chance of skin irritation and cancer (10). Furthermore, vitiligo has been associated with other rare systemic disorders, including the Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada, the Kabuki, and mitochondrial encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) syndromes due to the presence of melanocytes in other parts of the body, such as in eyes, auditory, nervous, and cardiac tissues, where melanocytes are thought to have different roles from that played in the skin (11). In particular, the Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada disease is an autoimmune multisystemic disorder branded by granulomatous panuveitis with exudative retinal detachments, neurologic and hearing manifestations, and vitiligo. The Kabuki syndrome manifests with abnormalities in multiple organ systems and is characterized by distinctive facial features, including arched eyebrows, long eyelashes, long openings of the eyelids with the everted lower lids, and large protruding earlobes. It usually associates with autoimmune diseases such as idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, hemolytic anemia, thyroiditis, and vitiligo. The MELAS syndrome is a mitochondrial disorder due to mutations of the mitochondrial genome. The typical presentation of patients with MELAS syndrome is described by the name of the disorder. Additional features are seizures, diabetes mellitus, hearing loss, cardiac disease, short stature, endocrinopathies, neuropsychiatric dysfunctions and skin alterations including hypertrichosis, eczema, and vitiligo.

PATHOGENESIS

Although several hypotheses have been put forward to explain vitiligo ethiopathogenesis, the autoimmune theory is the most accredited one, being sustained by several epidemiological, clinical, and experimental findings (4, 9, 11–17). These studies indicate that melanocyte defects drive vitiligo pathogenesis by triggering, in susceptible individuals, an autoimmune response that leads to melanocyte destruction (11). Several exogenous and endogenous stimuli have been linked to the onset of the disease. The exogenous factors include ultraviolet irradiations, trauma (Koebner phenomenon), stress, major infections, malignancies, neural abnormalities, vaccinations, pregnancy, calcium

imbalance, certain drugs, hormones, and exposure to cytotoxic compounds. Among the endogenous factors are melanin synthesis, cellular metabolism, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and immune reactions (11, 14, 18-20). All of these are thought to induce oxidative stress in melanocytes, as indicated by the high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mainly hydrogen peroxide and peroxinitrite, found in lesional skin (11, 14, 18-20). The ROS increase may also result from compromised antioxidant responses with local and/or systemic imbalance of the antioxidant systems (11, 14, 18–20). For example, the superoxide dismutase is present at higher levels in perilesional skin and patient's sera (17, 20), whereas the level of the antioxidant enzyme catalase was found reduced in the vitiliginous skin compared with normal skin (20). The important role played by the antioxidant system in the pathogenesis of vitiligo is further corroborated by a recent study showing the association between a single nucleotide polymorphism of the nuclear factor, erythroid 2 like 2 (NRF2) gene and vitiligo (19, 21). The transcription factor Nrf2 regulates genes containing the antioxidant response elements (AREs) in their promoters and encoding proteins that protect against oxidative damage triggered by injury and inflammation. In addition, it has been shown that Nfr2-ARE/heme oxygenase-1 pathway is functionally deficient in the disease-free epidermis of patients with vitiligo (22). This is in agreement with very recent findings showing the ability of simvastatin to protect human melanocytes from H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress by activating Nrf2 (23). Finally, reduced levels of non-enzymatic antioxidants such as beta-carotene, ubiquinone, vitamins E and C, ferritin, and metallothionein may contribute to the increased amount of ROS observed in vitiliginous melanocytes (19).

Oxidative stress may affect the structure and functions of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), which act as a cellular stress sensor. Dilation of the ER is a hallmark of melanocytes at the periphery of vitiligo lesions, and the disruption of redox reactions, critical for proper protein folding, causes the accumulation of immature proteins and misfolded peptides leading to the activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) (24, 25). The latter, under sustained cellular stress, promotes autoimmune responses via apoptotic cascades (19). Actually, exposure to chemical triggers of vitiligo was shown to induce oxidative stress and to promote UPR activation in melanocytes (26). The importance of the UPR in the pathogenesis of vitiligo is further corroborated by several lines of experimental evidence, which identified the X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1) gene, encoding a transcription factor mediating UPR activation, as a susceptibility locus for generalized vitiligo (27-30). The UPR induces also the expression of cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-8, IL-11, and tumor necrosis factor, and can attract cells of the innate immune system to the skin of vitiligo patients, as documented by the aberrant activation of natural killer and dendritic cells (DCs) in lesional skin (11). More recently, a role for calreticulin (CRT), an ER protein regulating intracellular Ca²⁺, has been proposed in the progression of vitiligo (19). In particular, a redistribution of CRT from the ER lumen to the plasma membrane of melanocytes takes place under oxidative stress (19). Surface CRT is thought to direct the contact of stressed melanocytes with DCs, eliciting downstream immune responses and melanocyte apoptosis. The latter provides

abundant antigenic peptides to the antigen-presenting cells leading to the activation of T cells, thus promoting autoimmunity. In this context, it is also worth to consider that the increased ROS levels are thought to modify tyrosinase (TYR) and other melanogenic proteins into neoantigens (11). Indeed, patients affected by vitiligo show circulating autoantibodies directed toward specific melanocyte antigens such as TYR, tyrosinaserelated protein-1 (TRP-1), TRP-2, Pmel17 (or gp100), and type 1 membrane receptor for melanin-concentrating hormone, whose serum level correlates with the disease severity (11, 31-36). In early lesions, CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes have been found close to melanocytes, and a perivascular lymphocytic infiltrate could be appreciated at the expanding edge of active skin lesions (37). In addition, the concentration of melanocyte-specific CD8⁺ T cells is higher in the blood of patients affected by vitiligo and correlates with disease activity (11, 31, 38). Furthermore, interferon- γ (IFN- γ) has been shown to play a central role in vitiligo progression through the release of several chemokines, such as CXCL9, 10, and 11 (17, 39). It has been also suggested that IFN-γ could play a direct role in vitiligo pathogenesis following the observation that the IFN- γ derived from cytotoxic T cells could itself cause apoptosis in melanocytes (40). This is in agreement with recent studies showing that human vitiligo as well as a mouse model of vitiligo reflects an IFN-y-specific Th1 immune response in the skin that involves IFN-γ-dependent chemokines (41–44).

Recent findings indicate the participation in this process of TH17 cells, identified in the lesional skin of vitiligo patients (45, 46). The TH17 cells, by releasing interleukin-17, may induce in activated immune cells secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, which in turn recruit and activate mononuclear lymphocytes, strongly involved in disease progression (46). Finally, regulatory T cells (Treg), which are in charge to maintain peripheral tolerance through the suppression of self-reactive T cells, appear reduced in number and functionally flawed in lesional skin of patients affected by vitiligo (47).

A number of studies have shown that the uptake by keratinocytes of the melanocyte released melanosomes take place through phagocytic ingestion in a receptor-mediated process, involving the protease-activated receptor-2 and keratinocyte growth factor receptor/fibroblast growth factor receptor 2b (KGFR/FGFR2b) (48–50). A recent work reported a decreased expression of KGF/ FGF7 and its receptor in pathological hypopigmented skin, which may contribute to the formation of the classical milky macules of vitiligo (50).

Finally, it is worth to mention that a number of genome-wide association and genetic linkage studies identified more than 30 different genes related to an increased risk of vitiligo, the majority of which are immune genes implicated in both the innate and the adaptive immune responses (4, 9, 11, 13).

ASSOCIATION WITH AUTOIMMUNE THYROID DISEASES (AITD)

Besides the abovementioned involvement of the immune system in vitiligo pathogenesis, epidemiological evidence further

corroborates the autoimmune genesis of vitiligo. In particular, vitiligo is present within the autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes (51), and it is more frequently encountered in family members of patients affected by autoimmune diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, type 1 diabetes, systemic lupus erythematosus, pernicious anemia, and AITD (31, 52-69). The latter, as outlined in several studies performed over the last decades, represent the most frequent autoimmune disorders associated with vitiligo (54, 58, 66-73). A recent meta-analysis, performed on 48 articles published between 1968 and 2012, showed that in patients affected by vitiligo the prevalence of AITD was 14.3%, while positivity to thyroid-specific antibodies [i.e., anti-thyroglobulin (Tg), anti-thyroid peroxidase, and anti-thyrotropin receptor (TSHR)] was found in 20.8% of them (74). Moreover, the presence of anti-thyroid hormones antibodies in the serum of patients affected by vitiligo was detected in 77 out of 79 vitiligo patients analyzed, suggesting a possible pathogenetic role (70, 75). Vice versa, the prevalence of vitiligo among AITD patients has been reported to vary from 2.7 to 7% (66, 67, 76, 77). It is also worth to note that the risk of thyroid disease in vitiligo patients increases with age (71, 74). All together, these findings have led to the recommendation of screening patients affected by vitiligo for thyroid diseases and thyroid autoantibodies, in an effort to detect undiagnosed thyroid diseases or to assess the risk of future onset (74, 78).

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS UNDERLYING VITILIGO AND THYROID AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE ASSOCIATION

The reported association of vitiligo with AITD suggests the presence of shared heritable susceptibility genes (79-87). Thirty-seven susceptibility genes have been identified for vitiligo disease and more than 15 for AITD (79-87). Genome-wide linkage analysis and candidate gene association studies identified nine loci potentially involved in both AITD and vitiligo (79-81). Among these, there are organ-specific genes such as those coding for TYR, Tg, and TSHR (81-85). In addition, an autoimmunity susceptibility locus (AIS1) was identified by genome-wide linkage analysis on chromosome 1 in families characterized by vitiligo and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) (86-88). Among the 27 genes mapping to the AIS1 locus, the forkhead transcription factor D3 appears to be the most plausible responsible for the concomitant occurrence of vitiligo and AITD (86, 89). In addition, a single nucleotide polymorphism of the PTPN22 gene, encoding a lymphoid specific phosphatase, is shared among patients with vitiligo and AITD (79). These findings suggest that the association observed between vitiligo and AITD could be explained, at least in part, by the sharing of a subset of susceptibility genes.

Of interest are the recently reported observations showing melanocyte-specific antigen expression in thyroid tissues of patients with HT, as well as in thyroid tissues of healthy individuals (88). In particular, thyroid tissues from HT patients without vitiligo, and normal thyroid tissues, were both negative for the expression of NKI/beteb, Pmel17, TRP-1, HMB-45, and S100, whereas they were positive for the expression of TRP-2, lysosome-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1), and CD69. Interestingly, TYR was only detected in thyroid from HT patients. Moreover, levels of LAMP1 and CD69 were higher in thyroid with HT compared with normal thyroid (90). The differences in type and amount of melanocyte antigens observed in the thyroid of HT patients may provide the immunological basis for secondary vitiligo associated with HT. *Vice versa*, different skin cell types, including keratinocytes, dermal fibroblasts, and melanocytes, have been shown to express functional TSHR and other thyroid-specific antigens including Tg, thyroperoxidase, and natrium/iodide symporter (91, 92). Thus, it may be speculated that in vitiligo patients the activation of the immune system against these antigens expressed in vitiliginous melanocytes may cause a secondary AITD.

REFERENCES

- Ezzedine K, Lim HW, Suzuki T, Katayama I, Hamzavi I, Lan CC, et al. Vitiligo Global Issue Consensus Conference Panelists. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2012) 25:E1–13. doi:10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.00997.x
- Ezzedine K, Gauthier Y, Léauté-Labrèze C, Marquez S, Boucht-nei S, Jouary T, et al. Segmental vitiligo associated with generalized vitiligo (mixed vitiligo): a retrospective case series of 19 patients. *J Am Acad Dermatol* (2011) 65:965–71. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.08.031
- Behl PN, Bhatia RK. 400 cases of vitiligo. A clinico-therapeutic analysis. Indian J Dermatol (1972) 17:51–6.
- Ezzedine K, Eleftheriadou V, Whitton M, van Geel N. Vitiligo. Lancet (2015) 386:74–84. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60763-7
- Howitz J, Brodthagen H, Schwartz M, Thomsen K. Prevalence of vitiligo. Epidemiological survey on the Isle of Bornholm, Denmark. *Arch Dermatol* (1977) 113:47–52. doi:10.1001/archderm.1977.01640010049006
- Amer AA, Gao XH. Quality of life in patients with vitiligo: an analysis of the dermatology life quality index outcome over the past two decades. *Int J Dermatol* (2016) 55:608–14. doi:10.1111/ijd.13198
- Pandve HT. Vitiligo: is it just a dermatological disorder? Indian J Dermatol (2008) 53:40–1. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.39745
- Lai Y, Yew YW, Kennedy C, Schwartz RA. Vitiligo and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Br J Dermatol* (2016) 177(3):708–18. doi:10.1111/bjd.15199
- 9. Patel S, Rauf A, Khan H, Meher BR, Hassan SSU. A holistic review on the autoimmune disease vitiligo with emphasis on the casual factors. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2017) 92:501–8. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2017.05.095
- Ahluwalia J, Correa-Selm LM, Rao BK. Vitiligo: not simply a skin disease. Skinmed (2017) 15:125–7.
- Rodrigues M, Ezzedine K, Hamzavi I, Pandya AG, Harris JE, Vitiligo Working Group. New discoveries in the pathogenesis and classification of vitiligo. *J Am Acad Dermatol* (2017) 77:1–13. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2016.10.048
- Manolache L, Benea V. Stress in patients with alopecia areata and vitiligo. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* (2007) 21:921–8. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2006. 02106.x
- Strassner JP, Harris JE. Understanding mechanisms of autoimmunity through translational research in vitiligo. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2016) 43:81–8. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2016.09.008
- Colucci R, Dragoni F, Moretti S. Oxidative stress and immune system in vitiligo and thyroid diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2015) 2015:631927. doi:10.1155/2015/631927
- Taieb A, Picardo M. Vitiligo. New Engl J Med (2009) 360:160–9. doi:10.1056/ NEJMcp0804388
- Le Poole IC, Luiten RM. Autoimmune etiology of generalized vitiligo. *Curr Dir Autoimmun* (2008) 10:227–43. doi:10.1159/000131485
- Manga P, Elbuluk N, Orlow SJ. Recent advances in understanding vitiligo. *F1000Res* (2016) 5(F1000 Faculty Rev):2234. doi:10.12688/ f1000research.8976.1

CONCLUSION

Knowledge regarding the pathogenesis of vitiligo has considerably increased over the last decades starting to clarify the molecular mechanisms underlying disease etiology and progression, as well as the association with other autoimmune disorders. Several susceptibility genes have been identified in both vitiligo and AITD patients that, along with the identification of shared antigens between melanocytes and thyrocytes, may contribute to explain the observed association between AITD and vitiligo.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors contributed to the first draft of the article and its revision and approved its final version.

- Picardo M, Bastonini E. A new view of vitiligo: looking at normal-appearing skin. J Invest Dermatol (2015) 135:1713–4. doi:10.1038/jid.2015.92
- Xie H, Zhou F, Liu L, Zhu G, Li Q, Li C, et al. Vitiligo: how do oxidative stress-induced autoantigens trigger autoimmunity? *J Dermatol Sci* (2016) 81:3–9. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2015.09.003
- Sravani PV, Babu NK, Gopal KV, Rao GR, Rao AR, Moorthy B, et al. Determination of oxidative stress in vitiligo by measuring superoxide dismutase and catalase levels in vitiliginous and non-vitiliginous skin. *Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol* (2009) 75:268–71. doi:10.4103/0378-6323.48427
- Song P, Li K, Liu L, Wang X, Jian Z, Zhang W, et al. Genetic polymorphism of the Nrf2 promoter region is associated with vitiligo risk in Han Chinese populations. J Cell Mol Med (2016) 20:1840–50. doi:10.1111/jcmm.12874
- Jian Z, Li K, Song P, Zhu G, Zhu L, Cui T, et al. Impaired activation of the Nrf2-ARE signaling pathway undermines H2O2-induced oxidative stress response: a possible mechanism for melanocyte degeneration in vitiligo. *J Invest Dermatol* (2014) 134:2221–30. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.152
- Chang Y, Li S, Guo W, Yang Y, Zhang W, Zhang Q, et al. Simvastatin protects human melanocytes from H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress by activating Nrf2. *J Invest Dermatol* (2017) 137:1286–96. doi:10.1016/j.jid.2017.01.020
- Boissy RE, Liu YY, Medrano EE, Nordlund JJ. Structural aberration of the rough endoplasmic reticulum and melanosome compartmentalization in long-term cultures of melanocytes from vitiligo patients. *J Invest Dermatol* (1991) 97:395–404. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12480976
- Eletto D, Chevet E, Argon Y, Appenzeller-Herzog C. Redox controls UPR to control redox. J Cell Sci (2014) 127:3649–58. doi:10.1242/jcs.153643
- Toosi S, Orlow S, Manga P. Vitiligo-inducing phenols activate the unfolded protein response in melanocytes resulting in upregulation of IL6 and IL8. *J Invest Dermatol* (2012) 132:2601–9. doi:10.1038/jid.2012.181
- Chen JJ, Huang W, Gui JP, Yang S, Zhou FS, Xiong QG, et al. A novel linkage to generalized vitiligo on 4q13-q21 identified in a genome-wide linkage analysis of Chinese families. *Am J Hum Genet* (2005) 76:1057–65. doi:10.1086/430279
- Ren Y, Yang S, Xu S, Gao M, Huang W, Gao T, et al. Genetic variation of promoter sequence modulates XBP1 expression and genetic risk for vitiligo. *PLoS Genet* (2009) 5:e1000523. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000523
- Birlea SA, Jin Y, Bennett DC, Herbstman DM, Wallace MR, McCormack WT, et al. Comprehensive association analysis of candidate genes for generalized vitiligo supports XBP1, FOXP3, and TSLP. *J Invest Dermatol* (2011) 131:371–81. doi:10.1038/jid.2010.337
- Acosta-Alvear D, Zhou Y, Blais A, Tsikitis M, Lents NH, Arias C, et al. XBP1 controls diverse cell type- and condition-specific transcriptional regulatory networks. *Mol Cell* (2007) 27:53–66. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2007.06.011
- Alkhateeb A, Fain PR, Thody A, Bennett DC, Spritz RA. Epidemiology of vitiligo and associated autoimmune diseases in Caucasian probands and their families. *Pigement Cell Melanoma Res* (2003) 16:208–14. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0749.2003.00032.x
- Harning R, Cui J, Bystryn J-C. Relation between the incidence and level of pigment cell antibodies and disease activity in vitiligo. *J Invest Dermatol* (1991) 97:1078–80. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12492607

- Uda H, Takei M, Mishima Y. Immunopathology of vitiligo vulgaris, Sutton's leukoderma and melanoma-associated vitiligo in relation to steroid effects. II. The IgG and C3 deposits in the skin. *J Cutaneous Pathol* (1984) 11:114–24. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0560.1984.tb00361.x
- 34. Okamoto T, Irie RF, Fujii S, Huang SK, Nizze AJ, Morton DL, et al. Anti-tyrosinase-related protein-2 immune response in vitiligo patients and melanoma patients receiving active-specific immunotherapy. J Invest Dermatol (1998) 111:1034–9. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.1998.00411.x
- Kemp EH, Gawkrodger DJ, Watson PF, Weetman AP. Autoantibodies to human melanocyte-specific protein Pmel17 in the sera of vitiligo patients: a sensitive and quantitative radioimmunoassay (RIA). *Clin Exp Immunol* (1998) 114:333–8. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1998.00746.x
- Kemp EH, Waterman EA, Hawes BE, O'Neill K, Gottumukkala RV, Gawkrodger DJ, et al. The melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1, a novel target of autoantibody responses in vitiligo. J Clin Invest (2002) 109:923–30. doi:10.1172/JCI0214643
- Le Poole IC, van den Wijngaard RM, Westerhof W, Das PK. Presence of T cells and macrophages in inflammatory vitiligo skin parallels melanocyte disappearance. *Am J Pathol* (1996) 148:1219–28.
- Ogg GS, Rod Dunbar P, Romero P, Chen JL, Cerundolo V. High frequency of skin-homing melanocyte-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune vitiligo. J Exp Med (1998) 188:1203–8. doi:10.1084/jem.188.6.1203
- Ferrari SM, Fallahi P, Santaguida G, Virili C, Ruffilli I, Ragusa F, et al. Circulating CXCL10 is increased in non-segmental vitiligo, in presence or absence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2017) 16(9):946–50. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2017.07.006
- Yang L, Wei Y, Sun Y, Shi W, Yang J, Zhu L, et al. Interferon-gamma inhibits melanogenesis and induces apoptosis in melanocytes: a pivotal role of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vitiligo. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2015) 95:664–70. doi:10.2340/00015555-2080
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Fallahi P. The role of the Th1 chemokine CXCL10 in vitiligo. Ann Transl Med (2015) 3(Suppl 1):S16. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.03.02
- Rashighi M, Agarwal P, Richmond JM, Harris TH, Dresser K, Su MW, et al. CXCL10 is critical for the progression and maintenance of depigmentation in a mouse model of vitiligo. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:223ra23. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3007811
- Harris JE, Harris TH, Weninger W, Wherry EJ, Hunter CA, Turka LA. A mouse model of vitiligo with focused epidermal depigmentation requires IFN-γ for autoreactive CD8+ T-cell accumulation in the skin. J Invest Dermatol (2012) 132:1869–76. doi:10.1038/jid.2011.463
- Santaguida MG, Del Duca SC, Virili C, Gargano L, Centanni M. The presence of non-segmental vitiligo modifies intracellular cytokine subsets in patients with chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* (2010) 23:1203–9. doi:10.1177/039463201002300424
- Wang CQ, Cruz-Inigo AE, Fuentes-Duculan J, Moussai D, Gulati N, Sullivan-Whalen M, et al. Th17 cells and activated dendritic cells are increased in vitiligo lesions. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e18907. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018907
- 46. Kotobuki Y, Tanemura A, Yang L, Itoi S, Wataya-Kaneda M, Murota H, et al. Dysregulation of melanocyte function by Th17-related cytokines: significance of Th17 cell infiltration in autoimmune vitiligo vulgaris. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2012) 25:219–30. doi:10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011.00945.x
- Dwivedi M, Kemp EH, Laddha NC, Mansuri MS, Weetman AP, Begum R. Regulatory T cells in vitiligo: implications for pathogenesis and therapeutics. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:49–56. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.002
- Belleudi F, Purpura V, Scrofani C, Persechino F, Leone L, Torrisi MR. Expression and signaling of the tyrosine kinase FGFR2b/KGFR regulates phagocytosis and melanosome uptake in human keratinocytes. *FASEB J* (2011) 25:170–81. doi:10.1096/fj.10-162156
- Van Den Bossche K, Naeyaert JM, Lambert J. The quest for the mechanism of melanin transfer. *Traffic* (2006) 7:1–10. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00425.x
- Purpura V, Persechino F, Belleudi F, Scrofani C, Raffa S, Persechino S, et al. Decreased expression of KGF/FGF7 and its receptor in pathological hypopigmentation. J Cell Mol Med (2014) 18:2553–7. doi:10.1111/jcmm.12411
- Cutolo M. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes. Autoimmun Rev (2014) 13:85–9. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.07.006
- Cunliffe WJ, Hall R, Newell DJ, Stevenson CJ. Vitiligo, thyroid disease and autoimmunity. *Br J Dermatol* (1968) 80:135–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.1968. tb12282.x

- Spritz RA. Modern vitiligo genetics sheds new light on an ancient disease. J Dermatol (2013) 40:310–8. doi:10.1111/1346-8138.12147
- Gill L, Zarbo A, Isedeh P, Jacobsen G, Lim HW, Hamzavi I. Comorbid autoimmune diseases in patients with vitiligo: a cross-sectional study. J Am Acad Dermatol (2016) 74:295–302. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2015.08.063
- Laberge G, Mailloux CM, Gowan K, Holland P, Bennett DC, Fain PR, et al. Early disease onset and increased risk of other autoimmune diseases in familial generalized vitiligo. *Pigment Cell Res* (2005) 18:300–5. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0749.2005.00242.x
- Sharma VK, Dawn G, Kumar B. Profile of alopecia areata in Northern India. Int J Dermatol (1996) 35:22–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-4362.1996.tb01610.x
- Sharma VK, Kumar B, Dawn G. A clinical study of childhood alopecia areata in Chandigarh, India. *Pediatr Dermatol* (1996) 13:372–7. doi:10.111 1/j.1525-1470.1996.tb00703.x
- Sheth VM, Guo Y, Qureshi AA. Comorbidities associated with vitiligo: a ten-year retrospective study. *Dermatology* (2013) 227:311–5. doi:10.1159/000354607
- Amerio P, Di Rollo D, Carbone A, Auriemma M, Marra ME, De Remigis P, et al. Polyglandular autoimmune diseases in a dermatological clinical setting: vitiligo-associated autoimmune diseases. *Eur J Dermatol* (2010) 20:354–8. doi:10.1684/ejd.2009.0939
- Narita T, Oiso N, Fukai K, Kabashima K, Kawada A, Suzuki T. Generalized vitiligo and associated autoimmune diseases in Japanese patients and their families. *Allergol Int* (2011) 60:505–8. doi:10.2332/allergolint.11-OA-0303
- Chu SY, Chen YJ, Tseng WC, Lin MW, Chen TJ, Hwang CY, et al. Comorbidity profiles among patients with alopecia areata: the importance of onset age, a nationwide population-based study. J Am Acad Dermatol (2011) 65:949–56. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.08.032
- Huang KP, Mullangi S, Guo Y, Qureshi AA. Autoimmune, atopic, and mental health comorbid conditions associated with alopecia areata in the United States. *JAMA Dermatol* (2013) 149:789–94. doi:10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.3049
- Zelissen PM, Bast EJ, Croughs RJ. Associated autoimmunity in Addison's disease. J Autoimmun (1995) 8:121–30. doi:10.1006/jaut.1995.0009
- Dawber RP. Integumentary associations of pernicious anemia. Br J Dermatol (1970) 82:221–3. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.1970.tb12428.x
- Grunnet I, Howitz J, Reymann F, Schwartz M. Vitiligo and pernicious anemia. *Arch Dermatol* (1970) 101:82–5. doi:10.1001/archderm.1970.04000010084015
- 66. Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Ruggeri RM, Trimarchi F, Giuffrida G, Certo R, Cama E, Campennì A, et al. Autoimmune comorbidities in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: different patterns of association in adulthood and childhood/adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 176:133–41. doi:10.1530/EJE-16-0737
- Saylam Kurtipek G, Cihan FG, Erayman Demirbaş Ş, Ataseven A. The frequency of autoimmune thyroid disease in alopecia areata and vitiligo patients. *Biomed Res Int* (2015) 2015:435947. doi:10.1155/2015/435947
- Nejad SB, Qadim HH, Nazeman L, Fadaii R, Goldust M. Frequency of autoimmune diseases in those suffering from vitiligo in comparison with normal population. *Pak J Biol Sci* (2013) 16:570–4. doi:10.3923/pjbs.2013.570.574
- Colucci R, Lotti F, Dragoni F, Arunachalam M, Lotti T, Benvenga S, et al. High prevalence of circulating autoantibodies against thyroid hormones in vitiligo and correlation with clinical and historical parameters of patients. *Br J Dermatol* (2014) 171:786–98. doi:10.1111/bjd.13286
- Lazzeri L, Colucci R, Cammi A, Dragoni F, Moretti S. Adult onset vitiligo: multivariate analysis suggests the need for a thyroid screening. *Biomed Res Int* (2016) 2016:8065765. doi:10.1155/2016/8065765
- Bae JM, Lee JH, Yun JS, Han B, Han TY. Vitiligo and overt thyroid diseases: a nationwide population-based study in Korea. J Am Acad Dermatol (2017) 76:871–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2016.12.034
- Dash R, Mohapatra A, Manjunathswamy BS. Anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody in vitiligo: a prevalence study. J Thyroid Res (2015) 2015:192736. doi:10.1155/2015/192736
- Vrijman C, Kroon MW, Limpens J, Leeflang MM, Luiten RM, van der Veen JP, et al. The prevalence of thyroid disease in patients with vitiligo: a systematic review. *Br J Dermatol* (2012) 167:1224–35. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012. 11198.x
- 75. Colucci R, Lotti F, Arunachalam M, Lotti T, Dragoni F, Benvenga S, et al. Correlation of serum thyroid hormones autoantibodies with self-reported

exposure to thyroid disruptors in a group of nonsegmental vitiligo patients. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol (2015) 69:181–90. doi:10.1007/s00244-015-0138-7

- Shong YK, Kim JA. Vitiligo in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroidology* (1991) 3:89–91.
- 77. Artantaş S, Gül U, Kiliç A, Güler S. Skin findings in thyroid diseases. *Eur J Intern Med* (2009) 20:158–61. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2007.09.021
- Liu M, Murphy E, Amerson EH. Rethinking screening for thyroid autoimmunity in vitiligo. J Am Acad Dermatol (2016) 75:1278–80. doi:10.1016/j. jaad.2016.04.029
- Czajkowski R, Męcińska-Jundziłł K. Current aspects of vitiligo genetics. *Postepy Dermatol Alergol* (2014) 31:247–55. doi:10.5114/pdia.2014.43497
- Weetman AP. The genetics of autoimmune thyroid disease. Horm Metab Res (2009) 41:421–5. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1214415
- Spritz RA. Shared genetic relationships underlying generalized vitiligo and autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (2010) 20:745–54. doi:10.1089/ thy.2010.1643
- Jin Y, Birlea SA, Fain PR, Ferrara TM, Ben S, Riccardi SL, et al. Genome-wide association analyses identify 13 new susceptibility loci for generalized vitiligo. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44:676–80. doi:10.1038/ng.2272
- Simmonds MJ. GWAS in autoimmune thyroid disease: redefining our understanding of pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2013) 9:277–87. doi:10.1038/ nrendo.2013.56
- Medici M, Porcu E, Pistis G, Teumer A, Brown SJ, Jensen RA, et al. Identification of novel genetic loci associated with thyroid peroxidase antibodies and clinical thyroid disease. *PLoS Genet* (2014) 10:e1004123. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1004123
- Alkhateeb A, Jarun Y, Tashtoush R. Polymorphisms in NLRP1 gene and susceptibility to autoimmune thyroid disease. *Autoimmunity* (2013) 46:215–21. doi:10.3109/08916934.2013.768617
- Alkhateeb A, Stetler GL, Old W, Talbert J, Uhlhorn C, Taylor M, et al. Mapping of an autoimmunity susceptibility locus (AIS1) to chromosome 1p31.3-p32.2. *Hum Mol Genet* (2002) 11:661–7. doi:10.1093/hmg/11.6.661
- Fain PR, Gowan K, LaBerge GS, Alkhateeb A, Stetler GL, Talbert J, et al. A genomewide screen for generalized vitiligo: confirmation of AIS1 on

chromosome 1p31 and evidence for additional susceptibility loci. *Am J Hum Genet* (2003) 72:1560–4. doi:10.1086/375451

- Spritz RA, Gowan K, Bennett DC, Fain PR. Novel vitiligo susceptibility loci on chromosomes 7 (AIS2) and 8 (AIS3), confirmation of SLEV1 on chromosome 17, and their roles in an autoimmune diathesis. *Am J Hum Genet* (2004) 74:188–91. doi:10.1086/381134
- Schunter JA, Löffler D, Wiesner T, Kovacs P, Badenhoop K, Aust G, et al. A novel FoxD3 variant is associated with vitiligo and elevated thyroid auto-antibodies. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:E1335–42. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-2126
- Gong Q, Li X, Gong Q2, Zhu W, Song G, Lu Y. Hashimoto's thyroiditis could be secondary to vitiligo: the possibility of antigen crossover and oxidative stress between the two diseases. *Arch Dermatol Res* (2016) 308:277–81. doi:10.1007/ s00403-016-1641-z
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Kohn L, Ain KB, Venkataraman GM, Pisarchik A, et al. Expression of hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis related genes in the human skin. J Invest Dermatol (2002) 119:1449–55. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.19617.x
- Cianfarani F, Baldini E, Cavalli A, Marchioni E, Lembo L, Teson M, et al. TSH receptor and thyroid-specific gene expression in human skin. J Invest Dermatol (2010) 130:93–101. doi:10.1038/jid.2009.180

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewers SF and IR and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Baldini, Odorisio, Sorrenti, Catania, Tartaglia, Carbotta, Pironi, Rendina, D'Armiento, Persechino and Ulisse. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Autoimmunity and Lichen

Fabrizio Guarneri^{1*}, Roberta Giuffrida¹, Flavia Di Bari², Serafinella Patrizia Cannavò¹ and Salvatore Benvenga^{2,3,4}

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine – Dermatology, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ²Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine – Endocrinology, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ³Master Program on Childhood, Adolescent and Women's Endocrine Health, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴Interdepartmental Program of Molecular & Clinical Endocrinology and Women's Endocrine Health, University Hospital Policlinico "G. Martino", Messina, Italy

Lichen planus (LP) and lichen sclerosus (LS) are cutaneous-mucous diseases with uncertain epidemiology. Current data, which are likely to be underestimated, suggest a prevalence in the general population of 0.1–4% for cutaneous LP, 1.27–2.0% for oral LP, and 0.1–3.3% for LS. While etiology of lichen is still unknown, clinical and histological evidence show an (auto)immune pathogenesis. Association of lichen with autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) has been investigated in few studies. This association appears better defined in the case of LS, while is more controversial for LP. In both situations, the frequency of the association is higher in females. We review the available literature on the correlation between the different types of lichen and AITD, and the literature on the genetic risk factors which are shared by both conditions. Such data suggest that a common pathogenic mechanism could be the cause for co-occurrence of lichen and AITD, at least in some patients. Additionally, analyzing literature data and in continuity with our previous work on other autoimmune diseases, we suggest that molecular mimicry could trigger both diseases, and thus explain their co-occurrence.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Terry Francis Davies, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Michele Colaci, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Andrea Di Domenicantonio, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Fabrizio Guarneri f.guarneri@tiscali.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 22 March 2017 Accepted: 09 June 2017 Published: 27 June 2017

Citation:

Guarneri F, Giuffrida R, Di Bari F, Cannavò SP and Benvenga S (2017) Thyroid Autoimmunity and Lichen. Front. Endocrinol. 8:146. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00146 Keywords: autoimmune thyroid disease, oral lichen planus, mucous lichen planus, cutaneous lichen planus, lichen sclerosus, human leukocyte antigen, infections, molecular mimicry

INTRODUCTION

Lichen planus (LP) is a cutaneous-mucous disease characterized by small papules and pruritus. Histologically, LP is characterized by hyperkeratosis, hypergranulosis, acanthosis with formation of colloid bodies (Civatte or Sabouraud bodies), vacuolar degeneration of the basal epidermal cell layer, "saw-tooth" appearance of the rete pegs, enlarged and deformed dermal papillae with infiltration of lymphocytes and histiocytes in a "band-like" pattern in contact with, and sometimes invading, the basal epidermal cell layer (1). Because of clinical similarity, over the years, several dermatological conditions were defined as "lichen" to eventually form the so-called lichenoid dermatoses, but with different specifications. For instance, lichen striatus is actually classified among spongiotic dermatoses, lichen amyloidosus among amyloidoses, and lichen aureus among mucinoses (1). A detailed discussion about lichenoid dermatoses is beyond the scope of this review. Only LP (cutaneous, mucosal and oral) and lichen sclerosus (LS)—also known as LS and atrophicus—for which autoimmunity has been postulated as a relevant part of the pathogenic mechanism, were reported to be associated with autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD).

Abbreviations: AITD, autoimmune thyroid disease; GD, Graves' disease; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; LP, lichen planus; LS, lichen sclerosus; T4, thyroxine; Tg, thyroglobulin; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone.

The epidemiology of LP and LS is not exactly defined. Current data, probably underestimated, suggest a prevalence in the general population of 0.1-4% for cutaneous LP (2), 1.27-2.0% for oral LP (3), and 0.1-3.3% for LS (4). Few authors investigated the association between these conditions and thyroid diseases and, even fewer, the possible common etiopathogenic mechanism(s).

We, herein, review the available literature on this topic. Moreover, in continuity with our previous studies on molecular mimicry as a trigger of autoimmune diseases, we suggest molecular mimicry as a potential pathogenic mechanism.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We searched the PubMed database (https://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ PubMed) using the search string "thyroid AND autoimm* AND lichen." The retrieved articles were revised, and only those discussing the association between lichen and AITD were selected. The reference lists of these articles were examined to find other relevant articles, which were also revised and included in this review if appropriate.

RESULTS

As of February 24, 2017, a PubMed search for "AITD" or "lichen" retrieved 14,864 and 15,311 articles, respectively. Conversely, a search for "thyroid AND autoimm* AND lichen," as described in Section "Material and Methods," yielded 40 articles of which 17 were selected as they were relevant for our review. Of these 17 articles, 15 analyzed the occurrence of AITD in patients with lichen (**Table 1**) and 2 analyzed the occurrence of lichen in patients with AITD (**Table 2**).

The first paper which suggested that LS "may be related to or caused by an autoimmune process" and highlighted the frequent association with thyroid autoimmunity was published in 1974 (5). In 26 patients (25 females and one male) with LS and 443 control subjects without autoimmune diseases, the authors evaluated the presence of antibodies to thyroglobulin (Tg), thyroid cytoplasm, gastric parietal cells, and type I intrinsic factor. Almost half of the female patients were positive for antithyroid cytoplasm antibodies [10/25 (40%), p < 0.001 vs controls] or anti-gastric parietal cells antibodies [11/25 (44%), p < 0.001vs controls]; other tests were negative or not different from controls. Eight patients with antithyroid cytoplasm antibodies had subclinical thyroiditis (5).

The topic was brought again to attention many years later, in a case report of a 65-year-old woman with coexisting LS, AITD, morphea, and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (6). Next, a comment (7) to a review article (8) provocatively defined LS "a cutaneous manifestation of thyroid disease" (7). While this statement appears excessive in the light of modern knowledge, it is suggestive of the increase, started in the early 1990s, of awareness and interest concerning the possible connection between lichen and AITD (9–11). Larger studies, needed to define the epidemiological relevance of the association, have been performed only relatively recently.

LS and AITD

The largest, yet retrospective, study available on LS and AITD is on 532 patients with LS, predominantly adults and females (n = 500 and 396, respectively), who were visited in a German University hospital during 12 years (12). All patients were examined for cutaneous and extracutaneous autoimmune diseases. Tests included complete blood cell count, routine blood chemistry testing, complement components 3 and 4, C-reactive protein, and a panel of serological analyses for autoimmunity. This panel included antinuclear antibodies, extractable nuclear antibodies, rheumatoid factor, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibodies, circulating immune complexes, and antibodies to thyroid peroxidase (TPO) and Tg. One or more autoimmune diseases were found in 82 patients (15.4%), with a significantly (p < 0.0001) different frequency among women (n = 75, 18.9%)and men (n = 7, 5.1%). AITD [Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) or Graves' disease (GD)] was the condition most often associated with LS, with a total of 65 cases (12.2%), again prevalently among females [n = 60 (15.2%), p = 0.0002 vs males]. Overall, cases of all other autoimmune diseases accounted for 3.3% of the studied sample.

Similar results were found by others. A case–control study in women was performed (13) on a smaller population (190 with adult-onset vulvar LS, 126 with adult-onset erosive vulvar LP, 922 age-matched controls). AITD was observed in 16.3% of patients with LS and 15% of patients with erosive LP compared to 7.9% in controls (p < 0.001 for both comparisons) (13). Kazandi et al. (14) retrospectively analyzed 82 women with vulvar LS and found 15 cases of thyroid disease (18.2%). A greater prevalence (29.9%) was reported in a retrospective evaluation of 211 patients visited in a 10-year period for vulvar LS (15). The percentage was higher among patients aged less than 55 years (33.8%) than among those aged 55 years or more (27.7%).

A different picture can be observed in studies on male LS. After the aforementioned article by Kreuter et al. (12), the largest and probably most complete study was published by Kantere et al. (16). The authors randomly chose 100 patients from 771 diagnosed with LS between 1997 and 2007 and re-evaluated their clinical condition. Such re-evaluation included clinical examination and laboratory tests, namely thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), thyroxine (T4), antinuclear antibodies, and autoantibodies to extracellular matrix protein-1 (ECM-1), ECM-1 being the likely autoantigen of LS (17). Only five patients had mild abnormal thyroid function: low levels of T4 and raised levels of TSH (which is consistent with overt primary hypothyroidism) in two cases, normal T4 and raised TSH (which is consistent with subclinical primary hypothyroidism) in two other cases, normal T4 and decreased TSH in one (16). However, one paper (18) shows a different trend. Indeed, in a population of 60 women and 42 men, Hagedorn et al. (18) found that LS was associated with AITD in 39% of female and 12.5% of male patients.

LP (Oral, Mucous, Cutaneous) and AITD

The association between thyroid autoimmunity and LP, in its different subtypes, is more controversial, and the scarcity of papers does not allow clear conclusions. Soy et al. (19) evaluated the frequency of rheumatic and autoimmune diseases in 65

TARI E 1	Studies reporting clinical an	d/or laboratory data abc	ut subjects affected by	lichen who were fou	nd positive for AITD
IADLE I	Studies reporting climical an	שטטומנטוע טמנמ מטט	יענ סטטופטנס מוופטנפט טע		IU DUSILIVE IULATID.

Reference, Country	Type of study and population	Main findings
Goolamali et al. (5), <i>England</i>	Cross-sectional study on 26 patients with LS (25 females, 1 males) and 443 controls without autoimmune diseases	10/25 (40%) of female patients were positive for antithyroid cytoplasm antibodies ($\rho < 0.001$ vs controls); 8 of these 10 patients had subclinical thyroiditis
Tremaine et al. (6), <i>Canada</i>	Case report	Report on a 65-year-old woman simultaneously affected by LS , AITD, morphea, and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
Kreuter et al. (12), <i>Germany</i>	Retrospective prevalence study on 532 patients affected by LS (396 females, 136 males)	AITD was associated with LS in 65 cases (12.2% of patients), prevalently among females [$n = 60$ (15.2%), $p = 0.0002$ vs males]
Cooper et al. (13), <i>England</i>	Case–control study on 190 women with adult-onset vulvar LS, 126 women with adult-onset erosive vulvar LP, 922 age-matched control women	AITD was observed in 16.3% of patients with LS and 15% of patients with erosive LP vs 7.9% of controls ($p < 0.001$ for both comparisons)
Kazandi et al. (14), <i>Turkey</i>	Retrospective prevalence study on 82 women with vulvar LS	15 cases of thyroid disease were observed (18.2% of patients)
Birenbaum and Young (15), USA	Retrospective prevalence study on 211 women with vulvar LS	63 cases of AITD were observed (29.9% of patients). Prevalence of AITD was higher among patients aged less than 55 years [25/74 (33.8%)] than those aged 55 years or more [38/137 (27.7%)]
Kantere et al. (16), Sweden	Cross-sectional study on 100 patients with LS	No patients with thyroid disease, five with mild abnormality of thyroid function: low levels of T4 and raised levels of TSH in two cases, normal T4 and raised TSH in two other cases, normal T4 and decreased TSH in one
Hagedorn et al. (18), <i>Germany</i>	Cross-sectional study on 102 patients (60 females, 42 males) with LS	AITD was found in 39% of females and 12.5% of males
Ebrahimi et al. (20), Sweden	Cross-sectional study on 120 patients (89 females, 31 males) with mucosal LP and 87 age- and sex-matched healthy controls	AITD was found in 11/120 patients (9.2%)
Chang et al. (21), <i>Taiwan</i>	Cross-sectional study on 500 patients with desquamative gingivitis, 287 with erosive oral LP without desquamative gingivitis, and 100 healthy controls	455 patients with desquamative gingivitis were affected by erosive oral LP ; 46.4% of them were positive for anti-Tg and 45.1% for antithyroid microsomal antibodies. The corresponding percentages were 27.5 and 30.3%, among patients with erosive LP but not gingivitis. For both groups of patients, differences in comparison with healthy controls were significant (<i>p</i> < 0.001). Overall, 210 patients were positive for at least one thyroid autoantibody, and TSH levels were normal in 84.3%, decreased in 6.7% and increased in 9% of them
Chang et al. (22), <i>Taiwan</i>	Cross-sectional study on 320 patients with oral LP (292 erosive, 28 non-erosive)	Anti-Tg and antithyroid microsomal antibodies were found in 21.3 and 24.4% of patients. TSH levels were normal in 85.8% of the 190 patients, positive for one or both thyroid autoantibodies, below normal in 4.2% and above normal in 10%
Carrozzo et al. (23), Italy	Cross-sectional study on 50 patients with oral LP	Antithyroid antibodies were found in 10% of patients
Lavaee and Majd (24), Iran	Retrospective prevalence study on 523 patients with oral LP (387 females, 136 males) and 523 age- and sex-matched healthy controls	Hypothyroid subjects were 35 among patients (6.7%) and 21 among controls (4%); this difference was not statistically significant
Azurdia et al. (31), England	Cross-sectional study on 58 males affected by LS and 602 healthy controls	<i>HLA-DR11</i> , <i>-DR12</i> , and <i>-DQ7</i> were significantly ($p \le 0.05$) more frequent in patients, but no cases of AITD were found among them. One patient had a mild increase of serum T4 with normal TSH levels, another one had slightly lower than normal serum T4, with normal TSH. A third patient had positive antithyroid antibodies, but normal thyroid function
Aslanian et al. (32), <i>Brazil</i>	Cross-sectional study on three families (30 subjects in total) with familial LS	8 cases of LS were found among the 30 subjects visited; seven of these patients were positive for anti-TPO antibodies, but only four had clinical AITD. The <i>HLA-B*15-DRB1*04-DRB4*</i> haplotype was associated with the co-occurrence of LS and thyroid autoimmunity

The type of lichen studied in each paper is written in boldface.

AITD, autoimmune thyroid disease; LP, lichen planus; LS, lichen sclerosus; T4, thyroxine; Tg, thyroglobulin; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; HLA, human leukocyte antigen.

patients (56 women and 9 men) with AITD. Oral LP was one of the less represented diseases, as it was found in only two patients (3.1%). Ebrahimi et al. (20) evaluated 120 patients with mucosal LP and 87 age- and sex-matched healthy controls for the presence of other diseases, with particular attention to autoimmune and thyroid diseases. They found a significantly high frequency of autoimmune diseases in general (28%) and AITD in particular (9.2%) among patients. These results, together with the observation that lichen was multifocal in 72% of women and 64% of men, led the authors to conclude that "LP with mucosal involvement

Reference, country	Type of study and population	Main findings
Soy et al. (19), <i>Turkey</i>	Cross-sectional study on 65 patients (56 females, 9 males) with AITD	Oral LP was found in two patients (3.1%)
Brănișteanu et al. (25), <i>Romania</i>	Retrospective prevalence study on 38 patients (36 Females, 2 males) with thyroid diseases (63% autoimmune thyroiditis, 26.3% polynodular goiter, 10.7% hypothyroidism)	LP was found in 18% of patients and was the second most frequent dermatological disorder after alopecia areata (22%)

TABLE 2 | Studies reporting clinical and/or laboratory data about subjects affected by AITD who were found positive for lichen.

The type of lichen studied in each paper is written in boldface.

AITD, autoimmune thyroid disease, LP, lichen planus.

should be considered and taken care of as a systemic disease" and to point out "the need for a multidisciplinary clinic to get optimal care and treatment" (20). Another paper concerning mucosal lichen, namely adult-onset erosive vulvar LP, is by Cooper et al. (13) (see above, Section "LS and AITD"). Further, interesting elements come from a recent paper (21). This paper (21) aimed to define the number of patients with desquamative gingivitis (a disease often associated with erosive oral LP) who were positive for anti-gastric parietal cells, anti-Tg, and antithyroid microsomal antibodies. They analyzed 500 patients with desquamative gingivitis, 287 with erosive oral LP but without desquamative gingivitis, and 100 healthy controls. Upon careful reevaluation, erosive oral LP was found in 455 patients of the first group: 46.4% of them were positive for anti-Tg and 45.1% for antithyroid microsomal antibodies. The percentages were 27.5 and 30.3%, respectively, among patients of the second group. Differences from controls were significant (p < 0.001) for both groups of patients. Overall, 210 patients were positive for at least one thyroid-related autoantibody, and TSH levels were normal in 84.3%, low in 6.7%, and raised in 9% of them (21). In a previous study (22), the same group had found a prevalence of 21.3 and 24.4% for anti-Tg and antithyroid microsomal antibodies, respectively, among 320 patients with oral LP (erosive in 292 cases, non-erosive in 28). In the same study, TSH levels were normal in 85.8% of the 190 patients positive for one or both thyroid-related autoantibodies, low in 4.2% and raised in 10% (22). Other authors had reported antithyroid antibodies in 10% of 50 patients with oral LP (23).

Lavaee and Majd (24) retrospectively evaluated the frequency of hypothyroidism in 523 patients with oral LP (387 females, 136 males) and in an equal number of age- and sex-matched healthy controls. They found statistically similar proportions (6.7 and 4%, respectively).

Finally, Brănișteanu et al. published data about the association between AITD and cutaneous LP (25). The study population included 38 patients (36 females, 2 males) with thyroid diseases (63% autoimmune thyroiditis, 26.3% multinodular goiter, 10.7% hypothyroidism), who accessed the Dermatovenereology Unit of a University hospital over 2 years. LP was the second most frequent dermatological disorder observed (18%) after alopecia areata (22%).

Genetic Risk Factors: Possible Role of Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA)

The studies mentioned in the previous sections suggest that all subtypes of lichen, AITD, and also their association, are more frequent in females. Given the autoimmune pathogenesis of both conditions, several authors analyzed the possibility of a link with specific alleles of the *HLA* genes. As well known, *HLA* genes generate the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, responsible for presentation of (auto)antigenic peptides to the immune system and activation of the consequent specific (auto)immune reaction.

Studies on the *HLA* haplotype of patients with lichen are few, not very recent, and often performed on small cohorts. Porter et al. (26) reported that cutaneous LP has been associated to *HLA-A3*, -*A5*, -*A28*, -*B16*, and -*Bw35*, mucosal LP to *HLA-A3* and -*A28*, oral LP to *HLA-B16*, -*DR1*, and -*DRw9*, erosive oral LP to *HLA-DR2*, -*DR3*, -*DR9*, -*B27*, and -*Bw57*, mixed oral LP to *HLA-B51* [for references, see Ref. (26)]. The studies reviewed had populations ranging from 10 to 82 patients, and had been published between 1976 and 1994. For LS, the most recent review (27) suggests a strong linkage to *HLA-DQ7*. In a subsequent case-control study (28), an increased frequency of *HLA-DRB1*12/DQB1*03* was found in 187 patients with vulvar LS.

A comparison with AITD-associated *HLA* alleles (29) shows some elements in common: *HLA-B16* confers increased risk for HT in Asians, *HLA-DR3* is linked to GD (in Caucasians) and HT, *HLA-DR9* is a risk factor for GD in Japanese and Chinese subjects and HT in Chinese patients only [for references, see Ref. (29)]. Among patients with stress-related GD, *HLA-A28* is significantly more frequent (at least 3-X) in those with exacerbations of hyperthyroidism compared with those with no exacerbations during treatment with antithyroid drugs, while *HLA-DR3* is almost 3-times more frequent in the whole group of patients with stressrelated GD compared with healthy controls (30).

The above data could suggest a common genetic background of susceptibility for lichen and thyroid autoimmunity. However, we found only two studies that evaluated the HLA haplotypes of patients for which the association between lichen and AITD was explicitly investigated (31, 32). Azurdia et al. (31) analyzed 58 males with LS and 602 healthy controls, and showed a significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher frequency of HLA-DR11, -DR12, and -DQ7 in patients. In detail, the frequencies of HLA-DR11, -DR12, and -DQ7 were 22, 9, and 45% among patients and 13, 3, and 31% among controls, respectively. Abnormal thyroid function was observed in two cases: one patient had a mild increase of serum T4 with normal TSH levels, while another had slightly subnormal serum T4, and normal TSH. Positive antithyroid antibodies, but normal thyroid function, were found in a third patient (31). In the second paper, Aslanian et al. (32) examined three families, of 20, 8, and 2 members, respectively, with familial LS. Eight subjects with LS were found among the 30 visited, 7 of whom were positive for anti-TPO antibodies, but only 4 had a thyroid disease. The *HLA-B*15-DRB1*04-DRB4** haplotype was associated with the co-occurrence of LS and thyroid autoimmunity (32). HLA-*DRB1*04* was almost threefold more frequent in patients with stress-related GD compared with healthy controls (30).

Environmental Triggering Factors: Association with Infections and the Molecular Mimicry Hypothesis

Like most autoimmune diseases, the environmental triggers of LS and AITD are unknown, and also unknown is whether an etiopathogenic link between the two conditions exists.

We previously reported a woman who developed both LS and HT after infection by *Borrelia burgdorferi* (33). In that occasion, the chronological sequence and correlation between the pathological events led us to hypothesize that molecular mimicry between bacterial antigen(s) and human autoantigens could have been the pathogenic mechanism by which borreliosis had triggered both autoimmune diseases (33). According to the molecular mimicry hypothesis, structural similarity between microbial antigens and human autoantigens can turn a defensive immune reaction into an autoimmune reaction in genetically predisposed subjects (mainly because of specific *HLA* alleles). This model has been postulated, and in many cases demonstrated, as a possible explanation for the onset of autoimmunity (34-41).

Several studies on the possible role of molecular mimicry in the pathogenesis of autoimmune and allergic diseases were performed also by our group, with extensive use of bioinformatics tools (42–53). In detail, we searched for amino acid sequence homology between human protein autoantigens involved in specific autoimmune diseases and proteins from microbes that are clinically linked to such diseases. In many cases, we also searched the homologous segments of human and microbial proteins for binding motifs of MHC molecules derived from specific *HLA* alleles.

Following the hypothesis formulated in our case report (33), we aimed to identify the molecules most probably involved in triggering autoimmunity after Borrelia infection (42, 45). We found that human TSH-R has four segments homologous to proteins from Borrelia and five homologous to proteins from Yersinia, another bacterial species associated with AITD. In a subsequent study (45), we extended our work to include the other known thyroid autoantigens (TPO, Tg, sodium iodide symporter) and to search human and microbial proteins for the occurrence of peptide-binding motifs of HLA-DR molecules. Eleven additional homologies were found with proteins from *Borrelia* (2 with Tg, 3 with TPO, 6 with sodium iodide symporter) and 15 with proteins from Yersinia (2 with Tg, 2 with TPO, 11 with sodium iodide symporter). The number of binding motifs related to the different HLA-DR alleles agreed well with literature data, which suggest that AITD is associated with HLA-DR3, -DR4, -DR5, -DR8, and -DR9.

Concerning the association between *Borrelia* and lichen, in 1985, Asbrink wrote that "a *Borrelia* infection may result in lichen

sclerosus et atrophicus-like reactions" (54), a claim that was subsequently supported by others (55–59). Although the debate remains open, a pathogenic link between borreliosis and lichen seems to exist in some cases (60). Our preliminary data (61) show that ECM-1, which is the autoantigen of LS (17), is homologous to BBG23 and methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein (mcp-3) of *B. burgdorferi*. All four thyroid autoantigens, ECM-1, and their corresponding homologous *Borrelia* proteins contain 4–32 copies of the binding motif related to *HLA-DQ7*, this allele conferring genetic susceptibility to both AITD (62) and LS (31).

Molecular mimicry appears as an interesting field of investigation, and might explain, at least in part, associations found in epidemiological studies and/or single case reports. In our experience, it gave a plausible explanation for the association between AITD and *Yersinia* infection (42, 45, 50), anti-tumor vaccination with NY-ESO-1 (51), or rickettsiosis (52).

The main other infectious agents that the literature has linked to AITD are Epstein–Barr virus (63), hepatitis C virus (64), parvovirus B19 (64), human herpesvirus-6 (65), and *Helicobacter pylori* (66). For lichen, association was reported with Epstein–Barr virus—also known as human herpesvirus 4 (67), hepatitis C virus (67, 68), human papillomavirus (67, 69), and human herpesvirus-7 (70), while correlation with *H. pylori* is controversial (71, 72).

CONCLUSION

The existence and nature of a connection between AITD and lichen are still unresolved issues. Echoing Braun-Falco et al. (1), the etiology of lichen is currently "a mistery." Molecular mimicry is a likely mechanism, especially considering the advantage of providing an explanation for the occurrence of the association in patients with given HLA genotypes. However, molecular mimicry alone may not explain entirely the complex pathogenesis of the association, and other possibilities should be evaluated. Better awareness and attention to the association of lichen and AITD, and increased interdisciplinary collaboration, is desirable to define epidemiological magnitude and detailed clinical characteristics of the association, taking into account variables, such as ethnicity, socioeconomic issues, and environmental issues. Hopefully, better basic and clinical research will generate more effective care to patients with coexisting lichen and AITD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB and FG: substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, drafting of the work, final approval of the version to be published, and agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. SPC, FDB, and RG: acquisition/analysis/interpretation of data for the work, critical revision for important intellectual content, final approval of the version to be published, and agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

REFERENCES

- 1. Braun-Falco O, Plewig G, Wolff HH, Burgdorf WHC. *Dermatology*. Berlin: Springer Verlag (2000).
- Le Cleach L, Chosidow O. Clinical practice. Lichen planus. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:723–32. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp1103641
- Thongprasom K, Carrozzo M, Furness S, Lodi G. Interventions for treating oral lichen planus. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2011) 7:CD001168. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001168.pub2
- 4. van Cranenburgh OD, Nijland SB, Lindeboom R, de Korte J, de Rie MA, Ter Stege JA, et al. Patients with lichen sclerosus experience moderate satisfaction with treatment and impairment of quality of life: results of a crosssectional study. Br J Dermatol (2017) 176:1508–15. doi:10.1111/bjd.15125
- Goolamali SK, Barnes EW, Irvine WJ, Shuster S. Organ-specific antibodies in patients with lichen sclerosus. Br Med J (1974) 4:78–9. doi:10.1136/ bmj.4.5936.78
- Tremaine R, Adam JE, Orizaga M. Morphea coexisting with lichen sclerosus et atrophicus. *Int J Dermatol* (1990) 29:486–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-4362.1990. tb04840.x
- Poskitt L, Wojnarowska F. Lichen sclerosus as a cutaneous manifestation of thyroid disease. JAm Acad Dermatol (1993) 28:665. doi:10.1016/ S0190-9622(08)81795-1
- Heymann WR. Cutaneous manifestations of thyroid disease. J Am Acad Dermatol (1992) 26:885–902. doi:10.1016/0190-9622(92)70130-8
- 9. Wright AJ. Lichen sclerosus thyroid disease. J Reprod Med (1998) 43:240.
- 10. Lewis FM. Lichen sclerosus and autoimmune disease. J Reprod Med (1998) 43:1006.
- Lynch PJ. Lichen sclerosus and thyroid disease. J Reprod Med (1999) 44: 315–6.
- Kreuter A, Kryvosheyeva Y, Terras S, Moritz R, Möllenhoff K, Altmeyer P, et al. Association of autoimmune diseases with lichen sclerosus in 532 male and female patients. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2013) 93:238–41. doi:10.2340/ 00015555-1512
- Cooper SM, Ali I, Baldo M, Wojnarowska F. The association of lichen sclerosus and erosive lichen planus of the vulva with autoimmune disease: a casecontrol study. *Arch Dermatol* (2008) 144:1432–5. doi:10.1001/archderm.144. 11.1432
- Kazandi M, Sahin C, Terek MC, Cirpan T, Oztekin K. Clinical evaluation of vulvar lichen sclerosus: case series. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* (2010) 31: 555–8.
- Birenbaum DL, Young RC. High prevalence of thyroid disease in patients with lichen sclerosus. J Reprod Med (2007) 52:28–30.
- Kantere D, Alvergren G, Gillstedt M, Pujol-Calderon F, Tunbäck P. Clinical features, complications and autoimmunity in male lichen sclerosus. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2017) 97:365–9. doi:10.2340/00015555-2537
- Oyama N, Chan I, Neill SM, Hamada T, South AP, Wessagowit V, et al. Autoantibodies to extracellular matrix protein 1 in lichen sclerosus. *Lancet* (2003) 362:118–23. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13863-9
- Hagedorn M, Buxmeyer B, Schmitt Y, Bauknecht T. Survey of genital lichen sclerosus in women and men. Arch Gynecol Obstet (2002) 266:86–91. doi:10.1007/s004040100209
- Soy M, Guldiken S, Arikan E, Altun BU, Tugrul A. Frequency of rheumatic diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Rheumatol Int* (2007) 27:575–7. doi:10.1007/s00296-006-0263-8
- Ebrahimi M, Lundqvist L, Wahlin YB, Nylander E. Mucosal lichen planus, a systemic disease requiring multidisciplinary care: a cross-sectional clinical review from a multidisciplinary perspective. *J Low Genit Tract Dis* (2012) 16:377–80. doi:10.1097/LGT.0b013e318247a907
- Chang JY, Chiang CP, Wang YP, Wu YC, Chen HM, Sun A. Antigastric parietal cell and antithyroid autoantibodies in patients with desquamative gingivitis. *J Oral Pathol Med* (2017) 46:307–12. doi:10.1111/jop.12490
- Chang JY, Chiang CP, Hsiao CK, Sun A. Significantly higher frequencies of presence of serum autoantibodies in Chinese patients with oral lichen planus. J Oral Pathol Med (2009) 38:48–54. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0714.2008. 00686.x
- 23. Carrozzo M, Gandolfo S, Lodi G, Carbone M, Garzino-Demo P, Carbonero C, et al. Oral lichen planus in patients infected or noninfected with hepatitis C virus: the role of autoimmunity. *J Oral Pathol Med* (1999) 28:16–9. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0714.1999.tb01988.x

- 24. Lavaee F, Majd M. Evaluation of the association between oral lichen planus and hypothyroidism: a retrospective comparative study. *J Dent (Shiraz)* (2016) 17:38–42.
- Brănișteanu DE, Dimitriu A, Vieriu M, Boda D, Stoleriu G, Molodoi DA, et al. Cutaneous manifestations associated with thyroid disease. *Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi* (2014) 118:953–8.
- Porter SR, Kirby A, Olsen I, Barrett W. Immunologic aspects of dermal and oral lichen planus: a review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod (1997) 83:358–66. doi:10.1016/S1079-2104(97)90244-4
- 27. Tasker GL, Wojnarowska F. Lichen sclerosus. Clin Exp Dermatol (2003) 28:128-33. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2230.2003.01211.x
- 28. Gao XH, Barnardo MC, Winsey S, Ahmad T, Cook J, Agudelo JD, et al. The association between HLA DR, DQ antigens, and vulval lichen sclerosus in the UK: HLA DRB1*12 and its associated DRB1*12/DQB1*0301/04/09/010 haplotype confers susceptibility to vulval lichen sclerosus, and HLA DRB1*0301/04 and its associated DRB1*0301/04/DQB1*0201/02/03 haplotype protects from vulval lichen sclerosus. *J Invest Dermatol* (2005) 125:895–9. doi:10.1111/j.0022-202X.2005.23905.x
- Guarneri F, Benvenga S. Environmental factors and genetic background that interact to cause autoimmune thyroid disease. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2007) 14:398–409. doi:10.1097/MED.0b013e3282ef1c48
- Vita R, Lapa D, Trimarchi F, Vita G, Fallahi P, Antonelli A, et al. Certain HLA alleles are associated with stress-triggered Graves' disease and influence its course. *Endocrine* (2017) 55:93-100. doi:10.1007/ s12020-016-0909-6
- Azurdia RM, Luzzi GA, Byren I, Welsh K, Wojnarowska F, Marren P, et al. Lichen sclerosus in adult men: a study of HLA associations and susceptibility to autoimmune disease. *Br J Dermatol* (1999) 140:79–83. doi:10.1046/ j.1365-2133.1999.02611.x
- Aslanian FM, Marques MT, Matos HJ, Pontes LF, Porto LC, Azevedo LM, et al. HLA markers in familial lichen sclerosus. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges (2006) 4:842–7. doi:10.1111/j.1610-0387.2006.06087_supp.x
- Vaccaro M, Guarneri F, Borgia F, Cannavò SP, Benvenga S. Association of lichen sclerosus and autoimmune thyroiditis: possible role of *Borrelia burgdorferi? Thyroid* (2002) 12:1147–8. doi:10.1089/105072502321085261
- Rashid T, Ebringer A. Autoimmunity in rheumatic diseases is induced by microbial infections via crossreactivity or molecular mimicry. *Autoimmune Dis* (2012) 2012:539282. doi:10.1155/2012/539282
- Balmasova IP, Sepiashvili RI. Intestine infections, inflammation and autoimmunity. Trigger and effector mechanisms of autoimmune disease development as an outcome of intestinal infections. *Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol* (2013) 2:102–11.
- Coppieters KT, Wiberg A, von Herrath MG. Viral infections and molecular mimicry in type 1 diabetes. *APMIS* (2012) 120:941–9. doi:10.1111/ apm.12011
- Brodziak A, Ziółko E, Muc-Wierzgoń M, Nowakowska-Zajdel E, Kokot T, Klakla K. The role of human endogenous retroviruses in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases. *Med Sci Monit* (2012) 18:RA80–8.
- Cruz-Tapias P, Blank M, Anaya JM, Shoenfeld Y. Infections and vaccines in the etiology of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2012) 24:389–93. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32835448b8
- Virtanen JO, Jacobson S. Viruses and multiple sclerosis. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2012) 11:528–44. doi:10.2174/187152712801661220
- Chastain EM, Miller SD. Molecular mimicry as an inducing trigger for CNS autoimmune demyelinating disease. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 245:227–38. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01076.x
- Cusick MF, Libbey JE, Fujinami RS. Molecular mimicry as a mechanism of autoimmune disease. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2012) 42:102–11. doi:10.1007/ s12016-011-8293-8
- 42. Benvenga S, Guarneri F, Vaccaro M, Santarpia L, Trimarchi F. Homologies between proteins of *Borrelia burgdorferi* and thyroid autoantigens. *Thyroid* (2004) 14:964–6. doi:10.1089/thy.2004.14.964
- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Benvenga S. *Helicobacter pylori* and autoimmune pancreatitis: role of carbonic anhydrase via molecular mimicry? *J Cell Mol Med* (2005) 9:741–4. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2005.tb00506.x
- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Benvenga S. Identification of potentially crossreactive peanut-lupine proteins by computer-assisted search for amino acid sequence homology. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2005) 138:273–7. doi:10.1159/ 000088864

- 45. Benvenga S, Santarpia L, Trimarchi F, Guarneri F. Human thyroid autoantigens and proteins of *Yersinia* and *Borrelia* share amino acid sequence homology that includes binding motifs to HLA-DR molecules and T-cell receptor. *Thyroid* (2006) 16:225–36. doi:10.1089/thy.2006.16.225
- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Benvenga S. Environment-induced reactivity against autoallergens: possible role of latex. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2006) 117:957–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2006.02.008
- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Guarneri B, Benvenga S. In silico identification of potential new latex allergens. Clin Exp Allergy (2006) 36:916–9. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2222.2006.02516.x
- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Benvenga S. Cross-reactivity of Anisakis simplex: possible role of Ani s 2 and Ani s 3. Int J Dermatol (2007) 46:146–50. doi:10.1111/j.1365-4632.2006.03091.x
- Gregoric E, Gregoric JA, Guarneri F, Benvenga S. Injections of *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxin A may cause thyroid complications in predisposed persons based on molecular mimicry with thyroid autoantigens. *Endocrine* (2011) 39:41–7. doi:10.1007/s12020-010-9410-9
- Guarneri F, Carlotta D, Saraceno G, Trimarchi F, Benvenga S. Bioinformatics support the possible triggering of autoimmune thyroid diseases by *Yersinia enterocolitica* outer membrane proteins homologous to the human thyrotropin receptor. *Thyroid* (2011) 21:1283–4. doi:10.1089/ thy.2010.0364
- Vita R, Guarneri F, Agah R, Benvenga S. Autoimmune thyroid disease elicited by NY-ESO-1 vaccination. *Thyroid* (2014) 24:390-4. doi:10.1089/ thy.2013.0170
- Marangou A, Guarneri F, Benvenga S. Graves' disease precipitated by rickettsial infection. *Endocrine* (2015) 50:828–9. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0767-7
- Guarneri F, Guarneri B. Bioinformatic analysis of HLA-linked genetic susceptibility to immunoallergic disease: the MotiFinder software. *Ann Ital Dermatol Allergol* (2010) 64:69–75.
- Asbrink E. Erythema chronicum migrans Afzelius and acrodermatitis chronica atrophicans. Early and late manifestations of *Ixodes ricinus*-borne *Borrelia* spirochetes. *Acta Derm Venereol Suppl (Stockh)* (1985) 118:1–63.
- Aberer E, Stanek G. Histological evidence for spirochetal origin of morphea and lichen sclerosus et atrophicans. *Am J Dermatopathol* (1987) 9:374–9. doi:10.1097/0000372-198710000-00002
- Aberer E, Kollegger H, Kristoferitsch W, Stanek G. Neuroborreliosis in morphea and lichen sclerosus et atrophicus. J Am Acad Dermatol (1988) 19:820–5. doi:10.1016/S0190-9622(88)70239-X
- Aberer E, Klade H. Cutaneous manifestations of Lyme borreliosis. *Infection* (1991) 19:284–6. doi:10.1007/BF01644968
- Schempp C, Bocklage H, Lange R, Kölmel HW, Orfanos CE, Gollnick H. Further evidence for *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in morphea and lichen sclerosus et atrophicus confirmed by DNA amplification. *J Invest Dermatol* (1993) 100:717–20. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12472369
- Ozkan S, Atabey N, Fetil E, Erkizan V, Günes AT. Evidence for *Borrelia burgdorferi* in morphea and lichen sclerosus. *Int J Dermatol* (2000) 39:278–83. doi:10.1046/j.1365-4362.2000.00912.x
- Vasudevan B, Chatterjee M. Lyme borreliosis and skin. *Indian J Dermatol* (2013) 58:167–74. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.110822

- Guarneri F, Guarneri C, Santarpia L, Benvenga S. Borreliosi, lichen e tiroidite di Hashimoto: tre malattie, una causa sola? *Atti del 79° Congresso Nazionale SIDeMaST May 26–29 2004*. Brescia: SIDeMaST (2004).
- 62. Bogner U, Badenhoop K, Peters H, Schmieg D, Mayr WR, Usadel KH, et al. HLA-DR/DQ gene variation in nongoitrous autoimmune thyroiditis at the serological and molecular level. *Autoimmunity* (1992) 14:155–8. doi:10.3109/08916939209083135
- Dittfeld A, Gwizdek K, Michalski M, Wojnicz R. A possible link between the Epstein-Barr virus infection and autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Cent Eur J Immunol* (2016) 41:297–301. doi:10.5114/ceji.2016.63130
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Vita R, Benvenga S, Antonelli A. The role of human parvovirus B19 and hepatitis C virus in the development of thyroid disorders. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2016) 17(4):529–35. doi:10.1007/s11154-016-9361-4
- Sultanova A, Cistjakovs M, Gravelsina S, Chapenko S, Roga S, Cunskis E, et al. Association of active human herpesvirus-6 (HHV-6) infection with autoimmune thyroid gland diseases. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2017) 23::e1–50. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2016.09.023
- Astl J, Šterzl I. Activation of *Helicobacter pylori* causes either autoimmune thyroid diseases or carcinogenesis in the digestive tract. *Physiol Res* (2015) 64(Suppl 2):S291–301.
- Bunker CB, Shim TN. Male genital lichen sclerosus. *Indian J Dermatol* (2015) 60:111–7. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.152501
- Alaizari NA, Al-Maweri SA, Al-Shamiri HM, Tarakji B, Shugaa-Addin B. Hepatitis C virus infections in oral lichen planus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aust Dent J* (2016) 61:282–7. doi:10.1111/adj.12382
- 69. Gupta S, Gupta S. Role of human papillomavirus in oral squamous cell carcinoma and oral potentially malignant disorders: a review of the literature. *Indian J Dent* (2015) 6:91–8. doi:10.4103/0975-962X.155877
- Nahidi Y, Tayyebi Meibodi N, Ghazvini K, Esmaily H, Esmaeelzadeh M. Association of classic lichen planus with human herpesvirus-7 infection. *Int J Dermatol* (2017) 56:49–53. doi:10.1111/ijd.13416
- Wedi B, Kapp A. Helicobacter pylori infection in skin diseases: a critical appraisal. Am J Clin Dermatol (2002) 3:273-82. doi:10.2165/00128071-200203080-00009
- Hernando-Harder AC, Booken N, Goerdt S, Singer MV, Harder H. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and dermatologic diseases. *Eur J Dermatol* (2009) 19:431–44. doi:10.1684/ejd.2009.0739

Conflict of Interest Statement: The research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Guarneri, Giuffrida, Di Bari, Cannavò and Benvenga. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis, and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Ilaria Ruffilli^{1*}, Francesca Ragusa¹, Salvatore Benvenga^{2,3,4}, Roberto Vita², Alessandro Antonelli¹, Poupak Fallahi¹ and Silvia Martina Ferrari¹

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ²Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina School of Medicine, Messina, Italy, ³Master Program of Childhood, Adolescence and Women's Endocrine Health, University of Messina School of Medicine, Messina, Italy, ⁴Interdepartmental Program of Molecular & Clinical Endocrinology, and Women's Endocrine Health, University Hospital, Messina, Italy

Psoriasis (PsO) is a chronic relapsing/remitting autoimmune skin disease, associated with an increased risk of other autoimmune disorders. Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory arthritis occurring approximately in 30% of PsO patients. Sporadic cases of association between PsO and autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITDs) have been reported. However, two different recent studies did not find any association between them. In patients with PsO and PsA, an association with AITD has been shown by most of the studies in adults, but not in the juvenile form. In PsA women and men, thyroid autoimmunity [positive antithyroid peroxidase (AbTPO) antibodies, hypoechoic thyroid pattern] and subclinical hypothyroidism were more prevalent than in the general population. An association has been shown also in patients with PsO, arthritis, and inflammatory bowel disease, who have more frequently AITD. A Th1 immune predominance has been shown in early PsO, and PsA, with high serum CXCL10 (Th1 prototype chemokine), overall in the presence of autoimmune thyroiditis. This Th1 immune predominance might be the immunopathogenetic base of the association of these disorders. A raised incidence of new cases of hypothyroidism, thyroid dysfunction, positive AbTPO, and appearance of a hypoechoic thyroid pattern in PsA patients, especially in women, has been shown recently, suggesting to evaluate AbTPO levels, thyroid function, and thyroid ultrasound, especially in PsA women. Thyroid function follow-up and suitable treatments should be performed regularly in PsA female patients at high risk (thyroid-stimulating hormone within the normal range but at the higher limit, positive AbTPO, hypoechoic, and small thyroid).

Keywords: psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, autoimmune thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, CXCL10, AbTPO, antithyroglobulin antibodies

INTRODUCTION

Psoriasis (PsO) (1) affects about 2–4% of the population (2); it is a chronic relapsing/remitting autoimmune skin disease (1) and presents with itchy red, scaly patches, papules, and plaques, with different severity, from localized patches to general body coverage. PsO is classified in five types: plaque, guttate, inverse, pustular, and erythrodermic (3). These lesions are usually evident on the skin

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Terry Francis Davies, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Maria Brito, Mount Sinai Health System, United States Tony Weetman, University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Ilaria Ruffilli ilaria.ruffilli@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 April 2017 **Accepted:** 06 June 2017 **Published:** 19 June 2017

Citation:

Ruffilli I, Ragusa F, Benvenga S, Vita R, Antonelli A, Fallahi P and Ferrari SM (2017) Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis, and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 8:139. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00139

33

Abbreviations: AITDs, autoimmune thyroid diseases; AT, autoimmune thyroiditis; AbTg, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies; FT4, free thyroxine; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; PsO, psoriasis; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RF, rheumatoid factor; TD, thyroid dysfunction; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone.

of elbows and knees, and also on scalp, palms of hands, and soles of feet. Psoriatic nail dystrophy is usually present in fingernails and toenails and can be an isolated sign. A genetic predisposition is very important in the pathogenesis of PsO; however, environmental factors can activate the disease (1).

The skin epidermal layer grows rapidly in PsO (4), determining an abnormal production and an excess of skin cells (5), that are replaced in 3–5 days in PsO (while commonly every 28–30 days) (6). These events are probably induced by the premature keratinocytes maturation, induced by the inflammatory cascade in the dermis (7). The immune competent cells go from dermis to epidermis and release different inflammatory cytokines [interleukin (IL)-1 β , interferon (IFN)- γ , tumor necrosis factor- α , chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)10, IL-6, IL-22] (8). In PsO, DNA can stimulate the dendritic cells, to produce IFN- α . The secretion of such inflammatory cytokines leads to stimulate the proliferation of keratinocytes (8).

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory arthritis that has a variable clinical presentation and occurs approximately in 30% of PsO patients (7, 9, 10). PsA typically affects the joints of the fingers and toes, and it is characterized by a painful inflammation of the joints and surrounding connective tissue. This process results in a sausage-shaped swelling of the fingers and toes called dactylitis (9). PsA can also affect the hips, spine (spondylitis), knees, and sacroiliac joint (sacroiliitis), and any other joint (11). Dermatologic manifestations of PsO appear before the manifestations of arthritis in about 75% of patients (10).

Psoriasis is associated with an increased risk of other autoimmune disorders like ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, and autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) too (12).

Here, we review the scientific literature about PsO, PsA, and the possible association with autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITDs).

PsO, PsA, AND AITD

Few case reports initially reported an association of PsO and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (13, 14) (**Table 1**). A first systematic study by Bianchi et al. (15) evaluated thyroid volume and function and the prevalence of anti-microsome and

anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (AbTg) in 42 patients with PsA, versus 52 normal subjects, as controls. The average thyroid volume, measured at ultrasounds, was increased in comparison to controls. Patients with PsA had a raised prevalence of anti-microsome antibodies; thyroid involvement was confined to patients with active disease. These results suggested a significant thyroid involvement in PsA patients. However, the study was basically a retrospective study, and it did not specify the selection criteria of the patients (15).

A second study evaluated the prevalence of thyroid disorders in PsA patients, conducting a complete thyroid work-out in 80 PsA patients, versus control subjects extracted (1:5) from the general population (matched by age and gender), and 112 patients with rheumatoid arthrtitis (RA) (with similar iodine intake). PsA women had significantly more frequently a hypoechoic thyroid pattern, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies (AbTPO), and subclinical hypothyroidism than control women, with a frequency comparable to that in RA patients (hypoechoic thyroid 31, 16, and 36%; positive AbTPO titer 28, 12, and 31%; subclinical hypothyroidism 25, 8, and 12%, respectively). PsA and RA men showed more frequently hypoechoic thyroid pattern and positive AbTPO than control subjects (hypoechoic thyroid 16, 10, and 3%; positive AbTPO titer 14, 5, and 2%, respectively). PsA patients with subclinical hypothyroidism had a longer disease duration (years; 19 ± 15 versus 11 ± 8 , p = 0.03) and polyarticular involvement $(p \le 0.05)$ than euthyroid PsA patients. Therefore, a significantly higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity (positive AbTPO, hypoechoic thyroid pattern) in PsA men and women, and of subclinical hypothyroidism in PsA women, than in the general population were evidenced (12). Conversely, a subsequent study investigated the frequency of rheumatic diseases in 65 patients (56 F, 9 M), suffering from AITD; antinuclear antibody and rheumatoid factor levels were also measured. Various rheumatic disorders were detected in 40 (62%) of patients with AITD: the most frequent were fibromyalgia, osteoarthritis, keratoconjunctivitis sicca, and xerostomia. Autoimmune diseases were detected in 10 patients with AITD, and among them also PsO and PsA (19). A further study (20) evaluated the frequency of AITD in 80 children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (27

Reference	PsO patients (n)	Autoimmune thyroid disorder (AITD)% in PsO patients	Controls (n)	AITD% in controls	Р
Antonelli et al. (12)	80 with PsA	12/36 of F patients (33%); 11/44 of M patients (25%)	112 patients with rheumatoid arthritis; 400 control subjects	33/180 of F controls (18%); 10/220 of M controls (5%)	0.0001
Bianchi et al. (15)	42 with PsA	AbTg prevalence 5%; anti-microsome antibodies prevalence 14%	52	AbTg prevalence 3%; anti-microsome antibodies prevalence 0%	<0.05
Gul et al. (16)	105	6 patients had increased AbTPO (6%); 8 patients had increased AbTg (8%); 3 patients had both increased AbTPO and AbTg (3%)	96 with tinea pedis	AbTPO levels were increased in 6 subjects (6%), AbTg levels were increased in 11 subjects (11%) and both of them were increased in 6 subjects (6%)	NS
Vassilatou et al. (17)	114 (30 of them with PsA)	Prevalence of autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) 20.2%	286	Prevalence of AT 19.6%	NS
Fallahi et al. (18)	97 with PsA	34% thyroid autoimmunity	97	15% thyroid autoimmunity	0.002

TABLE 1 Prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity in psoriasis (PsO) or psoriatic arthritis (PsA) patients versus controls in the studies that have an internal control group

AbTg, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies; F, females; M, males; NS, not significant.

oligoarticular, 26 polyarticular, 17 enthesitis-related, 6 systemic, and 4 PsA), versus 81 healthy control subjects, matched by age and gender. AITD were found in four patients in the JIA group (5%). No significant difference between the study and control groups was observed in the frequency of circulating antithyroid antibodies, or AT, suggesting that in JIA there is no association with AITD (20).

A further study evaluated thyroid autoimmunity in 105 patients with PsO (without PsA), versus 96 sex- and agematching controls (with tinea pedis). The levels of free thyroxine (FT4) resulted significantly increased in the PsO group; however, AbTPO and AbTg levels were not significantly different between the two groups. The study showed that the serum FT4 levels can increase in psoriatic patients. However, thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), FT4, or FT3 were not reported. Furthermore, an increase of FT4 should be related to TSH decreased levels, however any correlation was reported (16).

The association between PsO and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) has been previously reported, even if potential associated comorbidities are not clear. A study (21) examined comorbidities in 146 patients diagnosed with both PsO and IBD, in comparison with those diagnosed with PsO-only (146, matched by gender, ethnicity, and age). Patients with both PsO and IBD (versus PsO-only) had significantly higher rates of hepatitis (6.2 versus 0.7%), AT (6.8 versus 2.1%), and diabetes (26.77 versus 11.0%), and 60 (41.1%) were diagnosed with seronegative arthritis, suggesting that patients with both PsO and IBD have more frequently AITD and arthritis (21).

The prevalence of 12 autoimmune diseases was also evaluated in 25,885 people extracted from the general population in Sardinia (22). A high prevalence was observed for RA, ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, type 1 diabetes, systemic lupus erythematosus, celiac disease, myasthenia gravis, systemic sclerosis, multiple sclerosis, Sjogren's syndrome, PsO/PsA (939 cases), and AT (2,619 cases). The statistical analysis of the comorbidity of autoimmune diseases shows that the number of people with more than one autoimmune disease was significantly higher than the expected number, both in women and men (22).

Another study (17) evaluated prospectively 114 PsO patients with disease duration of 5–38 years, 30 of them with PsA, in comparison with 286 age- and body mass index-matched subjects. No difference in the prevalence of AT between PsO patients and controls (20.2 versus 19.6%) was present. The prevalence of AT in male and female PsO patients was similar (9.6 and 10.5%, respectively) unlike the increased, as expected, prevalence in female versus male controls (14.7 versus 4.9%). Detected cases with hypothyroidism due to AT were similar in PsO patients and controls (7.9 and 7.0%, respectively). However, the number of patients with PsA was low (23) and not sufficient to a reliable evaluation of AITD in these last patients (17).

Conversely, a subsequent study evaluated prospectively the prevalence of other autoimmune disorders in outpatient clinic in 3,069 consecutive patients with diagnosed chronic AT, with respect to two age- and sex-matched control groups: (a) a control group of 1,023 subjects, extracted from a random sample of the general population without thyroid disorders and (b) 1,023 patients with non-toxic multinodular goiter drawn by the same

random sample of the general population, with similar iodine intake. The results of our study demonstrated a significant increase of the prevalence of PsA in AT patients (24).

A more recent study (18) aimed to assess the incidence of new cases of clinical and subclinical thyroid dysfunction (TD) in a broad group of PsA patients versus a control group, matched by age and gender with a similar iodine intake. PsA patients with TD were excluded first, and new cases of thyroid disorders were evaluated in 97 PsA patients and 97 matched controls (median follow-up of 74 months in PsA versus 92 in controls). A raised rate of new cases of hypothyroidism, TD, positive AbTPO, and appearance of a small hypoechoic thyroid pattern in PsA, especially in female gender, compared to controls has been evidenced. Risk factors in female gender for the development of TD were TSH within the normal range but at the higher limit, positive AbTPO, and small thyroid volume (18).

Interferon- γ and Th1 cytokines/chemokines are involved in the pathogenesis of PsO. Activated T cells and HLA-DR keratinocytes have been shown in active plaques (25). It has been shown that CXCL10, the Th1 prototype chemokine, and its receptor (CXCR)3 are present in keratinocytes and in the dermal infiltrate derived from active psoriatic plaques and that effective treatment of active plaques decreased the expression of CXCL10. Elevated circulating CXCL10 has been shown in PsO patients (25–28). The cellular infiltrate in acute plaques is constituted by 5–8% CD3(–)CD56(+) NK cells, as indicated by immunohistochemical techniques, especially localized in the mid and papillary dermis. NK lymphocyte migration toward CXCL10 is involved in the pathogenesis of PsO (27).

CXCL10 is a determinant chemoattractant for neutrophils, and an elevated infiltration and microabscess formation by neutrophils is a characteristic PsO feature. Different papers have shown a critical pathogenic role of neutrophils in PsO, particularly in the first phases, leading to hypothesize that blocking neutrophil function could have therapeutic effectiveness in this disease (23, 29, 30).

Also, in PsA patients, high levels of CXCL10 are observed in synovial fluid, and in circulation. Th1 cells immune predominance has been also shown at the beginning of the disease, with a subsequent later decline in long-lasting PsO or PsA, suggesting a shift from Th1 to Th2 immune response in long duration diseases (31–33).

Also, AITD are Th1 immune-mediated autoimmune disorders in which Th1 lymphocytes, IFN- γ , and IFN- γ dependent chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11) play an important role (34, 35).

Serum levels of CXCL10 (the Th1 prototype chemokine) and CCL2 (the Th2 prototype chemokine) were measured in 37 patients with PsA without AT (PsA) and 28 with AT (PsA + AT), and in gender- and age-matched controls. The results of the study demonstrated higher circulating CXCL10 and CCL2 in PsA patients than in control subjects. Furthermore, serum CXCL10 (but not CCL2) levels in PsA patients were significantly higher in the presence of AT (36). These data suggested that a Th1 immune predominace, both in PsA such as in AT, might be the immunopathogenetic base of the association of these diseases.
CONCLUSION

Psoriasis is associated with an increased risk of other autoimmune disorders like ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, and celiac disease (37). Sporadic cases of association of PsO and AITD have been reported. However, two different recent studies did not find any association between PsO and AITD.

Psoriatic arthritis is a chronic inflammatory arthritis that occurs approximately in 30% of PsO patients. In patients with PsO and PsA, an association with AITD has been shown by most of the studies in adults, but not in the juvenile form. In PsA women and men, thyroid autoimmunity (positive AbTPO antibodies, hypoechoic thyroid pattern) and subclinical hypothyroidism were more prevalent than in the general population. An association has been shown also in patients with PsO, arthritis, and IBD who have more frequently AITD.

A Th1 immune predominance has been shown in early PsO, and PsA, such as in AT, with high circulating levels of the Th1 prototype chemokine CXCL10 overall in the presence of the association with AT. These data suggest that this Th1 immune predominance might be the immunopathogenetic base of the association of these disorders.

A very recent longitudinal study in PsA patients has shown a raised incidence of new cases of hypothyroidism, TD,

REFERENCES

- Menter A, Gottlieb A, Feldman SR, Van Voorhees AS, Leonardi CL, Gordon KB, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: Section 1. Overview of psoriasis and guidelines of care for the treatment of psoriasis with biologics. J Am Acad Dermatol (2008) 58:826–50. doi:10.1016/j. jaad.2008.02.039
- Parisi R, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, Ashcroft DM. Identification and Management of Psoriasis and Associated ComorbidiTy (IMPACT) project team. Global epidemiology of psoriasis: a systematic review of incidence and prevalence. J Invest Dermatol (2013) 133:377–85. doi:10.1038/jid.2012.339
- 3. Sima J. Dermatology: Illustrated Study Guide and Comprehensive Board Review. New York: Springer International Publishing (2012).
- Ouyang W. Distinct roles of IL-22 in human psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21:435–41. doi:10.1016/j. cytogfr.2010.10.007
- Raychaudhuri SK, Maverakis E, Raychaudhuri SP. Diagnosis and classification of psoriasis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:490–5. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014. 01.008
- Parrish L. Psoriasis: symptoms, treatments and its impact on quality of life. Br J Community Nurs (2012) 17:524, 526, 528. doi:10.12968/bjcn.2012.17.11.524
- Palfreeman AC, McNamee KE, McCann FE. New developments in the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a focus on apremilast. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2013) 7:201–10. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S32713
- Nestle FO, Kaplan DH, Barker J. Psoriasis. N Engl J Med (2009) 361:496–509. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0804595
- Durham LE, Taams LS, Kirkham BW. Psoriatic arthritis. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) (2016) 77:C102–8. doi:10.12968/hmed.2016.77.7.C102
- Goldenstein-Schainberg C, Favarato MH, Ranza R. Current and relevant concepts in psoriatic arthritis. *Rev Bras Reumatol* (2012) 52:98–106. doi:10.1590/ S0482-50042012000100010
- Krawczyk-Wasielewska A, Skorupska E, Samborski W. Sacroiliac joint pain as an important element of psoriatic arthritis diagnosis. *Postepy Dermatol Alergol* (2013) 30:108–12. doi:10.5114/pdia.2013.34161
- Antonelli A, Delle Sedie A, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Maccheroni M, Ferrannini E, et al. High prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity and hypothyroidism in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *J Rheumatol* (2006) 33:2026–8.

positive AbTPO, and appearance of a small and hypoechoic thyroid in PsA, especially in female gender, compared to controls. Risk factors in female gender for the development of TD are TSH within the normal range but at the higher limit, positive AbTPO, and small thyroid volume, suggesting to evaluate AbTPO levels, thyroid function, and thyroid ultrasound, especially in PsA women. Thyroid function follow-up and suitable treatments should be performed regularly in PsA female patients at high risk TSH within the normal range but at the higher limit, positive AbTPO, hypoechoic, and small thyroid.

However, studies in larger number of patients are required to evaluate if routine thyroid screening could be beneficial for PsO patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IR, FR, SB, RV, AA, PF, and SMF gave substantial contribution in the conception and design of the work, and in writing the paper; gave the final approval of the version to be published; agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. AA and SB revised it critically for important intellectual content.

- Molta CT, Khan MA, Aponte CJ, Reynolds TL, Macintyre SS. Familial occurrence of systemic sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis and other immunological disorders: report of two kindreds with study of HLA antigens and review of the literature. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (1989) 7:229–36.
- Nogita T, Aramoto Y, Terajima S, Akimoto K, Kawashima M, Hidano A, et al. The coexistence of psoriasis vulgaris, Sjögren's syndrome, and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Dermatol (1992) 19:302–5. doi:10.1111/j.1346-8138.1992.tb03229.x
- Bianchi G, Marchesini G, Zoli M, Falasconi MC, Iervese T, Vecchi F, et al. Thyroid involvement in chronic inflammatory rheumatological disorders. *Clin Rheumatol* (1993) 12:479–84. doi:10.1007/BF02231775
- Gul U, Gonul M, Kaya I, Aslan E. Autoimmune thyroid disorders in patients with psoriasis. *Eur J Dermatol* (2009) 9:221–3. doi:10.1684/ejd.2009.0632
- Vassilatou E, Papadavid E, Papastamatakis P, Alexakos D, Koumaki D, Katsimbri P, et al. No association of psoriasis with autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* (2017) 31:102–6. doi:10.1111/jdv.13767
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Miccoli M, Sedie AD, et al. Increased incidence of autoimmune thyroid disorders in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a longitudinal follow-up study. *Immunol Res* (2017) 65:681–6. doi:10.1007/s12026-017-8900-8
- Soy M, Guldiken S, Arikan E, Altun BU, Tugrul A. Frequency of rheumatic diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Rheumatol Int* (2007) 27:575–7. doi:10.1007/s00296-006-0263-8
- Unsal E, Oren O, Salar K, Makay B, Abaci A, Ozhan B, et al. The frequency of autoimmune thyroid disorders in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Turk J Pediatr* (2008) 50:462–5.
- Binus AM, Han J, Qamar AA, Mody EA, Holt EW, Qureshi AA. Associated comorbidities in psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* (2012) 26:644–50. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3083.2011.04153.x
- Sardu C, Cocco E, Mereu A, Massa R, Cuccu A, Marrosu MG, et al. Population based study of 12 autoimmune diseases in Sardinia, Italy: prevalence and comorbidity. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e32487. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032487
- Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Colaci M, Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P. CXCL10 in psoriasis. Adv Med Sci (2015) 60:349–54. doi:10.1016/j.advms.2015.07.011
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009

- Gottlieb AB, Luster AD, Posnett DN, Carter DM. Detection of a gamma interferon-induced protein IP-10 in psoriatic plaques. *J Exp Med* (1988) 168: 941–8. doi:10.1084/jem.168.3.941
- Boorsma DM, Flier J, Sampat S, Ottevanger C, de Haan P, Hooft L, et al. Chemokine IP-10 expression in cultured human keratinocytes. *Arch Dermatol Res* (1998) 290:335–41. doi:10.1007/s004030050314
- Ottaviani C, Nasorri F, Bedini C, de Pità O, Girolomoni G, Cavani A. CD56brightCD16(-) NK cells accumulate in psoriatic skin in response to CXCL10 and CCL5 and exacerbate skin inflammation. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36:118–28. doi:10.1002/eji.200535243
- Deeva I, Mariani S, De Luca C, Pacifico V, Leoni L, Raskovic D, et al. Widespectrum profile of inflammatory mediators in the plasma and scales of patients with psoriatic disease. *Cytokine* (2010) 49:163–70. doi:10.1016/j. cyto.2009.09.014
- Naik HB, Cowen EW. Autoinflammatory pustular neutrophilic diseases. Dermatol Clin (2013) 31:405–25. doi:10.1016/j.det.2013.04.001
- Christophers E, Metzler G, Röcken M. Bimodal immune activation in psoriasis. Br J Dermatol (2014) 170:59–65. doi:10.1111/bjd.12631
- Proost P, Struyf S, Loos T, Gouwy M, Schutyser E, Conings R, et al. Coexpression and interaction of CXCL10 and CD26 in mesenchymal cells by synergising inflammatory cytokines: CXCL8 and CXCL10 are discriminative markers for autoimmune arthropathies. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2006) 8:R107. doi:10.1186/ar1997
- 32. Lande R, Giacomini E, Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Sebastiani GD, Minisola G, et al. Characterization and recruitment of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in synovial fluid and tissue of patients with chronic inflammatory arthritis. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:2815–24. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2815
- 33. Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Delle Sedie A, Ferrari SM, Maccheroni M, Bombardieri S, et al. High values of Th1 (CXCL10) and Th2 (CCL2) chemokines in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2009) 27:22–7.

- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Pupilli C, Mancusi C, Metelli MR, et al. CXCL9 and CXCL11 chemokines modulation by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha agonists secretion in Graves' and normal thyrocytes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95:E413–20. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-0923
- 36. Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Delle Sedie A, Ferrari SM, Maccheroni M, Bombardieri S, et al. High values of alpha (CXCL10) and beta (CCL2) circulating chemokines in patients with psoriatic arthritis, in presence or absence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Autoimmunity* (2008) 41:537–42. doi:10.1080/08916930802170401
- Bhatia BK, Millsop JW, Debbaneh M, Koo J, Linos E, Liao W. Diet and psoriasis, part II: celiac disease and role of a gluten-free diet. J Am Acad Dermatol (2014) 71:350–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2014.03.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer, MB, and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Ruffilli, Ragusa, Benvenga, Vita, Antonelli, Fallahi and Ferrari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Myasthenia Gravis

Angela Lopomo¹ and Sonia Berrih-Aknin^{2,3,4*}

¹ Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, Division of Medical Genetics, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ²Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, Paris, France, ³INSERM U974, Paris, France, ⁴AIM, Institute of Myology, Paris, France

Autoimmune diseases (AIDs) are the result of specific immune responses directed against structures of the self. In normal conditions, the molecules recognized as "self" are tolerated by immune system, but when the self-tolerance is lost, the immune system could react against molecules from the body, causing the loss of self-tolerance, and subsequently the onset of AID that differs for organ target and etiology. Autoimmune thyroid disease (ATD) is caused by the development of autoimmunity against thyroid antigens and comprises Hashimoto's thyroiditis and Graves disease. They are frequently associated with other organ or non-organ specific AIDs, such as myasthenia gravis (MG). In fact, ATD seems to be the most associated pathology to MG. The etiology of both diseases is multifactorial and it is due to genetic and environmental factors, and each of them has specific characteristics. The two pathologies show many commonalities, such as the organ-specificity with a clear pathogenic effect of antibodies, the pathological mechanisms, such as deregulation of the immune system and the implication of the genetic predisposition. They also show some differences, such as the mode of action of the antibodies and therapies. In this review that focuses on ATD and MG, the common features and the differences between the two diseases are discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Marco Centanni, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Carmelo Rodolico, University of Messina, Italy

*Correspondence:

Sonia Berrih-Aknin sonia.berrih-aknin@upmc.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 May 2017 **Accepted:** 30 June 2017 **Published:** 13 July 2017

Citation:

Lopomo A and Berrih-Aknin S (2017) Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Myasthenia Gravis. Front. Endocrinol. 8:169. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00169 Keywords: acetylcholine receptor antibodies, interferon type I, germinal centers, genetics, etiology

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune diseases (AIDs) are the result of specific immune responses directed against structures of the self. Under normal conditions, the immune system is tolerant to molecules recognized as "self" and does not react to antigens expressed in endogenous tissues. If self-tolerance is missing, the immune system could develop an immune response against self-molecules, causing the development of AIDs that include autoimmune thyroid diseases (ATDs) and myasthenia gravis (MG).

The etiology of AIDs is multifactorial and involves genetic and environmental factors. ATDs are endocrine diseases due to an autoimmune reaction against thyroid antigens, in a specific genetic background triggered by exposure to environmental factors (1).

The two main ATDs are Graves disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) that are characterized by hypothyroidism and thyrotoxicosis, respectively, by the production of thyroid autoantibodies such as thyroid peroxidase (TPO), thyroglobulin (TG), and thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR), as well as by lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid (1). MG is a neuromuscular disorder due to a defective transmission of the nerve impulse to muscles, causing muscle weakness and abnormal fatigability. In most cases, MG is mediated by antibodies targeting the acetylcholine receptor (AChR) while in a minority of patients, the autoantibodies are specific for muscle-specific kinase (MuSK) or agrin receptor LRP4 (low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-4). Other targets, such as titin, and ryanodine, have been investigated (2).

38

CONCOMITANT THYROIDITIS AND MG: EPIDEMIOLOGICAL FEATURES

The prevalence of ATDs is high and estimated to be 5% in the general population (3) while MG is a rare disease with an incidence of 8–10 cases per one million persons/year and a prevalence of 150–250 cases per one million (4) (**Table 1**). Although ATD is one of the most representative organ-specific autoimmune disorders, it is associated with other autoimmune endocrine failures or non-endocrine diseases (5). Among the non-endocrine diseases, we can mention vitiligo, pernicious anemia, MG, autoimmune gastritis, celiac disease, and hepatitis (6, 7). Interestingly, in these associated diseases, the presence of anti-TPO antibodies is more frequent than the prevalence of ATDs (6).

The aim of this review is to focus on the association between MG and ATDs. The most common diseases coexisting with MG are GD and HT, with a frequency of 7 and 3%, respectively (13). ATDs were diagnosed in 26.8% of MG Polish patients including 4.4% with GD, 9% with HT, and 13.4% with anti-thyroid antibodies (14). In British and German populations, 16% of early-onset MG (EOMG), 9% of late-onset MG, and 17% of thymoma-MG patients had antibodies against TPO or TG (15). About 0.2% of patients affected by ATDs show MG that is much higher than the general incidence of MG (0.01%). MG could be ocular or generalized, even if ATDs are more frequent in the ocular group (16-18). When associated to ATDs, MG shows specific features, such as the young age of onset, mild clinical symptoms, low levels of AChR antibodies, and low frequency of thymic alterations (18-20). These data highlight that the association between MG and ATDs is much more frequent than expected.

ETIOLOGY

The etiology of AIDs is still unknown. Drugs, virus infections, radiation, stress are some of the environmental factors that may be involved in the development of ATDs and MG in susceptible individuals, contributing to the activation of an innate immune response (8, 10, 21, 22).

Factors of Predisposition

Autoimmune thyroid diseases are more common among women than men with a female:male ratio of 5–10:1. There is a difference

in prevalence and incidence in the base of geographic area, race, and age. The frequency of anti-thyroid antibodies increases with age, showing a peak ranging from 45 to 55 years. In females, one of the two X chromosomes is inactivated during early embryonic stage (23). The inactivation of the same X chromosome, that occurs in more than 80% of cells, could result in defect in immunological tolerance to X-linked antigens that could lead to autoimmunity. Moreover, fetal microchimerism was observed in blood and thyroid tissues from women with either HT or GD. During pregnancy, the production of maternal regulatory T cells (Treg) early in pregnancy could lead to a decrease in the circulating anti-thyroid antibodies, maintaining a state of tolerance to fetal alloantigens in order to avoid fetus rejection. After birth, anti-thyroid antibodies rebound with a transient increase. The persistence of fetal cells in maternal tissues leads to fetal microchimerism (24).

In MG, instead, the early-onset forms, characterized by the age of onset before 50 years, are more frequent in female than male with a ratio female:male of 3:1. Different studies suggest an important role of estrogens in MG (25), since estrogen receptors are expressed on thymic epithelial cells and on thymocytes (21). The female bias in AIDs could be due to reduced expression by estrogens of AIRE, a transcription factor involved in negative selection, resulting in a decreased quality of autoreactive cells elimination (26).

By case-control studies, and more recent genome-wide association studies, different genes have been associated with the ATDs and MG and the presence of specific autoantibodies. Genes involved in T-cell activation and regulation, such as protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor 22 (*PTPN22*), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (*CTLA4*), and human leukocyte antigens (HLA), are associated with both ATDs and MG. PTPN22 is an intracellular protein tyrosine phosphatase bound to c-src tyrosine kinase, involved in T-cell activation (27); CTLA4 plays a role in inhibiting T-cell signaling, and the HLA is essential for presenting exogenous antigens for recognition by CD4⁺ T-helper cells (28). Other genes have been associated to a single disease, as indicated in **Figure 1**. Therefore, in both ATDs and MG, factors of predisposition include not only genetic background, but also the potential role of sexual hormones.

Triggering Factors

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is the most associated to ATDs both in adults and children, in fact, infected HCV

	Hashimoto's thyroiditis	Graves' disease	AChR-MG	MuSK-MG
	Hypothyroidism	Hyperthyroidism		
Incidence	About 2%	About 2%	About 0.1%	About 0.01%
Female/male ratio	Around 10	Around 10	Early onset: $F > M$ (ratio around 3) Late onset: $F = M$	Around 6
Tissue pathology	Damage of the thyroid gland	Enlarged thyroid (diffuse goiter)	Thymic pathologies, hyperplasia among the young patients, and thymoma among the oldest patients	No thymic pathology
Therapy	Levothyroxine (LT4)	Anti-thyroid drugs, radioactive iodine, and surgery	Anticholinesterase drugs, thymectomy, immunosuppressive drugs (azathioprine, corticosteroids)	Corticosteroids Rituximab

The data on this table were collected from the following Ref. (8-12).

TG				M
	TSHR		IL-10	
IL2RA	FCRL3	HLA	TNF-α	IL-12
GDCG4p14	1 Official	III.		INF-II
-	RNASET2	PTPN22	CHRNA1	
FOXE1	CD4	CTLA4	ТРМТ	TNIP1
CD25	CD4	CTLA4	IFMII	GR
			ABBC6	

patients show dysfunctions in the thyroid (10, 31). In patients with chronic hepatitis C (CHC), the thyroid disorders are characterized by an increased risk of ATD and hypothyroidism in females, elevated levels of anti-TPO antibodies, and by papillary thyroid cancer risk (32, 33). The hypothesized mechanism is that HCV envelope protein E2 induces strong inflammatory responses in human thyrocytes, resulting in the production of interleukin (IL)-8, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). The E2 protein also induces the upregulation of molecules involved in innate immune pathways (34). Also human herpes virus-6 (HHV-6) infection is associated with ATD onset, in fact, a high level of HHV-6 activation marker was found in thyroid tissue of patients with ATD (35). In myasthenic patients, the existence of a chronic inflammatory state in the thymus could alter innate immune responses leading to self-tolerance failure (36-39). The inflammatory state could be due to persistent viral replications, in fact, Epstein Barr virus (EBV), cytomegalovirus, human foamy virus, and Nile virus were found to be associated to MG (40, 41). Pathogen infections could play a role in AIDs through dysregulation of toll-like receptor-mediated innate immune responses, which can result in altered innate immune responses and long-term inflammation, rendering the thymus vulnerable to auto-sensitization (40, 41). EBV is one of the main candidates suspected to play a role in MG initiation, since it is able to promote B-cell abnormal activation and survival, and to disrupt critical B-cell tolerance checkpoints (40, 42-44).

Recent data have confirmed a strong association between ATD development and interferon (IFN)- α therapy in patients with CHC. About 40% of CHC patients acquire thyroid disorders while receiving IFN- α . IFN-induced thyroiditis is visible as clinical thyroiditis in about 15% of HCV patients receiving IFN- α and subclinical thyroiditis in up to 40% of patients (45). Moreover, it was observed that the generation of anti-thyroid antibodies tends to continue also after IFN therapy (30). IFN- α could induce thyroiditis by both direct toxic effects on the thyroid and by immune recruitment mechanisms (46).

Interestingly, IFN-I therapies can also prime the development of MG (47). IFN-I, especially IFN- β , could play a central role in the thymic follicular hyperplasia of MG patients by inducing high expression of α -AChR and of CXCL13 chemokine in thymic epithelial cells, and of the chemokine CCL21 in endothelial lymphatic cells, two chemokines involved in the abnormal recruitment of B cells in EOMG thymuses. IFN- β also increases B-cell activating factor expression, which promotes the development of autoreactive B cells (48). Also, IFN- β overexpression in MG thymus can mediate the effects of dsRNA activation and causes α -AChR subunit overexpression, suggesting that IFN- β can play a central role in MG development (36).

Other drugs can induce AIDs, including immunomodulatory agents used to treat melanoma, such as monoclonal antibodies inhibiting the immune checkpoint pathways, as CTLA4 and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), two-cell surface receptors on T cells which down-regulate immune response (49). Ipilimumab is a human immunostimulatory antibody targeting CTLA4 that can cause thyroiditis and/or hypothyroidism in 6% of cases after several cycles. Pembrolizumab and nivolumab act against PD-1 and, if combined with ipilimumab to inhibit both CLT4 and PD-1, show a stronger effect with thyroiditis in 22% of cases (50).

DIFFERENTIAL AND COMMON FEATURES IN ATDs AND MG

Antibodies

Both MG and ATD diseases are organ specific and antibodymediated, and both kinds of disorders combine many different pathologies. Patients with ATDs have antibodies against proteins of the thyroid, but the characteristics of the disease differ according to the autoantigen. Patients with HT have serum antibodies reacting with TG, TPO, while patients with GD have antibodies against the receptor of TSH (51) (**Table 2**).

Myasthenia gravis is due to antibodies against the neuromuscular junction (59). Similarly to thyroiditis, in MG, several antigens are the targets of the autoantibodies, and the disease features depend upon the nature of the antibodies. Patients with anti-AChR, but not with anti-MuSK antibodies, have thymic pathologies, hyperplasia among the young patients, and thymoma among the oldest patients (60).

Interestingly, in both MG and ATDs, some forms of the disease are IgG4 dependent, an Ig subclass that does not bind to the complement. In MG, anti-MuSK antibodies are IgG4 (61). In ATDs, several subcategories of IgG4-mediated diseases have been identified including a fibrosing variant of HT, IgG4-related HT, and GD with elevated IgG4 levels (62). These IgG4 diseases share common mechanisms that involve the mechanical interference of extracellular ligand–receptor interactions by the IgG4 antibodies (63).

The mechanisms of action of the antibodies are quite different in MG and ATD, likely due to the nature of the target antigen and its localization. In HT, together with cytotoxic cells, the antibodies contribute to the destruction of the thyroid, leading to hypothyroidism (**Table 2**). In the case of GD, the antibodies against TSHR could be stimulatory, blocking or neutral; when the stimulating antibodies predominate, clinical features become obvious (56). Thus, the antibodies are functional, able to stimulate or to inhibit the secretion of thyroid hormones. Fluctuating antibody levels can lead to syndromes alternating TABLE 2 | Physiopathological features of patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases and myasthenia gravis (MG).

		Hashimoto's thyroiditis	Graves' disease	AChR-MG	MuSK-MG
Humoral immunity	Target of the autoantibodies	TG (20–50%), TPO (90–95%)	TSHR	AChR	MuSK
	Mechanism of the Abies	Thyroid destruction by cytotoxic cells, death receptors, and impairment of thyroid hormone production	Overactivation of the gland: thyroid stimulatory, blocking, and neutral Abies	AChR blocking, internalization, and degradation	Disruption of neuromuscular junction and inhibition of the retrograde signaling
	Role of complement	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Cellular mechanisms	Infiltration of the target organ Ectopic GC	+++ Thyroid Yes (thyroid)	+ Thyroid, but not destruction Yes (thyroid)	Neg in the muscle +++ in the thymus Yes (thymus)	Neg in the muscle Neg in the thymus No
	T-cell involvement	Th1, Th17	Th2, Th17	Th1, Th2, Th17	Th1, Th17
	Role of epithelial cells	Overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by thyroid epithelial cells		Overproduction of pro- inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by thymic epithelial cells	Unknown
	Regulatory B cells	Normal B10 number	Normal B10 number	Decreased B10 cell number	Decreased B10 cell number

The data on this table were collected from the following Ref. (1, 52-58).

between hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism (64). In the case of MG, anti-AChR antibodies induce its degradation dependent upon the complement, and its internalization (2), while anti-MuSK antibodies disrupt the neuromuscular junction and inhibit the retrograde signaling (65, 66). Recent findings suggest that the anti-AChR antibodies could also have a functional effect, by inducing the overproduction of IL-6, a cytokine that plays a role in muscle biology (67). It is not clear yet if this mechanism participates to the pathogenic mechanisms or is a compensatory mechanism.

Most of the autoantibodies have a clinical usefulness. Anti-TPO and anti-TSHR antibodies are relevant for the diagnosis of HT and GD, respectively (30, 68). Anti-TSH receptor antibodies are of interest in GD as they correlate with the disease severity and their levels decrease with therapies (69). However, anti-TPO and anti-TG Abs are not unique to HT patients since these antibodies are detectable in the majority of GD patients (70). In the case of MG, the anti-AChR antibodies are very useful for the diagnosis but not for the follow-up. On the other hand, for the group of patients with anti-MuSK antibodies, monitoring its level is relevant, since it correlates with the clinical course (2).

Infiltration of the Target Organ and Germinal Centers

Patients with GD can have an infiltration of the thyroid gland, while in the case of HD, the infiltration is severe and accompanied by the destruction of the thyroid (71). Ectopic B-cell follicles are observed in the thyroid gland in HT (72). Autoreactive B cells within these lymphoid follicles were recognized by their ability to bind thyroid antigens (72). In MG, the neuromuscular junctions displays minimal lymphocytic infiltration, while the thymus at least in the young patients includes many infiltrating cells, signs of inflammation, and germinal centers (53). The degree of hyperplasia is related to the level of anti-AChR antibodies (73).

Immune Dysregulation

In both MG and ATDs, T-cell immune-mediated mechanisms are involved. In ATDs, cellular immunity targeting thyroid antigens is very common (74, 75). This mechanism is also a feature of experimental thyroiditis obtained in animals by injection of thyroid antigen with adjuvants (76). In MG, similar data are observed; in the patients, and in the experimental models of MG, T-cell proliferation using the autoantigen or peptides from the AChR has been shown (77–79).

In addition, inflammatory cells such as Th1 and Th17 were shown to be involved in the different forms of thyroid or myasthenic diseases (Table 2). Th1 cytokines are increased in MG patients and its experimental model (EAMG) and normalized with therapies (80, 81). Th1 cells and their cytokines are required for EAMG development (82), through the production of complement-dependent anti-AChR antibodies that are pathogenic (82, 83). In addition, TNF- α has been shown to contribute to the chronic inflammation observed in the MG thymus (84). In ATDs, Th1 cells recruited in the thyroid may be responsible for increased production of IFN- γ and TNF- α , which in turn stimulates the secretion of the pro-inflammatory chemokine CXCL10 from the thyroid cells, resulting in an amplification feedback loop, which could perpetuate the autoimmune process (1). Th17 cells and IL-17 have an inflammatory and pathogenic role in MG and ATD (85). Interestingly, IL-17 also contributes to B-cell responses. Indeed, mice mutated for IL-17 receptor have reduced humoral responses and germinal center development (86). In MG patients, the seric level of IL-17 is increased (84, 87). In the mouse model, IL-17 deficient mice are resistant to develop MG, and the pathogenic anti-murine AChR antibodies are lower compared with wild-type mice (88). In ATDs, an increased differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes and an enhanced synthesis of Th17 cytokines were shown, mainly in HT (89).

Finally, the defects of immune regulation are a hallmark of AIDs. In both MG and thyroiditis, functional defects of Treg

cells have been shown while the cell number is normal (90–92). In addition, there is a shift from Treg cells to Th17 cells, suggesting that Treg/Th17 balance is altered (84, 93). However, in MG, it was also demonstrated that the Teff cells are resistant to suppression (84). To our knowledge, there is no equivalent study in ATDs disorders. The number of B reg cells has been shown to be decreased in MG but not ATDs (55, 58, 94).

Microbiota is essential for immunologic and digestive homeostasis (95) and is involved in many AIDs (52). In animals, the lack of microbiota is associated with reduced intestinal surface areas with shorter villi, changes in mucus layer, and permeability (5, 96), together with reduced B- and T-cell production (97). Interestingly, in humans, a morphological and functional damage of the intestinal barrier was similar in patients bearing type-1 diabetes and with ATD (98). In addition, in hyperthyroid patients, the microbiota composition was shown to be altered (99). This aspect has not yet been investigated in MG.

THERAPIES

Although both MG and ATDs are associated with immune system defects, the treatments are different. In the case of MG, treatments include anticholinesterase molecules and immunosuppressive therapies. Among these therapies are conventional immunosuppressant, such as azathioprine, as well as corticosteroids. Recently, monoclonal antibodies against B lymphocytes have proved interesting (100). In the case of thyroid disease, therapies are aimed at regulating thyroid hormone levels (101). The treatment of choice for HT or hypothyroidism is thyroid hormone replacement. The drug is orally administered usually for life.

Surgery is applied in both pathologies. In MG, thymectomy may be proposed when the thymus is hyperplastic or when a thymoma is associated. Recently, a Thymectomy Trial in Non-Thymomatous MG Patients Receiving Prednisone Therapy was conducted in order understand if transsternal thymectomy with prednisone therapy could be more efficient than prednisone

REFERENCES

- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Berrih-Aknin S, Frenkian-Cuvelier M, Eymard B. Diagnostic and clinical classification of autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 4(8–49):143–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2014.01.003
- Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, et al. Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:489–99. doi:10.1210/jcem.87.2.8182
- Gilhus NE. Myasthenia gravis. NEngl J Med (2016) 375:2570–81. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra1602678
- Betterle C, Dal Pra C, Mantero F, Zanchetta R. Autoimmune adrenal insufficiency and autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: autoantibodies, autoantigens, and their applicability in diagnosis and disease prediction. *Endocr Rev* (2002) 23:327–64. doi:10.1210/edrv.23.3.0466
- Weetman AP. Diseases associated with thyroid autoimmunity: explanations for the expanding spectrum. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2011) 74:411–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03855.x

alone after 3 years. An improvement of clinical outcomes over a 3-year period in patients with non-thymomatous MG underwent thymectomy was observed (102). In ATDs, thyroid ablation is recommended in GD when the goiter is large, and in HT when a defined thyroid nodule is present (68). It is interesting to note that in both cases the organ that is operated is inflammatory and contains germinal centers with B lymphocytes participating in the pathogenic response.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, MG and ATD share many commonalities. They are both organ-specific AIDs with a clear pathogenic effect of antibodies, although ATDs are 50–100 times more frequent than MG disease.

Interestingly, ocular involvement is observed in both pathologies. The pathological mechanisms high up many commonalities, such as deregulation of the immune system and the implication of predisposing genes, such as HLA and *PTNP22* genes. However, the mode of action of the antibodies is different: if the antibodies in ATDs deregulate the level of the hormones, in the case of MG they reduce the expression of receptors at the motor plate leading to a functional defect of the synapse.

It is interesting to note that certain drugs are capable of inducing MG and ATDs, for example, IFN-I or monoclonal antibodies against immune checkpoints have proved to be inducers of these pathologies.

Finally, therapies in MG and ATDs are different. In ATDs, the use of molecules to regulate the level of the hormones is satisfactory. In MG, anticholinesterases are generally insufficient, and immunosuppressive therapy is very frequently associated.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL and SB-A discussed the content of the review and wrote the manuscript.

- Cellini M, Santaguida MG, Virili C, Capriello S, Brusca N, Gargano L, et al. Hashimoto's thyroiditis and autoimmune gastritis. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:92. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00092
- Topliss DJ. Clinical update in aspects of the management of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* (2016) 31:493–9. doi:10.3803/ EnM.2016.31.4.493
- 9. DrachmanDB.Myastheniagravis.SeminNeurol(2016)36:419-24.doi:10.1055/ s-0036-1586265
- Dong YH, Fu DG. Autoimmune thyroid disease: mechanism, genetics and current knowledge. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci (2014) 18:3611–8.
- Gilhus NE, Skeie GO, Romi F, Lazaridis K, Zisimopoulou P, Tzartos S. Myasthenia gravis—autoantibody characteristics and their implications for therapy. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2016) 12:259–68. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2016.44
- Jacobson DL, Gange SJ, Rose NR, Graham NM. Epidemiology and estimated population burden of selected autoimmune diseases in the United States. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1997) 84:223–43. doi:10.1006/clin.1997.4412
- Mao ZF, Yang LX, Mo XA, Qin C, Lai YR, He NY, et al. Frequency of autoimmune diseases in myasthenia gravis: a systematic review. *Int J Neurosci* (2011) 121:121–9. doi:10.3109/00207454.2010.539307
- Kubiszewska J, Szyluk B, Szczudlik P, Bartoszewicz Z, Dutkiewicz M, Bielecki M,et al. Prevalence and impact of autoimmune thyroid disease on myasthenia gravis course. *Brain Behav* (2016) 6:e00537. doi:10.1002/brb3.537

- Klein R, Marx A, Ströbel P, Schalke B, Nix W, Willcox N. Autoimmune associations and autoantibody screening show focused recognition in patient subgroups with generalized myasthenia gravis. *Hum Immunol* (2013) 74:1184–93. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2013.06.020
- Tellez-Zenteno JF, Cardenas G, Estanol B, Garcia-Ramos G, Weder-Cisneros N. Associated conditions in myasthenia gravis: response to thymectomy. *Eur J Neurol* (2004) 11:767–73. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2004.00968.x
- Nakamura H, Usa T, Motomura M, Ichikawa T, Nakao K, Kawasaki E, et al. Prevalence of interrelated autoantibodies in thyroid diseases and autoimmune disorders. J Endocrinol Invest (2008) 31:861–5. doi:10.1007/BF03346432
- Chen YL, Yeh JH, Chiu HC. Clinical features of myasthenia gravis patients with autoimmune thyroid disease in Taiwan. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2013) 127:170–4. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2012.01693.x
- Mistry N, Wass J, Turner MR. When to consider thyroid dysfunction in the neurology clinic. *Pract Neurol* (2009) 9:145–56. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.2008.167163
- Nacu A, Andersen JB, Lisnic V, Owe JF, Gilhus NE. Complicating autoimmune diseases in myasthenia gravis: a review. *Autoimmunity* (2015) 48:362–8. doi:10.3109/08916934.2015.1030614
- Kawashima A, Tanigawa K, Akama T, Yoshihara A, Ishii N, Suzuki K. Innate immune activation and thyroid autoimmunity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:3661–71. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1568
- Drutel A, Archambeaud F, Caron P. Selenium and the thyroid gland: more good news for clinicians. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2013) 78:155–64. doi:10.1111/cen.12066
- Brix TH, Knudsen GP, Kristiansen M, Kyvik KO, Orstavik KH, Hegedüs L. High frequency of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in females with autoimmune thyroid disease: a possible explanation for the female predisposition to thyroid autoimmunity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2005) 90:5949–53. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-1366
- Lepez T, Vandewoestyne M, Hussain S, Van Nieuwerburgh F, Poppe K, Velkeniers B, et al. Fetal microchimeric cells in blood of women with an autoimmune thyroid disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e29646. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0029646
- Nancy P, Berrih-Aknin S. Differential estrogen receptor expression in autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146:2345–53. doi:10.1210/ en.2004-1003
- Dragin N, Bismuth J, Cizeron-Clairac G, Biferi MG, Berthault C, Serraf A, et al. Estrogen-mediated downregulation of AIRE influences sexual dimorphism in autoimmune diseases. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126:1525–37. doi:10.1172/JCI81894
- Lee YH, Rho YH, Choi SJ, Ji JD, Song GG, Nath SK, et al. The PTPN22 C1858T functional polymorphism and autoimmune diseases—a meta-analysis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2007) 46:49–56. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kel170
- Simmonds MJ. GWAS in autoimmune thyroid disease: redefining our understanding of pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2013) 9:277–87. doi:10.1038/ nrendo.2013.56
- Avidan N, Le Panse R, Berrih-Aknin S, Miller A. Genetic basis of myasthenia gravis—a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun (2014) 52:146–53. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.12.001
- Tomer Y, Huber A. The etiology of autoimmune thyroid disease: a story of genes and environment. J Autoimmun (2009) 32:231–9. doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2009.02.007
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Manfredi A, Mancusi C, Fabiani S, et al. Thyroid involvement in hepatitis C—associated mixed cryoglobulinemia. *Hormones (Athens)* (2014) 13:16–23.
- Hammerstad SS, Jahnsen FL, Tauriainen S, Hyöty H, Paulsen T, Norheim I, et al. Inflammation and increased myxovirus resistance protein A expression in thyroid tissue in the early stages of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:334–41. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0264
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Vita R, Benvenga S, Antonelli A. The role of human parvovirus B19 and hepatitis C virus in the development of thyroid disorders. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2016) 17(4):529–35. doi:10.1007/s11154-016-9361-4
- 34. Hammerstad SS, Stefan M, Blackard J, Owen RP, Lee HJ, Concepcion E, et al. Hepatitis C virus E2 protein induces upregulation of IL-8 pathways and production of heat shock proteins in human thyroid cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102:689–97. doi:10.1210/jc.2016-3403
- 35. Sultanova A, Cistjakovs M, Gravelsina S, Chapenko S, Roga S, Cunskis E, et al. Association of active human herpesvirus-6 (HHV-6) infection with

autoimmune thyroid gland diseases. Clin Microbiol Infect (2017) 23:50. e51-e55. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2016.09.023

- Cufi P, Dragin N, Weiss JM, Martinez-Martinez P, De Baets MH, Roussin R, et al. Implication of double-stranded RNA signaling in the etiology of autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Ann Neurol* (2013) 73:281–93. doi:10.1002/ ana.23791
- Cavalcante P, Le Panse R, Berrih-Aknin S, Maggi L, Antozzi C, Baggi F, et al. The thymus in myasthenia gravis: site of "innate autoimmunity"? *Muscle Nerve* (2011) 44:467–84. doi:10.1002/mus.22103
- Cavalcante P, Cufi P, Mantegazza R, Berrih-Aknin S, Bernasconi P, Le Panse R. Etiology of myasthenia gravis: innate immunity signature in pathological thymus. *Autoimmun Rev* (2013) 12:863–74. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.03.010
- Cordiglieri C, Marolda R, Franzi S, Cappelletti C, Giardina C, Motta T, et al. Innate immunity in myasthenia gravis thymus: pathogenic effects of tolllike receptor 4 signaling on autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 52:74–89. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.12.013
- Cavalcante P, Galbardi B, Franzi S, Marcuzzo S, Barzago C, Bonanno S, et al. Increased expression of toll-like receptors 7 and 9 in myasthenia gravis thymus characterized by active Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Immunobiology* (2016) 221:516–27. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2015.12.007
- Barzago C, Lum J, Cavalcante P, Srinivasan KG, Faggiani E, Camera G, et al. A novel infection- and inflammation-associated molecular signature in peripheral blood of myasthenia gravis patients. *Immunobiology* (2016) 221:1227–36. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2016.06.012
- Bernasconi P, Barberis M, Baggi F, Passerini L, Cannone M, Arnoldi E, et al. Increased toll-like receptor 4 expression in thymus of myasthenic patients with thymitis and thymic involution. *Am J Pathol* (2005) 167:129–39. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62960-4
- 43. Le Panse R, Cizeron-Clairac G, Bismuth J, Berrih-Aknin S. Microarrays reveal distinct gene signatures in the thymus of seropositive and seronegative myasthenia gravis patients and the role of CC chemokine ligand 21 in thymic hyperplasia. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:7868–79. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.11.7868
- Cizeron-Clairac G, Le Panse R, Frenkian-Cuvelier M, Meraouna A, Truffault F, Bismuth J, et al. Thymus and Myasthenia gravis: what can we learn from DNA microarrays? *J Neuroimmunol* (2008) 20(1–202):57–63. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2008.06.028
- Hasham A, Zhang W, Lotay V, Haggerty S, Stefan M, Concepcion E, et al. Genetic analysis of interferon induced thyroiditis (IIT): evidence for a key role for MHC and apoptosis related genes and pathways. *J Autoimmun* (2013) 44:61–70. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.04.002
- Akeno N, Smith EP, Stefan M, Huber AK, Zhang W, Keddache M, et al. IFN-alpha mediates the development of autoimmunity both by direct tissue toxicity and through immune cell recruitment mechanisms. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4693–706. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002631
- Dionisiotis J, Zoukos Y, Thomaides T. Development of myasthenia gravis in two patients with multiple sclerosis following interferon beta treatment. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2004) 75:1079. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2003.028233
- Cufi P, Dragin N, Ruhlmann N, Weiss JM, Fadel E, Serraf A, et al. Central role of interferon-beta in thymic events leading to myasthenia gravis. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 52:44–52. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.12.016
- Ribas A. Tumor immunotherapy directed at PD-1. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2517–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMe1205943
- Ryder M, Callahan M, Postow MA, Wolchok J, Fagin JA. Endocrine-related adverse events following ipilimumab in patients with advanced melanoma: a comprehensive retrospective review from a single institution. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2014) 21:371–81. doi:10.1530/ERC-13-0499
- Stassi G, De Maria R. Autoimmune thyroid disease: new models of cell death in autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2002) 2:195–204. doi:10.1038/nri750
- Berrih-Aknin S. Myasthenia gravis: paradox versus paradigm in autoimmunity. J Autoimmun (2014) 52:1–28. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2014.05.001
- Berrih-Aknin S, Le Panse R. Myasthenia gravis: a comprehensive review of immune dysregulation and etiological mechanisms. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 52:90–100. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.12.011
- Berrih-Aknin S, Ragheb S, Le Panse R, Lisak RP. Ectopic germinal centers, BAFF and anti-B-cell therapy in myasthenia gravis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2013) 12:885–93. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.03.011
- 55. Kristensen B. Regulatory B and T cell responses in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease and healthy controls. *Dan Med J* (2016) 63:B5177.

- Khan FA, Al-Jameil N, Khan MF, Al-Rashid M, Tabassum H. Thyroid dysfunction: an autoimmune aspect. *Int J Clin Exp Med* (2015) 8: 6677–81.
- Ajjan RA, Weetman AP. The pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis: further developments in our understanding. *Horm Metab Res* (2015) 47:702–10. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1548832
- Santaguida MG, Gatto I, Mangino G, Virili C, Stramazzo I, Fallahi P, et al. BREG cells in Hashimoto's thyroiditis isolated or associated to further organ-specific autoimmune diseases. *Clin Immunol* (2017). doi:10.1016/j. clim.2017.04.012
- Le Panse R, Berrih-Aknin S. Autoimmune myasthenia gravis: autoantibody mechanisms and new developments on immune regulation. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2013) 26:569–76. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e328364d6cd
- Berrih-Aknin S. Role of the thymus in autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Clin Exp Neuroimmunol* (2016) 7:226–37. doi:10.1111/cen3.12319
- Huijbers MG, Zhang W, Klooster R, Niks EH, Friese MB, Straasheijm KR, et al. MuSK IgG4 autoantibodies cause myasthenia gravis by inhibiting binding between MuSK and Lrp4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110:20783–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1313944110
- 62. Kottahachchi D, Topliss DJ. Immunoglobulin G4-related thyroid diseases. *Eur Thyroid J* (2016) 5:231–9. doi:10.1159/000452623
- Huijbers MG, Querol LA, Niks EH, Plomp JJ, van der Maarel SM, Graus F, et al. The expanding field of IgG4-mediated neurological autoimmune disorders. *Eur J Neurol* (2015) 22:1151–61. doi:10.1111/ene.12758
- 64. Tamai H, Kasagi K, Takaichi Y, Takamatsu J, Komaki G, Matsubayashi S, et al. Development of spontaneous hypothyroidism in patients with Graves' disease treated with antithyroidal drugs: clinical, immunological, and histological findings in 26 patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1989) 69:49–53. doi:10.1210/jcem-69-1-49
- Cole RN, Reddel SW, Gervasio OL, Phillips WD. Anti-MuSK patient antibodies disrupt the mouse neuromuscular junction. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63:782–9. doi:10.1002/ana.21371
- Koneczny I, Cossins J, Vincent A. The role of muscle-specific tyrosine kinase (MuSK) and mystery of MuSK myasthenia gravis. J Anat (2014) 224:29–35. doi:10.1111/joa.12034
- Maurer M, Bougoin S, Feferman T, Frenkian M, Bismuth J, Mouly V, et al. IL-6 and Akt are involved in muscular pathogenesis in myasthenia gravis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* (2015) 3:1. doi:10.1186/s40478-014-0179-6
- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:391–7. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2014.01.007
- Barbesino G, Tomer Y. Clinical review: clinical utility of TSH receptor antibodies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98:2247–55. doi:10.1210/ jc.2012-4309
- Menconi F, Marcocci C, Marino M. Diagnosis and classification of Graves' disease. Autoimmun Rev (2014) 13:398–402. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.013
- Wang SH, Baker JR. The role of apoptosis in thyroid autoimmunity. *Thyroid* (2007) 17:975–9. doi:10.1089/thy.2007.0208
- 72. Armengol MP, Juan M, Lucas-Martín A, Fernández-Figueras MT, Jaraquemada D, Gallart T, et al. Thyroid autoimmune disease: demonstration of thyroid antigen-specific B cells and recombination-activating gene expression in chemokine-containing active intrathyroidal germinal centers. *Am J Pathol* (2001) 159:861–73. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61762-2
- 73. Truffault F, de Montpreville V, Eymard B, Sharshar T, Le Panse R, Berrih-Aknin S. Thymic germinal centers and corticosteroids in myasthenia gravis: an immunopathological study in 1035 cases and a critical review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2017) 52:108–24. doi:10.1007/s12016-016-8558-3
- Weetman AP. Determinants of autoimmune thyroid disease. Nat Immunol (2001) 2:769–70. doi:10.1038/ni0901-769
- Dayan CM, Daniels GH. Chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. N Engl J Med (1996) 335:99–107. doi:10.1056/NEJM199607113350206
- Flynn JC, Conaway DH, Cobbold S, Waldmann H, Kong YC. Depletion of L3T4+ and Lyt-2+ cells by rat monoclonal antibodies alters the development of adoptively transferred experimental autoimmune thyroiditis. *Cell Immunol* (1989) 122:377–90. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(89)90085-3
- 77. Sun JB, Harcourt G, Wang ZY, Hawke S, Olsson T, Fredrikson S, et al. T cell responses to human recombinant acetylcholine receptor-alpha subunit in myasthenia gravis and controls. *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22:1553–9. doi:10.1002/eji.1830220631

- Berrih-Aknin S, Cohen-Kaminsky S, Lepage V, Neumann D, Bach JF, Fuchs S. T-cell antigenic sites involved in myasthenia gravis: correlations with antibody titre and disease severity. *J Autoimmun* (1991) 4:137–53. doi:10.1016/0896-8411(91)90013-3
- Fujii Y, Lindstrom J. Specificity of the T cell immune response to acetylcholine receptor in experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. Response to subunits and synthetic peptides. J Immunol (1988) 140:1830–7.
- Conti-Fine BM, Milani M, Kaminski HJ. Myasthenia gravis: past, present, and future. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:2843–54. doi:10.1172/JCI29894
- Im SH, Barchan D, Maiti PK, Raveh L, Souroujon MC, Fuchs S. Suppression of experimental myasthenia gravis, a B cell-mediated autoimmune disease, by blockade of IL-18. *FASEB J* (2001) 15:2140–8. doi:10.1096/ fj.01-0072com
- Karachunski PI, Ostlie NS, Monfardini C, Conti-Fine BM. Absence of IFN-gamma or IL-12 has different effects on experimental myasthenia gravis in C57BL/6 mice. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:5236–44. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.164.10.5236
- Souroujon MC, Brenner T, Fuchs S. Development of novel therapies for MG: studies in animal models. *Autoimmunity* (2010) 43:446–60. doi:10.3109/08916930903518081
- Gradolatto A, Nazzal D, Truffault F, Bismuth J, Fadel E, Foti M, et al. Both Treg cells and Tconv cells are defective in the myasthenia gravis thymus: roles of IL-17 and TNF-alpha. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 52:53–63. doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2013.12.015
- Bedoya SK, Lam B, Lau K, Larkin J III. Th17 cells in immunity and autoimmunity. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013:986789. doi:10.1155/2013/ 986789
- Hsu HC, Yang P, Wang J, Wu Q, Myers R, Chen J, et al. Interleukin 17-producing T helper cells and interleukin 17 orchestrate autoreactive germinal center development in autoimmune BXD2 mice. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:166–75. doi:10.1038/ni1552
- Roche JC, Capablo JL, Larrad L, Gervas-Arruga J, Ara JR, Sánchez A, et al. Increased serum interleukin-17 levels in patients with myasthenia gravis. *Muscle Nerve* (2011) 44:278–80. doi:10.1002/mus.22070
- Schaffert H, Pelz A, Saxena A, Losen M, Meisel A, Thiel A, et al. IL-17producing CD4(+) T cells contribute to the loss of B-cell tolerance in experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:1339–47. doi:10.1002/eji.201445064
- Figueroa-Vega N, Alfonso-Pérez M, Benedicto I, Sánchez-Madrid F, González-Amaro R, Marazuela M. Increased circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and Th17 lymphocytes in Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:953–62. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-1719
- Mao C, Wang S, Xiao Y, Xu J, Jiang Q, Jin M, et al. Impairment of regulatory capacity of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells mediated by dendritic cell polarization and hyperthyroidism in Graves' disease. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:4734–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904135
- Glick AB, Wodzinski A, Fu P, Levine AD, Wald DN. Impairment of regulatory T-cell function in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:871–8. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0514
- Balandina A, Lecart S, Dartevelle P, Saoudi A, Berrih-Aknin S. Functional defect of regulatory CD4(+)CD25+ T cells in the thymus of patients with autoimmune myasthenia gravis. *Blood* (2005) 105:735–41. doi:10.1182/ blood-2003-11-3900
- Li C, Yuan J, Zhu YF, Yang XJ, Wang Q, Xu J, et al. Imbalance of Th17/Treg in different subtypes of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2016) 40:245–52. doi:10.1159/000452541
- Sun F, Ladha SS, Yang L, Liu Q, Shi SX, Su N, et al. Interleukin-10 producing-B cells and their association with responsiveness to rituximab in myasthenia gravis. *Muscle Nerve* (2014) 49:487–94. doi:10.1002/ mus.23951
- Shanahan F. The gut microbiota-a clinical perspective on lessons learned. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2012) 9:609-14. doi:10.1038/ nrgastro.2012.145
- Natividad JM, Verdu EF. Modulation of intestinal barrier by intestinal microbiota: pathological and therapeutic implications. *Pharmacol Res* (2013) 69:42–51. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2012.10.007
- Macpherson AJ, Harris NL. Interactions between commensal intestinal bacteria and the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4:478–85. doi:10.1038/nri1373

- Virili C, Centanni M. Does microbiota composition affect thyroid homeostasis? *Endocrine* (2015) 49:583–7. doi:10.1007/s12020-014-0509-2
- Zhou L, Li X, Ahmed A, Wu D, Liu L, Qiu J, et al. Gut microbe analysis between hyperthyroid and healthy individuals. *Curr Microbiol* (2014) 69:675–80. doi:10.1007/s00284-014-0640-6
- Tandan R, Hehir MK II, Waheed W, Howard DB. Rituximab treatment of myasthenia gravis: a systematic review. *Muscle Nerve* (2017). doi:10.1002/ mus.25597
- 101. Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Elia G, Nasini F, Colaci M, Giuggioli D, et al. Novel therapies for thyroid autoimmune diseases. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* (2016) 9:853–61. doi:10.1586/17512433.2016.1157468
- 102. Wolfe GI, Kaminski HJ, Aban IB, Minisman G, Kuo HC, Marx A, et al. Randomized trial of thymectomy in Myasthenia gravis. N Engl J Med (2016) 375:511–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1602489

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer, CR, and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Lopomo and Berrih-Aknin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Glomerulopathies

Domenico Santoro^{1*}, Carmela Vadalà¹, Rossella Siligato¹, Michele Buemi¹ and Salvatore Benvenga²

¹ Unit of Nephrology and Dialysis, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ² Unit of Endocrinology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

Autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) is generally associated with hypothyroidism. It affects ~2% of the female population and 0.2% of the male population. The evidence of thyroid function- and thyroid autoantibody-unrelated microproteinuria in almost half of patients with AIT and sometimes heavy proteinuria as in the nephrotic syndrome point to a link of AIT with renal disease. The most common renal diseases observed in AIT are membranous nephropathy, membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, minimal change disease, IgA nephropathy, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA) vasculitis, and amyloidosis. Different hypotheses have been put forward regarding the relationship between AIT and glomerulopathies, and several potential mechanisms for this association have been considered. Glomerular deposition of immunocomplexes of thyroglobulin and autoantibodies as well as the impaired immune tolerance for megalin (a thyrotropin-regulated glycoprotein expressed on thyroid cells) are the most probable mechanisms. Cross-reactivity between antigens in the setting of genetic predisposition has been considered as a potential mechanism that links the described association between ANCA vasculitis and AIT.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rauf Latif, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Laura Gragnani, University of Florence, Italy Silvia Martina Ferrari, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Domenico Santoro santisi@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 March 2017 **Accepted:** 16 May 2017 **Published:** 02 June 2017

Citation:

Santoro D, Vadalà C, Siligato R, Buemi M and Benvenga S (2017) Autoimmune Thyroiditis and Glomerulopathies. Front. Endocrinol. 8:119. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00119 Keywords: thyroiditis, Hashimoto, glomerulonephritis, membranous glomerulopathy, vasculitis

INTRODUCTION

Hashimoto's thyroiditis is the leading form of autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT), which is the most prevalent autoimmune disorder and the most common cause of hypothyroidism, excluding iodine insufficiency. It affects ~2% of the female population and 0.2% of the male population (1). This condition is well known to be associated with other autoimmune diseases, the most common of which are chronic autoimmune gastritis, vitiligo, rheumatoid arthritis, polymyalgia rheumatica, celiac disease, type 1 diabetes, Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), multiple sclerosis, and sarcoidosis (2). Also glomerular disease may be related to autoimmune disease with several mechanisms.

THE EFFECTS OF THYROID HORMONES ON KIDNEY

Thyroid hormone influence on kidney is mediated by its effect on the cardiovascular system and, consequently, by its effect on renal blood flow. Hypothyroidism initially decreases peripheral vascular resistance and blood pressure and subsequently activates the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system, which increases tubular sodium reabsorption. As a consequence, cardiac preload and vascular resistance raise, resulting in increased diastolic blood pressure and cardiac afterload (3). Renin gene expression is also regulated by circulating levels of free triiodothyronine (FT3) and free thyroxine (FT4) through beta-adrenergic activation; accordingly, the reduced sensitivity to beta-adrenergic stimulus occurring in hypothyroidism can cooperate with other hemodynamic abnormalities decreasing renin release (4, 5). The resulting negative inotropic effect on the heart, as well as the altered equilibrium between the reduced expression of vasodilators such as vascular endothelial growth factor or insulin-like growth factor-1, can lead to further renal vasoconstriction. Other consequences of thyroid hormone deficiency include lower secretion of atrial natriuretic factor and erythropoietin, therefore reducing further blood volume (6). Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) can thus decrease by up to 40%, with subsequent elevation of serum creatinine, both indices being directly proportional to circulating TSH levels (and therefore directly proportional to the extent of thyroid failure) independent of other confounding factors such as age, sex, body mass index, or comorbidities. Thyroid hormone replacement in patients with overt or subclinical hypothyroidism restores renal function (4, 7-9).

Experimental models of hypothyroid mice show kidney hypotrophy and altered glomerular structure (6). Salomon and colleagues studied the histopathology of renal lesions in a group of seven patients with hypothyroidism of both primary and secondary etiology (10). They discovered a common pattern in the renal biopsies from all seven patients, which was directly proportional to the duration of disease (10). Electron microscopy highlighted the thickening of both glomerular and tubular basement membranes, due in part to widening of the dense layer (*lamina densa*) and in part to considerable enlargement of the inner light layer (*lamina rara interna*); mesangial matrix was increased. Glomerular cells (epithelial, endothelial, and mesangial) presented a variety of osmiophilic inclusions, most of them containing lipid. Tubular cells contain similar inclusions and also homogenous protein reabsorption droplets (10).

Gao et al. (11) measured serum β 2-microglobulin, urine β 2-microglobulin, albumin, and immunoglobulins in 39 untreated AITD (28 with Graves' disease and 11 with Hashimoto's disease). Microproteinuria was found in 28.6% of patients with Graves' disease and in 45.5% with Hashimoto's disease. Serum β 2-microglobulin concentrations were significantly increased in Graves' disease compared with that of controls. They concluded that the renal lesions associated with AIT are present in both the glomerulus (leading to increased glomerular capillary permeability) and the tubulus.

Free triiodothyronine can also influence the expression of structural and regulatory proteins in renal tubuli, particularly Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase and Ca²⁺ and Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, which have a reduced activity in animal models of long-term hypothyroid-ism (12). These animals also have increased urinary excretion of sodium and bicarbonate, and defective urinary acidification. Lower medullary hypertonicity results in impaired urinary concentrating ability. On the other hand, increased sensitivity to vasopressin can stimulate water reabsorption (13). Moreover, the filtrate overload caused by altered tubular reabsorption processes, as well as the dysregulation of chloride channels ClC-2, are responsible for the activation of tubuloglomerular feedback, which has important effects on GFR (14). Another important feature of hypothyroid murine models was the increased vascular

calcification related to the lower expression of the matrix Gla protein, which physiologically exerts a protective role on vascular calcification (15).

MECHANISMS OF AUTOIMMUNITY IN KIDNEY DISEASE

Kidney can be the victim of autoimmune processes through several mechanisms. Autoantibodies can damage glomeruli either targeting specific antigens as in membranous glomerulonephritis (16) and in anti-glomerular basement membrane (GBM) nephropathy (17), or being trapped through the filtration barrier as in antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA) vasculitis (18) or IgA nephropathy (19). Pathophysiology of renal impairment in the course of SLE is characterized by both events, because anti-DNA antibodies are located in capillary membranes and mesangial areas of glomeruli and because they cross-react with α -actinin and glycosaminoglycans on mesangial cells (20). All these immune complexes alter the structure of basement membrane, podocyte function, and activate the classical pathway of complement system, which exacerbate the inflammatory process due to chemotactic factors C3a and C5a. In addition, terminal pathway of complement worsens cell damage because of the cytolytic effect of C5b-9 complex (21). Finally, immune complexes stimulate infiltration of innate and specific immune cells, such as neutrophils, macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, and T lymphocytes, which express receptors for constant fraction (FcR) (22, 23).

Natural killer cells have also a role in the pathogenesis of kidney damage as they produce interferon γ (IFN γ) and activate peripheral macrophages first and, then, resident glomerular cells that are responsible of chronic processes (24, 25).

Kidney-resident dendritic cells secrete IL-23 to recruit both $\gamma\delta$ T cells, a specific T subset with adaptive and innate features and a pro-inflammatory role consisting in regulatory T cells (T_{reg}) inhibition, stimulation of B lymphocyte antibodies production and the secretion of cytokines (26). In particular, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and double-negative CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cells sustain production of IL-17, which is responsible for neutrophils recruitment. They, in turn, have a central role in damaging kidney through the programmed cell death of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETosis) and the production of reactive oxygen species that stimulate mesangial cell proliferation and cytotoxicity mechanisms (27-29). In addition, IL-17 promotes expression of C-C motif chemokine 20 (CCL20) on mesangial cells, that recruit T helper cells producing IL-17 $(T_H 17)$. $T_H 17$ are able to maintain kidney damage and promote B-cell activation through the secretion of IL-21 (30). Finally, T follicular helper cells, a subpopulation of CD4⁺ that is increased in autoimmune processes, act as stimulator of B cell differentiation into plasma cells (31-33).

 $T_{\rm H1}$ lymphocytes and IFN γ stimulate macrophage recruitment in SLE- and ANCA-associated vasculitis, as well as anti-GBM nephropathy in experimental models. However, the role of $T_{\rm H1}$ lymphocytes in human autoimmune renal disease is not clearly defined yet (34–36). CD8⁺ T cells have a pathogenic role in ANCA-associated vasculitis, since they can produce both IFN γ and tumor necrosis factor (37). The presence of CD8⁺ T cells is also correlated with poor prognosis (38).

Regulatory T cells as well as NKT cells act as regulators of immune response and are reduced in autoimmune disease (39, 40).

GLOMERULAR DISEASE RELATED TO AIT

Glomerular involvement in patients with AIT can occur in 10–30% of cases (41). A retrospective study on 28 patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and hematuria, proteinuria, or renal impairment showed that the most common associated kidney diseases are membranous glomerulonephritis (20%), focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (20%), IgA nephropathy (15%), chronic glomerulonephritis (15%), minimal change disease (10%), and amyloidosis (5%). In 15% of the 28 patients, no specific diagnosis was made (42). Other case reports revealed the less frequent connection between AIT and membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis and ANCA vasculitis (43–47) (**Figure 1**).

Various hypotheses were considered to explain the underlying mechanism that links AIT to glomerular lesions and their variable presentation (**Table 1**).

The higher prevalence of membranous nephropathy (MN) suggests a plausible immunologic role of thyroid antigens, particularly thyroglobulin (TG) and thyroperoxidase (TPO). Both of them are released in the course of AIT and are found in subepithelial immune deposits, as part of the characteristic spikes of MN (47, 48). At present, there are two possible mechanisms that can explain the immunologic role of thyroid antigens in the pathogenesis of MN: (1) in situ immune response against TG deposition at subepithelial level and (2) circulating immune complexes (TG-anti-TG) that can be trapped at subendothelial level due to increased glomerular permeability. As stated before, the pathogenicity of immune complexes in MN is related to their subepithelial localization, but how they could cross GBM remains unexplained. Most likely, immune complexes could dissociate in the subendothelial space and then they would reassemble on the subepithelial side. IgG4 is considered the main antibody subclass deposited in the course of idiopathic MN. Specific subclass of anti-TG and anti-TPO antibodies should be determined in patients with suspicious AIT-related

glomerulopathy to distinguish between a clear diagnosis of idiopathic MN or a possible IgG4-mediated secondary form of MN. Moreover, IgG4 antibodies have low affinity for the antigen, which could explain the possible dissociation and reassociation of the IgG4 complexes through the GBM (49).

Other theories involve the mechanism of epitope spreading, a phenomenon that follows the primary immune response against specific epitopes. When the immunodominant response fails to clear the target, the immune system mounts a broader inflammatory response against different epitopes either on the same or on different molecules. Therefore, immune-mediated glomerular disease would be caused by a subset of autoantibodies directed toward epitopes of TG or TPO as well as epitopes of glomerular antigens. This phenomenon may be relevant to the pathogenesis of kidney disease, since in Heymann nephritis (a murine experimental model of membranous glomerulonephritis) the onset of proteinuria correlates with intramolecular epitope spreading (50). In addition, epitope spreading has already been demonstrated in experimental immunization with an immunogenic TG peptide, but has not been investigated in patients yet (51).

The experimental Heymann model also suggests megalin (gp330) as a possible immunologic target involved in the immunopathogenesis of glomerular injury during AIT. Megalin is a large glycoprotein receptor expressed on thyrocytes in a TSH-dependent manner, but it is also expressed on the renal proximal tubular cells (52). Megalin is a receptor that interacts with various intracellular adaptor proteins for intracellular trafficking and that functions cooperatively with other membrane molecules (52). Megalin is involved in the uptake of glomerularfiltered albumin and other molecules such as insulin, hemoglobin, vitamin D-binding protein, retinol-binding protein, and β_2 -microglobulin. In addition, a number of toxic substances, such as glycated proteins (AGEs), myeloma light chain, and aminoglycosides, undergo megalin-mediated endocytosis, leading to cell damage (52). AIT could determine a rupture of immune tolerance toward this self-antigen, thus causing an immune response on podocytes.



TABLE 1 Mechanisms underlying the relationship between HT and kidney disease.
In situ immune response against thyroglobulin (TG) deposition at subepithelial level
Circulating TG–anti-TG complexes trapped at subendothelial level due to increased glomerular permeability
Megalin (gp330) as a possible immunologic target
Epitope spreading
Genetic predisposition and cross-reactivity between antigens

The relationship between AIT and ANCA vasculitis was shown by Lionaki and colleagues (53). In their case-control study, they demonstrated that when ANCA vasculitis was diagnosed, as many as 40% of women had thyroid disease. Among men, the prevalence of thyroid disease was lower. Patients with positive anamnesis for thyroid disease were more likely to have myeloperoxidase (MPO)-ANCA (86%) than proteinase 3-ANCA (14%) (53). Both genetic predisposition and cross-reactivity between antigens have been hypothesized as potential mechanisms for this association. A functional polymorphism in the protein tyrosine phosphatase gene, the PTPN22 620W allele has been recognized as a predisposing factor for several autoimmune disorders, including AITD, Wegener's granulomatosis, and ANCA positivity (54-56). PTPN22 is located on chromosome 1p13.3-13.1.10 and encodes an 807-amino acid protein that interacts with Csk, a tyrosine kinase that is involved in the intracellular signaling cascade following T-cell activation. A missense variation in the autoimmunity-predisposing allele results in gain of function that increases the threshold for T-cell receptor signaling (57). As in other multifactorial processes, one or more environmental triggers are necessary for the full development of the disease. Occupational exposures to factors such as silica (58) showed an association with ANCA vasculitis, while infections such as Yersinia enterocolitica or retroviruses have been postulated to participate in the pathogenesis of AITD (56). Eventually, crossreactivity between TPO and MPO may be another mechanism involved in the development of autoimmunity, due to the strong homology between amino acids 586-601 of TPO and amino acids 594-609 of MPO (59, 60).

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1), a known autoimmune disease that can be present in 3–8% of patients with Hashimoto's

REFERENCES

- Benvenga S, Trimarchi F. Changed presentation of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in North-Eastern Sicily. *Thyroid* (2008) 18(4):429–41. doi:10.1089/thy. 2007.0234
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15(12):1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Klein I, Danzi S. Thyroid disease and the heart. Circulation (2007) 116:1725–35. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.678326
- Iglesias P, Bajo MA, Selgas R, Díez JJ. Thyroid dysfunction and kidney disease: an update. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2017) 18(1):131–44. doi:10.1007/ s11154-016-9395-7
- Iglesias P, Díez JJ. Thyroid dysfunction and kidney disease. Eur J Endocrinol (2009) 160(4):503–15. doi:10.1530/EJE-08-0837

thyroiditis (61) and in 6-10% of subjects with Graves' disease (62), is worth mentioning at this point. Benvenga et al. investigated the presence of serum antibodies directed against one or both thyroid hormones (THAbs), which are considered to be rare autoantibodies, in a cohort of 52 DM1 patients both at baseline and after 6 years of follow-up (63). They found that serum THAb could be predictive for concurrent or subsequent DM1-related complications, including diabetic nephropathy. Patients already affected by nephropathy showed either T3IgG or T4IgM at baseline. T4IgM was associated with a high rate of retinopathy (67%), nephropathy (50%), and neuropathy (33%). At tissue level (kidney, in this particular case), THAb may decrease the local availability of thyroid hormones, not much differently from the decreased tissue availability resulting from the decreased thyroid output of thyroid hormones. Clearly, this study (63) awaits confirmation by future investigations.

Finally, renal diseases presenting as nephrotic syndrome can lead to the onset or the aggravation of preexisting hypothyroidism. The urinary loss of both protein-unbound (free) and protein-bound thyroid hormones, with consequent decreased serum levels of T4, T3, FT4, FT3, and major carrier proteins (thyroxine-binding protein, transthyretin, and albumin), is directly proportional to proteinuria. The practical consequence of this urinary loss is the increased requirements of the daily L-T4 replacement (64).

CONCLUSION

A relationship between AIT and glomerulonephritis does exist, but it requires further investigations in larger cohorts. A common pathogenesis may be considered, especially in patients with simultaneous appearance of glomerular and thyroid dysfunction. Monitoring kidney function should be considered as part of the follow-up of AIT patients, particularly of those with HT-related hypothyroidism.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: DS, CV, RS, and SB. Research literature: DS and MB. Methodology: DS and RS. Supervision: DS, MB, and SB. Writing original draft: DS, CV, and RS.

- Vargas F, Moreno JM, Rodríguez-Gómez I, Wangensteen R, Osuna A, Alvarez-Guerra M, et al. Vascular and renal function in experimental thyroid disorders. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2006) 154(2):197–212. doi:10.1530/eje.1.02093
- Sun MT, Hsiao FC, Su SC, Pei D, Hung YJ. Thyrotropin as an independent factor of renal function and chronic kidney disease in normoglycemic euthyroid adults. *Endocr Res* (2012) 3:110–6. doi:10.3109/07435800.2011.640374
- Gopinath B, Harris DC, Wall JR, Kifley A, Mitchell P. Relationship between thyroid dysfunction and chronic kidney disease in community-dwelling older adults. *Maturitas* (2013) 2:159–64. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.03.009
- 9. Hataya Y, Igarashi S, Yamashita T, Komatsu Y. Thyroid hormone replacement therapy for primary hypothyroidism leads to significant improvement of renal function in chronic kidney disease patients. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2013) 4:525–31. doi:10.1007/s10157-012-0727-y
- Salomon MI, Di Scala V, Grishman E, Brener J, Churg J. Renal lesions in hypothyroidism: a study based on kidney biopsies. *Metabolism* (1967) 16:846–52. doi:10.1016/0026-0495(67)90186-2

- Gao YM, Gao Y, Lu G. The changes of urine protein and serum beta 2-microglobulin in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi* (1994) 33:605–7.
- Barlet C, Doucet A. Lack of stimulation of kidney Na-K-ATPase by thyroid hormones in long-term thyroidectomized rabbits. *Pflugers Arch* (1986) 4:428–31. doi:10.1007/BF00652629
- Hanna FW, Scanlon MF. Hyponatraemia, hypothyroidism, and role of arginine-vasopressin. *Lancet* (1997) 9080:755–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (05)62563-9
- van Hoek I, Daminet S. Interactions between thyroid and kidney function in pathological conditions of these organ systems: a review. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 3:205–15. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.12.008
- Sato Y, Nakamura R, Satoh M, Fujishita K, Mori S, Ishida S, et al. Thyroid hormone targets matrix Gla protein gene associated with vascular smooth muscle calcification. *Circ Res* (2005) 6:550–7. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000181431. 04290.bd
- Ronco P, Debiec H. Membranous nephropathy: a fairy tale for immunopathologists, nephrologists and patients. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 68:57–62. doi:10.1016/ j.molimm.2015.07.003
- Cui Z, Zhao MH. Advances in human antiglomerular basement membrane disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2011) 7:697–705. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2011.89
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ. Pathogenesis of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody-mediated disease. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2014) 10:463–73. doi:10.1038/ nrrheum.2014.103
- Holdsworth SR, Gan PY, Kitching AR. Biologics for the treatment of autoimmune renal diseases. Nat Rev Nephrol (2016) 12:217-31. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2016.18
- Zhao Z, Weinstein E, Tuzova M, Davidson A, Mundel P, Marambio P, et al. Cross-reactivity of human lupus anti-DNA antibodies with alpha-actinin and nephritogenic potential. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52:522–30. doi:10.1002/ art.20862
- Suarez-Fueyo A, Bradley SJ, Klatzmann D, Tsokos GC. T cells and autoimmune kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol (2017) 13(6):329–43. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2017.34
- Kurts C, Panzer U, Anders HJ, Rees AJ. The immune system and kidney disease: basic concepts and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:738–53. doi:10.1038/nri3523
- Alexopoulos E, Seron D, Hartley RB, Nolasco F, Cameron JS. Immune mechanisms in idiopathic membranous nephropathy: the role of the interstitial infiltrates. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1989) 13:404–12. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386 (89)80024-1
- 24. Spada R, Rojas JM, Barber DF. Recent findings on the role of natural killer cells in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) 98:479–87. doi:10.1189/jlb.4RU0315-081RR
- Davidson A. What is damaging the kidney in lupus nephritis? Nat Rev Rheumatol (2016) 12:143–53. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2015.159
- Paul S, Shilpi C, Lal G. Role of gamma-delta (γδ) T cells in autoimmunity. J Leukoc Biol (2015) 97:259–71. doi:10.1189/jlb.3RU0914-443R
- Riol-Blanco L, Lazarevic V, Awasthi A, Mitsdoerffer M, Wilson BS, Croxford A, et al. IL-23 receptor regulates unconventional IL-17-producing T cells that control bacterial infections. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1710–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902796
- Mayadas TN, Rosetti F, Ernandez T, Sethi S. Neutrophils: game changers in glomerulonephritis? *Trends Mol Med* (2010) 16:368–78. doi:10.1016/j. molmed.2010.06.002
- Gupta S, Kaplan MJ. The role of neutrophils and NETosis in autoimmune and renal diseases. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2016) 12:402–13. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2016.71
- 30. Turner JE, Paust HJ, Steinmetz OM, Panzer U. The Th17 immune response in renal inflammation. *Kidney Int* (2010) 77:1070–5. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.102
- Craft JE. Follicular helper T cells in immunity and systemic autoimmunity. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2012) 8:337–47. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2012.58
- Ueno H. T follicular helper cells in human autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol (2016) 43:24–31. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2016.08.003
- 33. Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, et al. Human blood CXCR5+CD4+ T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity* (2011) 34:108–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.012
- 34. Hünemörder S, Treder J, Ahrens S, Schumacher V, Paust HJ, Menter T, et al. TH1 and TH17 cells promote crescent formation in experimental

autoimmune glomerulonephritis. J Pathol (2015) 237:62–71. doi:10.1002/ path.4559

- Steinmetz OM, Turner JE, Paust HJ, Lindner M, Peters A, Heiss K, et al. CXCR3 mediates renal Th1 and Th17 immune response in murine lupus nephritis. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4693–704. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802626
- Yap DY, Lai KN. Pathogenesis of renal disease in systemic lupus erythematosus the role of autoantibodies and lymphocytes subset abnormalities. *Int J Mol Sci* (2015) 16:7917–31. doi:10.3390/ijms16047917
- Chang J, Eggenhuizen P, O'Sullivan KM, Alikhan MA, Holdsworth SR, Ooi JD, et al. CD8+ T cells effect glomerular injury in experimental antimyeloperoxidase GN. J Am Soc Nephrol (2017) 28:47–55. doi:10.1681/ASN. 2015121356
- McKinney EF, Lyons PA, Carr EJ, Hollis JL, Jayne DR, Willcocks LC, et al. A CD8+ T cell transcription signature predicts prognosis in autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:586–91. doi:10.1038/nm.2130
- Peterson RA. Regulatory T-cells: diverse phenotypes integral to immune homeostasis and suppression. *Toxicol Pathol* (2012) 40:186–204. doi:10.1177/ 0192623311430693
- Chen J, Wu M, Wang J, Li X. Immunoregulation of NKT cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol Res (2015) 2015:e206731. doi:10.1155/2015/206731
- Ronco P, Debiec H. Pathophysiological lessons from rare associations of immunological disorders. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24(1):3–8. doi:10.1007/ s00467-008-1009-5
- Koçak G, Huddam B, Azak A, Ortabozkoyun L, Duranay M. Coexistent findings of renal glomerular disease with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Clin Endocrinol* (2012) 76:759–62. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04302.x
- Valentin M, Bueno B, Gutierrez E, Martinez A, Gonzalez E, Espejo B, et al. Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Nefrologia* (2004) 3:43–8.
- Gurkan S, Dikman S, Saland MJ. A case of autoimmune thyroiditis and membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24(1):193–7. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0668-y
- 45. Kageyama Y, Hamaguchi K. Myeloperoxidase anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (MPO-ANCA)-positive microscopic polyarteritis (MPA) associated with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and increased serum rheumatoid factor. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2000) 4:335–40. doi:10.1007/s101570070011
- Thajudeen B, John SG, Ossai NO, Riaz IB, Bracamonte E, Sussman AN. Membranous nephropathy with crescents in a patient with Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a case report. *Medicine* (2014) 93(8):e63. doi:10.1097/MD.0000000000000063
- Shima Y, Nakanishi K, Togawa H, Obana M, Sako M, Miyawaki M, et al. Membranous nephropathy associated with thyroid-peroxidase antigen. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24(3):605–8. doi:10.1007/s00467-008-0973-0
- Jordan SC, Buckingham B, Sakai R, Olson D. Studies of immune-complex glomerulonephritis mediated by human thyroglobulin. N Engl J Med (1981) 304:1212–5. doi:10.1056/NEJM198105143042006
- Oliveira DB. Membranous nephropathy: an IgG4-mediated disease. Lancet (1998) 351:670–1. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(97)04122-6
- Shah P, Tramontano A, Makker SP. Intramolecular spreading in Heymann nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2007) 18:3060–6. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007030342
- Thrasyvoulides A, Lymberi P. Evidence for intramolecular B-cell epitope spreading during experimental immunization with an immunogenic thyroglobulin peptide. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2003) 132:401–7. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2249.2003.02162.x
- Christensen EI, Birn H, Storm T, Weyer K, Nielsen R. Endocytic receptors in the renal proximal tubule. *Physiology (Bethesda)* (2012) 27(4):223–36. doi:10.1152/physiol.00022.2012
- Lionaki S, Hogan SL, Falk RJ, Joy MS, Chin H, Jennette CE, et al. Association between thyroid disease and its treatment with ANCA small-vessel vasculitis: a case-control study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2007) 22:3508–15. doi:10.1093/ ndt/gfm493
- Brand O, Gough S, Heward J. HLA, CTLA-4 and PTPN22: the shared genetic master-key to autoimmunity? *Expert Rev Mol Med* (2005) 7:1–15. doi:10.1017/ S1462399405009981
- Mustelin T. Are other protein tyrosine phosphatases than PTPN22 associated with autoimmunity? *Semin Immunol* (2006) 18:254–60. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2006.03.013
- Corapçioğlu D, Tonyukuk V, Kiyan M, Yilmaz AE, Emral R, Kamel N, et al. Relationship between thyroid autoimmunity and *Yersinia enterocolitica* antibodies. *Thyroid* (2002) 12:613–7. doi:10.1089/105072502320288483

- Martorana D, Maritati F, Malerba G, Bonatti F, Alberici F, Oliva E, et al. PTPN22 R620W polymorphism in the ANCA-associated vasculitides. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2012) 51:805–12. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ ker446
- Hogan SL, Cooper GC, Savitz DA, Nylander-French LA, Parks CG, Chin H, et al. Association of silica exposure with ANCA-associated glomerulonephritis: a population-based case-control study in the southeastern United States. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2007) 2:290–9. doi:10.2215/ CJN.03501006
- Hobby P, Gardas A, Radomski R, McGregor AM, Banga JP, Sutton BJ. Identification of an immunodominant region recognized by human autoantibodies in a three-dimensional model of thyroid peroxidase. *Endocrinology* (2000) 141:2018–26. doi:10.1210/endo.141.6.7506
- Haapala AM, Hyöty H, Parkkonen P, Mustonen J, Soppi E. Antibody reactivity against thyroid peroxidase and myeloperoxidase in autoimmune thyroiditis and systemic vasculitis. *Scand J Immunol* (1997) 46:78–85. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1997.d01-90.x
- Volpé R. Auto-immunity in thyroid disease. Monographs on Endocrinology: Auto-Immunity in the Endocrine System. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag (1981). p. 19–111.

- 62. Van den Driessche A, Eenkhoorn V, Van Gaal L, De Block C. Type 1 diabetes and autoimmune polyglandular syndrome: a clinical review. *Neth J Med* (2009) 67:376–87.
- Benvenga S, Pintaudi B, Vita R, Di Vieste G, Di Benedetto A. Serum thyroid hormone autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(5):1870–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-3950
- 64. Benvenga S, Vita R, Di Bari F, Fallahi P, Antonelli A. Do not forget nephrotic syndrome as a cause of increased requirement of levothyroxine replacement therapy. *Eur Thyroid J* (2015) 4(2):138–42. doi:10.1159/000381310

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Santoro, Vadalà, Siligato, Buemi and Benvenga. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Association of Sjögren Syndrome and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders

Chiara Baldini^{1*}, Francesco Ferro¹, Marta Mosca¹, Poupak Fallahi² and Alessandro Antonelli²

¹ Rheumatology Unit, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ²Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Sjögren's syndrome (SS) and autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) may frequently coexist in clinical practice, resulting in a complex overlapping disorder that represents a particular example of the expression of heterogeneity in patients with autoimmune disorders. Objective of this review was to describe the prevalence of the SS–AITD association in the most recent literature, exploring in particular to what extent the presence of AITD might influence the clinical expression of SS and *vice versa*. Moreover, we summarized some of the proposed genetic, biologic, and molecular mechanisms implied in the pathogenesis of AITD–SS association. Finally, we explored risk factors for lymphoma development in both AITD and SS. We performed a Medline search of English language articles published in the PubMed database in order to provide a critical overview of the recent literature on pathogenesis and clinical features of AITD–SS overlapping disease. All the articles were critically analyzed to select the most relevant contributions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Terry Francis Davies, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Bijay Vaidya, University of Exeter, United Kingdom Derek LeRoith, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

> *Correspondence: Chiara Baldini chiara.baldini74@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 30 July 2017 Accepted: 09 March 2018 Published: 03 April 2018

Citation:

Baldini C, Ferro F, Mosca M, Fallahi P and Antonelli A (2018) The Association of Sjögren Syndrome and Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders. Front. Endocrinol. 9:121. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00121 Keywords: Sjögren's syndrome, autoimmune thyroid diseases, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, comorbidities, pathogenesis

INTRODUCTION

Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a complex and heterogeneous autoimmune disease that frequently cooccurs with both organ-specific and non-organ specific, systemic rheumatic diseases (i.e., rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and systemic sclerosis) offering a unique opportunity to investigate pathogenesis, long-term-evolution, and outcome of different autoimmune phenotypes and subsets (1–5).

The association of SS and autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) has been largely documented, suggesting that AITD could be overrepresented in patient with SS with respect to general population and *vice versa* (6). Interestingly, Rojas-Villarraga et al. (7) analyzing prevalence of multiple autoimmune syndromes in 1,083 patients belonging to four autoimmune disease cohorts described AITD and SS as the most frequent coexisting autoimmune disorders in single patients. Overall, then, it has been hypothesized that common genetic, immunologic, and biologic factors may be implied in SS and AITD, leading to the coexistence of these two conditions (8). Moreover, both SS and AITD may lead to the development of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) highlighting the relationship between similar autoimmunity pathways and lymphoproliferation (9, 10). Although the majority of data support an increased prevalence of AITD in SS patients, some authors have suggested that this observation might be related to the age and sex distribution of SS and AITD rather than representing a true association. However, literature data are difficult to compare due to the fact that different SS classification criteria and AITD definitions have been utilized over the years, making it difficult to define the exact prevalence of SS-AITD association (11, 12).

In this review, we aimed at describing the frequency of the SS–AITD association in the most recent literature, exploring, in particular, to what extent the presence of AITD may influence the clinical expression of SS. Moreover, we will summarize some of the proposed pathogenetic mechanisms for the coincidence of SS and AITD and the common biologic factors involved into lymphoproliferative complications.

Prevalence of SS in AITD: A Clinical Spectrum Ranging From Isolated Sicca Symptoms to Full-Blown SS

Autoimmune thyroid diseases, namely, Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and Graves' disease (GD), are organ-specific autoimmune disorders, essentially resulting from a T cell-mediated immune attack of the thyroid resulting into lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid parenchyma (13). The association between AITD and other organ specific (polyglandular autoimmune syndromes), or systemic rheumatic disorders has been widely described. SS is perhaps the most frequently rheumatic autoimmune disease associated with AITD, and particularly with HT. Several authors have reported that a full-blown SS could be 10 times higher in AITD than in the general population (14). In fact, the prevalence of SS in AITD has been assessed by several heterogeneous studies over the time and apparently varies from 3% up to 32% (15–17).

In 1992, Warfvinge et al. (18), analyzing different degrees of morphologic and functional salivary gland changes in AITD, found that 11 patients out of 19 presented xerostomia, a compromised unstimulated salivary flow and alterations of their lower lip biopsy, and/or parotid scintigraphy. Six of them presented a true SS. Similarly, Tektonidou (16) in a cohort of 58 patients with antinuclear antibodies positive AITD found that 9% fulfilled the criteria for SS. These data on small cohorts were confirmed also in large population studies over the years. For example, Biro et al. (19) evaluating the prevalence of SS in 426 patients with HT or GD found that SS had a prevalence of 17% in HT and of 5% in GD. Similarly, Lu et al. (20) observed that the risk of SS in patients with thyroiditis was 3.6 times higher than in individuals without thyroiditis.

The spectrum of sicca symptoms in patients with AITD that do not fulfill the criteria for SS is even more common. More specifically, Coll et al. (21) in a cohort of 176 patients with AITD found that 19 of 52 (37%) patients presented isolated xerostomia and 39/170 (23%) isolated keratoconjunctivitis sicca. Other authors described an isolated positivity for antinuclear antibodies in 25–55% of patients with AITD. The real implication of antinuclear antibodies positivity in AITD patients has to be clarified, but it is generally believed that they may reflect polyclonal activation and antibody production that over time may trigger the development of concomitant systemic autoimmune diseases including SS (22). In clinical settings, patients with AITD and a positivity for antinuclear antibodies should then be monitored more closely for the development of SS during the follow-up.

Overall, the available literature suggests that both a full blown SS and "incomplete" subsets of SS may be quite common among patients with AITD. Among these incomplete forms, an important differential diagnosis is represented by patients with sicca symptoms, affected by fibromyalgia. Patients with fibromyalgia often present dry eyes and dry mouth and noteworthy, they may present AITD or a positivity for thyroid auto antibodies as well. In the study by Mavragani et al. (23), fibromyalgia patients with sicca symptoms presented thyroid auto antibodies with a prevalence of 60%. Besides fibromyalgia, a number of other systemic disorders associated with AITD also involves salivary glands and should be considered as well in the differential diagnosis. Infectious diseases like hepatitis C virus and Ebstein B virus infections are among the major mimickers of SS in AITD patients, especially due to viral lymphotropism and epithelial tropism (24, 25). Immune disorders including sarcoidosis and IgG4 disease may be considered as well. The latter represents a novel entity characterized by high serum IgG4 and IgG4 plasma cell-mediated fibro-inflammatory lesions that may involve not only thyroid but also lung, pancreas, kidney, and salivary and lacrymal glands (26). More specifically, IgG4 has been linked to four types of thyroid diseases including: Riedel's thyroiditis, fibrosing variant of Hashimoto's thyroiditis, IgG4-related Hashimoto's thyroiditis, and GD with elevated IgG4 levels (27). The pathogenetic role of IgG4 in these IgG4-related thyroid diseases, however, still remains poorly understood. Those patients may often present with an SS-like subacute diffuse enlargement of lacrymal and salivary glands and sicca symptoms. A minor salivary gland biopsy is often necessary to distinguish IgG4 disease from SS (28, 29).

Prevalence of AITD in SS: A Specific Subset of the Disease?

Several uncontrolled studies have described the presence of AITD in SS with frequencies ranging between 10 and 30% (8). **Table 1** summarizes the most important studies reporting frequency of AITD in SS. The differences observed among these studies might be linked to the different ethnic origin of the patients or to the diagnostic criteria adopted for both SS and HT classification.

TABLE 1 | Prevalence of AITD in Sjögren's syndrome.

Reference	Year	No. PTs		Prevalence (%)			
			нт	GD	Anti-TPO	Anti-Tg	
Karsh et al. (30)	1980	24	nd	nd	41.6	20.8	
Kelly et al. (31)	1991	100	14	nd	40	nd	
Hansen et al. (32)	1991	28	18	nd	36	nd	
Bouanani et al. (33)	1991	26	11.5	nd	nd	100	
Foster et al. (34)	1993	42	nd	nd	36	36	
Perez et al. (35)	1995	33	24	6	45	18	
Punzi et al. (36)	1996	121	7	nd	17.6	13.4	
Davidson et al. (37)	1999	74	nd	nd	22.8	nd	
Ramos Casals et al. (38)	2000	160	20	1.25	15.6	12.5	
D'Arbonneau et al. (39)	2003	137	14.6	0.7	10.9	2.9	
Tunc et al. (40)	2004	53	4	nd	9	9	
Lazarus and Isenberg (41)	2005	114	16	1.8	nd	nd	
Biro et al. (19)	2006	400	7	3	nd	nd	
Mavragani et al. (11)	2009	54	nd	nd	20.4	18.5	
Zeher et al. (42)	2009	479	6.3	3.8	nd	nd	
Caramaschi et al. (43)	2013	100	27	nd	nd	nd	

nd, not done; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; GD, Graves' disease; Anti-TPO, anti thyroperoxidase antibodies; anti-Tg, antithyroglobulin antibodies, PTs, patients.

As far as the clinical manifestation of AITD in SS, three studies are particularly relevant. In the study by Lazarus and Isenberg (41), 16% of the SS patients developed AITD. The most common clinical manifestation of AITD in SS was hypothyroidism, even though subclinical AITD was probably more common. In the vast majority of the cases, hypothyroidism had been diagnosed before the diagnosis of SS: similarly, Jara et al. (6) in a cohort of 160 primary SS patients found evidence of thyroid disease in 36% of patients: 20% were diagnosed as AITD and 16% were diagnosed as non-AITD. The clinical pattern in more than half of primary SS patients was subclinical hypothyroidism. Finally, in the study by Zeher et al. (42) 479 patients with pSS were investigated with regard to several types of thyroid disease. Overall, thyroid dysfunction was found in 95 patients (21.25%). Apparently, the diagnosis of HT and GD may be present either before or after the onset of SS but, differently from the study by Lazarus and Isenberg (41), both HT and GD were more likely to follow SS. The authors found that in 50% of the cases SS preceded HT by 5.5 years. Interestingly, D'Arbonneau et al. (39) showed that the presence of thyroid-related autoantibodies represented a risk factor for development of AITD during follow-up.

Finally, regarding the clinical impact of AITD on the clinical course, literature data are quite heterogeneous especially due to different control groups that have been included (i.e., SS-AITD versus SS without AITD; SS-AITD versus AITD) and to the classification criteria adopted to define SS. However, Caramaschi et al. (43) demonstrated that the association of AITD in patients suffering from SS defined a subset of patients with milder disease and normal complement 4 levels. More specifically, patients with AITD-SS had less evidence of cryoglobulins, palpable purpura, peripheral neuropathy, and lymphoma. This observation has been confirmed by several additional studies. However, it is nowadays widely accepted that AITD-SS patients are at a greater risk of developing additional autoimmune diseases such as autoimmune liver diseases, inflammatory bowel diseases, and systemic lupus erythematosus and should be closely monitored over the followup due to their tendency to present widespread disorders of their immune systems.

SS and AITD: Common Pathogenetic Mechanisms From Epithelitis to Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma

A large amount of data have highlighted that AITD and SS can be considered as pathogenetically correlated. First of all, these two disorders are characterized by similar histological features with a tissue infiltrate that consists primarily of CD4+ T lymphocytes and the possible formation of germinal center-like structures unrevealing B cell activation (8). Second, from a genetic point of view, the two conditions present a similar background with thyroid and epithelial cells expressing the same HLA molecules class II: HLA-B8 and HLA-DR3 (8). In particular, HLA-B8 and -DR3 haplotypes have been reported with a higher frequency in both primary SS and AITD whereas cytotoxic T lymphocytic antigen 4 gene polymorphisms have been reported more frequently in patients with AITD and other autoimmune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis (15). A third point to take into account is the existence of animal models that spontaneously develop both SS and AITD. Thyroiditis and SS in NOD.H-2h4 mice are chronic autoimmune diseases that develop relatively early in life and persist for the life of the animal making them an excellent model to test therapeutic protocols over a long period of time (44).

Another point reinforcing the pathogenetical link between AITD and SS is represented by the crucial role of the epithelial cells in orchestrating the tissue inflammation and the involvement of several regulatory chemokines, such as the IFN- γ -inducible protein 10 (IP-10/CXCL10) in initiating and perpetuating the autoimmune process. CXCL10 exerts its function through binding to chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 3 (CXCR3), and its production is stimulated by IFN- γ and TNF- α , whose production in turn is provided by T helper 1 cells (Th1) (45).

In AITD, it has been postulated that CXCL10 could be a marker of a stronger and more aggressive inflammatory response, subsequently leading to thyroid destruction and hypothyroidism (45). Similarly, epithelial cells from SS patients apparently produce CXCL9 and CXCL10 as well, while most of the CD3+ lymphocytes in periductal foci express CXCR3, thus contributing to salivary gland damage (46).

Another cytokine that exerts a fundamental role in the pathogenesis of both AITD and SS is B-cell activating factor that seems to be especially important for the survival of autoreactive B cells (47). Serum B-cell activating factor concentrations were described as significantly higher in GD and correlated with serum antithyroglobulin antibodies (48). B-cell activating factor has been also correlated to disease activity and severity in SS exerting a key role in lymphoproliferative complications (49–52).

Not surprisingly, both AITD and SS may evolve into B-cell NHLs of salivary glands and thyroid, with a prevalence of 0.5 and 5%, respectively (9). Intriguingly cases of patients with AITD, SS, and NHL have been described even if the vast majority of the studies seem to support the evidence that AITD–SS patients have a lower risk of developing NHL compared to SS patients without AITD (53–56). It remains a matter of debate whether the presence of SS in AITD patients may increase the risk of thyroid lymphoma in AITD patients.

The striking association between SS, AITD, and NHL has provided valuable insights into the relationship between autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation. In this multistep process, key players are represented by chronic inflammation and sustained antigenic stimulation that are apparently able to promote B-cell activation and proliferation. Immune deregulation, moreover, sometimes promotes B cell proliferation mediated by infectious agents (i.e., suppression/dysregulation of T-cells leading to EBVdriven B-cell proliferation) (57, 58). Ultimately, SS and AITD seem to be characterized by a wide spectrum of genetic and molecular abnormalities that culminate in uncontrolled B-cell activation, proliferation, and neoplastic transformation.

Conclusion

The coexistence of SS and AITD occurs frequently in clinical practice probably due to common pathogenetic mechanisms shared by these two conditions. From a practical point of view, it is important to screen patients with SS for AITD and *vice versa*

because the presence of the two disorders may influence patients' clinical presentation and long-term outcome. It is widely accepted that AITD–SS patients may have a milder phenotype of SS with a lower risk for lymphoma development. However, it remains unclear whether a concomitant diagnosis of SS may increase or not the risk for thyroid lymphoproliferative complications in AITD patients. Intriguingly, AITD–SS patients over the follow up frequently present additional autoimmune diseases and should be closely monitored especially for liver autoimmunity. Further studies are warranted to explore genetic, biologic, and molecular factors underlying the SS–AITD association in order to provide further insights for the comprehension of this complex and varied subset of autoimmunity.

REFERENCES

- Brito-Zeron P, Baldini C, Bootsma H, Bowman SJ, Jonsson R, Mariette X, et al. Sjogren syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2016) 2:16047. doi:10.1038/ nrdp.2016.47
- Baldini C, Pepe P, Quartuccio L, Priori R, Bartoloni E, Alunno A, et al. Primary Sjogren's syndrome as a multi-organ disease: impact of the serological profile on the clinical presentation of the disease in a large cohort of Italian patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2014) 53(5):839–44. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ ket427
- Barone F, Colafrancesco S. Sjogren's syndrome: from pathogenesis to novel therapeutic targets. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2016) 34(4 Suppl 98):58–62.
- Luciano N, Valentini V, Calabro A, Elefante E, Vitale A, Baldini C, et al. One year in review 2015: Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2015) 33(2):259–71.
- Baldini C, Mosca M, Della Rossa A, Pepe P, Notarstefano C, Ferro F, et al. Overlap of ACA-positive systemic sclerosis and Sjogren's syndrome: a distinct clinical entity with mild organ involvement but at high risk of lymphoma. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2013) 31(2):272–80.
- Jara LJ, Navarro C, Brito-Zeron Mdel P, Garcia-Carrasco M, Escarcega RO, Ramos-Casals M. Thyroid disease in Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Rheumatol* (2007) 26(10):1601–6. doi:10.1007/s10067-007-0638-6
- Rojas-Villarraga A, Amaya-Amaya J, Rodriguez-Rodriguez A, Mantilla RD, Anaya JM. Introducing polyautoimmunity: secondary autoimmune diseases no longer exist. *Autoimmune Dis* (2012) 2012:254319. doi:10.1155/2012/254319
- Amador-Patarroyo MJ, Arbelaez JG, Mantilla RD, Rodriguez-Rodriguez A, Cardenas-Roldan J, Pineda-Tamayo R, et al. Sjogren's syndrome at the crossroad of polyautoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* (2012) 39(3):199–205. doi:10.1016/j. jaut.2012.05.008
- Teixeira Mendes LS, Wotherspoon A. Marginal zone lymphoma: associated autoimmunity and auto-immune disorders. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* (2017) 30(1–2):65–76. doi:10.1016/j.beha.2016.07.006
- Baldini C, Pepe P, Luciano N, Ferro F, Talarico R, Grossi S, et al. A clinical prediction rule for lymphoma development in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *J Rheumatol* (2012) 39(4):804–8. doi:10.3899/jrheum.110754
- Mavragani CP, Fragoulis GE, Moutsopoulos HM. Endocrine alterations in primary Sjogren's syndrome: an overview. J Autoimmun (2012) 39(4):354–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.05.011
- Baldini C, Talarico R, Tzioufas AG, Bombardieri S. Classification criteria for Sjogren's syndrome: a critical review. J Autoimmun (2012) 39(1–2):9–14. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2011.12.006
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14(2):174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Bourji K, Gatto M, Cozzi F, Doria A, Punzi L. Rheumatic and autoimmune thyroid disorders: a causal or casual relationship? *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14(1):57–63. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.007
- Lazurova I, Benhatchi K, Rovensky J, Kozakova D, Wagnerova H, Tajtakova M, et al. Autoimmune thyroid disease and autoimmune rheumatic disorders: a twosided analysis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2009) 1173:211–6. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632. 2009.04809.x

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB, FF, MM, PF, and AA gave substantial contribution in the conception and design of the work, in the literature research and in writing the paper; gave the final approval of the version to be published; agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. CB, AA, and PF revised it critically.

FUNDING

Funding provided by the University of Pisa.

- Tektonidou MG. Presence of other autoimmune diseases in subjects with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Am J Med* (2010) 123(10):e23. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed. 2010.03.030
- Soy M, Guldiken S, Arikan E, Altun BU, Tugrul A. Frequency of rheumatic diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Rheumatol Int* (2007) 27(6):575–7. doi:10.1007/s00296-006-0263-8
- Warfvinge G, Larsson A, Henricsson V, Ericsson UB, Hansen B, Manthorpe R. Salivary gland involvement in autoimmune thyroiditis, with special reference to the degree of association with Sjogren's syndrome. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* (1992) 74(3):288–93. doi:10.1016/0030-4220(92)90061-T
- Biro E, Szekanecz Z, Czirjak L, Danko K, Kiss E, Szabo NA, et al. Association of systemic and thyroid autoimmune diseases. *Clin Rheumatol* (2006) 25(2):240–5. doi:10.1007/s10067-005-1165-y
- Lu MC, Yin WY, Tsai TY, Koo M, Lai NS. Increased risk of primary Sjogren's syndrome in female patients with thyroid disorders: a longitudinal population-based study in Taiwan. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(10):e77210. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0077210
- Coll J, Anglada J, Tomas S, Reth P, Goday A, Millan M, et al. High prevalence of subclinical Sjogren's syndrome features in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. J Rheumatol (1997) 24(9):1719–24.
- Tektonidou MG, Anapliotou M, Vlachoyiannopoulos P, Moutsopoulos HM. Presence of systemic autoimmune disorders in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2004) 63(9):1159–61. doi:10.1136/ard.2004. 022624
- Mavragani CP, Skopouli FN, Moutsopoulos HM. Increased prevalence of antibodies to thyroid peroxidase in dry eyes and mouth syndrome or sicca asthenia polyalgia syndrome. *J Rheumatol* (2009) 36(8):1626–30. doi:10.3899/jrheum. 081326
- Dittfeld A, Gwizdek K, Michalski M, Wojnicz R. A possible link between the Epstein-Barr virus infection and autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Cent Eur J Immunol* (2016) 41(3):297–301. doi:10.5114/ceji.2016.63130
- Ferri C, Ramos-Casals M, Zignego AL, Arcaini L, Roccatello D, Antonelli A, et al. International diagnostic guidelines for patients with HCV-related extrahepatic manifestations. A multidisciplinary expert statement. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15(12):1145–60. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.006
- Stone JH. IgG4-related disease: pathophysiologic insights drive emerging treatment approaches. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2016) 34(4 Suppl 98):66–8.
- Kottahachchi D, Topliss DJ. Immunoglobulin G4-related thyroid diseases. Eur Thyroid J (2016) 5(4):231–9. doi:10.1159/000452623
- Delle Sedie A, Baldini C, Donati V, Mosca M. Mikulicz's disease: a long-term follow-up case report. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2012) 30(4):596.
- 29. Fragoulis GE, Zampeli E, Moutsopoulos HM. IgG4-related sialadenitis and Sjogren's syndrome. Oral Dis (2016) 23(2):152–6.
- Karsh J, Pavlidis N, Weintraub BD, Moutsopoulos HM. Thyroid disease in Sjogren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum (1980) 23(11):1326–9. doi:10.1002/ art.1780231118
- Kelly CA, Foster H, Pal B, Gardiner P, Malcolm AJ, Charles P, et al. Primary Sjogren's syndrome in north east England – a longitudinal study. *Br J Rheumatol* (1991) 30(6):437–42. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/30.6.437
- 32. Hansen BU, Ericsson UB, Henricsson V, Larsson A, Manthorpe R, Warfvinge G. Autoimmune thyroiditis and primary Sjogren's syndrome: clinical and laboratory

evidence of the coexistence of the two diseases. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (1991) 9(2):137-41.

- Bouanani M, Bataille R, Piechaczyk M, Salhi SL, Pau B, Bastide M. Autoimmunity to human thyroglobulin. Respective epitopic specificity patterns of anti-human thyroglobulin autoantibodies in patients with Sjogren's syndrome and patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Arthritis Rheum* (1991) 34(12):1585–93. doi:10.1002/art.1780341218
- Foster H, Fay A, Kelly C, Charles P, Walker D, Griffiths I. Thyroid disease and other autoimmune phenomena in a family study of primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Br J Rheumatol* (1993) 32(1):36–40. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/32.1.36
- Perez B, Kraus A, Lopez G, Cifuentes M, Alarcon-Segovia D. Autoimmune thyroid disease in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Am J Med* (1995) 99(5):480–4. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(99)80223-X
- Punzi L, Ostuni PA, Betterle C, De Sandre P, Botsios C, Gambari PF. Thyroid gland disorders in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Rev Rhum Engl Ed* (1996) 63(11):809–14.
- Davidson BK, Kelly CA, Griffiths ID. Primary Sjogren's syndrome in the North East of England: a long-term follow-up study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (1999) 38(3):245–53. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/38.3.245
- Ramos-Casals M, Garcia-Carrasco M, Cervera R, Gaya J, Halperin I, Ubieto I, et al. Thyroid disease in primary Sjogren syndrome. Study in a series of 160 patients. *Medicine (Baltimore)* (2000) 79(2):103–8. doi:10.1097/00005792-200003000-00004
- D'Arbonneau F, Ansart S, Le Berre R, Dueymes M, Youinou P, Pennec YL. Thyroid dysfunction in primary Sjogren's syndrome: a long-term followup study. Arthritis Rheum (2003) 49(6):804–9. doi:10.1002/art.11460
- Tunc R, Gonen MS, Acbay O, Hamuryudan V, Yazici H. Autoimmune thyroiditis and anti-thyroid antibodies in primary Sjogren's syndrome: a case-control study. Ann Rheum Dis (2004) 63(5):575–7. doi:10.1136/ard.2003.010058
- Lazarus MN, Isenberg DA. Development of additional autoimmune diseases in a population of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2005) 64(7):1062–4. doi:10.1136/ard.2004.029066
- 42. Zeher M, Horvath IF, Szanto A, Szodoray P. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in a large group of Hungarian patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Thyroid* (2009) 19(1):39–45. doi:10.1089/thy.2007.0398
- 43. Caramaschi P, Biasi D, Caimmi C, Scambi C, Pieropan S, Barausse G, et al. The co-occurrence of Hashimoto thyroiditis in primary Sjogren's syndrome defines a subset of patients with milder clinical phenotype. *Rheumatol Int* (2013) 33(5):1271–5. doi:10.1007/s00296-012-2570-6
- Kayes TD, Weisman GA, Camden JM, Woods LT, Bredehoeft C, Downey EF, et al. New murine model of early onset autoimmune thyroid disease/hypothyroidism and autoimmune exocrinopathy of the salivary gland. *J Immunol* (2016) 197(6):2119–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600133
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Ferrannini E, Ferri C, Fallahi P. Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)10 in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13(3):272–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.10.010
- 46. Ogawa N, Ping L, Zhenjun L, Takada Y, Sugai S. Involvement of the interferon-gamma-induced T cell-attracting chemokines, interferon-gamma-inducible 10-kd protein (CXCL10) and monokine induced by interferon-gamma (CXCL9), in the salivary gland lesions of patients with Sjogren's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* (2002) 46(10):2730–41. doi:10.1002/art.10577

- Sjostrand M, Johansson A, Aqrawi L, Olsson T, Wahren-Herlenius M, Espinosa A. The Expression of BAFF is controlled by IRF transcription factors. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(1):91–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501061
- Lin JD, Wang YH, Fang WF, Hsiao CJ, Chagnaadorj A, Lin YF, et al. Serum BAFF and thyroid autoantibodies in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Clin Chim Acta* (2016) 462:96–102. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2016.09.004
- Varin MM, Le Pottier L, Youinou P, Saulep D, Mackay F, Pers JO. B-cell tolerance breakdown in Sjogren's syndrome: focus on BAFF. *Autoimmun Rev* (2010) 9(9):604–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2010.05.006
- Daridon C, Devauchelle V, Hutin P, Le Berre R, Martins-Carvalho C, Bendaoud B, et al. Aberrant expression of BAFF by B lymphocytes infiltrating the salivary glands of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) 56(4):1134–44. doi:10.1002/art.22458
- Youinou P, Daridon C, Saraux A, Devauchelle V, Pers JO. Is B-cell the conductor of the lymphocyte orchestra in the salivary glands of patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2006) 24(5):491–2.
- Carubbi F, Cipriani P, Di Benedetto P, Ruscitti P, Alunno A, Gerli R, et al. Persistence of focal lymphocytic sialadenitis in patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome treated with rituximab: a possible role for glandular BAFF. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2016) 3(2):152–6.
- Coutant G, Algayres JP, Rapp C, Jean R, Desrame C, Bechade D, et al. [Thyroid lymphoma and Gougerot-Sjogren syndrome]. *Rev Med Interne* (1999) 20(4):374–5. doi:10.1016/S0248-8663(99)83083-5
- Androulaki A, Syriou V, Lazaris AC, Paterakis T, Pikazis D, Papathomas T, et al. Maltoma of the thyroid and Sjogren's syndrome in a woman with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Endocr Pathol* (2006) 17(1):89–94. doi:10.1385/EP:17:1:89
- Mazur-Roszak M, Litwiniuk M, Lacka K. [Lymphoma of the thyroid in a patient with autoimmune thyroiditis and Sjogren's syndrome – case report]. *Pol Merkur Lekarski* (2008) 25(146):155–7.
- Serefhanoglu S, Tapan U, Ertenli I, Kalyoncu U, Uner A. Primary thyroid marginal zone B-cell lymphoma MALT-type in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis. *Med Oncol* (2010) 27(3):826–32. doi:10.1007/s12032-009-9293-x
- Adem J, Eray M, Eeva J, Nuutinen U, Pelkonen J. Advantages of targeting B cell receptor complex to treat B-cell derived autoimmune diseases and lymphomas. *Mol Immunol* (2017) 88:135–7. doi:10.1016/j.molimm. 2017.05.023
- Pers JO, Lahiri A, Tobon GJ, Youinou P. Pathophysiological cytokine network in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Presse Med* (2012) 41(9 Pt 2):e467–74. doi:10.1016/j.lpm.2012.04.029

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer DL and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Baldini, Ferro, Mosca, Fallahi and Antonelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Associations between Systemic Sclerosis and Thyroid Diseases

Poupak Fallahi^{1*}, Ilaria Ruffilli¹, Dilia Giuggioli², Michele Colaci², Silvia Martina Ferrari¹, Alessandro Antonelli¹ and Clodoveo Ferri²

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ²Department of Medical, Surgical, Maternal, Pediatric and Adult Sciences, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

We have reviewed scientific literature about the association of systemic sclerosis (SSc) and thyroid disorders. A high incidence, and prevalence, of new cases of autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) and/or hypothyroidism have been shown in sclerodermic patients (overall in the female gender). An association among a Th1 immune-predominance, low vitamin D levels, and AT have been also shown in SSc patients. Cases of Graves' disease (GD) have been described in SSc patients, too, according with the higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity. It has been also shown a higher prevalence of papillary thyroid cancer (PTC), in association with AT, in SSc patients. However, in order to confirm results about GD and thyroid cancer, studies in larger number of patients with SSc are needed. During the follow-up of SSc patients it would be appropriate to monitor carefully their thyroid status. The abovementioned data strongly suggest a periodic thyroid function follow-up in female SSc patients [showing a borderline high (although in the normal range) thyroid-stimulating hormone level, antithyroid peroxidase antibody positivity, and a small thyroid with a hypoechoic pattern], and, when necessary, appropriate treatments. In conclusion, most of the studies show an association among SSc, AT, and hypothyroidism, such as an increased prevalence of TC overall in SSc patients with AT. Only few cases of GD have been also described in SSc.

Keywords: systemic sclerosis, autoimmune thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, Graves' disease, thyroid cancer, antithyroperoxidase antibodies, antithyroglobulin antibodies, CXCL10

INTRODUCTION

Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is a connective tissue disease characterized by degenerative microvascular phenomena and immune system activation, that lead to fibrosis of the skin and internal organs (1, 2). SSc is clinically a multifaceted disorder derived from different contributions of the abovementioned pathogenetic mechanisms, through a multistep process that causes various clinical phenotypes (3). SSc is a heterogeneous autoimmune disease which has defined by three hallmarks: small vessel vasculopathy, production of autoantibodies, and fibroblast dysfunction. The exact etiology of the disease remains unknown, due to the complex nature of the cellular signaling pathways involved. However, there is strong and consistent evidence that the innate system, in particular

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alex Stewart Stagnaro-Green, University of Illinois Rockford College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Angela Leung, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Maria Brito, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*Correspondence:

Poupak Fallahi poupak@int.med.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 April 2017 Accepted: 21 September 2017 Published: 03 October 2017

Citation:

Fallahi P, Ruffilli I, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, Ferrari SM, Antonelli A and Ferri C (2017) Associations between Systemic Sclerosis and Thyroid Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 8:266. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00266

57

Abbreviations: AbTg, antithyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies; AITD, autoimmune thyroid disorders; AT, autoimmune thyroiditis; ATA, antithyroid antibodies; dcSSC, diffuse cutaneous scleroderma; FT3, free triiodothyronine; FT4, free thyroxine; GD, Graves' disease; HC, healthy controls; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; lSSc, limited cutaneous scleroderma; MCTD, mixed connective tissue disease; OA, osteoarthritis; OR, odds ratios; PM/DM, polymyositis/ dermatomyositis; PTC, papillary thyroid cancer; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SS, Sjögren's syndrome; SSc, systemic sclerosis; TC, thyroid cancer; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone.

toll-like receptor signaling, is contributing to the progression and perhaps onset of SSc (4).

Two overlapping SSc forms exist: (a) a limited cutaneous scleroderma (ISSc), confined to the skin of face, hands and feet and (b) a diffuse cutaneous scleroderma (dcSSc), extended over other areas of the skin, that can involve visceral organs, as kidneys, lungs, heart, and gastrointestinal tract. Patients affected by the limited form show a good prognosis, with a 10-year survival in about 75% of patients; however, about 10% of them develop pulmonary arterial hypertension after 15 years. Patients with dcSSc have a 10-year survival of 55%; death is commonly associated with pulmonary, heart, and kidney involvement.

The diagnosis is established on the basis of clinical suspicion, the presence of autoantibodies (in particular anticentromere and anti-scl70/antitopoisomerase antibodies) and quite rarely on biopsy. Regarding the antibodies, 90% of SSc patients have a detectable antinuclear antibody; anticentromere antibody is more frequent in ISSc (80–90%) compared to dcSSc (10%), and anti-scl70 is more common in dcSSc (30–40%) (5).

The American College of Rheumatology set the diagnostic criteria for scleroderma in 1980 (6).

Systemic sclerosis is associated with significant morbidity (including skin thickening, finger ulcers, joint contractures, pulmonary fibrosis and hypertension, chronic diarrhea, and renal failure) (7).

Systemic sclerosis patients have high rates of symptoms of depression, and SSc is associated with substantially reduced health-related quality of life (8).

Many studies show a high prevalence of autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITDs) in SSc patients; however, contradictory results have been reported too. Here, we review the scientific literature about the possible association of SSc with autoimmune thyroiditis (AT), Graves' disease (GD), and also thyroid cancer (TC).

SSc AND AT

After the initial case reports (9, 10), the association of SSc and AITD has been evaluated by many studies (**Table 1**).

A first systematic study (11) reviewed patients with fatal SSc about pathologic and serologic evidence of thyroid disorders. Histologic evidence of severe fibrosis of the thyroid was reported in 14% of 56 SSc cases (versus 2% of age- and gender-matched control autopsy series). Among 27 SSc patients in whom thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) and free thyroid hormones were measured, 7 (26%) were hypothyroid, and 9 had euthyroid sick syndrome. Hypothyroid patients had thyroid glands with fibrosis, but a few lymphocytic infiltration. However, 6/7 of hypothyroid patients had elevated levels of circulating antithyroglobulin antibodies (AbTg). These findings suggested a thyroid autoimmune process leading to gland fibrosis and hypothyroidism in severe SSc patients.

A second study (12) found decreased free thyroxine (FT4), decreased free triiodothyronine (FT3), and increased TSH in 42 SSc patients, versus age and gender controls. However, changes in FT4, FT3, and TSH were small with mean values within normal ranges, suggesting a subclinical thyroid dysfunction.

In a further study, 77 SSc patients were evaluated by measurements of basal FT4, FT3, TSH, and the TSH response to thyrotropin-releasing hormone (13). Eight patients (10%) were hypothyroid. Antithyroid antibodies (ATA) were present in four of eight (50%) of the hypothyroid patients.

Among 39 SSc patients (14), 2 patients had clinical hypothyroidism, while 7 had subclinical hypothyroidism. On the whole

Reference	SSc patients (n)	AITD% in SSc patients	Controls (n)	AITD% in controls	Р
Gordon et al. (11)	56	14	56	2	<0.05
Shahin et al. (17)	24	Serum levels of FT4 in patients were significantly lower than in controls (7.46 \pm 2.7 for patients versus 10.5 \pm 1.8 for controls with <i>P</i> < 0.001). Of the 24 patients, 8 (33.3%) showed hypothyroidism, evidenced by decreased FT4 and increased TSH beyond normal ranges, 5/14 (32.7%) with dSSc versus 3/10 (30%) with ISSc (<i>P</i> = ns)	15		
Innocencio et al. (18)	25	52	113	3.5	
Antonelli et al. (20)	F 184; M 18	F 107/77 (58%); M 7/11 (39%)	F 368; M 36	F 100/268 (27%); M 2/34 (6%)	F 0.0001; M 0.0019
Marasini et al. (21)	79	AbTg in 14% of patients; AbTPO in 23% of patients	81 women with OA serving as controls	AbTg in 13% of patients; AbTPO in 11% of patients	ns (for AbTg); 0.057 (for AbTPO)
Danielides et al. (23)	138	AbTPO and/or AbTg positive in 29% of patients	100	AbTPO and/or AbTg positive in 29% of controls	ns
Antonelli et al. (25)	179	24% (initial thyroid status); 34% (last thyroid status)	179	12% (initial thyroid status); 16% (last thyroid status)	0.002 (initial thyroid status); <0.001 (last thyroid status)

AbTg, antithyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, antithyroperoxidase antibodies; F, female; FT4, free thyroxine; M, male; ns, not significant; OA, osteoarthritis; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone.

9/39 (23%) of SSc patients were hypothyroid, and 4/9 (44%) had positive ATA. Circulating AbTg and/or antimicrosomal antibodies were positive in 18% of the 39 patients.

A high prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity (15) was also observed in 43 Hungarian SSc patients. ATA were detected in 14 cases (33%) [4 cases with AbTg, 11 with antithyroperoxidase antibodies (AbTPO), and 5 with antimicrosomal antibodies].

Antithyroglobulin antibodies and AbTPO antibodies, FT3, FT4 and TSH, and HLA-DR typing were carried out in 85 SSc Italian patients (16). AbTg and AbTPO antibodies were detected in 12% (10/85) and 19% (16/85) of patients. Two patients with ATA had clinical hypothyroidism and shared the HLA-DR3 allele. A higher frequency of the HLA-DR15 was shown in SSc subjects in the presence of AbTPO antibodies than in patients without AbTPO.

Twenty-three female patients with SSc (mean age 37.7 ± 12.7) were evaluated for thyroid dysfunctions versus 15 normal females as controls (17). Mean serum levels of FT4 in SSc patients were significantly lower than in controls (7.46 ± 2.7 versus 10.47 ± 2.5). Of the 24 patients, 8 (33.3%) showed hypothyroidism (17).

Another Latin American study confirmed a high prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in Brasilian patients with SSc (18).

In a large cohort study (19), 1,517 patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), SSc, Sjögren's syndrome (SS), mixed connective tissue disease (MCTD), and polymyositis/dermatomyositis (PM/DM) were evaluated for thyroid dysfunctions clinically and by imaging and fine-needle aspiration cytology [with respect to prevalence of GD or Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) in the general population]. HT was more common among MCTD, SS, and RA patients (21, 7, and 6%, respectively) than GD (2.5, 3, and 1.6%, respectively). SLE, RA, SSc, MCTD, SS, and PM/DM had a higher prevalence for HT than the general population of 90-, 160-, 220-, 556-, 176-, and 69-fold, respectively, and for GD of 68-, 50-, 102-, 76-, 74-, and 37-fold, respectively.

A first study (20) aimed to assess the prevalence of thyroid disorders in SSc patients using a complete thyroid work-up, versus an internal appropriate control group. Two hundred two SSc patients versus 404 controls from the general population (matched by age and gender, with similar iodine intake) were evaluated for TSH, FT3, FT4, AbTg and AbTPO, thyroid ultrasonography and blood flow, and fine needle aspiration when needed. Odds ratios (OR) for female SSc versus controls subjects were significant for: clinical hypothyroidism, 14.5 (2.3-90.9); subclinical hypothyroidism, 3.2 (1.8-5.7); AbTPO positivity, 2.7 (1.8-4.1); thyroid hypoechoic pattern, 3.2 (2.2-4.7); thyroid autoimmunity, 3.7 (2.6-5.4); and thyroid volume <6 mL, 1.8 (1.2-2.7). OR for thyroid autoimmunity in male SSc patients versus control subjects was 10.8 (2.2-52.4). Female SSc patients had mean TSH levels significantly higher than control subjects, and female and male SSc patients had significantly higher AbTPO than controls. Three cases of GD in female SSc (versus zero in controls, P < 0.05), and two of papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) were reported in SSc patients.

The authors suggested to test thyroid function, AbTPO, and ultrasonography and to assess the clinical profile of SSc patients. Thyroid function follow-up (and appropriate treatments) should be performed periodically in women, subjects with positive AbTPO and hypoechoic and small thyroid. The abovementioned results were confirmed in another study (21) that evaluated thyroid function and autoantibodies, in 79 SSc women, versus 81 age-matched women with osteoarthritis (OA) as controls. Hypothyroidism was found in 16 of 79 (20%) patients with SSc and in 9 of 81 (11%) patients with OA. AbTPO were present in 23% SSc versus 11% controls. The risk of hypothyroidism was significantly higher in AbTPO-positive patients (P < 0.0001).

A cross-sectional study (22) of two convenience samples of patients with SSc, one in Canada and the other in Colombia, was performed. Among 719 patients, 273 (38%) had at least one other autoimmune disease. Three hundred sixty-six autoimmune diseases were assessed, among which AITD (38%), RA (21%), SS (18%), and primary biliary cirrhosis (4%) were more frequent. Two hundred sixty patients (36%) had first-degree relatives with at least one autoimmune disease [RA (18%) and AITD (9%) were the most common]. These results suggest that polyautoimmunity is frequent in SSc patients and autoimmune diseases cluster within families of these patients.

To determine (23) the ATA prevalence in a large SSc cohort and to verify whether they are associated with distinct clinical phenotypes, 138 SSc patients (46 with dSSc and 92 with lSSc) and 100 healthy controls (HC) were tested for AbTg and AbTPO. A statistically significant increase of AbTPO was detected only in patients with lSSc compared to HC (32.6 versus 14%, P = 0.003).

Two hundred ten SSc patients were evaluated in a Japanese study (24), that identified 30 patients with AITD (14.3%), including 29 with HT (13.8%) and 1 with GD (0.5%).

A further study (25) first evaluated the incidence of new cases of clinical and subclinical thyroid dysfunction in SSc women versus controls from the same geographic area (matched by gender and age). SSc patients with thyroid dysfunction were excluded at the beginning, and then the manifestation of new cases of thyroid disorders was assessed in 179 patients and 179 matched controls, having a similar iodine intake (median follow-up: 94 months in controls; 73 months in SSc). An elevated incidence (P < 0.05) of new cases of hypothyroidism, thyroid dysfunction, AbTPO positivity, and hypoechoic thyroid, in SSc patients (15.5, 21, 11, and 14.6 of 1,000 patients per year; respectively) versus those in controls was observed. The onset of hypothyroidism was demonstrated (by logistic regression analysis) to be related to a borderline elevated initial TSH value, the presence of high AbTPO levels, and a hypoechoic and small thyroid in SSc patients.

A subsequent study (26) confirmed a high prevalence of subclinical hypothyroidism (8.5%), overt hypothyroidism (1.9%), subclinical hyperthyroidism (2.8%), and overt hyperthyroidism (0.9%) in SSc patients, and that a small thyroid volume (<4.5 ml) was related to hypothyroidism.

Positive ATA titers were also observed in 27/86 SSc Polish (27) patients (31%).

Recently, it has been also demonstrated that hypovitaminosis D was statistically associated with AT in SSc patients (28).

Conversely, a recent study (29) evaluated prospectively the prevalence of other autoimmune disorders in outpatient clinic in 3,069 consecutive patients with diagnosed chronic AT, with respect to two control groups (matched by age and gender): (a) a control group of 1,023 subjects, drawn out a random sample of the general

population without thyroid disorders and (b) 1,023 patients with non-toxic multinodular goiter extracted from the same random sample of the general population, with similar iodine intake. The results of the study demonstrated a significant increase of the prevalence of SSc in AT patients (with respect to both controls).

Different studies demonstrate elevated circulating CXCL10 (Th1) and CCL2 (Th2) chemokines in SSc patients of newly diagnosis. Patients with a serious clinical phenotype, including the involvement of lung and kidney, have higher CXCL10. CXCL10 declines during the follow-up, while CCL2 does not change, suggesting the progress from a beginning Th1 inflammatory stage to a successive Th2 phase (30, 31).

Th1 lymphocytes, interferon- γ , and interferon- γ -dependent chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11) play a pivotal role in AITD, that are Th1 immune-mediated autoimmune disorders, too (32–35). Newly diagnosed SSc patients have elevated circulating levels of CXCL10, but not of CCL2, in the presence of AT, indicating a predominance of the Th1 immune response in these patients (36).

To sum up, the abovementioned data show a high incidence, and prevalence, of new cases of AT, and hypothyroidism, in patients with SSc, suggesting that in SSc women, with a borderline high (though in the normal range) TSH level, in the presence of AbTPO, and a hypoechoic and small thyroid, it could be necessary to monitor periodically thyroid function.

SSc AND GD

A first anectodal study reported an association of SSc and GD in three cases (37). One case of GD was also observed among 210 SSc Japanese patients (0.5%) (24). Graves' ophthalmopathy has been also occasionally reported in one SSc patient (38).

A significant number (3 cases) of GD in female SSc (3/202 versus 0/404 controls, P < 0.05) was also observed in a case control study (20), with an internal appropriate control group.

On the whole the abovementioned studies suggest a higher prevalence of GD in SSc patients; nevertheless further studies, involving a larger number of SSc patients, are necessary to confirm this finding.

SSc AND PTC

Single cases of PTC in association with SSc were reported in several studies (9, 20, 39–42).

However, more recently, the risk of TC in 327 unselected SSc patients with respect to two population-based, control groups was studied systematically (matched by age and gender; 654 subjects from an iodine-deficient area and 654 subjects from an iodine-sufficient area) (43).

Six subjects with PTC were detected among SSc patients, while only one case was observed in controls 1, as well in controls 2 (P = 0.007, for both). In SSc, all patients with TC showed thyroid autoimmunity versus 40% of the other SSc patients (P = 0.001) (43).

These findings suggest the possibility of a increased prevalence of PTC in SSc patients with thyroid autoimmunity, however, larger cohorts are needed to elucidate this.

CLINICAL ASPECTS OF SSc AND THYROID DISORDERS

Several studies have evaluated a possible association among thyroid disorders and clinical findings of SSc, reporting different results.

It was initially reported that patients with hypothyroidism had more frequently subcutaneous calcinosis (11).

Hungarian SSc patients with AbTPO concentration tended to have secondary SS (15).

In a further study in female patients with SSc (duration < 3 years), FT4 levels correlated significantly with Dlco% (r = +0.90, P < 0.01), while in patients with SSc duration > 3 years hypothyroidism correlated significantly with hand joint restriction of motion (17).

Seventeen SSc patients with high pulmonary systolic pressure (>35 mmHg) were studied in another article (44). High pulmonary pressure in these SSc patients was not associated with the type of SSc, or age; however, five SSc patients (12.5%) had alteration of the thyroid function (two cases of hypothyroidism, three of hyperthyroidism). The pulmonary pressure levels were higher in SSc patients with thyroid dysfunction, with respect to SSc in euthyroidism (40 versus 31 mmHg, respectively; P < 0.05). Furthermore, hypothyroid SSc patients had higher pressure levels, with respect to hyperthyroid SSc (46 versus 37 mmHg, respectively), even if not significantly. The lack of significant differences in pressure levels between hypothyroid, or hyperthyroid SSc, and the low frequency of ATA in pulmonary hypertension associated with SSc, suggest a vasomotor role of thyroid hormones, rather than an autoimmune mechanism (44).

In Japanese female SSc patients, the prevalence of anticentromere antibody positivity, SS, and severe facial skin sclerosis was significantly prevalent in the presence of AITD (24).

A study found a statistically significant increase of AbTPO only in patients with ISSc (but not in dSSc) compared to controls (32.6 versus 14%, P = 0.003) (23).

To sum up, most of the abovementioned studies did not observed any association among thyroid dysfunctions and/ or autoimmunity and features of SSc (clinical or serological) (13, 20, 25, 27).

CONCLUSION

Many studies have shown a high incidence, and/or prevalence, of new cases of AT, and hypothyroidism in SSc patients, especially in the female gender. An association among a Th1 predominance, low levels of vitamin D, and AITDs has been also demonstrated in patients with SSc.

Few cases of GD have been also described in SSc patients, according with the higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity.

It has been also observed a higher prevalence of PTC, in association with AT, in SSc patients. However, in order to confirm results about GD and TC, studies in larger number of patients with SSc are needed.

To sum up, the abovementioned data strongly suggest that female SSc patients with a high risk (a borderline high though normal TSH value, the presence of AbTPO, and a hypoechoic and small thyroid) should be periodically monitored for thyroid function, and appropriate treatments when needed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PF, IR, DG, MC, SMF, AA, and CF gave substantial contribution in the conception and design of the work, and in writing

REFERENCES

- Ferri C, Sebastiani M, Lo Monaco A, Iudici M, Giuggioli D, Furini F, et al. Systemic sclerosis evolution of disease pathomorphosis and survival. Our experience on Italian patients' population and review of the literature. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:1026–34. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.08.029
- Barsotti S, Stagnaro C, d'Ascanio A, Della Rossa A. One year in review 2016: a systemic sclerosis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2016) 34(Suppl 100):3–13.
- Giuggioli D, Lumetti F, Colaci M, Fallahi P, Antonelli A, Ferri C. Rituximab in the treatment of patients with systemic sclerosis. Our experience and review of the literature. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:1072–8. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2015.07.008
- Dowson C, Simpson N, Duffy L, O'Reilly S. Innate immunity in systemic sclerosis. Curr Rheumatol Rep (2017) 19:2. doi:10.1007/s11926-017-0630-3
- Jimenez SA, Derk CT. Following the molecular pathways toward an understanding of the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis. *Ann Intern Med* (2004) 140:37–50. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-140-2-200401200-00013
- Masi AT. Preliminary criteria for the classification of systemic sclerosis (scleroderma). Subcommittee for scleroderma criteria of the American Rheumatism Association Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria Committee. *Arthritis Rheum* (1980) 23:581–90. doi:10.1002/art.1780230510
- Clements PJ, Roth MD, Elashoff R, Tashkin DP, Goldin J, Silver RM, et al. Scleroderma lung study (SLS): differences in the presentation and course of patients with limited versus diffuse systemic sclerosis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2007) 66:1641–7. doi:10.1136/ard.2007.069518
- Hudson M, Thombs BD, Steele R, Panopalis P, Newton E, Baron M, et al. Health-related quality of life in systemic sclerosis: a systematic review. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 61:1112–20. doi:10.1002/art.24676
- Sánchez de Rivera JM, Barbado Hernández FJ, Vázquez Rodríguez JJ, Gil Aguado A, García Puig J, Viguer García-Moreno JM. [Scleroderma with traces of disseminated lupus erythematosus associated with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and papillary carcinoma of the thyroid gland (author's transl)]. *Med Clin* (*Barc*) (1979) 73:342–6.
- Kaplan G, Vinceneux P, Bourgeois P, Kahn MF. [Gougerot-Sjögren syndrome, connective tissue diseases and autoimmune pathology]. *Rev Rhum Mal Osteoartic* (1977) 44:471–8.
- Gordon MB, Klein I, Dekker A, Rodnan GP, Medsger TA Jr. Thyroid disease in progressive systemic sclerosis: increased frequency of glandular fibrosis and hypothyroidism. *Ann Intern Med* (1981) 95:431–5. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-95-4-431
- Serup J, Hangdrup H. Thyroid hormones in generalized scleroderma. A controlled study. Acta Derm Venereol (1986) 66:35–8.
- Kahl LE, Medsger TA Jr, Klein I. Prospective evaluation of thyroid function in patients with systemic sclerosis (scleroderma). J Rheumatol (1986) 13:103–7.
- De Keyser L, Narhi DC, Furst DE, Huberman AK, Ross R, Clements J, et al. Thyroid dysfunction in a prospectively followed series of patients with progressive systemic sclerosis. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1990) 13:161–9. doi:10.1007/ BF03349530
- Molnár I, Balázs C, Szabó E, Czirják L. Evaluation of thyroid function and anti-thyroid autoantibodies in systemic sclerosis. *Acta Derm Venereol* (1992) 72:112–4.
- Molteni M, Barili M, Eisera N, Scrofani S, Mascagni B, Zulian C, et al. Antithyroid antibodies in Italian scleroderma patients: association of anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) antibodies with HLA-DR15. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (1997) 15:529–34.
- Shahin AA, Abdoh S, Abdelrazik M. Prolactin and thyroid hormones in patients with systemic sclerosis: correlations with disease manifestations and activity. Z Rheumatol (2002) 61:703–9. doi:10.1007/s00393-002-0413-7

the article. AA and CF revised it critically for important intellectual content. PF, IR, DG, MC, SMF, AA, and CF gave the final approval of the version to be published. PF, IR, DG, MC, SMF, AA, and CF agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

- Innocencio RM, Romaldini JH, Ward LS. High prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in systemic sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis but not in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Rheumatol* (2003) 22:494. doi:10.1007/ s10067-003-0803-5
- Biró E, Szekanecz Z, Czirják L, Dankó K, Kiss E, Szabó NA, et al. Association of systemic and thyroid autoimmune diseases. *Clin Rheumatol* (2006) 25:240–5. doi:10.1007/s10067-005-1165-y
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P, Cazzato M, Ferrari SM, Sebastiani M, et al. Clinical and subclinical autoimmune thyroid disorders in systemic sclerosis. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2007) 156:431–7. doi:10.1530/EJE-06-0591
- Marasini B, Ferrari PA, Solaro N, Selmi C. Thyroid dysfunction in women with systemic sclerosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2007) 1108:305–11. doi:10.1196/ annals.1422.032
- Hudson M, Rojas-Villarraga A, Coral-Alvarado P, López-Guzmán S, Mantilla RD, Chalem P, et al. Polyautoimmunity and familial autoimmunity in systemic sclerosis. J Autoimmun (2008) 31:156–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2008.05.002
- Danielides S, Mavragani CP, Katsakoulas I, Zintzaras E, Drosos AA, Vlachoyiannopoulos PG, et al. Increased prevalence of anti-thyroid antibodies in patients with limited scleroderma. *Scand J Rheumatol* (2011) 40:299–303. d oi:10.3109/03009742.2010.549837
- 24. Toki S, Motegi S, Yamada K, Uchiyama A, Ishikawa O. Demographic and clinical features of autoimmune thyroid disorder in Japanese patients with systemic sclerosis. *J Dermatol* (2014) 41:1053–7. doi:10.1111/1346-8138.12698
- Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Mancusi C, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, et al. Incidence of thyroid disorders in systemic sclerosis: results from a longitudinal follow-up. *Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98:E1198–202. doi:10.1210/ jc.2012-3583
- Singh PK, Sharma SK, Sinha A, Dutta P. Can thyroid volume predict thyroid dysfunction in patients with systemic sclerosis? A prospective cross-sectional study from a tertiary care center in North West India. *Clin Rheumatol* (2016) 35:765–9. doi:10.1007/s10067-016-3209-x
- Wielosz E, Majdan M, Koszarny A, Dryglewska M, Tabarkiewicz J. Presence of organ-specific antibodies in patients with systemic sclerosis. *Pol Arch Med Wewn* (2016) 126:862–9. doi:10.20452/pamw.3583
- Giuggioli D, Colaci M, Cassone G, Fallahi P, Lumetti F, Spinella A, et al. Serum 25-OH vitamin D levels in systemic sclerosis: analysis of 140 patients and review of the literature. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36:583–90. doi:10.1007/ s10067-016-3535-z
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, et al. CXCL10 (alpha) and CCL2 (beta) chemokines in systemic sclerosis – a longitudinal study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2008) 47:45–9. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ kem313
- George PM, Oliver E, Dorfmuller P, Dubois OD, Reed DM, Kirkby NS, et al. Evidence for the involvement of type I interferon in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Circ Res* (2014) 114:677–88. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 114.302221
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Ferrannini E, Ferri C, Fallahi P. Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)10 in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:272–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.10.010
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Pupilli C, Mancusi C, Metelli MR, et al. CXCL9 and CXCL11 chemokines modulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated

receptor-alpha agonists secretion in Graves' and normal thyrocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:E413–20. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-0923

- Ferrari SM, Elia G, Virili C, Centanni M, Antonelli A, Fallahi P. Systemic lupus erythematosus and thyroid autoimmunity. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:138. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00138
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P, Colaci M, Giuggioli D, Ferrari SM, et al. Th1 and Th2 chemokine serum levels in systemic sclerosis in the presence or absence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Rheumatol* (2008) 35:1809–11.
- Nicholson D, White S, Lipson A, Jacobs RP, Borenstein DG. Progressive systemic sclerosis and Graves' disease. Report of three cases. Arch Intern Med (1986) 146:2350–2. doi:10.1001/archinte.1986.00360240064012
- Wimmersberger Y, Zuercher D. Graves' disease associated with primary systemic sclerosis. Orbit (2009) 28:262–3. doi:10.3109/01676830903104637
- Kaşifoğlu T, Yaşar Bilge Ş, Yıldız F, Özen G, Pehlivan Y, Yılmaz N, et al. Risk factors for malignancy in systemic sclerosis patients. *Clin Rheumatol* (2016) 35:1529–33. doi:10.1007/s10067-016-3288-8
- Thongpooswan S, Tushabe R, Song J, Kim P, Abrudescu A. Mixed connective tissue disease and papillary thyroid cancer: a case report. *Am J Case Rep* (2015) 16:517–9. doi:10.12659/AJCR.894176
- Kopeć-Medrek M, Kotulska A, Zycińska-Debska E, Widuchowska M, Kucharz EJ. Exacerbated course of atrophoderma of Pasini and Pierini in patient with papillary cancer of the thyroid gland. *Wiad Lek* (2010) 63:24–6.

- 42. Gokula RM, Gupta AK, Shirley SE, Coard K, Ramphal PS. Scleroderma with cardiac tamponade, hyperthyroidism and incidental papillary thyroid carcinoma. *West Indian Med J* (2002) 51:188–90.
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Ferrari SM, Di Domenicantonio A, Giuggioli D, Galleri D, et al. Increased risk of papillary thyroid cancer in systemic sclerosis associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2016) 55:480–4. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kev358
- Marasini B, Massarotti M, Cossutta R. Thyroid function, pulmonary arterial hypertension and scleroderma. Am J Med (2005) 118:322–3. doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2004.09.020

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Fallahi, Ruffilli, Giuggioli, Colaci, Ferrari, Antonelli and Ferri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Silvia Martina Ferrari^{1*}, Giusy Elia¹, Camilla Virili², Marco Centanni², Alessandro Antonelli¹ and Poupak Fallahi¹

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ²Department of Medico-Surgical Sciences and Biotechnologies, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Latina, Italy

Most of the studies present in the literature show a high prevalence, and incidence, of new cases of hypothyroidism and autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients, overall in female gender. A limited number of cases of Graves' disease have been also reported in SLE patients, in agreement with the higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity. It has been also demonstrated that a Th1 predominance is associated with AT in SLE patients. Furthermore, a higher prevalence of papillary thyroid cancer has been recently reported in SLE, in particular in the presence of thyroid autoimmunity. However, studies in larger number of SLE patients are needed to confirm findings about thyroid cancer. On the whole, data from literature strongly suggest that female SLE patients, with a high risk (a normal but at the higher limit thyroid-stimulating hormone value, positive antithyroid peroxidase antibodies, a hypoechoic pattern, and small thyroid), should undergo periodic thyroid function follow-up, and appropriate treatments when needed. A careful thyroid monitoring would be opportune during the follow-up of these patients.

Keywords: systemic lupus erythematosus, autoimmune thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, Graves' disease, thyroid cancer, AbTPO, AbTg, CXCL10

INTRODUCTION

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease affecting mostly joints, skin, blood vessels, heart, lungs, kidneys, liver, and nervous system, in which the immune system attacks tissues and cells leading to inflammation and damage (1). The course of SLE is variable, with periods of exacerbation (called flares) alternating with periods of remission. SLE occurs nine times more often in the female gender than in male, and it is more frequent in people of non-European descent (1). Different types of autoantibodies are present in SLE patients (2). The difference of clinical features of SLE in different patients is due to the complexity of the risk factors (genetic, hormonal, and environmental), and the variety of circulating autoantibodies present (2, 3). Because of the presence of many different autoantibodies, SLE is classified as a "B-cell disease." Circulating blood lymphocytes in SLE patients show a Th2-like profile (4); however, Th1 lymphocytes and interferon (IFN)- γ have been demonstrated to be important for the immune pathogenesis of SLE (5). In fact, it has been shown that the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jacqueline Jonklaas, Georgetown University, United States

Reviewed by:

Priya Kundra, MedStar Washington Hospital Center, United States Cesidio Giuliani, Università degli Studi "G. d'Annunzio" Chieti-Pescara, Italy

*Correspondence:

Silvia Martina Ferrari sm.ferrari@int.med.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 April 2017 **Accepted:** 02 June 2017 **Published:** 19 June 2017

Citation:

Ferrari SM, Elia G, Virili C, Centanni M, Antonelli A and Fallahi P (2017) Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 8:138. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00138

63

Abbreviations: AbM, antimicrosomal antibodies; AbTg, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies; AH, autoimmune hypothyroidism; AITD, autoimmune thyroid disorders; AOR, adjusted odds ratio; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; AT, autoimmune thyroiditis; ESS, euthyroid sick syndrome; GD, Graves' disease; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; OR, odds ratio; PTC, papillary thyroid cancer; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SLEDAI, SLE disease activity; SS, Sjögren's syndrome; T4, thyroxine; T3, triiodothyronine; TBII, TSH-binding inhibitor immunoglobulin; ThyAb, thyroid autoantibodies; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; TSI, thyroid-stimulating immunoglobulins.

assistance of the Th1 lymphocytes is necessary for the development of the disease, and in the absence of a functioning Th1 immune response "helpless" B cells are not functional enough to trigger SLE inflammation (6). Circulating autoantibodies, immune complex deposition, and complement activation are SLE hallmarks; however, a growing body of evidence has shown the importance of cytokines/chemokines in this disease, such as interleukin (IL)-6, B lymphocyte stimulator, IL-17, type I IFNs, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and Th1 chemokines. These cytokines/chemokines are important in the orchestration, maturation, differentiation, and activation of various immune competent cells, which mediate the local inflammation and produce the tissue injury.

Systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with many other autoimmune diseases, and autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITD) too (7, 8).

Here, we review the scientific literature about the association of SLE and AITD.

THE ASSOCIATION OF SLE AND AITD

After the initial case reports describing a coexistence of SLE and AITD, many systematic studies have evaluated the possible association of SLE and AITD (**Table 1**).

Prevalence of Thyroid Autoantibodies (ThyAb) in SLE Patients

Serological overlap among SLE, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and AITD exists (9–12).

A first study evaluated thyroid disorders in 319 SLE patients showing 9 with thyrotoxicosis, 3 with hypothyroidism, and 2 with thyroiditis, suggesting a higher prevalence of thyroid disorders in SLE patients (13). Weetman and Walport compared the prevalence of ThyAb and abnormal thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels in 41 SLE patients, versus age- and sex-matched controls. A significant higher prevalence of ThyAb (51%) was observed in SLE compared to (27%) controls. Furthermore, hypothyroidism was observed in 10 SLE patients and 5 controls, usually in association with circulating ThyAb (14). In another study, 18% of SLE patients had positive antimicrosomal antibodies (AbM). Euthyroid sick syndrome (ESS) was diagnosed in 15% of SLE patients, and true or initial primary hypothyroidism in 5, and 39%, respectively. ThyAb were present in 45% of SLE patients with high TSH (15). Anti-TSH receptor antibodies were also evaluated in 28 SLE patients with thyroid disorders. 10/28 patients demonstrated thyroid-stimulating immunoglobulins (TSI) activity, while 5 patients had evidence of TSH-binding inhibitor immunoglobulin (TBII) activity. The TSI, or TBII activity, was not associated with

Reference	SLE patients (n)	AITD% in SLE patients	Controls (n)	AITD% in controls	Р
Antonelli et al. (7)	213	Thyroid autoimmunity 34.7%	426	Thyroid autoimmunity 15.1%	<0.001
Antonelli et al. (8) 153		33%; AbTg and AbTPO controls and 459 positivity 12% iodine-sufficient controls		AbTg or AbTPO positivity 11% in iodine- deficient controls; AbTg or AbTPO positivity 13% in iodine-sufficient controls; AbTg and AbTPO positivity 2% in iodine-deficient controls; AbTg and AbTPO positivity 3% in iodine-sufficient controls	<0.0001 for AbTg or AbTPO positivity; 0.001 for AbTg and AbTPO positivity
Weetman and Walport (14)	41	ThyAb 51%	41	ThyAb 27%	<0.05
Vianna et al. (17)	100	ThyAb 21%; AbTg 11%	100	ThyAb 16%; AbTg 2%	0.009 for AbTg
Mihailova et al. (23)	12 children with SLE	AbTg 58%	27 children having juvenile chronic arthritis	AbTg 63% autoimmune thyroiditis 44.4%	Not reported
Shahin et al. (24)	45; AbTg and AbM were assessed in 27 patients	AbTg 18.5%	20	0	ns
Mader et al. (27)	77	AbTg 7.8%; AbTPO 5.2%	52	AbTg 7.7%; AbTPO 7.7%	ns
Appenzeller et al. (28)	524	Symptomatic AITD was observed in 6.1%	50	Symptomatic AITD was observed in 2%	>0.05
Lazúrová et al. (29)	80 patients with SLE or RA (12 SLE and 68 RA)	Prevalence of AITD 24%	34 Prevalence of AITD 8%		<0.05
Kumar et al. (30)	100	Prevalence of ThyAb 30%	100	Prevalence of ThyAb 10%	<0.05
Lin et al. (33)	1,633	Cumulative incidence of thyroid disease 8.1%	6,532	Cumulative incidence of thyroid disease 16.9%	<0.001

AbM, antimicrosomal antibodies; AITD, autoimmune thyroid disorders; AbTg, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; AbTPO, anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; ThyAb, thyroid autoantibodies.

the abnormal thyroid function tests (16). Vianna et al. studied 100 SLE patients for the presence of ThyAb and thyroid disease. The ThyAb were similar in SLE (21%) and controls (16%); AbTg were present in 11% SLE and only 2% controls; AbM levels were also different (median levels: SLE = 400; controls = 100). A higher frequency of clinical thyroid disease was observed in SLE patients with ThyAb (5/21; 3 hypothyroid, 2 hyperthyroid) than in those without (1/79). SLE patients with ThyAb were significantly older (mean age 47.5 years) than those without (mean age 37.5 years) (17). In a group of SLE female patients, thyroxine (T4) was significantly lower than in controls and 45.5% of patients with active SLE presented ThyAb. TSH basal, and after TRH stimulation, were significantly higher in patients with active SLE. ThyAb were not found in patients with inactive SLE (18). In 45 Chinese SLE patients, 24 (53.3%) had altered echographic findings. AbM and/ or AbTg were reported in 21 patients (46.7%), and TBII in only one. Ten patients (22.2%) showed an altered thyroid function. Hashimoto's thyroiditis was reported in four patients (8.8%), two of whom had hypothyroidism. The mean disease duration was longer in patients with thyroid anomalies (P < 0.05) (19). Among 129 SLE patients from Singapore, 8.9% had hyperthyroidism, 3.9% Hashimoto's thyroiditis, and 47.8% ESS. AbM or AbTg were present in 32.2% (20). Kausman and Isenberg evaluated 150 SLE patients, showing that 31 (21%) were ThyAb positive. Follow-up data were available on 20 ThyAb positive patients (average of 7.9 years), of whom 12 (60%) were persistently ThyAb positive, while 8 (40%) were negative on at least one occasion during the follow-up. Five cases of clinical thyroid disease that were diagnosed, and 2/3 cases of subclinical elevation of TSH, occurred in the group with persistently positive ThyAb. Four (9%)/46 (among the 119) patients who initially were ThyAb negative, became ThyAb positive after a mean of 6.2 years; one had an elevated TSH (21). Among 37 SLE patients, positive anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies (AbTPO) were found in 11 (61%) of 18 patients with AbM, and in 3 (16%)/19 without (22). In 12 children with active SLE, aged 5-18 years, AbTg were positive in 7/12. The serum levels of triiodothyronine (T3), T4, and TSH were in the reference limits in all SLE children (23). Forty-five Egyptian SLE patients (43 women and 2 men) were evaluated for thyroid disorders, versus a group of 20 normal females. The mean serum free T3 levels in all patients were significantly lower than in controls (1.89 ± 1.14) versus 3.15 ± 0.93 pg/ml; P < 0.05), overall in patients treated with cyclophosphamide. Also serum free T4 levels in SLE patients were significantly lower than in controls. Two of 45 patients (4.4%) had primary hypothyroidism. The mean serum TSH levels in SLE patients were significantly higher than in controls (4.82 ± 22.2) versus $2.65 \pm 1.18 \,\mu$ IU/ml; P < 0.001). Among six patients with decreased TSH levels, one showed decreased T3 and T4, two had decreased T4 only (24). In another study, the prevalences of HT, or Graves' disease (GD) in SLE patients, were 90-fold, and 68-fold, higher than in the general population (25).

Autoimmune thyroid disorders were evaluated in families with more than one SLE patient. Among 1,138 SLE patients, 169 had a diagnosis of Sjögren's syndrome (SS), of whom 50 (29.6%) also had AITD. Among the 939 patients with SLE without SS, 119 (12.7%) had AITD. Among 2,291 SLE-unaffected relatives, 44 had diagnosed primary SS and 16 (36.3%) of these also had

autoimmune thyroid disease. 265/2,247 (11.8%) subjects had autoimmune thyroid disease. These findings suggested that autoimmune thyroid disease is observed in excess among SLE patients with a diagnosis of secondary SS, as among their SLE-unaffected relatives with a diagnosis of primary SS (26). Seventy-seven SLE patients were studied for thyroid disorders, against 52 controls. Hypothyroidism was reported in 11.6% of SLE patients compared to 1.9% of controls. None of the patients or controls had hyperthyroidism. No statistically significant difference was observed in the levels of anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (AbTg) or AbTPO between the study group and the control group. No association was found between the SLE disease activity (SLEDAI) score and the prevalence of ThyAb (27). In 524 patients with SLE, AITD were evaluated, versus 50 female adults. 32/524 (6.1%) SLE patients and 1/50 controls had symptomatic autoimmune thyroid dyfunctions, in particular hypothyroidism (28 SLE patients versus 1 control). Sixty (11.5%) SLE patients had subclinical thyroid diseases and 89/524 (17%) had positive ThyAb in absence of thyroid dysfunctions. ThyAb forerun the appearance of clinical autoimmune thyroid disease in 70% of SLE patients. SS and positive rheumatoid factor were more frequent in SLE patients with AITD than in those without. SLEDAI was correlated with the presence of hyperthyroidism (28). The prevalence of AITD in 80 patients with SLE or RA was significantly higher than in the 34 controls (24 versus 8%, P < 0.05) (29). Two hundred thirteen SLE patients were evaluated by assessing thyroid hormones, the presence of ThyAb, and thyroid ultrasonography with respect to 426 controls (matched by age and gender), from the same geographic area, with a well-defined status of iodine intake. In female SLE patients versus controls, the odds ratio (OR) was 4.5 [95% confidence interval (CI), 2.5-8.4] for subclinical hypothyroidism; 2.9 (95% CI, 2.0-4.4) for thyroid autoimmunity; and 2.6 (95% CI, 1.7-4.1) for AbTPO positivity. Female SLE patients had significantly (P < 0.01) higher mean values of TSH and AbTPO than controls, as a significantly (P < 0.01) higher prevalence of clinical hypothyroidism and GD. In this study, 3% of SLE patients had "non-thyroidal illness syndrome" versus 0 controls (7). Hundred SLE patients were also evaluated for AITD, in comparison with 100 controls (matched by sex and age). Thyroid dysfunction was reported in 36 (36%) (all women) SLE patients [14 (14%) with clinical hypothyroidism, 2 (2%) with subclinical hyperthyroidism, and 12 (12%) with subclinical hypothyroidism], versus 8 (8%) of controls. Eight patients (8%) had isolated low T3 in agreement with ESS. Eighteen (50%) of thyroid dysfunctions were of autoimmune origin with positive autoantibodies, but not the other 18 (50%). Twelve (12%) of SLE patients had elevated ThyAb alone, while only five (5%) of controls had primary hypothyroidism and three (3%) had subclinical hypothyroidism, and no cases of hyperthyroidism were reported. SLEDAI and thyroid dysfunction of sick euthyroid type were significantly associated. Prevalence of ThyAb in SLE patients was 30% with respect to 10% of controls. There were no other autoimmune endocrine diseases such as diabetes or Addison's disease in SLE patients (30). Among a total of 63 pregnant SLE women, 13% were on thyroid hormone prior to becoming pregnant, 11% were diagnosed with hypothyroidism during pregnancy, and 14% developed postpartum thyroiditis. The prevalence of preterm delivery was 67% in women with thyroid disease and 18% in women who were thyroid disease

free. The presence of ThyAb was not correlated with preterm delivery. This study suggests that pregnant women with SLE have an increased prevalence of thyroid disease. Women with SLE and thyroid disease have an increased prevalence of preterm delivery (31). The prevalence of thyroid diseases was retrospectively analyzed in 1,006 Chinese SLE patients. The prevalence of AITD was 2.78%, central hypothyroidism 1.29%, clinical hypothyroidism 1.69%, subclinical hypothyroidism 10.04%, hyperthyroidism 1.19%, ESS 9.54%, and nodules 1.09%, respectively. Subclinical hypothyroidism was more prevalent (10.04%) in this study, than the prevalence of thyroid abnormalities in the general Chinese population (0.91–6.05%). Moreover, patients with lupus nephritis had subclinical hypothyroidism more frequently (13.4%) than those without (7.3%, P = 0.001) (32).

However, discordant results have been recently reported (33). In 1,633 SLE patients of new diagnosis, the prevalence of hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, and autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) was compared with 6,532 controls (matched by sex and age). The cumulative incidence of thyroid disease in SLE patients was lower than in control subjects (8.1 versus 16.9%, P < 0.001). The authors suggested that SLE patients had a significantly lower rate of thyroid diseases and hyperthyroidism than matched controls (33). The reported study could have some limitations, able to affect the results, to be considered: (1) it was based on diagnostic codes released from The National Health Insurance Research Database, and for this reason details on thyroid serological assessments, presence of ThyAb, or SLE autoantibodies were not available; (2) data obtained in a retrospective cohort study are usually inferior in statistical quality to those derived from randomized trials because of the potential biases related to adjustments for confounding variables (33). A total of 376 Colombian SLE patients were evaluated for the presence of (1) confirmed autoimmune hypothyroidism (AH), (2) positive AbTPO/AbTg without hypothyroidism, (3) non-AH, and (4) SLE patients with neither. Confirmed AH prevalence was 12%. AbTg and AbTPO were reported in 10% and 21% euthyroid SLE patients, respectively. Patients with confirmed AH were significantly older and had later age at the onset of the disease. SS [adjusted OR (AOR) 23.2, 95% CI, 1.89-359.53, P = 0.015], smoking (AOR 6.93, 95% CI, 1.98–28.54, P = 0.004), and positive anticyclic citrullinated peptide (AOR 10.35, 95% CI, 1.04–121.26, P = 0.047) were associated with AH in SLE patients. Female gender, smoking, older age, SS, certain autoantibodies, and articular and cutaneous involvement were associated with this polyautoimmunity (34). Another meta-analysis evaluated the association of SLE and thyroid autoimmunity; a total of 1,076 SLE cases and 1,661 healthy controls were included. The meta-analysis results showed that the prevalence of ThyAb positivity in SLE patients was higher than in healthy controls (AbTg: OR = 2.99, 95% CI, 1.83–4.89; AbTPO: OR = 2.20, 95% CI, 1.27–3.82, respectively) (35). The frequency of AITD among 189 SLE patients was 6.3%, with 2.6% in the hyperthyroid group and 3.7% in the hypothyroid group. A new association between AITD and antiphospholipid syndrome was shown (36). Five thousand and eighteen patients with SLE and 25,090 age- and sex-matched controls were evaluated for thyroid dyfunctions. The proportion of hypothyroidism in SLE patients was increased with respect to the prevalence in controls (15.58 and 5.75%, respectively, P < 0.001). In a multivariate

analysis, SLE was associated with hypothyroidism (OR = 2.644, 95% CI, 2.405-2.908) (37). Conversely, a recent study evaluated prospectively the prevalence of other autoimmune disorders in outpatient clinic in 3,069 consecutive patients with diagnosed chronic AT, versus two age- and sex-matched control groups: (a) a control group of 1,023 subjects, drawn from a random sample of the general population without thyroid disorders and (b) 1,023 patients with non-toxic multinodular goiter from the same random sample of the general population, with similar iodine intake. The results of the study demonstrated a significant increase of SLE prevalence in AT patients (versus both controls) (38).

Th1 and Th2 Cytokines in SLE

The ratios of Th1 and Th2 cytokines have been investigated to determine the cytokine homeostasis in SLE. Even if SLE was thought to be a Th2-polarized disease (39), more recently significantly elevated circulating cytokines of Th1 response, including TNF- α , and IFN- γ were also shown in SLE patients (40–42). Chemokine IFN-y-inducible protein 10, the prototype of the chemokine (C-X-C motif) family, has chemotactic activity especially for activated Th1 cells and is involved in the pathogenesis of various Th1-dominant autoimmune diseases (43), and in SLE. Also AITD are Th1 immune-mediated autoimmune disorders in which Th1 lymphocytes, IFN-y, and IFN-y-dependent chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11) play an important role (44-46). The common Th1 immune predominance in AITD and SLE should be the immunopathogenetic base of the association of these two diseases. On the whole, the abovementioned results show a high prevalence, and incidence, of new cases of hypothyroidism and AT in SLE patients, and suggest that female patients with systemic sclerosis, who are at high risk [a borderline high (even if in the normal range) TSH value, positive AbTPO, and a hypoechoic and small thyroid] should have periodic thyroid function follow-up.

THYROID ABNORMALITIES AND CLINICAL ASPECTS OF SLE

Many studies have tried to associate thyroid abnormalities with clinical findings of SLE, with different results.

An association between hypothyroidism, or AITD, and SLE clinical activity has been described in few studies (18, 28).

While another study found an association between SLEDAI score and ESS (30).

The reported data suggested that AITD is found more frequently among patients with SLE with a diagnosis of secondary SS, but not in SLE patients without SS (26, 28).

However most of the studies were not able to find any association among thyroid autoimmunity or thyroid dysfuntions, and clinical or serological features of SLE.

SLE AND PAPILLARY THYROID CANCER (PTC)

A first prospective study investigated the prevalence and features of thyroid cancer in 153 unselected SLE patients in comparison with two population-based, control groups (matched by sex and age): (1) 459 iodine-deficient controls and (2) 459 iodine-sufficient

controls. SLE patients had circulating TSH, AbTg and AbTPO levels significantly higher (P < 0.001 for all), and a higher prevalence of hypothyroidism (P < 0.001), than controls. Five PTC cases were reported in SLE patients, none in iodine-deficient controls (P = 0.001), and only one was shown in iodine-sufficient controls (P = 0.001). Thyroid autoimmunity was shown in 80% of SLE patients with confirmed thyroid cancer, and only in 31% of SLE patients without thyroid cancer (P = 0.02). These findings suggested that PTC prevalence in SLE patients is more elevated than in controls, especially in the presence of thyroid autoimmunity (8). Another study showed that among 16,409 patients [121,283 (average 7.4) person-years], 644 cases of cancer occurred, in particular hematologic ones, and a raised risk of thyroid cancer (SIR 1.76, 95% CI, 1.13-2.61) was observed too (47). A systematic review with meta-analysis investigated the risk of thyroid cancer in SLE revealing the positive association between thyroid cancer and SLE risk (48). A further meta-analysis assessed the association of SLE and malignancy evaluating 16 papers, including 59,662 SLE patients. The pooled relative risks were 1.28 (95% CI, 1.17-1.41) for overall cancer, 1.78 (95% CI, 1.35-2.33) for thyroid cancer (49). Also other studies confirmed the association between SLE and thyroid cancer (50).

CONCLUSION

Most of the studies show high prevalence, and incidence, of new cases of hypothyroidism and AT in SLE patients, overall in female

REFERENCES

- Rahman A, Isenberg DA. Systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med (2008) 358:929–39. doi:10.1056/NEJMra071297
- Lisnevskaia L, Murphy G, Isenberg D. Systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet (2014) 384:1878–88. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60128-8
- 3. Jeltsch-David H, Muller S. Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus and cognitive dysfunction: the MRL-lpr mouse strain as a model. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:963–73. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.08.015
- Funauchi M, Ikoma S, Enomoto H, Horiuchi A. Decreased Th1-like and increased Th2-like cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Scand J Rheumatol* (1998) 27:219–24. doi:10.1080/030097498440859
- Prud'homme GJ, Kono DH, Theofilopoulos AN. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis reveals marked overexpression of interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-1 and interferon-gamma mRNA in the lymph nodes of lupus-prone mice. *Mol Immunol* (1995) 32:495–503. doi:10.1016/0161-5890 (95)00024-9
- 6. Mak A, Kow NY. The pathology of T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol Res* (2014) 2014:419029. doi:10.1155/2014/419029
- Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Mosca M, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Corti A, et al. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunctions in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Metabolism* (2010) 59:896–900. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2009.10.010
- Antonelli A, Mosca M, Fallahi P, Neri R, Ferrari SM, D'Ascanio A, et al. Thyroid cancer in systemic lupus erythematosus: a case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:314–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-0677
- 9. Hijmans W, Doniach D, Roitt IM, Holborow EJ. Serological overlap between lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and thyroid auto-immune disease. *Br Med J* (1961) 2:909–14. doi:10.1136/bmj.2.5257.909
- Halberg P, Bertram U, Soborg M, Nerup J. Organ antibodies in disseminated lupus erythematosus. *Acta Med Scand* (1965) 178:291–9. doi:10.1111/ j.0954-6820.1965.tb04273.x
- Jonsson H, Nived O, Sturfelt G. Thyroid disorders in systemic lupus erythematosus are associated with secondary Sjögren's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis* (1987) 46:349. doi:10.1136/ard.46.4.349-a

gender. A limited number of GD cases have been also reported in SLE, in agreement with the higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity. It has been also demonstrated that Th1 predominance is associated with AT in SLE patients.

Furthermore, a higher prevalence of PTC has been recently reported in SLE patients, overall in the presence of thyroid autoimmunity. However, studies in larger number of SLE patients are needed to confirm data about thyroid cancer.

On the whole, data from literature strongly suggest that female SLE patients, with a high risk (a normal but at the higher limit TSH value, positive AbTPO, a hypoechoic pattern, and small thyroid) should undergo periodic thyroid function follow-up, and appropriate treatments when needed. However, studies in larger number of patients are required to evaluate if routine thyroid screening could be beneficial for SLE patients.

A careful thyroid monitoring would be opportune during the follow-up of these patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SMF, GE, CV, MC, AA, and PF gave substantial contribution in the conception and design of the work, and in writing the paper; gave the final approval of the version to be published; agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. MC, AA, and PF revised it critically for important intellectual content.

- Sakata S, Nakamura S, Nagai K, Komaki T, Kawade M, Niwa T, et al. Two cases of systemic lupus erythematosus associated with hyperthyroidism. *Jpn J Med* (1987) 26:373–6. doi:10.2169/internalmedicine1962.26.373
- Goh KL, Wang F. Thyroid disorders in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis (1986) 45:579–83. doi:10.1136/ard.45.7.579
- Weetman AP, Walport MJ. The association of autoimmune thyroiditis with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Br J Rheumatol* (1987) 26:359–61. doi:10.1093/ rheumatology/26.5.359
- Miller FW, Moore GF, Weintraub BD, Steinberg AD. Prevalence of thyroid disease and abnormal thyroid function test results in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* (1987) 30:1124–31. doi:10.1002/ art.1780301006
- Baker JR Jr, Miller FW, Steinberg AD, Burman KD. Thyroid stimulating and thyrotrophin binding-inhibitory immunoglobulin activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus having thyroid function abnormalities. *Thyroid* (1991) 1:229–34. doi:10.1089/thy.1991.1.229
- Vianna JL, Haga HJ, Asherson RA, Swana G, Hughes GR. A prospective evaluation of antithyroid antibody prevalence in 100 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* (1991) 18:1193–5.
- Magaro M, Zoli A, Altomonte L, Mirone L, La Sala L, Barini A, et al. The association of silent thyroiditis with active systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (1992) 10:67–70.
- Tsai RT, Chang TC, Wang CR, Chuang CY, Chen CY. Thyroid disorders in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatol Int* (1993) 13:9–13. doi:10.1007/BF00290328
- Boey ML, Fong PH, Lee JS, Ng WY, Thai AC. Autoimmune thyroid disorders in SLE in Singapore. *Lupus* (1993) 2:51–4. doi:10.1177/096120339300200109
- Kausman D, Isenberg DA. Thyroid autoimmunity in systemic lupus erythematosus: the clinical significance of a fluctuating course. *Br J Rheumatol* (1995) 34:361–4. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/34.4.361
- Tsai RT, Chang TC, Wang CR, Lee SL, Wang CJ, Tsay GJ. Thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies and their effects on enzyme activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* (1995) 4:280–5. doi:10.1177/ 096120339500400408

- Mihailova D, Grigorova R, Vassileva B, Mladenova G, Ivanova N, Stephanov S, et al. Autoimmune thyroid disorders in juvenile chronic arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1999) 455:55–60. doi:10.1007/ 978-1-4615-4857-7_8
- Shahin AA, Mostafa H, Mahmoud S. Thyroid hormones and thyroidstimulating hormone in Egyptian patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: correlation between secondary hypothyroidism and neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus syndromes. *Mod Rheumatol* (2002) 12:338–41. doi:10.3109/s101650200060
- Biró E, Szekanecz Z, Czirják L, Dankó K, Kiss E, Szabó NA, et al. Association of systemic and thyroid autoimmune diseases. *Clin Rheumatol* (2006) 25:240–5. doi:10.1007/s10067-005-1165-y
- Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Harley JB, Namjou B. Autoimmune thyroid disease is associated with a diagnosis of secondary Sjögren's syndrome in familial systemic lupus. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2007) 66:410–3. doi:10.1136/ ard.2006.055103
- 27. Mader R, Mishail S, Adawi M, Lavi I, Luboshitzky R. Thyroid dysfunction in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): relation to disease activity. *Clin Rheumatol* (2007) 26:1891–4. doi:10.1007/s10067-007-0602-5
- Appenzeller S, Pallone AT, Natalin RA, Costallat LT. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Rheumatol* (2009) 15:117–9. doi:10.1097/RHU.0b013e31819dbe4c
- Lazúrová I, Benhatchi K, Rovenský J, Kozáková D, Wagnerová H, Tajtáková M, et al. Autoimmune thyroid disease and autoimmune rheumatic disorders: a two-sided analysis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2009) 1173:211–6. doi:10.1111/j. 1749-6632.2009.04809.x
- Kumar K, Kole AK, Karmakar PS, Ghosh A. The spectrum of thyroid disorders in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatol Int* (2012) 32:73–8. doi:10.1007/ s00296-010-1556-5
- Stagnaro-Green A, Akhter E, Yim C, Davies TF, Magder L, Petri M. Thyroid disease in pregnant women with systemic lupus erythematosus: increased preterm delivery. *Lupus* (2011) 20:690–9. doi:10.1177/0961203310394894
- Gao H, Li C, Mu R, Guo YQ, Liu T, Chen S, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism and its association with lupus nephritis: a case control study in a large cohort of Chinese systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Lupus* (2011) 20:1035–41. doi:10.1177/0961203311401456
- Lin WY, Chang CL, Fu LS, Lin CH, Lin HK. Systemic lupus erythematosus and thyroid disease: a 10-year study. J Microbiol Immunol Infect (2015) 48:676–83. doi:10.1016/j.jmii.2014.03.004
- Franco JS, Amaya-Amaya J, Molano-González N, Caro-Moreno J, Rodríguez-Jiménez M, Acosta-Ampudia Y, et al. Autoimmune thyroid disease in Colombian patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2015) 83:943–50. doi:10.1111/cen.12662
- Pan XF, Gu JQ, Shan ZY. Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus have higher prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0123291. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0123291
- Ong SG, Choy CH. Autoimmune thyroid disease in a cohort of Malaysian SLE patients: frequency, clinical and immunological associations. *Lupus* (2016) 25:67–74. doi:10.1177/0961203315593164
- Watad A, Mahroum N, Whitby A, Gertel S, Comaneshter D, Cohen AD, et al. Hypothyroidism among SLE patients: case-control study. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:484–6. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.01.019

- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Mohan C, Adams S, Stanik V, Datta SK. Nucleosome: a major immunogen for pathogenic autoantibody-inducing T cells of lupus. *J Exp Med* (1993) 177:1367–81. doi:10.1084/jem.177.5.1367
- Davas EM, Tsirogianni A, Kappou I, Karamitsos D, Economidou I, Dantis PC. Serum IL-6, TNFalpha, p55 srTNFalpha, p75srTNFalpha, srIL-2alpha levels and disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Rheumatol* (1999) 18:17–22. doi:10.1007/s100670050045
- Al-Janadi M, Al-Balla S, Al-Dalaan A, Raziuddin S. Cytokine profile in systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other rheumatic diseases. J Clin Immunol (1993) 13:58–67. doi:10.1007/BF00920636
- Apostolidis SA, Lieberman LA, Kis-Toth K, Crispín JC, Tsokos GC. The dysregulation of cytokine networks in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2011) 31:769–79. doi:10.1089/jir.2011.0029
- Zlotnik A, Yoshie O. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity* (2000) 12:121–7. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80165-X
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Ferrannini E, Ferri C, Fallahi P. Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)10 in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:272–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.10.010
- 46. Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Pupilli C, Mancusi C, Metelli MR, et al. CXCL9 and CXCL11 chemokines modulation by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha agonists secretion in Graves' and normal thyrocytes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95:E413–20. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-0923
- Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Labrecque J, Joseph L, Boivin JF, Petri M, et al. Cancer risk in systemic lupus: an updated international multi-centre cohort study. J Autoimmun (2013) 42:130–5. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.12.009
- Zhang M, Li XM, Wang GS, Qian L, Tao JH, Ma Y, et al. Thyroid cancer in systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta analysis. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2014) 7:6270–3.
- Cao L, Tong H, Xu G, Liu P, Meng H, Wang J, et al. Systemic lupus erythematous and malignancy risk: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0122964. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122964
- Goobie GC, Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Clarke AE. Malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus: a 2015 update. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2015) 27:454–60. doi:10.1097/BOR.00000000000202

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Ferrari, Elia, Virili, Centanni, Antonelli and Fallahi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Autoimmunity and Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Not Such a Trivial Association

Mathilde Versini*

Department of Internal Medicine, Archet-1 Hospital, University Hospital of Nice, Nice, France

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune disease that manifests as recurrent venous or arterial thrombosis and/or pregnancy-related complications in the presence of persistent antiphospholipid (aPL) antibodies measured at least 3 months apart. APS occurs either as a primary condition or as a part of an underlying disorder, usually systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Otherwise, APS may be frequently associated with autoimmune disorders. Little is known about the association of APS and aPL antibodies with thyroid autoimmune diseases or thyroid autoantibodies. This is even more interesting that thyroid autoantibodies and aPL are both recognized causes of repeated miscarriages. Therefore, their combination is of particular importance in women of childbearing age. Several studies have pointed out an association between APS and thyroid autoimmunely, some of them suggesting common pathophysiologic processes and genetic background. A literature review was conducted on existing data on aPL/APS and thyroid autoimmune disorders, paying particular attention to the possible role of this association in obstetrical complications.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Michele Colaci, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, Italy Roberto Vita, University of Messina, Italy

> *Correspondence: Mathilde Versini versini.m@chu-nice.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 28 April 2017 Accepted: 05 July 2017 Published: 21 July 2017

Citation:

Versini M (2017) Thyroid Autoimmunity and Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Not Such a Trivial Association. Front. Endocrinol. 8:175. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00175 Keywords: antiphospholipid syndrome, autoimmunity, thyroid, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves' disease, autoimmune disease

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) encompass a spectrum of disorders characterized by a T-helper (Th)-1-cell-mediated autoimmune attack on the thyroid gland resulting in a lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid parenchyma (1). AITD comprise two main presentations: Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and Graves' disease (GD) corresponding to hypothyroidism and thyrotoxicosis, respectively.

The prevalence of AITD is estimated to be 5%, nevertheless the prevalence of antithyroid antibodies without clinical disorder may be even higher (1). HT (also named chronic autoimmune thyroiditis or autoimmune hypothyroidism) is the most common autoimmune disease with an incidence ranging from 27 to 448 per 100,000 per year according to the studies and the geographic areas (2), the most common endocrine disorder (3), as well as the most frequent cause of hypothyroidism (4). Its biological hallmark is the presence of antibodies directed to thyroid antigens, namely, thyroperoxydase (TPO) and thyroglobulin (Tg) (5). Similarly, GD is one of the most prevalent autoimmune

Abbreviations: AITD, autoimmune thyroid diseases; aPL, antiphospholipid; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; GD, Graves' disease; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; TAI, thyroid autoimmunity; Tg, thyroglobulin; Th, T-helper; TPO, thyroperoxydase; TSHR, thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor.

diseases with an annual incidence of about 14 per 100,000 and is associated with serum antithyroid stimulating hormone receptor antibodies (6).

Associations between thyroid autoimmunity (TAI) (AITD or isolated antithyroid antibodies positivity) and other organspecific or systemic autoimmune disorders have been widely reported. Especially, type-1 diabetes, Addison's disease, vitiligo, alopecia, pernicious anemia, and celiac disease can be observed as part of type II or type III polyglandular autoimmune syndromes (1). Otherwise, TAI has been frequently reported in patients with systemic rheumatologic autoimmune conditions, such as systemic sclerosis (SS), Sjögren's syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), or systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (7).

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune disorder associated venous or arterial thrombosis and/or pregnancy-related complications in the presence of persistent antiphospholipid (aPL) antibodies. APS occurs either as a primary condition or as a part of an underlying disease, usually SLE. Little is known about the association between APS and TAI. This is even more important considering that both antithyroid antibodies and aPL antibodies are major causes of recurrent miscarriage (RM).

Therefore, a literature review was conducted on existing data on the association of aPL antibodies/APS with AITD/TAI, paying particular attention to the possible role of this association in obstetrical complications.

ASSOCIATION BETWEEN TAI AND APS

Several case reports and small case series have investigated the presence of aPL antibodies in patients with AITD and the clinical significance of such an association (8-14) (reported in Table 1). The largest cohort is reported by Tektonidou et al. (14) who found a 12% prevalence of anticardiolipin (ACL) antibodies in 168 AITD patients compared with 0% in 75 healthy controls. Paggi et al. (11) and Nabriski et al. (12) found positive titers of aPL antibodies in 43% (ACL) and 54.8% (type not specified) of AITD patients, respectively (no control groups). Interestingly in Paggi's cohort (11), highest aPL levels were observed in GD patients with severe thyrotoxicosis and decreased following methimazole therapy. In Nabriski's survey (12), most aPL positive patients (86%) had IgG subtype. Marongiu et al. (8) found a 38% ACL positivity in 65 GD patients vs 0% in 58 controls. In HT, Osundeko et al. (13) observed a 21% prevalence of ACL antibodies. Conversely, two other studies (9, 10) failed to show a difference between patients and healthy controls.

Importantly, in all of these series none of the patients with positive aPL antibodies demonstrated APS manifestations. Rare case reports (15–20) describe patients presenting with concomitant GD and APS with thrombotic manifestations. There is no reported association of HT with thrombotic manifestations of APS. It is to note that GD has been implicated as a procoagulant state since many years, through several mechanisms including elevated factor VIII and fibrinogen levels, and increased factor X activity (21–23). Therefore, it is not surprising that the association of hypercoagulability inherent to the activity of GD and the presence of aPL antibodies may conduct to thrombotic manifestations. Apart from these rare cases, to date in the view of available TABLE 1 | Association between TAI and APS.

Study	Number of subjects	Population	Antibody	Outcome
Marongiu et al. (8)	65 patients 58 controls	GD patients	ACL	Positive aPL in 38% of patients vs 0% of controls
Petri et al. (9)	52 patients 26 controls	GD (26) and HT (26) patients	ACL	No difference between patients and controls
Díez et al. (10)	69 patients 43 controls	AITD patients	ACL	No difference between patients and controls
Paggi et al. (11)	31 patients No controls	AITD patients	ACL	Positive aPL in 43% of patients
Nabriski et al. (12)	130 patients No controls	AITD patients	aPL (type not specified)	Positive aPL in 54.8% of patients
Osundeko et al. (13)	19 patients No controls	HT patients	ACL	Positive aPL in 21% of patients
Tektonidou et al. (14)	168 patients 75 controls	AITD patients	ACL	Positive aPL in 12% of patients vs 0% of controls
Innocencio et al. (26)	13 patients 163 controls	APS patients (not specified as primary or secondary) SS (25), RA (25), and healthy (113) controls	TgAb, TPOAb	No TAI positivity in APS patients
Mavragani et al. (27)	75 patients 150 controls	APS patients (40 primary, 35 APS secondary to SLE) SLE (75) and healthy (75) controls	TgAb, TPOAb	1. No significant difference between the 3 groups 2. SLE-APS have increased TPOAb 3. APS patients with TAI have more CNS involvement
de Carvalho and Caleiro (28)	50 patients No control	Primary APS patients	TgAb, TPOAb, TRAb	Positive TAI in 18% of patients
De Carolis et al. (29)	203 patients 162 controls	Primary obstetrical APS patients Controls with TAI and RM	TgAb, TPOAb	Positive TAI in 27% of APS patients

ACL, anticardiolipin; AITD, autoimmune thyroid diseases; aPL, antiphospholipid; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; CNS, central nervous system; GD, Graves' disease; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RM, recurrent miscarriage; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SS, systemic sclerosis; TAI, thyroid autoimmunity; TgAb, antithyroglobulin antibody; TPOAb, antithyroperoxydase antibody; TRAb, thyroid receptor antibody.

data, aPL positivity during the course of AITD appear to be an epiphenomena without clinical impact. Indeed, aPL antibodies are often detected in patients with autoimmune disorders but the occurrence of clinical manifestations of APS remains scare.

Thus, such antibodies are presumed to result from an excessive stimulation of B lymphocyte clones with autoreactive potential (12). In addition, Hofbauer et al. (16) hypothesized a molecular mimicry between the epitopes of TSH receptors and β 2 glycoprotein 1 as a possible pathogenic mechanism. Benvenga and Guarneri (24) explored this hypothesis through an *in silico* study and found homologies between various microorganisms

and thyroid antigens. Dagenais et al. (25) conducted an elegant immunogenetic study on family members with autoimmune diseases highlighting that HLA DR4 and DR7 antigens could predispose patients with GD and high titers of ACL antibodies to develop the full clinical spectrum of APS.

Few studies have investigated the relationship in the other direction, that is the prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies or AITD in APS patients (26-29) (reported in Table 1). In 2010, de Carvalho and Caleiro (28) evaluated the frequency of thyroid dysfunction and antibodies in 50 subjects with primary APS. Hypothyroidism was present in 22% of patients and thyroid autoantibodies in 18% of them. No clinical difference regarding thrombotic and obstetrical events was observed between APS patients with and without TAI. Mavragani et al. (27) tested 75 APS patients (40 primary APS and 35 APS secondary to SLE), 75 SLE patients and 75 healthy controls for anti-Tg and anti-TPO antibodies. No significant difference in the prevalence of thyroid antibodies was found between the three groups. However, SLE-APS patients (that is APS secondary to SLE) show significant increased rates of anti-TPO antibodies, but not primary APS patients, compared to healthy controls. More exciting is the fact that TAI identified a subgroup of APS patients with increased prevalence of ischemic central nervous system disease. Eightythree percent of TAI-positive patients had evidence of central nervous system involvement vs 49% of TAI-negative patients. Authors speculated a cross-reactivity of these antibodies against shared epitopes between thyroid gland and central nervous system endothelium, such as α -enolase, an enzyme previously proposed to be involved in HT encephalopathy (30). Similarly, cross-reactivity between thyroid autoantibodies and CNS antigens had already been proposed by Le Donne et al. (31) to explain the neuropsychological perturbations observed in the postpartum. Innocencio et al. (26) were not able to replicate these results in a cohort of 63 patients including 25 RA, 25 SS, and 13 APS. None of the APS patients showed thyroid antibodies positive titers when compared with 13 and 8% of RA and SS subjects, respectively. In a large cohort of 203 women with primary obstetrical APS, De Carolis et al. (29) reported TAI in 27% of them. Of interest, as discussed later, patients with aPL antibodies alone had greater percentage of spontaneous pregnancies and live births when compared with patients positive for both thyroid antibodies and aPL antibodies.

On the basis of these data, it seems that the appearance of TAI in APS patients and conversely the occurrence of aPL in AITD patients is a fairly frequent phenomenon. The presence of aPL antibodies during thyroid disorders does not seem to have any clinical implication and more likely corresponds to hyperstimulation of self-reactive B-clones. However, their occurrence during an active GD, the latter representing by itself a risk factor for thrombosis, may in rare cases lead to thrombotic manifestations. But studies remain scarce and small, larger cohorts will be needed to confirm these findings. In addition, in most studies, especially in older ones, only ACL antibodies were measured. Moreover, some important data are lacking to correctly interpret the clinical significance of these antibodies, in particular the levels of aPL antibodies and the eventual positivity for the lupus anticoagulant test.

APS, TAI, AND PREGNANCY

Although the association of aPL antibodies and antithyroid antibodies most often appears to have no clinical relevance, this may be of greater importance during pregnancy since both antibodies are recognized for their role in RM. RM is defined as three or more consecutive pregnancy losses with the same partner before 20 weeks of gestation (32). Etiologies include genetic, endocrine, anatomical, immunological, thrombophilic and environmental factors.

Antiphospholipid syndrome is the most important acquired risk factor for a treatable cause of recurrent pregnancy loss and can be found in 5-15% of cases (33). RM is part of APS clinical classification criteria (34, 35) that include vascular thrombosis and pregnancy morbidity. The latter criteria comprises: recurrent early miscarriage, late pregnancy loss, and prematurity due to placenta insufficiency or eclampsia/preeclampsia (35). Therefore, it is now widely accepted that aPL antibodies screening is an indispensable part of RM assessment. In addition, large randomized trials have allowed defining a standard of care based on antithrombotic treatment (36). Pathogenic mechanisms of pregnancy complications in APS are incompletely understood. aPL antibodies could reduce the proliferation and invasion of extra-villous trophoblasts, leading to placental mal-perfusion and finally to placental infarction, impaired spiral artery remodeling, decidual inflammation, increased syncytial knots and decreased vasculo-syncytial membranes (37).

Some endocrine disorders, such as diabetes mellitus, hyperprolactinemia and thyroid diseases have also been associated with miscarriage (38). The fact that overt hypothyroidism negatively affects pregnancy has been affirmed, but the implication of isolated TAI occurring in euthyroid women was still matter of debate. In 2011, Chen et al. (39) conducted a large meta-analysis including 22 studies: 14 cohort studies with 598 TAI-positive vs 4,870 TAI-negative pregnancies, and 8 case-control studies with 1,077 recurrent aborters. Overall, authors reported a significant higher risk of spontaneous miscarriage in euthyroid women with TAI (pooled OR = 2.55, p = 0.002 in case-control studies; pooled OR = 2.31, p < 0001 in cohort studies). The underlying mechanisms could consist of different aspects (39, 40): (A) heightened autoimmunity against foeto-placental unit, (B) direct involvement of thyroid autoantibodies interfering with trophoblast differentiation and proliferation, (C) induction of T-cell dysfunction causing an alteration of the endometrium that affects implantation, (D) higher age, and (E) mild hypothyroidism affecting reproductive outcome. Another hypothesis is that TAI may represent a marker for a global autoimmune state that is responsible for an elevated risk of reproductive failures rather than the actual cause of pregnancy losses. Anyway, as for aPL antibodies, the systematic search for TAI in women with RM is widely recommended (41).

Another important point to emphasize is that during pregnancy, GD may remain silent due to immune tolerance; But most often pregnancy and delivery can cause an onset and/or a flare-up of hyperthyroidism due to GD (42–44). The possible association with aPL antibodies is therefore important to consider since these antibodies may increase the thrombotic risk inherent in GD.
TABLE 2 | APS, TAI, and pregnancy.

Study	Number of subjects	Population	Antibody	Outcome
De Carolis et al. (29)	203 patients 162 controls	Primary obstetrical APS patients Controls with TAI and RM	TgAb, TPOAb, aPL (type not specified)	Positive TAI in 27% of APS patients Reduced fertility and worst pregnancy outcome in TAI+ and TAI/APS women when compared with APS alone women
Kim et al. (40)	256 patients	RM or unexplained infertility women	TgAb, TPOAb, aPL (6 types)	20% TAI positivity In TAI+ patients 27.8% ACL positivity vs 17.5% in TAI– patients
Promberger et al. (45)	156 patients	RM women	TgAb, TPOAb, ACL, β2GP1Ab	18% TAI positivity In TAI+ patients 13.8% aPL positivity vs 2.4% in TAI– patients No correlation with the number of miscarriages
Mecacci et al. (46)	69 patients 69 controls	RM, fetal death, or preeclampsia women	TgAb, TPOAb, ACL, LA	TAI higher in patients (37.9, 40.9, and 33.3%) vs controls (14.5%) No significant difference in aPL positivity

ACL, anticardiolipin; aPL, antiphospholipid; β2GP1Ab, anti-β2GP1 antibodies; LA, lupus anticoagulant; RM, repeated miscarriage; TAI, thyroid autoimmunity; TgAb, antithyroglobulin antibody; TPOAb, antithyroperoxydase antibody; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome.

Consequently, the combination of these two major factors, namely, aPL antibodies and antithyroid antibodies, could be of great importance for better understanding and management of RM. Main studies are reported in Table 2. Recently, Promberger et al. (45) evaluated the association between aPL antibodies and antithyroid antibodies in a large cohort of 156 women with RM. Eighteen percent of women had either anti-TPO or anti-Tg positivity. In women with positive antithyroid antibodies, 13.8% had aPL antibodies compared to 2.4% in TAI-negative women. Moreover, women with both anti-TPO and anti-Tg antibodies exhibited higher titers of aPL antibodies. Interestingly, none of the parameters of autoimmunity was correlated with the number of previous pregnancy losses (45). Kim et al. (40) reported in 265 women with RM or unexplained infertility a 20% prevalence of TAI. They observed an increased prevalence of ACL antibodies in TAI-positive women compared with TAI-negative patients (27.8 vs 17.5%, p = 0.042). In addition, they found higher Th1/Th2 cytokines-expressing CD3+/ CD4+ T cells ratios in women with TAI, suggesting the implication of Th1 immunity and pro-inflammatory status in the pathogenesis of TAI-related RM. Mecacci et al. (46) evaluated the prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in 69 women with RM, fetal death or preeclampsia and investigated their association with other autoantibodies. Antithyroid antibodies were present in 37.9, 40.9, and 33.3%, respectively, of patients, which was significantly higher than in healthy controls (14.5%). Unlike previous studies, the prevalence of aPL antibodies was no significantly different in women positive (26.9%) and negative (34.9%) for TAI.

But the most exciting trial to date on this topic was conducted by De Carolis et al. (29), to assess the presence of antithyroid antibodies in 203 women with primary obstetrical APS (aPL + RM) and compare APS alone with APS + TAI for fecundity and pregnancy outcome. It is to note that the type of aPL antibodies is not specified. A group of 162 women with TAI alone and RM served as controls. First, a 27% prevalence of TAI was found in APS subjects. Analyzing fecundity, 74% of APS-alone and 67% of total APS-positive women (APS alone and APS + TAI) became spontaneously pregnant, which was significantly higher than APS + TAI and TAI-alone women (48 and 49%, respectively). Therefore, women with TAI with or without APS had reduced fertility. When pregnant, patients started a therapeutic regimen with high doses of intravenous immunoglobulin once a month until the 33rd week of pregnancy. Ninety-nine of the 136 pregnant women where thereafter followed. Pregnancy was successful for 92% of APS alone and 82% of total APS women, which once again was significantly higher than 60 and 57% in APS + TAI and TAI-alone women, respectively. In addition to reduced fecundity, TAI women had lower percentage of successful pregnancies. This study demonstrates the importance of TAI in patients with APS since it appears to be a stronger prognostic factor than aPL antibodies presence for fecundity and pregnancy outcome. Surprisingly, aPL and antithyroid antibodies do not seem to be synergic since rates are similar between TAI alone and TAI + APS groups. Authors conclude that TAI should always be evaluated in women with RM including those with aPL antibodies.

CONCLUSION

In the light of these data, the association of TAI and aPL antibodies appears to be quite common. In most cases, this phenomenon has no clinical consequence and is likely the result of hyperstimulation of self-reactive B-clones. However, rarely, the combination of an uncontrolled GD which is recognized as a factor of hypercoagulability and aPL antibodies may promote the occurrence of thrombotic events. This situation should therefore lead to greater attention. In addition, one study interestingly highlighted a possible relationship between central nervous system involvement and TAI/APS association. Further studies will be required to investigate this hypothesis. Finally, special attention should be paid to women of childbearing age. Indeed, the presence of aPL antibodies, isolated or in the context of an autoimmune disorder, but even more so of TAI even in the absence of thyroid dysfunction are major and independent factors of reduced fertility and worse pregnancy outcome. Screening should therefore include systematically these two elements, and the monitoring and management of the pregnancy should be adapted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MV conducted the review and wrote the article.

REFERENCES

- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14(2):174–80. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.10.016
- McLeod DSA, Cooper DS. The incidence and prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity. *Endocrine* (2012) 42(2):252–65. doi:10.1007/s12020-012-9703-2
- Golden SH, Robinson KA, Saldanha I, Anton B, Ladenson PW. Clinical review: prevalence and incidence of endocrine and metabolic disorders in the United States: a comprehensive review. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(6):1853–78. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-2291
- Vanderpump MPJ. The epidemiology of thyroid disease. Br Med Bull (2011) 99:39–51. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldr030
- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. Autoimmun Rev (2014) 13(4–5):391–7. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.007
- Menconi F, Marcocci C, Marinò M. Diagnosis and classification of Graves' disease. Autoimmun Rev (2014) 13(4–5):398–402. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2014.01.013
- 7. Robazzi TC, Adan LF. Autoimmune thyroid disease in patients with rheumatic diseases. *Rev Bras Reumatol* (2012) 52(3):417–30.
- Marongiu F, Conti M, Murtas ML, Sorano GG, Mameli G, Salis G, et al. Anticardiolipin antibodies in Grave's disease: relationship with thrombin activity in vivo. *Thromb Res* (1991) 64(6):745–9. doi:10.1016/0049-3848(91)90074-7
- Petri M, Karlson EW, Cooper DS, Ladenson PW. Autoantibody tests in autoimmune thyroid disease: a case-control study. *J Rheumatol* (1991) 18(10):1529–31.
- Díez JJ, Doforno RA, Iglesias P, Sastre J, Gómez-Pan A, Borbujo J. Anticardiolipin antibodies in autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Lab Immunol (1993) 40(3):125–34.
- Paggi A, Caccavo D, Ferri GM, Di Prima MA, Amoroso A, Vaccaro F, et al. Anti-cardiolipin antibodies in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (1994) 40(3):329–33. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.1994.tb03927.x
- Nabriski D, Ellis M, Ness-Abramof R, Shapiro M, Shenkman L. Autoimmune thyroiddiseaseandantiphospholipidantibodies. *AmJ Hematol*(2000)64(1):73– 5. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-8652(200005)64:1<73::AID-AJH14>3.0.CO;2-U
- Osundeko O, Hasinski S, Rose LI. Anticardiolipin antibodies in Hashimoto's disease. *Endocr Pract* (2001) 7(3):181–3. doi:10.4158/EP.7.3.181
- Tektonidou MG, Anapliotou M, Vlachoyiannopoulos P, Moutsopoulos HM. Presence of systemic autoimmune disorders in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases. Ann Rheum Dis (2004) 63(9):1159–61. doi:10.1136/ard.2004.022624
- Mayaudon H, Crozes P, Riveline JP, Boyer B, Simon P, Bauduceau B. [Antiphospholipid antibodies in Basedow disease]. Press Med (1994) 23(32):1496.
- Hofbauer LC, Spitzweg C, Heufelder AE. Graves' disease associated with the primary antiphospholipid syndrome. J Rheumatol (1996) 23(8):1435–7.
- Takahashi A, Tamura A, Ishikawa O. Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome complicated by Grave's disease. *J Dermatol* (2002) 29(12):776–80. doi:10.111 1/j.1346-8138.2002.tb00222.x
- Khochtali I, Hamza N, Gassab E, Baba A, Kacem M, Frih M, et al. Graves' disease associated with cerebrovascular disease and antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. *Int J Endocrinol* (2010) 2010:624152. doi:10.1155/2010/624152
- Mouelhi L, Chaieb M, Debbeche R, Salem M, Sfar I, Trabelsi S, et al. [Association Budd Chiari syndrome, antiphospholipid syndrome and Grave's disease]. *Tunis Med* (2009) 87(2):164–6.
- Li EK, Chan Y-K, Wong S-M. Transient thyrotoxicosis in primary anti-phospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (1999) 8(9):779–81. doi:10.1191/096120399678840990
- Verberne HJ, Fliers E, Prummel MF, Stam J, Brandjes DP, Wiersinga WM. Thyrotoxicosis as a predisposing factor for cerebral venous thrombosis. *Thyroid* (2000) 10(7):607–10. doi:10.1089/thy.2000.10.607
- Dörr M, Robinson DM, Wallaschofski H, Schwahn C, John U, Felix SB, et al. Low serum thyrotropin is associated with high plasma fibrinogen. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91(2):530–4. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-1786
- Erem C. Blood coagulation, fibrinolytic activity and lipid profile in subclinical thyroid disease: subclinical hyperthyroidism increases plasma factor X activity. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2006) 64(3):323–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02464.x

- Benvenga S, Guarneri F. Molecular mimicry and autoimmune thyroid disease. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2016) 17(4):485–98. doi:10.1007/ s11154-016-9363-2
- Dagenais P, Urowitz MB, Gladman DD, Norman CS. A family study of the antiphospholipid syndrome associated with other autoimmune diseases. *J Rheumatol* (1992) 19(9):1393–6.
- Innocencio RM, Romaldini JH, Ward LS. High prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in systemic sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis but not in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Rheumatol* (2003) 22(6):494. doi:10.1007/ s10067-003-0803-5
- Mavragani CP, Danielides S, Zintzaras E, Vlachoyiannopoulos PG, Moutsopoulos HM. Antithyroid antibodies in antiphospholipid syndrome: prevalence and clinical associations. *Lupus* (2009) 18(12):1096–9. doi:10.1177/0961203309106763
- de Carvalho JF, Caleiro MTC. Primary antiphospholipid syndrome and thyroid involvement. J Clin Rheumatol (2010) 16(4):164–7. doi:10.1097/ RHU.0b013e3181df5592
- De Carolis C, Greco E, Guarino MD, Perricone C, Dal Lago A, Giacomelli R, et al. Anti-thyroid antibodies and antiphospholipid syndrome: evidence of reduced fecundity and of poor pregnancy outcome in recurrent spontaneous aborters. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2004) 52(4):263–6. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2004.00215.x
- Ochi H, Horiuchi I, Araki N, Toda T, Araki T, Sato K, et al. Proteomic analysis of human brain identifies alpha-enolase as a novel autoantigen in Hashimoto's encephalopathy. FEBS Lett (2002) 528(1–3):197–202. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03307-0
- Le Donne M, Settineri S, Benvenga S. Early pospartum alexithymia and risk for depression: relationship with serum thyrotropin, free thyroid hormones and thyroid autoantibodies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37(4):519–33. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.08.001
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG practice bulletin. Management of recurrent pregnancy loss. Number 24, February 2001. (Replaces Technical Bulletin Number 212, September 1995). American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* (2002) 78(2):179–90. doi:10.1016/S0020-7292(02)00197-2
- Garrido-Gimenez C, Alijotas-Reig J. Recurrent miscarriage: causes, evaluation and management. *Postgrad Med J* (2015) 91(1073):151–62. doi:10.1136/ postgradmedj-2014-132672
- 34. Wilson WA, Gharavi AE, Koike T, Lockshin MD, Branch DW, Piette J-C, et al. International consensus statement on preliminary classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome: report of an international workshop. *Arthritis Rheum* (1999) 42(7):1309–11. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199907)42:7<1309::AID-ANR1>3.0.CO;2-F
- Miyakis S, Lockshin MD, Atsumi T, Branch DW, Brey RL, Cervera R, et al. International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). *J Thromb Haemost* (2006) 4(2):295–306. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01753.x
- Espinosa G, Cervera R. Current treatment of antiphospholipid syndrome: lights and shadows. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2015) 11(10):586–96. doi:10.1038/ nrrheum.2015.88
- Abrahams VM, Chamley LW, Salmon JE. Antiphospholipid syndrome and pregnancy: pathogenesis to translation. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017). doi:10.1002/art.40136
- Roberts CP, Murphy AA. Endocrinopathies associated with recurrent pregnancyloss. Semin Reprod Med (2000) 18(4):357–62. doi:10.1055/s-2000-13725
- Chen L, Hu R. Thyroid autoimmunity and miscarriage: a meta-analysis. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2011) 74(4):513–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03974.x
- Kim NY, Cho HJ, Kim HY, Yang KM, Ahn HK, Thornton S, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity and its association with cellular and humoral immunity in women with reproductive failures. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2011) 65(1):78–87. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00911.x
- Huchon C, Deffieux X, Beucher G, Capmas P, Carcopino X, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, et al. Pregnancy loss: French clinical practice guidelines. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2016) 201:18–26. doi:10.1016/j. ejogrb.2016.02.015
- Vita R, Lapa D, Vita G, Trimarchi F, Benvenga S. A patient with stress-related onset and exacerbations of Graves disease. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 5(1):55–61. doi:10.1038/ncpendmet1006

- Vita R, Lapa D, Trimarchi F, Benvenga S. Stress triggers the onset and the recurrences of hyperthyroidism in patients with Graves' disease. *Endocrine* (2015) 48(1):254–63. doi:10.1007/s12020-014-0289-8
- 44. Vita R, Lapa D, Trimarchi F, Vita G, Fallahi P, Antonelli A, et al. Certain HLA alleles are associated with stress-triggered Graves' disease and influence its course. *Endocrine* (2017) 55(1):93–100. doi:10.1007/s12020-016-0909-6
- Promberger R, Walch K, Seemann R, Pils S, Ott J. A retrospective study on the association between thyroid autoantibodies with β2-glycoprotein and cardiolipin antibodies in recurrent miscarriage. *Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol* (2017) 16(1):72–6.
- 46. Mecacci F, Parretti E, Cioni R, Lucchetti R, Magrini A, La Torre P, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity and its association with non-organ-specific antibodies and subclinical alterations of thyroid function in women with a history of

pregnancy loss or preeclampsia. *J Reprod Immunol* (2000) 46(1):39–50. doi:10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00055-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Versini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sarcoidosis and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Piera Fazzi, Poupak Fallahi* and Silvia Martina Ferrari

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Most of the studies have shown a higher risk for subclinical and clinical hypothyroidism, antithyroid autoantibodies [overall antithyroid peroxidase antibodies (TPOAb)], and in general, thyroid autoimmunity, overall in the female gender in patients with sarcoidosis (S). A significantly higher prevalence of clinical hypothyroidism and Graves' disease was also described in female S patients with respect to controls. Gallium-67 (Ga-67) scyntigraphy in S patients, in the case of thyroid uptake, suggests the presence of aggressive auto-immune thyroiditis and hypothyroidism. For this reason, ultrasonography and thyroid function should be done in the case of Ga-67 thyroid uptake. In conclusion, thyroid function, TPOAb measurement, and ultrasonography should be done to assess the clinical profile in female S patients, and the ones at high risk (female individuals, with TPOAb positivity, and hypoechoic and small thyroid) should have periodically thyroid function evaluations and suitable treatments.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Camilla Virili, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Giampaolo Papi, Azienda Unità Sanitaria Locale di Modena, Italy

*Correspondence:

Poupak Fallahi poupak@int.med.unipi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 12 May 2017 Accepted: 07 July 2017 Published: 08 August 2017

Citation:

Fazzi P, Fallahi P and Ferrari SM (2017) Sarcoidosis and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 8:177. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00177 Keywords: sarcoidosis, autoimmune thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, Graves' disease, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies, thyroglobulin antibodies

INTRODUCTION

Sarcoidosis (S) is a systemic inflammatory disease distinguished by a huge accumulation of inflammatory cells, called granulomas, in multiple organs (1), overall in the lungs or its associated lymph nodes.

Though the cause of sarcoidosis is unknown (2), it seems to be provoked by an immune reaction to different triggers, as infections, or bacteria, dust, viruses, or chemicals. Generally, the body is protected by the immune system against foreign or dangerous substances, for example sending specific cells to protect organs. These cells secrete chemicals able to recruit other cells that can isolate and destroy such dangerous substance. Inflammation establishes during this process and stops as the foreign substance is removed. In S patients, the inflammation goes on even if the initial infection is eradicated (3). It often clears up by itself without the use of drugs, but in some cases, it goes on to affect the subject long term, and can be life-threatening requiring medications.

The onset of sarcoidosis is usually between 20 and 50 years of age and is more common in women. Subjects with a family history of sarcoidosis have an elevated risk to develop the disease.

It is sometimes asymptomatic and diagnosed not intentionally in almost 5% of cases. Fatigue, weight loss, lack of energy, dry eyes, joint aches, arthritis (14–38% of patients), swelling of the knees, shortness of breath, unclear vision, dry cough, or skin lesions are frequent symptoms, and in particular the cutaneous ones can be rashes, noduli, erythema nodosum, granuloma anulare, and lupus pernio (4–7).

Abbreviations: TPOAb, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies; AT, autoimmune thyroiditis; AITDs, autoimmune thyroid disorders; Ga-67, Gallium-67; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; IL, interleukin; PGA, polyglandular autoimmune; S, sarcoidosis; T4, thyroxine; T3, triiodothyronine; TgAb, thyroglobulin antibodies; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone.

The collection of cells as macrophages, monocytes, and activated T lymphocytes is typical of granulomatous inflammation, during which an increased secretion of key inflammatory mediators, as tumor necrosis factor, interferon (IFN)- γ , interleukin (IL)-2, IL-8, IL-18, IL-12, and transforming growth factor- β is present, suggestive of a Th1-mediated immune response (8, 9).

Sarcoidosis is associated with autoimmunity such as autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITDs) (10, 11).

The Th1 chemokine IFN- γ -induced protein-10 is involved in the pathogenesis of this disease.

In this paper, we review the scientific literature about the possible association between sarcoidosis and thyroid autoimmunity.

THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY AND SARCOIDOSIS

Initially, some anectodal reports suggested a possible association between thyroid autoimmunity and sarcoidosis (**Table 1**) (12–15).

An association between sarcoidosis and hypothyroidism or hyperthyroidism was also suggested (16–19).

Later, Hugues et al. (20) evaluated the thyroid clinically, hormonally, and scintigraphically in 50 subjects with intrathoracic sarcoidosis. The patients were split in: T- 32 subjects, without thyroid abnormality; T+ 18 subjects, with thyroid disorders (2 thyroid nodules, 9 moderate diffuse goiters, 7 nodular goiters). All patients had normal triiodothyronine (T3), thyroxine (T4), and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels, apart from 1 with Graves' disease. Few sarcoid granulomas were reported in 3/4 patients undergoing thyroidectomy. Activity, dissemination, type of sarcoid thoracic involvement were similar in the two groups. On the other hand, T+ patients had higher seric IgG levels than T- (P < 0.05). The authors suggested that autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) is not likely in these cases, in proportion to the low frequency of thyroid autoantibodies.

However, the association of AITD and sarcoidosis was suggested by other papers (21–24).

Papadopoulos et al. evaluated the frequency and type of endocrine autoimmunity in Swedish S patients (25). Among all the 89 patients with diagnosed sarcoidosis followed in the "Department of Pulmonary Medicine" from 1980 to 1991, 78 (34 females and 44 males; median age 48 years, range 22-81 years) were evaluated at the "Department of Endocrinology, Malmö University Hospital." 15/78 patients (19.2%) showed signs of endocrine autoimmunity clinically or serologically and two were affected by Addison's disease, with polyglandular autoimmune (PGA) syndrome type II. Thirteen patients had signs of thyroid autoimmunity, 8 with clinical AITD (6 with AT and 2 with Graves' disease; 2 with PGA syndrome type III, and 5 with isolated positivity of thyroid serology). One patient had premature ovarian failure and two insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Frequency of PGA syndrome type II, clinical AITD, and Addison's disease was significantly elevated with respect to the ones in the general population.

The authors concluded that a high frequency of endocrine autoimmunity was present in approximately 20% of S patients, the more frequent being PGA syndromes and thyroid autoimmunity.

Nakamura et al. (26) studied the incidence of thyroid autoantibodies and the prevalence of Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) in 62 patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis (diagnosed by clinical, radiographic and histological findings) and in three groups of controls with 40 and over years of age, without a known history of thyroid disease (88 hospital employees and 82 company workers, and 60 patients with pulmonary diseases other than sarcoidosis). Antibodies against antithyroid peroxidase (TPOAb) and purified thyroglobulin (TgAb) were tested by radioimmunoassay and

Reference	Patients with sarcoidosis (n)	Autoimmune thyroid disorders (AITDs) % in patients with sarcoidosis	Controls (n)	AITD % in controls	Р
Antonelli et al. (10)	F 75 M 36	50.7% 22.2%	F 225 M 108	35.1% 14.9%	0.0168 ns
Antonelli et al. (11)	30 patients with sarcoidosis with Ga-67 uptake	40%	54 patients with sarcoidosis without Ga-67 uptake	19%	0.03
Nakamura et al. (26)	62 patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis	17/62 (27.4%) had either positive TPOAb or TgAb or both	3 groups of subjects (see text)	In the 60 patients with pulmonary diseases, the overall prevalence was 8.3%; in the 88 hospital employees, the overall prevalence was 9.1%; in the 82 company workers, the overall prevalence was 8.5%	P < 0.05
llias et al. (27)	26 patients with active sarcoidosis	TgAb were slightly elevated in S patients, whereas TPOAb were within normal limits	26 patients with diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease		P = 0.041 for TgAb
Nowiński et al. (31)	557	13.1%	100	4%	0.0144
Wu et al. (33)	1,237	11.6%	4,948	7.3%	

TgAb, antithyroglobulin antibodies; TPOAb, antithyroid peroxidase antibodies; F, female; M, male; ns, not significant.

antibodies against microsomal antigen (MCHA) and thyroglobulin (TGHA) by hemagglutination.

17/62 patients (27.4%) had positive TPOAb or TgAb or both and were of middle or advanced age. Incidence of positive TPOAb/TgAb in S patients with 40 and over years age was 32.4% in females and 54.5% in males (37.8% overall). In the 60 patients with pulmonary diseases, 28 males (0%) and 5/32 females (15.6%) had positive TgAb and/or TPOAb, and the overall prevalence was 8.3%; in the 88 hospital employees, 1/45 males (2.2%) and 7/43 females (16.3%) had positive TPOAb/TgAb, resulting in a 9.1% of overall prevalence; in the 82 company workers, 5/65 males (7.7%) and 2/17 females (11.8%) had positive TPOAb/TgAb, the overall prevalence was 8.5%.

The prevalence was more elevated in S males with respect to control males matched by age (0–7.7% in the controls), and in S females was twice the one reported in controls (11.8–16.3%). Seven patients had HT, showing a prevalence of 11–3%, more elevated than previously reported.

A significantly higher incidence of thyroid autoantibodies in S patients of middle of advanced age, particularly in men, and a higher prevalence of HT, was shown than in previous papers.

Another study from Ilias et al. showed in 26 S patients (19 women and 7 men) that only TgAb autoantibodies were significantly elevated in these patients (27). TgAb were slightly elevated in S patients and differed significantly (P = 0.041) from controls (26 patients with diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease age- and sex-matched), whereas TPOAb levels were normal in all subjects and not significantly different between the two groups.

In a 26-year-old woman with systemic sarcoidosis a Gallium-67 (Ga-67), citrate scintigraphy showed an elevated radiotracer uptake in sarcoidal cutaneous lesions and in the thyroid (28), which could represent the sarcoidal involvement of the gland.

Isern et al. (29) reported that 10/348 (2.9%) S patients had AITD. Löfgren's syndrome was present in 8 patients; 3 subjects had Graves' disease, 6 HT with hypothyroidism, and 1 postpartum thyroiditis. In one patient, AITD had developed 15 years before sarcoidosis and in 9 subjects, it preceded the onset of AITD of about 4 months to 17 years. Among these, sarcoidosis was already present at the diagnosis of AITD. In one case, Graves' disease established as the patient was administered with potassium iodide to treat erythema nodosum. The authors concluded that sarcoidosis may be associated with AITD during its course, as hypothyroidism or hyperthyroidism.

Another study evaluated the prevalence of clinical and subclinical thyroid disorders in 111 S patients compared to 333 controls matched by age and gender from the same geographic area (10).

Thyroid hormones and antibodies, ultrasonography of the gland and fine-needle aspiration (FNA) were done.

The odds ratio (OR) for female S patients compared to controls was: for subclinical hypothyroidism, 2.7 [95% confidence interval (CI), 1.3–5.9]; for thyroid autoimmunity, 1.9 (95% CI, 1.1–3.2); for TPOAb positivity, 2.2 (95% CI, 1.2–3.9). TSH and TPOAb mean values were more elevated in S women than in controls (P < 0.01), as clinical hypothyroidism and Graves' disease (P = 0.005 and 0.0026, respectively), while no differences were

reported for free T3 and T4, TgAb, thyroid volume and nodularity, and subclinical hyperthyroidism. Papillary thyroid cancer was shown in 2 S patients.

The authors concluded that thyroid function, TPOAb, and ultrasonography should be performed to evaluate the clinical profile in female S patients, and in the ones with an elevated risk (female individuals, with TPOAb positivity, and hypoechoic and small thyroid) thyroid function evaluations and suitable treatments should be performed periodically (10).

To assess the association of Ga-67 citrate thyroid uptake with thyroid disorders in S patients, 84 subjects were evaluated by ultrasonography, serum thyroid hormones and antithyroid antibodies, and FNA (11).

In S patients able to uptake Ga-67 compared to those not uptaking it, serum TSH, the titer of TPOAb and TgAb, and the prevalence of hypothyroidism or TgAb or TPOAb positivity were significantly higher; a hypoechogenicity of the thyroid was more recurrent. Thyroid nodules prevalence was similar in the two groups. Papillary thyroid cancer was reported in 2 S patients not uptaking Ga-67, and none with Ga-67 thyroid uptake.

The authors concluded that Ga-67 thyroid uptake is associated with aggressive AT and hypothyroidism in sarcoidosis, suggesting the evaluation of thyroid function and ultrasonography.

Martusewicz-Boros et al. (30) conducted a retrospective analysis assessing the incidence of comorbidity in 1,779 S patients (diagnosis code "ICD-10: D86") in Poland from 2008 to 2011.

About 79.2% had pulmonary and/or lymph node sarcoidosis (diagnosis code "D86.0, D86.1, D86.2"), 15.8% sarcoidosis of other and combined sites ("D86.8") and 5.0% unspecified ("D86.9"). Fifty-four percent of patients had at least one comorbid condition, overall arterial hypertension (22.4%), diabetes mellitus (5.0%), thyroid disorders (5.6%), obesity (3.3%), and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (4.3%). Associations among the "number of comorbidities" and "age" and "extent of the disease" were shown (P < 0.001), by linear regression models. A comorbid condition was present more frequently in patients with multiorgan sarcoidosis.

Another study aimed to identify prevalence and frequency of comorbidities in S patients and to evaluate their influence on overall mortality (31).

Comorbidities and mortality were evaluated in a cohort of 557 S patients [291 men (52.2%) and 266 women (47.8%), mean age 48.4 ± 12.0 years] diagnosed from 2007 to 2011 and 100 control subjects [mean age (49.25 \pm 10.3)].

The mean "number of comorbidities" in the two groups was similar $(0.9 \pm 0.99$ versus 0.81 ± 0.84 , not significant). Upon the diagnosis, thyroid diseases were significantly more frequent in S patients compared to control subjects (OR = 3.62; P = 0.0144). The median observation period was of 58.0 months, during which 16 patients died (2.9%). Non-survivors comorbidity was significantly higher than in survivors (2.8 ± 1.0 , versus 0.8 ± 0.9 ; P < 0.0001).

The authors suggested that, in sarcoidosis, the comorbidity highly impacts mortality, and thyroid diseases are more common than in control subjects without sarcoidosis.

The prevalence of other autoimmune disorders in 3,069 consecutive outpatients with diagnosed chronic AT were assessed compared to two control groups matched by age and sex: (a) 1,023 individuals, drawned out a random sample of the general population without thyroid disorders; (b) 1,023 subjects with non-toxic multinodular goiter from the same general population, with similar iodine intake (32). In AT patients, the prevalence of autoimmune disorders increased significantly compared to control subjects, for: sarcoidosis, polymialgia rheumatica, celiac disease, chronic autoimmune gastritis, vitiligo, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, multiple sclerosis, systemic lupus erythematosus, HCV-related cryoglobulinemia, Sjögren's disease, alopecia, psoriathic arthritis, and systemic sclerosis.

The association between sarcoidosis and autoimmune comorbidities was evaluated in 1,237 S patients and 4,948 controls matched by age and sex from the National Health Insurance Research Database from 1997 to 2010 in Taiwan, by multiple logistic regressions (33), showing a prevalence of sarcoidosis of 2.17/100,000 individuals. S patients had a higher risk of autoimmune comorbidities than controls (17.6% versus 9.4%, P < 0.05). Sarcoidosis was associated with AITD [adjusted odd ratio (aOR), 1.32; 95% CI, 1.05-1.64], Sjögren's syndrome (aOR, 11.6; 95% CI, 4.36-31.0), and ankylosing spondylitis (aOR, 3.80; 95% CI, 2.42-5.97). The sex-stratified analyses were performed and showed a significant association of sarcoidosis with ankylosing spondylitis in both sexes, with AITD in male patients and with Sjögren's syndrome in female patients, respectively, demonstrating that patients with sarcoidosis were inclined to have AITD, Sjögren's syndrome and ankylosing spondylitis, and the diagnosis of sarcoidosis usually preceded one of the associated comorbidities.

Moreover, cases of an uncommon involvement of the thyroid gland by sarcoidosis have been reported in literature. A paper by Cabibi et al. (34) reported the case of a 42 years old woman with sarcoidosis limited to the thyroid and adjacent small lymph nodes, without signs of systemic involvement or on other organs, showing thyroid nodules and normal biochemical levels and thyroid function parameters, and histologic sarcoid-type lesions, treated with thyroidectomy. Manchanda et al. (35) described the case of a man aged 54 years with asymptomatic non-toxic thyromegaly. He had an acute onset of dysphagia but the examination for gastrointestinal causes was negative. Chest imaging showed left-sided lymphadenopathy and biopsy of a lymph node showed sarcoidosis. Two years after, he had persistent dysphagia and underwent total thyroidectomy with resolution of dysphagia. Histopathological evaluation of the thyroid reported non-necrotizing granulomas in agreement with sarcoidosis. Furthermore, Papi et al. (36) reported two cases of patients with hyperthyroidism and histologically proven sarcoidosis.

CONCLUSION

Multiple endocrine gland insufficiencies are linked to other autoimmune and non-autoimmune diseases and such associations among different autoimmune diseases do not appear at random but in particular combinations; for example, AT is the pivotal disorder for type III PGA (37). Recently, a high prevalence of the association between rheumatic diseases (such as sarcoidosis, Sjögren's syndrome, mixed cryoglobulinemia, psoriathic arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic sclerosis, or systemic lupus erythematosus) and AITD has been demonstrated highlighting the possibility of a common pathogenic basis among them (32).

It has been hypothesized that the development of multiple autoimmunity could depend on shared epitope(s) between environmental agents and a common antigen in different endocrine tissues, and it has also been hypothesized that common specific germ layer antigens are expressed by the organs that took origin from the same germ layer, functioning as targets for autoimmune responses in PGA (37). Previous studies proposed that HLA-DQ genes, in particular DQA1*0102, could be a genetic marker for resistance to AITD, that is the most frequent disease in PGA type II or III. The paper by Wallaschofski et al. shows an association between DQA1*0301 and PGA type II or III, implying that the allele DQA1*0301 could be a marker of a higher risk for further PGA manifestations in patients suffering from an organ-specific autoimmune disease (38).

However, the precise pathogenetic mechanisms of multiple endocrine gland insufficiencies are not known (32).

As evidenced by immunopathological studies, a higher prevalence of Th1 immune profile is present in target organs of patients with Graves' ophthalmopathy, or chronic AT, or type 1 diabetes, at the onset of the disease (32). This higher prevalence at the beginning of autoimmune disorders, and the consequences of genetic and environmental conditions, could establish autoimmune phenomena in different organs in the same individual (32).

It is not clear if AT associated with other non-endocrine autoimmune disorders (NEADs) has a similar Th1 lymphocytes polarization.

In isolated HT or associated with NEAD, the paper by Santaguida et al. evaluated the intracellular Th1- and Th2-specific cytokines (39). A higher percentage of IL-2+ cells was shown in all subjects, with isolated HT or NEAD-associated. IFN- γ + cells were increased in both groups, especially in the ones with HT + NEAD (19 versus 29.9%; *P* = 0.0082), while a higher number of IL-4+ cells was reported in 9.1% of patients with isolated HT and in 71% with HT + NEAD (*P* < 0.0001; relative risk = 3.18). Patients with NEAD-associated AT are characterized by a well-defined increase of IL-4+ lymphocytes. This could represent an initial tool to detect patients with AT in whom additional NEAD may be foreseen (39).

Most of the studies have shown in patients with sarcoidosis a higher risk for subclinical and clinical hypothyroidism, antithyroid autoantibodies, and overall TPOAb, and in general, thyroid autoimmunity, particularly in the female gender. A significantly higher prevalence of clinical hypothyroidism and Graves' disease was also shown in female S patients than in controls.

Ga-67 scyntigraphy in S patients when associated with thyroid uptake suggests the presence of aggressive AT and hypothyroidism. For this reason, thyroid function and ultrasound should be done in the case of Ga-67 thyroid uptake.

Sarcoidosis is one of the several associated autoimmune disorders included in PGA type III (32). AITDs are very prevalent while sarcoidosis is quite rare; for this reason, it is not necessary to look for sarcoidosis in patients with AITD but is mandatory to screen thyroid autoimmunity in patients with sarcoidosis.

In conclusion, thyroid function, TPOAb, and ultrasonography should be performed to evaluate the clinical profile in female patients with sarcoidosis; the ones with high risk (female individuals, with TPOAb positivity, and hypoechoic and small thyroid) should have periodically thyroid function evaluations and suitable treatments.

REFERENCES

- 1. King TE Jr. Sarcoidosis: Interstitial Lung Diseases: Merck Manual Home Edition. The Merck Manual Home Edition. Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp (2008).
- Hunninghake GW, Costabel U, Ando M, Baughman R, Cordier JF, du Bois R, et al. ATS/ERS/WASOG statement on sarcoidosis. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society/World Association of Sarcoidosis and other Granulomatous Disorders. *Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis* (1999) 16:149–73.
- Baughman RP, Culver DA, Judson MA. A concise review of pulmonary sarcoidosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2011) 183:573–81. doi:10.1164/ rccm.201006-0865CI
- Sweiss NJ, Patterson K, Sawaqed R, Jabbar U, Korsten P, Hogarth K, et al. Rheumatologic manifestations of sarcoidosis. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 31:463–73. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1262214
- Dempsey OJ, Paterson EW, Kerr KM, Denison AR. Sarcoidosis. BMJ (2009) 339:b3206. doi:10.1136/bmj.b3206
- Baughman RP, Lower EE, Gibson K. Pulmonary manifestations of sarcoidosis. Presse Med (2012) 41:e289–302. doi:10.1016/j.lpm.2012.03.019
- Chen ES, Moller DR. Sarcoidosis scientific progress and clinical challenges. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2011) 7:457–67. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2011.93
- Bargagli E, Olivieri C, Rottoli P. Cytokine modulators in the treatment of sarcoidosis. *Rheumatol Int* (2011) 31:1539–44. doi:10.1007/s00296-011-1969-9
- Müller-Quernheim J, Prasse A, Zissel G. Pathogenesis of sarcoidosis. Presse Med (2012) 41:e275–87. doi:10.1016/j.lpm.2012.03.018
- Antonelli A, Fazzi P, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ferrannini E. Prevalence of hypothyroidism and Graves disease in sarcoidosis. *Chest* (2006) 130:526–32. doi:10.1378/chest.130.2.526
- Antonelli A, Fazzi P, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Grosso M, Boni G, et al. Thyroid uptake of 67Ga-citrate is associated with thyroid autoimmunity and hypothyroidism in patients with sarcoidosis. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2009) 36:137–43. doi:10.1007/s00259-008-0932-9
- 12. Cooke R. Sarcoidosis of thyroid. Proc R Soc Med (1959) 52:174-5.
- Cummins SD, Clark DH, Gandy TH. Boeck's sarcoid of the thyroid gland. AMA Arch Pathol (1951) 51:68–71.
- Winnacker JL, Becker KL, Katz S. Endocrine aspects of sarcoidosis. N Engl J Med (1968) 278:483–92. doi:10.1056/NEJM196802292780905
- Karlish AJ, MacGregor GA. Sarcoidosis, thyroiditis, and Addison's disease. Lancet (1970) 2:330–3. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(70)92871-0
- 16. Leppard B. Sarcoidosis and hyperthyroidism. Proc R Soc Med (1971) 64:396.
- Christianson HB, Mitchell WT Jr. Sarcoidosis and myxedema. South Med J (1972) 65:749–52. doi:10.1097/00007611-197206000-00024
- Cohen JD, Clarke SW. Sarcoidosis and thyrotoxicosis. Proc R Soc Med (1974) 67:220–1.
- Lender M, Dollberg L. Coincidence of sarcoidosis and hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Am Rev Respir Dis* (1975) 112:113–7. doi:10.1164/arrd.1975.112.1.113
- Hugues JN, Modigliani E, Battesti JP, Perret G, de Crémoux P, Valeyre D, et al. [Thyroid disorders during sarcoidosis (author's transl)]. Ann Med Interne (Paris) (1981) 132:367–71.
- Sasaki H, Harada T, Eimoto T, Matsuoka Y, Okumura M. Concomitant association of thyroid sarcoidosis and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Am J Med Sci* (1987) 294:441–3. doi:10.1097/00000441-198712000-00009
- Bell NH. Endocrine complications of sarcoidosis. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am (1991) 20:645–54.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PIF, PF, and SMF gave substantial contribution in the conception and design of the work, and in writing the paper. PF and SMF revised it critically for important intellectual content. PIF, PF, and SMF gave the final approval of the version to be published. PIF, PF, and SMF agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

- Attali JR, Valensi P, Valeyre D, Sandre-Banon D, Sebaoun J, Battesti JP. Thyroid stimulating antibodies in sarcoidosis. *Pathol Biol (Paris)* (1994) 42:581–6.
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/ j.autrev.2014.10.016
- Papadopoulos KI, Hörnblad Y, Liljebladh H, Hallengren B. High frequency of endocrine autoimmunity in patients with sarcoidosis. *Eur J Endocrinol* (1996) 134:331–6. doi:10.1530/eje.0.1340331
- Nakamura H, Genma R, Mikami T, Kitahara A, Natsume H, Andoh S, et al. High incidence of positive autoantibodies against thyroid peroxidase and thyroglobulin in patients with sarcoidosis. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1997) 46:467–72. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.1997.1630976.x
- Ilias I, Panoutsopoulos G, Batsakis C, Nikolakakou D, Filippou N, Christakopoulou I. Thyroid function and autoimmunity in sarcoidosis: a case-control study. *Croat Med J* (1998) 39:404–6.
- Moreno AJ, Brown JM, Salinas JA, Feaster BL III, Brown TJ. Ga-67 positivity in sarcoidosis of the skin with coincident thyroid uptake of uncertain etiology. *Clin Nucl Med* (1984) 9:165–6. doi:10.1097/00003072-198403000-00015
- Isern V, Lora-Tamayo J, Capdevila O, Villabona C, Mañá J. Sarcoidosis and autoimmune thyroid disease. A case series of ten patients. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis (2007) 24:148–52.
- Martusewicz-Boros MM, Boros PW, Wiatr E, Roszkowski-Śliż K. What comorbidities accompany sarcoidosis? A large cohort (n=1779) patients analysis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis (2015) 32:115–20.
- Nowiński A, Puścińska E, Goljan A, Peradzynska J, Bednarek M, Korzybski D, et al. The influence of comorbidities on mortality in sarcoidosis: a observational prospective cohort study. *Clin Respir J* (2015). [Epub ahead of print]. doi:10.1111/crj.12398
- 32. Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Wu CH, Chung PI, Wu CY, Chen YT, Chiu YW, Chang YT, et al. Comorbid autoimmune diseases in patients with sarcoidosis: a nationwide casecontrol study in Taiwan. *J Dermatol* (2017) 44:423–30. doi:10.1111/1346-8138.13654
- Cabibi D, Di Vita G, La Spada E, Tripodo C, Patti R, Montalto G. Thyroid sarcoidosis as a unique localization. *Thyroid* (2006) 16:1175–7. doi:10.1089/ thy.2006.16.1175
- Manchanda A, Patel S, Jiang JJ, Babu AR. Thyroid: an unusual hideout for sarcoidosis. *Endocr Pract* (2013) 19:40–3. doi:10.4158/EP12131.CR
- Papi G, Briganti F, Artioli F, Cavazza A, Carapezzi C, Roggeri A, et al. Sarcoidosis of the thyroid gland associated with hyperthyroidism: review of the literature and report of two peculiar cases. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2006) 29:834–9. doi:10.1007/BF03347380
- Betterle C, Dal Pra C, Mantero F, Zanchetta R. Autoimmune adrenal insufficiency and autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: autoantibodies, autoantigens, and their applicability in diagnosis and disease prediction. *Endocr Rev* (2002) 23:327–64. doi:10.1210/edrv.23.3.0466
- Wallaschofski H, Meyer A, Tuschy U, Lohmann T. HLA-DQA1*0301associated susceptibility for autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type II and III. *Horm Metab Res* (2003) 35:120–4. doi:10.1055/s-2003-39059
- Santaguida MG, Nardo S, Del Duca SC, Lococo E, Virili C, Gargano L, et al. Increased interleukin-4-positive lymphocytes in patients with Hashimoto's

thyroiditis and concurrent non-endocrine autoimmune disorders. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) 165:148–54. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04419.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Fazzi, Fallahi and Ferrari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Autoimmune/Inflammatory Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Abdulla Watad^{1,2,3}, Paula David^{2,4}, Stav Brown³ and Yehuda Shoenfeld^{2,3,5*}

¹ Department of Medicine "B", Sheba Medical Center, Tel-Aviv, Israel, ²Zabludowicz Center for Autoimmune Diseases, Sheba Medical Center, Tel-Aviv, Israel, ³ Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel, ⁴ Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁶ Laura Schwarz-Kipp Chair for Research of Autoimmune Diseases, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel

The autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA), presented by Shoenfeld and Agmon-Levin in 2011, is an entity that incorporates diverse autoimmune conditions induced by the exposure to various adjuvants. Adjuvants are agents that entail the capability to induce immune reactions. Adjuvants are found in many vaccines and used mainly to increase the response to vaccination in the general population. Silicone has also been reported to be able to induce diverse immune reactions. Clinical cases and series of heterogeneous autoimmune conditions including systemic sclerosis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and rheumatoid arthritis have been reported to be induced by several adjuvants. However, only a small number of cases of autoimmune thyroid disorder have been included under the umbrella of ASIA syndrome. Indeed, clinical cases of Hashimoto's thyroiditis and/or subacute thyroiditis were observed after the exposure to vaccines as well as silicone implantation. In our review, we aimed to summarize the current knowledge on ASIA syndrome presented as endocrinopathies, focusing on autoimmune thyroid disorders associated with the various adjuvants.

Keywords: autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants, thyroid, endocrinopathy, adjuvants, vaccines, silicone, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves disease

INTRODUCTION

Adjuvants are substances that are able to trigger autoimmunity *via* a variety of mechanisms, such as alteration of the host's immune system, polyclonal activation of B cells, effects on cellular immunity, immunoregulatory cells, viral-induced antibodies, and acceleration of molecular mimicry (1). Exposure to adjuvants can occur in a variety of methods due to their wide range of uses in vaccines, mineral oils, silicone implants, and many other products and devices. The association between adjuvant exposure and autoimmunity manifests itself in five autoimmune conditions sharing similar autoimmunity manifestations (2, 3), such as the postvaccination phenomena, the macrophagic myofasciitis syndrome (MMF), the Gulf war syndrome (GWS), siliconosis, and the sick building syndrome (SBS) (4, 5). The autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA), presented by Shoenfeld and Agmon-Levin (6) in 2011, is a single entity that incorporates all five conditions. Extensive research has identified the genetic background, contributing to the development of ASIA syndrome in predisposed individuals following adjuvant exposure. A large number of autoimmune diseases share several alleles of the HLA class II such as DRB1 locus. The development

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Silvia Martina Ferrari, University of Pisa, Italy Ilaria Ruffilli, University of Pisa, Italy Carlo Perricone, Sapienza University, Italy

*Correspondence: Yehuda Shoenfeld shoenfel@post.tau.ac.il

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 12 October 2016 Accepted: 21 November 2016 Published: 24 January 2017

Citation:

Watad A, David P, Brown S and Shoenfeld Y (2017) Autoimmune/ Inflammatory Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 7:150. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00150 of specific autoantibodies is determined by DRB1 alleles leading to an abnormal response and development of full-blown autoimmune diseases (7, 8).

When used in vaccines, adjuvants are purposely used as immunogenicity enhancing agents that are essential for directing the adaptive immunoresponse (9). However, they might also trigger undesired autoimmune reactions that question the use of adjuvants and their safety in the context of DRB1*01 genetic background (10).

A systematic review by Jara et al. (4) reported that 4479 ASIA cases have been identified since its presentation in 2011. Among them, 305 were considered severe, with the majority of these cases being developed following vaccines mainly directed to HPV, HBV, and seasonal influenza. Despite vaccines' proven record of safety and efficiency, aluminum hydroxide was used in these vaccines along with the viral antigens as an adjuvant. Due to aluminum's capability to enhance the immunoresponse, it enables the usage of smaller amount of antigens. However, enhanced immunogenicity might lead to enhanced reactogenicity in a process not always benign involving pathological stimulation (11).

The other adjuvants containing products yielding severe clinical manifestations are silicone implants and mineral oil fillers (4, 12).

Silicone has been considered as an inert material, which is unable to induce immune reactions in the human body. Therefore, it has been used in many medical devices for the last 60 years, including both silicone and saline breast implants. However, a possible association between silicone exposure and autoimmune diseases has been reported in many studies demonstrating the development of autoimmune diseases and autoantibodies in patients following exposure to silicone implants (13, 14). Improved clinical manifestations after the extraction of implants (15) support the relationship between silicone and autoimmunity.

Mineral oil injections, which are prevalent in Mexico and Latin America for cosmetic uses, have been identified as a leading cause of ASIA syndrome as well *via* the proposed mechanism of chronic inflammation induction leading to granuloma formation and thickening of the dermis (4, 10).

The risk for autoimmune diseases, determined by the patient's genetic background, is increased in patients with autoimmune diseases history such as type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). Thyroid antibodies can be identified in approximately 20–25% of patients with type 1 diabetes, and up to 50% of them progress to clinical autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) (16). Thyroid autoimmune diseases have been described in many case reports and case series, presenting thyroid autoimmune manifestations along with other autoimmune conditions.

In genetically predisposed individuals, under particular conditions, molecular mimicry between microbial and human antigens has been shown to be able to turn a defensive immunoresponse into autoimmune response. This mechanism has yet to be explored in the field of thyroid autoimmune diseases (17). In our review, we aimed to summarize the current knowledge about ASIA syndrome and the relationship between adjuvants and autoimmune diseases, focusing on its association with autoimmune endocrinopathies and thyroid autoimmunity.

ENDOCRINOPATHY AND ASIA SYNDROME

Pathological processes of the endocrine glands result in abnormal levels of circulating hormones, which lead to endocrinopathies. Some endocrine disorders are immune mediated, such as Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), Graves' disease, and T1DM (18–20). Thus, it is possible that endocrine autoimmune diseases can be triggered by adjuvants, configuring cases of ASIA syndrome. Case reports, cohort and case–control studies on ASIA syndrome, and the majority of the endocrinopathies are still scarce. Lately, primary ovarian failure (POF) has been linked to ASIA, especially after vaccination (21–25).

Primary ovarian failure or premature ovarian insufficiency is defined as a combination of amenorrhea, for a minimum of 4 months, decline in sex steroids, and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) above 40 IU/l at two measurements with an interval of at least 1 month in women younger than 40 years (26). POF is a disorder with multiple etiologic mechanisms. The presence of lymphocytic invasion in the oophorus and the identification of autoantibodies against ovarium antigens on the theca, granulose, corpus luteum, and zona pellucida (27-29) support the idea that part of its etiology, estimated in 20-30% (30), is immune mediated. Furthermore, POF is commonly associated with other autoimmune diseases, including Addison's disease, thyroiditis, autoimmune polyglandular syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), hemolytic anemia, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), and Sjogren's syndrome (31). The pathogenesis of POF also involves genetic mutations, metabolic disorders, and environmental factors, such as virus infection, chemo and radiotherapy, and surgeries (30).

HPV vaccine has been reported as an important issue in ASIA syndrome, already being related, for instance, to Guillain-Barré syndrome and other neuropathies, such as SLE, vasculitis, ITP, and autoimmune hepatitis (32-36). Developing autoimmune diseases as an adverse effect of the vaccine can be both due to its HPV virus-like particles, which have potent immuno-stimulatory properties (and can induce autoimmunity by molecular mimicry, epitope spreading, bystander activation, and polyclonal activation) (37), and due to the presence of aluminum as an adjuvant in the vaccine (38). Adjuvants are capable of increasing, intensifying, and prolonging antigen-specific immunoresponse of the vaccines without holding its own specific antigenic effect (38). Autoimmune well-defined diseases, as well as the nonspecific immune disorders, following vaccination can present as a subacute vaccination side effect or appear months or years after the boosters (39-43). Genetically predisposed patients are more likely to exhibit late manifestations and are in a higher risk of developing ASIA syndrome (36, 44).

Colafrancesco et al. (21) recently reported three cases of POF following immunization with HPV vaccine. The three patients fulfilled the criteria for ASIA syndrome suggested by Shoenfeld and Agmon-Levin (6). They described three young women, previously healthy and with normal sexual development, who received three administrations of the quadrivalent HPV vaccine. The patients experienced general symptoms, including nausea, stomachaches, heavy and burning sensations in the injected arm,

headaches, insomnia, arthralgia, depression, anxiety, and difficulty in concentrating, and then presented amenorrhea within approximately 10 months, 2 years, and 10 years after the first dose. Two of them were positive for previously negative antibodies (anti-TPO and antiovarian). Hormonal screening was performed, showing increased FSH and luteinizing hormone (LH) plus extremely low levels of estradiol. Pregnancy was excluded, as well as no abnormalities were revealed in the transvaginal and pelvic ultrasound. After a karyotype evaluation and search for Fragile X syndrome with no aberrations, they were diagnosed with POF. Moreover, two of the three patients were siblings leading to the hypothesis that may exist as a rare risk factor for this adverse effect.

Little and Ward (22) also reported a case of POF succeeding HPV vaccination, in a 16-year-old patient, who presented irregular menses after taking the quadrivalent vaccine, followed by oligomenorrhea and amenorrhea. Her hormone profile also showed high levels of FSH and LH and low levels of estradiol and anti-mullerian hormone (AMH), and after excluding pregnancy and genetic, endocrinal, and other causes, she was diagnosed with POF.

Problems of quadrivalent HPV vaccine introduction in the market were wisely pointed by Little and Ward (25). They reported three other cases of young women who develop POF after having quadrivalent HPV vaccine and questioned some issues about its safety. First, despite the fact that the vaccine protocol suggests three doses, in the preclinical studies for toxicity, only two boosters were given to the rats. Still, the animals' reproductive system was not analyzed in a long-term period. Moreover, the phase II and III clinical studies on safety of the vaccine regarding the fertility were not complete: half of the subjects studied were lost to follow-up at 1 year; some of the subjects were on hormone contraception methods, which could mask the ovarian insufficiency; they have not considered medical conditions that flourished more than 7 months after the vaccination as associated with the vaccine; and adverse effects were only reported 2 weeks after the boosters. Furthermore, the placebo used as control in the phase III safety studies of the quadrivalent HPV vaccine was aluminum, also present in the vaccine solution, which was already shown to play as an adjuvant in ASIA syndrome.

Thus, HPV vaccine is likely to be an important trigger in ASIA syndrome, including immuno-mediated endocrine disorders, such as POF. Due to long periods of intervals between the vaccine injections and the development of the ovarian insufficiency, it is questionable if there is indeed a causal relationship between them. However, as previously mentioned, the safety preclinical and clinical studies of HPV vaccine are lacking some information regarding fertility safety, and the side effects were shown to be able to appear even after months or years.

Other vaccines and adjuvants may also trigger POF, as well as other immuno-mediated endocrinopathies, like for instance, type 1-diabetes may be induced by the same adjuvants. Indeed, in a cohort study with 211 young female patients with autoimmune diseases and 857 matched controls, they showed that patients exposed to quadrivalent HPV vaccine were in a higher risk of developing type 1-diabetes mellitus (OR = 1.2) (45). Additionally, it was shown in a prospective cohort study (46) that some vaccines are related to increased levels of diabetes autoantibodies, such as antibody against glutamic acid decarboxylase (GADA) and tyrosine phosphatase (IA-2A). These autoantibodies, which are considered reliable markers for the disease process (47, 48), were more frequently found in the subjects who received hemophilus influenza B (HIB) vaccination (OR = 5.9 and 3.4 in IA-2A and GADA, respectively). Especially, the IA-2A serum concentrations were significantly higher in patients exposed to HIB. Also, BCG was correlated to an enhanced prevalence of IA-2A (p < 0.01). The previously mentioned studies suggest that ASIA syndrome, particularly post vaccination, and endocrinopathies might be linked.

AUTOIMMUNE THYROID DISEASE AND ASIA SYNDROME

During the last years, abundant case reports and series were published supporting that various autoimmune disorders may be induced by adjuvants and be enclosed under ASIA syndrome (4, 12). Despite the fact of being the most common autoimmune disorder, unexpectedly, we have revealed very few articles and case reports in the literature describing the induction of AITD by various adjuvants. In this section, we report that the relevant case descriptions of AITD were reported to be correlated to immunization and silicone implants.

Hernàn Martinez et al. (49) described a case of a 55-year-old man with a family history of autoimmune diseases and medical history of diabetes and psoriasis, who developed subacute thyroiditis shortly after the administration of an influenza vaccine. Subacute thyroiditis is a very rare disease, and the authors of the mentioned case concluded that the induction of the disease was a result of an interaction between the genetic predisposition and vaccination. Another similar case of subacute thyroiditis was reported in a 25-year-old female (50). The patient was admitted due to fever, swelling, and tender mass in the neck. Two days before her presentation, she received influenza vaccine (Vaxigrip). Biopsy of the thyroid has revealed multinuclear giant cell granulomas.

A previously healthy 36-year-old female presented with clinical symptoms of thyrotoxicosis including tachycardia, anxiety, and tenderness in her neck (51). One month before her presentation, she received H1N1 vaccine. Thyroid function tests confirmed remarkable thyrotoxicosis. Thyroid scintigraphy was performed and showed significant diffuse reduction in the technetium uptake. Therefore, a diagnosis of subacute thyroiditis was made. Moving to another type of adjuvant, cases of granulomatous inflammation of the thyroid have been reported with silicone breast implants (52). Vayssairat et al. (53) described two cases of HT after receiving a silicone gel-filled breast implants. Both cases were induced after a long period of incubation, the first case is a 45-year-old women who had bilateral silicone implant of the breast in 1976 and developed HT in 1991. In addition, the patient complained of other non-specific symptoms including fatigue, morning stiffness, and sicca syndrome. Thyroid ultrasonography

showed an enlarged thyroid gland with a diffusely hypoechogenic pattern. The implants were painful and removed, showing extremely dense connective tissue with fibrosis. The second case of HT presented with hyperthyroidism clinical manifestation, 10 years after the silicon implantation, reporting positive anti-TPO. The implants were again painful, and the patient developed positive antinuclear antibodies (ANA). An animal experiment aimed to evaluate the immunological adjuvancy potential of silicone gel taken from breast implants (54). The study has found that silicone gel is able to stimulate the production of autoantibodies to rat thyroglobulin and bovine collagen II. However, this immune reaction was not associated with any histological evidence of thyroiditis or arthritis.

A cohort study was performed to assess the risk of new onset autoimmune disease in young women exposed to human papillomavirus-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine in the United Kingdom (55). The study reported an incidence rate ratio (95% CI) of 3.75 (1.25–11.31) for autoimmune thyroiditis among females.

An animal study has reported that immunization of BALB/c mice with the extracellular domain of the human TSH receptor led to the production of TSH binding-inhibiting and thyroid-blocking antibodies accompanied by lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid (56).

REFERENCES

- Perricone C, Colafrancesco S, Mazor RD, Soriano A, Agmon-Levin N, Shoenfeld Y. Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA) 2013: unveiling the pathogenic, clinical and diagnostic aspects. *J Autoimmun* (2013) 47:1–16. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.10.004
- Vera-Lastra O, Medina G, Cruz-Dominguez MDP, Ramirez P, Gayosso-Rivera JA, Anduaga-Dominguez H, et al. Human adjuvant disease induced by foreign substances: a new model of ASIA (Shoenfeld's syndrome). *Lupus* (2012) 21:128–35. doi:10.1177/0961203311429317
- Meroni PL. Autoimmune or auto-inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA): old truths and a new syndrome? *J Autoimmun* (2011) 36:1–3. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.10.004
- Jara LJ, García-Collinot G, Medina G, Cruz-Dominguez MD, Vera-Lastra O, Carranza-Muleiro RA, et al. Severe manifestations of autoimmune syndrome induced by adjuvants (Shoenfeld's syndrome). *Immunol Res* (2016). doi:10.1007/s12026-016-8811-0
- Israeli E, Pardo A. The sick building syndrome as a part of the autoimmune (auto-inflammatory) syndrome induced by adjuvants. *Mod Rheumatol* (2011) 21:235–9. doi:10.1007/s10165-010-0380-9
- Shoenfeld Y, Agmon-Levin N. "ASIA" autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants. *J Autoimmun* (2011) 36:4–8. doi:10.1016/ j.jaut.2010.07.003
- Israeli E, Agmon-Levin N, Blank M, Shoenfeld Y. Macrophagic myofaciitis a vaccine (alum) autoimmune-related disease. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2011) 41:163–8. doi:10.1007/s12016-010-8212-4
- Arango M-T, Perricone C, Kivity S, Cipriano E, Ceccarelli F, Valesini G, et al. HLA-DRB1 the notorious gene in the mosaic of autoimmunity. *Immunol Res* (2016):1–17. doi:10.1007/s12026-016-8817-7
- Agmon-Levin N, Hughes GR, Shoenfeld Y. The spectrum of ASIA: "autoimmune (auto-inflammatory) Syndrome induced by adjuvants". *Lupus* (2012) 21:118–20. doi:10.1177/0961203311429316
- Vera-Lastra O, Medina G, Cruz-Dominguez MDP, Jara LJ, Shoenfeld Y. Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (Shoenfeld's syndrome): clinical and immunological spectrum. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2013) 9:361–73. doi:10.1586/eci.13.2

In summary, ASIA syndrome is being more recognized by physicians, and therefore, more studies and cases have reported the correlation of the exposure to various adjuvants with diverse autoimmune diseases. Still, very few clinical reports and animal models studies were published to show the relationship between endocrinopathies in general and AITD in particular with adjuvants. However, the clinical cases of HT and/or subacute thyroiditis were observed after the exposure to vaccines as well as silicone implantation. Therefore, we believe that the minority of cases is not owing to rarity of association between adjuvants and AITD rather than the lack of awareness among physicians of such association. Consequently, physicians must be mindful that thyroiditis and other thyroid disorders can be induced by diverse adjuvants and therefore to reconsider non-essential vaccination in genetically predisposed individuals for autoimmune diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AW, PD, SB, and YS designed the study and reviewed the literature on ASIA syndrome and thyroid autoimmunity. AW, PD, and SB wrote the manuscript. AW and YS edited the manuscript. All the authors have revised the paper and approved the final edition.

- Inbar R, Weiss R, Tomljenovic L, Arango MT, Deri Y, Shaw CA, et al. Behavioral abnormalities in young female mice following administration of aluminum adjuvants and the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine Gardasil. *Vaccine* (2016) pii:S0264-410X(16)00016-5. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.12.067
- Colaris MJL, de Boer M, van der Hulst RR, Cohen Tervaert JW. Two hundreds cases of ASIA syndrome following silicone implants: a comparative study of 30 years and a review of current literature. *Immunol Res* (2016). doi:10.1007/ s12026-016-8821-y
- Muzaffar AR, Rohrich RJ. The silicone gel-filled breast implant controversy: an update. *Plast Reconstr Surg* (2002) 109:742–7; quiz 748. doi:10.1097/00006534-200202000-00049
- Bar-Meir E, Teuber SS, Lin HC, Alosacie I, Goddard G, Terybery J, et al. Multiple autoantibodies in patients with silicone breast implants. *J Autoimmun* (1995) 8:267–77. doi:10.1006/jaut.1995.0020
- Maijers MC, de Blok CJM, Niessen FB, van der Veldt AAM, Ritt MJPF, Winters HAH, et al. Women with silicone breast implants and unexplained systemic symptoms: a descriptive cohort study. *Neth J Med* (2013) 71:534–40.
- Kahaly GJ, Hansen MP. Type 1 diabetes associated autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev (2016) 15:644–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.02.017
- Oldstone MBA. Molecular mimicry and autoimmune disease. *Cell* (1987) 50:819–20. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(87)90507-1
- Prabhakar BS, Bahn RS, Smith TJ. Current perspective on the pathogenesis of Graves' disease and ophthalmopathy. *Endocr Rev* (2003) 24:802–35. doi:10.1210/er.2002-0020
- Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, et al. Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANESIII). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:489–99. doi:10.1210/ jcem.87.2.8182
- Atkinson MA, Maclaren NK. The pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med (1994) 331:1428–36. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199411243312107
- Colafrancesco S, Perricone C, Tomljenovic L, Shoenfeld Y. Human papilloma virus vaccine and primary ovarian failure: another facet of the autoimmune/ inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2013) 70:309–16. doi:10.1111/aji.12151

- Little DT, Ward HRG. Premature ovarian failure 3 years after menarche in a 16-year-old girl following human papillomavirus vaccination. *BMJ Case Rep* (2012) 2012:2–4. doi:10.1136/bcr-2012-006879
- Gruber N, Shoenfeld Y. A link between human papilloma virus vaccination and primary ovarian insufficiency: current analysis. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* (2015) 27:265–70. doi:10.1097/GCO.00000000000183
- 24. Hawkes D, Buttery JP. Human papillomavirus vaccination and primary ovarian insufficiency: an association based on ideology rather than evidence. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 28:70–2. doi:10.1097/GCO.000000000 000240
- Little DT, Ward HRG. Adolescent premature ovarian insufficiency following human papillomavirus vaccination: a case series seen in general practice. J Investig Med High Impact Case Rep (2014) 2:2324709614556129. doi:10.1177/2324709614556129
- Nelson LM. Clinical practice. Primary ovarian insufficiency. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:606–14. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp0808697
- Kelkar RL, Meherji PK, Kadam SS, Gupta SK, Nandedkar TD. Circulating auto-antibodies against the zona pellucida and thyroid microsomal antigen in women with premature ovarian failure. *J Reprod Immunol* (2005) 66:53–67. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2005.02.003
- Chattopadhyay D, Sen MR, Katiyar P, Pandey LK. Antiovarian antibody in premature ovarian failure. *Indian J Med Sci* (1999) 53:254–8.
- Mande PV, Parikh FR, Hinduja I, Zaveri K, Vaidya R, Gajbhiye R, et al. Identification and validation of candidate biomarkers involved in human ovarian autoimmunity. *Reprod Biomed Online* (2011) 23:471–83. doi:10.1016/ j.rbmo.2011.06.013
- Petrikova J, Lazurova I. Ovarian failure and polycystic ovary syndrome. Autoimmun Rev (2012) 11:A471-8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.010
- Hoek A, Schoemaker J, Drexhage HA. Premature ovarian failure and ovarian autoimmunity. *Endocr Rev* (1997) 18:107–34. doi:10.1210/er.18.1.107
- Pugnet G, Ysebaert L, Bagheri H, Montastruc J-L, Laurent G. Immune thrombocytopenic purpura following human papillomavirus vaccination. *Vaccine* (2009) 27:3690. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.04.004
- Souayah N, Michas-Martin PA, Nasar A, Krivitskaya N, Yacoub HA, Khan H, et al. Guillain-Barré syndrome after Gardasil vaccination: data from Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System 2006-2009. *Vaccine* (2011) 29:886–9. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.09.020
- Alvarez-Soria MJ, Hernandez-Gonzalez A, Carrasco-Garcia de Leon S, del Real-Francia MA, Gallardo-Alcaniz MJ, Lopez-Gomez JL. [Demyelinating disease and vaccination of the human papillomavirus]. *Rev Neurol* (2011) 52:472–6.
- Gomes SM, Glover M, Malone M, Brogan P. Vasculitis following HPV immunization. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2013) 52:581–2. doi:10.1093/ rheumatology/kes168
- Gatto M, Agmon-Levin N, Soriano A, Manna R, Maoz-Segal R, Kivity S, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccine and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Rheumatol* (2013) 32:1301–7. doi:10.1007/s10067-013-2266-7
- Sutton I, Lahoria R, Tan I, Clouston P, Barnett M. CNS demyelination and quadrivalent HPV vaccination. *Mult Scler* (2009) 15:116–9. doi:10.1177/1352458508096868
- Israeli E, Agmon-Levin N, Blank M, Shoenfeld Y. Adjuvants and autoimmunity. Lupus (2009) 18:1217–25. doi:10.1177/0961203309345724
- Couette M, Boisse MF, Maison P, Brugieres P, Cesaro P, Chevalier X, et al. Long-term persistence of vaccine-derived aluminum hydroxide is associated with chronic cognitive dysfunction. *J Inorg Biochem* (2009) 103:1571–8. doi:10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2009.08.005
- Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Suissa S, Tardieu M. Hepatitis B vaccine and the risk of CNS inflammatory demyelination in childhood. *Neurology* (2009) 72:873–80. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000335762.42177.07
- Shivane A, Hilton DA, Moate RM, Bond PR, Endean A. Macrophagic myofasciitis: a report of second case from UK. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2012) 38:734–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2012.01293.x

- 42. Poser CM, Behan PO. Late onset of Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neuroimmunol (1982) 3:27–41. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(82)90016-9
- Gherardi RK, Authier F-J. Macrophagic myofasciitis: characterization and pathophysiology. *Lupus* (2012) 21:184–9. doi:10.1177/0961203311429557
- 44. Zafrir Y, Agmon-Levin N, Paz Z, Shilton T, Shoenfeld Y. Autoimmunity following hepatitis B vaccine as part of the spectrum of "autoimmune (auto-inflammatory) syndrome induced by adjuvants" (ASIA): analysis of 93 cases. *Lupus* (2012) 21:146–52. doi:10.1177/0961203311429318
- 45. Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Guillemot D, Godeau B, Bénichou J, Lebrun-Frenay C, Papeix C, et al. Autoimmune disorders and quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccination of young female subjects. *J Intern Med* (2014) 275:398–408. doi:10.1111/joim.12155
- Wahlberg J, Fredriksson J, Vaarala O, Ludvigsson J, Abis Study Group. Vaccinations may induce diabetes-related autoantibodies in one-year-old children. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2003) 1005:404–8. doi:10.1196/annals.1288.068
- Bingley PJ, Bonifacio E, Williams AJK, Genovese S, Bottazzo GF, Gale EA. Prediction of IDDM in the general population: strategies based on combinations of autoantibody markers. *Diabetes* (1997) 46:1701–10. doi:10.2337/ diab.46.11.1701
- Samuelsson UU, Sundkvist GG, Borg HH, Fernlund PP, Ludvigsson JJ. Islet autoantibodies in the prediction of diabetes in school children. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2001) 51:51–7. doi:10.1016/S0168-8227(00)00199-6
- Hernán Martinez J, Corder E, Uzcategui M, Garcia M, Sostre S, Garcia A. Subacute thyroiditis and dyserythropoesis after influenza vaccination suggesting immune dysregulation. *Bol Asoc Med P R* (2011) 103:48–52.
- Hsiao J-Y, Hsin S-C, Hsieh M-C, Hsia P-J, Shin S-J. Subacute thyroiditis following influenza vaccine (Vaxigrip) in a young female. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci* (2006) 22:297–300. doi:10.1016/S1607-551X(09)70315-8
- Girgis CM, Russo RR, Benson K. Subacute thyroiditis following the H1N1 vaccine. J Endocrinol Invest (2010) 33:506. doi:10.1007/BF03346633
- 52. Prebtani APH, Asa SL, Ezzat S. Is granulomatous thyroiditis a complication of breast implants? *Endocr Pathol* (2002) 13:239–44. doi:10.1385/EP:13:3:239
- Vayssairat M, Mimoun M, Houot B, Abuaf N, Rouquette AM, Chaouat M. [Hashimoto's thyroiditis and silicone breast implants: 2 cases]. *J Mal Vasc* (1997) 22:198–9.
- Naim JO, Lanzafame RJ, van Oss CJ. The effect of silicone-gel on the immune response. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed (1995) 7:123–32. doi:10.1163/1568562 95X00643
- Willame C, Rosillon D, Zima J, Angelo M-G, Stuurman AL, Vroling H, et al. Risk of new onset autoimmune disease in 9- to 25-year-old women exposed to human papillomavirus-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine in the United Kingdom. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2016) 18:1–10. doi:10.1080/21645515. 2016.1199308
- Costagliola S, Alcalde L, Tonacchera M, Ruf J, Vassart G, Ludgate M. Induction of thyrotropin receptor (TSH-R) autoantibodies and thyroiditis in mice immunised with the recombinant TSH-R. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1994) 199:1027–34. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1994.1332

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewers IR and SF and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Watad, David, Brown and Shoenfeld. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Autoimmunity and Function after Treatment with Biological Antirheumatic Agents in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Sofie Bliddal[†], Stina Willemoes Borresen[†] and Ulla Feldt-Rasmussen^{*}

Department of Medical Endocrinology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

With the increased pro-inflammatory response in both rheumatoid arthritis and thyroid autoimmune diseases, treatment with biological antirheumatic agents (BAAs) of the former may affect the course of the latter. In hepatitis C and cancer patients, treatment with biological agents substantially increases the risk of developing thyroid autoimmunity. As the use of BAAs in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis is increasing, this review aimed to investigate if such use affected thyroid status in rheumatoid arthritis patients. We conducted a systematic literature search and included six studies with a total of 311 patients as well as three case reports. The patients were treated with tumor necrosis factor- α inhibitors (infliximab, etanercept, or adalimumab) or the monoclonal CD20-antibody rituximab. There was a non-significant trend of slight improvement of both thyroid function and autoantibody status: a reduction of thyroid peroxidase and thyroglobulin antibody concentrations, and a reduction of thyrotropin levels in hypothyroid patients. Despite the small number of studies, they presented compliant data. The BAAs used in rheumatoid arthritis thus did not seem to negatively affect thyroid status in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and can be considered safe with regard to thyroid autoimmunity. However, the well-established association between rheumatic diseases and thyroid autoimmunity necessitates continued monitoring of thyroid function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Each new BAA should be scrutinized for its effect on thyroid as well as other autoimmune diseases in order to establish concise recommendations for patient follow-up for each agent and each disease.

Keywords: autoimmune thyroiditis, rheumatoid arthritis, biological antirheumatic agents, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves' disease, thyroperoxidase antibody, thyroglobulin antibody, tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroid diseases are the most common autoimmune diseases and are often associated with the presence of other organ-specific or non-organ-specific autoimmune diseases (1). The coexistence of thyroid autoimmunity and rheumatoid arthritis has been acknowledged for over a century (2). Population studies have confirmed an increased prevalence of autoimmune thyroid disease in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and conversely, an increased prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease (3, 4). Boelaert et al. (5) asked 3,286 thyroid patients to report other autoimmune diagnoses among themselves and their relatives. Rheumatoid arthritis was the most prevalent coexisting autoimmune disease occurring in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Antonelli, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Salvatore Benvenga, University of Messina, Italy Silvia Martina Ferrari, University of Pisa, Italy Flavia Di Bari, Policlinico di Messina, Italy

*Correspondence:

Ulla Feldt-Rasmussen ufeldt@rh.dk

[†]These authors have shared first authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 28 April 2017 **Accepted:** 07 July 2017 **Published:** 31 July 2017

Citation:

Bliddal S, Borresen SW and Feldt-Rasmussen U (2017) Thyroid Autoimmunity and Function after Treatment with Biological Antirheumatic Agents in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front. Endocrinol. 8:179. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00179

86

3.15% of patients with Graves' disease and 4.24% of patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (5). Similarly, Fallahi et al. (6) found a 2.4% prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in 3,069 patients with verified autoimmune thyroiditis, which was significantly higher than in patients with multinodular goiter and in thyroid-healthy age- and sex-matched controls (p < 0.0001). In a recent meta-analysis (7), patients with rheumatoid arthritis had a three times higher risk of having thyroid autoantibodies than healthy controls (thyroglobulin autoantibody (TgAb): OR 3.17 (2.24–4.49) and thyroglobulin autoantibody (TPOAb): OR 2.33 (1.24–4.39)].

Although an association between thyroid autoimmunity and rheumatoid arthritis has been demonstrated, the causality is not yet established. However, there is increasing awareness of a possible common pathogenesis behind autoimmune diseases potentially caused by an underlying immunological breach resulting in disruption of self-tolerance (8). It is generally believed that both autoimmune thyroid disease and rheumatoid arthritis occur as a result of multiple factors (genetic susceptibility, endogenous, and environmental) (1, 9, 10). A malfunctioning T and B cell regulation causing reactions against autoantigens is involved in both conditions with antibody production in rheumatoid arthritis (rheumatoid factor and anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide) and thyroid autoimmunity (thyroid peroxidase, thyroglobulin, and thyroid stimulating hormone receptor antibodies) (1). Such T and B cell regulation is highly complex, but is intertwined with expression of various cytokines. Both cytokine production and B cell function are among the targets of newer biological antirheumatic agents (BAAs), which are increasingly used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (11, 12). Current guidelines generally recommend treatment with BAAs when there is either insufficient response to treatment with the conventional disease modifying antirheumatic drugs or in the presence of unfavorable prognostic markers (autoantibodies, high disease activity, early erosions, and failure of two conventional disease modifying antirheumatic drugs) (11, 12). Although an increasing amount of antirheumatic agents exist, the most commonly used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis is the group of inhibitors of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). This pro-inflammatory cytokine plays a vital role in the immunological activation related to the autoimmune inflammatory patterns in rheumatoid arthritis. TNF- α expression has also been shown to be increased in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease, and therefore, treatment with TNF- α inhibitors could possibly effect thyroid autoimmune status as well (13). In previous studies of older immunomodulatory agents (e.g., interferon- α) in patients with multiple sclerosis and hepatitis C, it has long been known that thyroid autoimmunity develop in more than one-third of such patients (14-16). A mutual affection of the immune system in rheumatoid arthritis and thyroid autoimmunity makes the use of BAAs relevant also within the field of thyroid autoimmunity. The present review investigates the association between biological antirheumatic treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and affection of thyroid autoimmunity.

METHODS

In March 2017, a Medline literature search was performed using key terms of "rheumatoid arthritis," "thyroid," and alternately

generic and commercial names of known BAAs. Identified studies were initially screened by title and abstract, and full text retrieved for further scrutiny. Further, the reference lists of included studies were checked. Only original studies evaluating thyroid autoimmunity during treatment with BAAs for rheumatoid arthritis were eligible for inclusion. Case reports were included and presented separately. All relevant data were carefully extracted from each included paper and txabulated independently by two authors (Sofie Bliddal and Stina Willemoes Borresen). Extracted data included: first author, publication year, number of patients, the studied BAA, patients' other medication, follow-up, method and cut-off used for detecting thyroid antibodies, known autoimmune thyroid disease, and thyroid status including autoimmunity before and after treatment with the BAA. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus. In some studies, the proportion of patients with positive thyroid antibodies was not reported directly, but could be calculated from study data.

RESULTS

Study Characteristics

A total of 14 relevant articles were identified. Upon scrutiny, five articles failed to comply with the inclusion criteria or had insufficient outcome reports of thyroid status, leaving six included articles (17-22), in a total 311 patients, and three were case reports (23-25). The studies included five prospective cohort studies of previous BAA-naïve patients with rheumatoid arthritis (17-20,22) and one cross-sectional study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis who had received treatment with BAAs (Table 1) (21). The TNF- α inhibitors adalimumab (ADM), infliximab (INX), and etanercept (ETC) were used in three (17, 21, 22), four (18-21), and two (18, 21) studies, respectively. The monoclonal CD20 antibody rituximab (RIX) was used in two studies (20, 21). One of these was a cross-sectional study (21) and the other did not stratify results from patients treated with RIX from results of patients treated with the TNF- α inhibitor INX (20). One study (20) excluded patients with previously known thyroid disease, three studies (17, 21, 22) and two studies (18, 19) did not report whether they excluded these patients. All six studies reported the number of TPOAb-positive patients, and three studies (17, 20, 21) reported TgAb positivity. Additionally, two studies (20, 22) reported the TPOAb levels and one study (20) reported the TgAb levels. Two studies (20, 22) reported mean TSH and free thyroxine (FT4) levels.

Thyroid Autoimmunity

Biological antirheumatic treatment did not seem to affect the number of TPOAb-positive patients, which varied from 0 to 30% of patients at baseline and 0 to 25% at follow-up (**Figure 1A**; **Table 1**). Two studies reported a single patient turning TPOAb-positive after treatment with ADM (17, 22), and the number of TPOAb-positive patients was unchanged in two studies of INX (19) or INX/RIX (20), respectively. Likewise, only one TgAb-positive patient turned antibody-negative and none in a study of ADM (17) (**Figure 1B**). In the study of Caramaschi et al. (18), six patients treated with INX shifted from negative to positive thy-roid antibodies and four patients shifted from positive to negative

Bliddal et al.

TABLE 1 | Studies of thyroid status in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with BAAs.

Reference	Study group	BAA	Dosage	Other treatment	Antibody assay	Antibody cut-off	Bas	eline	Follow-up	Out	come
							Antibody positivity	Thyroid function		Antibody positivity	Thyroid function
Atzeni et al. (17)	20 RA pts (17 women)	ADM	40 mg/2 weeks	MTX: 20/20 (100%) GC: 13/20 (65%) NSAID: 14/20 (70%)	ICMA (immulite 2000, DPC)	TPOAb: 35 IU/mL TgAb: 40 IU/mL	TPOAb: 6/20 (30%) TgAb: 8/20 (40%)	HT: 3/20 (15%)	6 months	TPOAb: 5/20 (25%) TgAb: 8/20 (40%)	NA
Caramaschi et al. (18)	54 RA pts (46 women)	INX <i>n</i> = 43 ETC <i>n</i> = 11	INX 3 mg/kg on week 0, 2, 6 and every 8 weeks ETC 2 x 25 mg/week	MTX: 52/54 (96%) Azathioprine: 2/54 (4%)	ELISA	TPOAb: 35 IU/mL TgAb: 40 IU/mL	TPOAb: 6/54 (11%) TgAb: 7/54 (13%) +4 Ab positive pts ^a	NA	12 months	TPOAb: 6/54 (11%), TgAb: 7/54 (13%) (12 INX, 1 ETC) Shift Ab-neg to Ab-pos: 6 pts Shift Ab-pos to Ab-neg: 4 pts (INX) ^a	All euthyroid
Elkayam et al. (19)	26 RA pts (17 women)	INX	3 mg/kg on week 0, 2, 6, and every 8 weeks	MTX 26/26 (100%)	ELISA (Zeus Scientific)	TPOAb: 25 IU/mL	TPOAb: 0/26	NA	14 weeks	TPOAb: 0/26	NA
Kaklamanos et al. (20)	36 rheumatic pts ^b (28 women)	INX <i>n</i> = 18 (14 RA pts) RIX <i>n</i> = 18 (12 RA pts)	INX 200, 350, or 500 mg RIX 2 × 1,000 mg/2 weeks or 4 × 500 mg/week	MTX: 13/36 (36%) Prednisolone: 16/36 (44%) Leflunomide: 3/36 (8%) HCQ: 2/36 (6%)	CMIA (Architect i2000, Abbott)	TPOAb: 5.61 IU/mL TgAb: 4.11 IU/mL	TPOAb: $4/36 (11\%)$ TgAb: $6/36 (17\%)$ TPOAb level (mean ± SD): 36.8 ± 44.9 TgAb level (mean ± SD): 10.6 ± 7.1	TSH (mean ± SD): 1.7 ± 1.2 mU/L FT4 (mean ± SD): 15.3 ± 3.7 pmol/L	3 years	TPOAb: $4/36$ (11%) TgAb: $5/36$ (14%) TPOAb level (mean \pm SD): 20.2 \pm 16.7 TgAb level (mean \pm SD): 9.3 \pm 5.5	TSH (mean ± SD) 1.8 ± 1.2 mU/L FT4 (mean ± SD): 15.4 ± 3.6 pmol/l
Koszarny et al. (21)	37 RA pts with a history of BAA treatments	ADM, or RIX^{d}	NA	MTX, other DMARDs, prednisolone ^d	ELISA (Euroimmun)	TPOAb: 50 IU/mL TgAb: 100 IU/mL TRAb: 2 IU/mL	NA	NA	NA (cross- sectional)	TPOAb: 4/37 (11%) TgAb: 2/37 (5%)	NA
Raterman et al. (22)	138 RA pts with known thyroid status (106 women)	ADM	NA	MTX 108/138 (78%) Prednisolone 47/138 (34%) No. DMARDs used: 2–6	ELISA (Cobas® analyzer)	TPOAb: 34 IU/mL	TPOAb: 21/138 (15%) TPOAb level (median): 267 IU/mL	Mean TSH: 1.5 mU/L	6 months	TPOAb: 20/138 (15%) TPOAb level 201 IU/mL*	Mean TSH: 1.3 mU/L*

Thyroid Autoimmunity in Rheumatoid Arthritis

TABLE 1 | Continued

Reference	Study group BAA	udy group BAA Dosage C	Other treatment	-	Antibody cut-off	Baseline		Follow-up time	Outcome	
						Antibody positivity	Thyroid function		Antibody positivity	Thyroid functior
	Hypothyroid pts					TPOAb: 11/18 (61%) TPOAb level	18/138 (13%) Mean TSH:	6 months	TPOAb: 12/18 (67%) TPOAb level	16/138 (12%) Mean TSH:
						(median): 325 IU/mL	4.1 mU/L		(median) 282 IU/mL	3.5 mU/L
	Euthyroid pts					TPOAb: 9/113 (8%)	113/138 (82%)	6 months	TPOAb: 7/113 (6%)	7/138 (5%)
						TPOAb level (median): 114 IU/mL	Mean TSH: 1.4 mU/L		TPOAb level (median) 108 IU/mL	Mean TSH: 1.3 mU/L
	Hyperthyroid pts					TPOAb: 1/7 (14%)	7/138 (5%)	6 months	TPOAb: 1/7 (14%)	7/138 (5%)
						TPOAb level: 73 IU/mL	Mean TSH: 0.5 mU/L		TPOAb level 49 IU/mL	Mean TSH: 0.5 mU/L

^aNot reported whether TPOAb and/or TgAb.

^bTwenty-six patients with RA, six patients with SLE, four patients with sero-negative arthritis. The study further included three different control groups.

°The number of female patients not reported. The study also included 38 patients BAA-naïve RA patients.

^dThe number of patients treated with each drug not reported.

*p < 0.05 compared to baseline data.

ADM, adalimumab; BAAs, biological antirheumatic agents; CMIA, Chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay; ETC, etanercept; HCQ, Hydroxychloroquine; FT4, free thyroxine; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; ICMA,

immunochemiluminescence assay; INX, infliximab; MTX, methotrexate; NA, data not available; pts, patients; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RIX, rituximab; TgAbs, thyroglobulin autoantibodies; TPOAbs, thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies; TRAbs, thyrotropin receptor autoantibodies.



FIGURE 1 | Proportion of TPOAb-positive **(A)** and TgAb-positive **(B)** patients at baseline and follow-up in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with biological antirheumatic agents (BAAs). Studies are presented by first author name (reference number) (BAA). *In four patients at baseline and six patients at follow-up, no distinction was made between TPOAb-positivity and TgAb-positivity, and thus the reported thyroid autoantibody prevalence was included in both Figures 1A,B. Abbreviations: ADM, adalimumab; ETC, etanercept; INX, infliximab; RIX, rituximab; NA, not available. TgAb, thyroglobulin autoantibody; TPOAb, thyroid peroxidase autoantibody.

antibodies (no distinction was made between TPOAb and TgAb positivity). In a cross-sectional study (21), TPOAb-positivity was found in 4/37 (11%) patients with a history of biological antirheumatic treatment, which was similar to the 3/38 (8%) of patients who were BAA-naïve. The corresponding numbers of TgAb-positive patients were 2/37 (5%) and 4/38 (11%) for patients who had or had not received biological antirheumatic treatment, respectively.

Decreased or unchanged thyroid antibody levels were reported in two studies. In Raterman et al. (22), the mean TPOAb concentration decreased from 267 to 201 IU/mL (p = 0.048) in

TPOAb-positive patients after 6 months of treatment with ADM. In Kaklamanos et al. (20), mean TPOAb concentration decreased insignificantly from 36.8 to 20.2 IU/mL in TPOAb-positive patients after 24–40 months treatment with INX or RIX. Likewise, mean TgAb concentration was unaffected in TgAb-positive patients (mean TgAb level 10.6–9.3 IU/mL) (20).

Thyroid Function

Two studies investigated changes in thyroid function before and after biological antirheumatic treatment (20, 22). In Raterman et al. (22), treatment with ADM led to a decrease in mean TSH level from 1.5 to 1.3 mU/L (p = 0.0014) in the total group, whereas FT4 levels did not change. The decrease in TSH was larger in (previous) hypothyroid patients compared with euthyroid patients, but TSH also decreased in 8/10 of the hypothyroid patients who were not treated with L-thyroxine. Two of these patients became euthyroid after 6 months treatment with ADM (22). In Kaklamanos et al. (20), mean TSH changed from 1.7 to 1.8 IU/L, and FT4 changed from 15.3 to 15.4 pmol/L, yet both not significantly.

Cases

Our search revealed three case reports of autoimmune thyroiditis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with a BAA. Two cases (23, 24) reported hyperthyroidism in patients treated with anti-TNF α . The first case (23) reported transient hyperthyroidism, lasting 1 month, in a patient after 6 months of treatment with ETC (TPOAb and TgAb negative, TRAb not measured). In a second case report (24), a 70-year-old women developed Graves' disease after 8 years of treatment with ADM. Interestingly, one case reported improvement of previously known autoimmune hypothyroidism in a patient after treatment with RIX (25). TPOAbs declined to undetectable levels after 6 months of treatment with RIX, and in an unchanged L-thyroxine dose the patient became clinically hyperthyroid with a TSH decline from 1.18 to 0.10 mU/L (25).

DISCUSSION

The present review showed that the BAAs used to treat rheumatoid arthritis did not seem to induce or worsen autoimmune thyroid disease. On the contrary, there was a tendency toward a positive effect; a reduction of TPOAb and TgAb concentrations and a reduction of TSH levels in hypothyroid patients. Despite the small number of included studies with diverse immunomodulatory agents (mainly TNF- α inhibitors, a few of RIX), the studies presented compliant data.

Due to its multiple immunological mechanisms, TNF- α has been previously investigated in thyroid patients. Both hypo- and hyperthyroid patients had significantly higher levels of TNF- α compared to controls, and in hyperthyroid patients successful treatment led to normalization of TNF- α levels (13). However, as demonstrated in the cases reported by van Lieshout (24) and Allanore (23), hyperthyroidism was diagnosed after initiation of anti-TNF- α therapy. It is difficult to assess whether this could be attributed to the treatment or an incidental finding due to a general susceptibility toward autoimmune thyroid disease in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (8). Also, autoimmune thyroid disease has been previously reported to fluctuate between hypo- and hyperthyroidism according to the prevailing subtype of (stimulating or blocking) thyrotropin receptor antibodies

REFERENCES

1. Weetman AP. Diseases associated with thyroid autoimmunity: explanations for the expanding spectrum. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2011) 74:411–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03855.x

(26). These were not measured in the studies included in this review. Based on the results in the present review, alterations in thyroid autoimmune status upon anti-TNF- α treatment seem to be a minor concern and may very well be overshadowed by the potential benefit of such treatment—both in regard to the rheumatoid disease and possibly the thyroid autoimmune status.

Use of RIX, a monoclonal CD20 antibody causing B-celldepletion, did not lead to significant changes in thyroid status or autoimmunity (TPOAbs/TgAbs) in the study by Kaklamanos et al. (20). In the case by Raterman et al. (25), treatment with RIX for rheumatoid arthritis may have affected the coexisting autoimmune hypothyroidism causing a shift to a (iatrogenic) hyperthyroid state after a few months of treatment with RIX and unchanged L-thyroxine dose. However, thyrotropin receptor antibody levels were not reported in the studies and no distinction was made between thyroid disease entities (Hashimoto's vs. Graves' disease). In Graves' disease complicated by moderate/severe orbitopathy, treatment with RIX has shown promising results (27, 28).

Unlike the known thyroidal side effects of immunomodulatory agents used in hepatitis C and cancer treatment, the immunomodulatory agents (anti-TNF- α and RIX) used in treatment of rheumatoid arthritis did not lead to significant changes in thyroid function nor autoimmunity. However, the well-established association between rheumatic diseases and thyroid autoimmunity necessitates continued monitoring of thyroid function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and *vice versa* (5, 8, 29). Finally, it is advised to scrutinize each new immunomodulatory agent for its effect on thyroid as well as other autoimmune diseases and for each disease to be treated, in order to establish concise recommendations for follow-up of each agent and each disease (30).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB and SWB are shared first authors and equally made primary contributions to data collection and analysis, interpretation of results, and writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed substantially to the study conception and design, interpretation of results, critical and intellectual revision of the manuscript, and all approved the final manuscript for publication.

FUNDING

SB's salary was funded by an unrestricted grant from the Research Foundation of Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet, and from the Musikforlaeggerne Agnes and Knut Mørks Foundation. SWB's salary was funded by an unrestricted grant from the Research Foundation of Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet. UF-R's salary was partly funded by an unrestricted grant from the Novo Nordic Foundation.

- Jones RL. Graves's disease in association with rheumatoid arthritis. Br Med J (1903) 1:1015–7. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.2209.1015
- Somers EC, Thomas SL, Smeeth L, Hall AJ. Are individuals with an autoimmune disease at higher risk of a second autoimmune disorder? *Am J Epidemiol* (2009) 169:749–55. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn408

- Bengtsson C, Padyukov L, Kallberg H, Saevarsdottir S. Thyroxin substitution and the risk of developing rheumatoid arthritis; results from the Swedish population-based EIRA study. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2014) 73:1096–100. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-203354
- Boelaert K, Newby PR, Simmonds MJ, Holder RL, Carr-Smith JD, Heward JM, et al. Prevalence and relative risk of other autoimmune diseases in subjects with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Am J Med* (2010) 123:183–9. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.06.030
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Pan XF, Gu JQ, Shan ZY. Increased risk of thyroid autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endocrine* (2015) 50:79–86. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0533-x
- Rojas-Villarraga A, Amaya-Amaya J, Rodriguez-Rodriguez A, Mantilla RD, Anaya JM. Introducing polyautoimmunity: secondary autoimmune diseases no longer exist. *Autoimmune Dis* (2012) 2012:254319. doi:10.1155/2012/ 254319
- 9. Weetman AP. The immunopathogenesis of chronic autoimmune thyroiditis one century after Hashimoto. *Eur Thyroid J* (2013) 1:243–50. doi:10.1159/000343834
- McInnes IB, Schett G. The pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365:2205–19. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1004965
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL Jr, Akl EA, Bannuru RR, Sullivan MC, et al. 2015 American College of Rheumatology guideline for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68:1–26. doi:10.1002/ art.39480
- Smolen JS, Landewe R, Bijlsma J, Burmester G, Chatzidionysiou K, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2016 update. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2017) 76:960–77. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2016-210715
- Diez JJ, Hernanz A, Medina S, Bayon C, Iglesias P. Serum concentrations of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and soluble TNF-alpha receptor p55 in patients with hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism before and after normalization of thyroid function. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 57:515–21. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01629.x
- Coles AJ, Wing M, Smith S, Coraddu F, Greer S, Taylor C, et al. Pulsed monoclonal antibody treatment and autoimmune thyroid disease in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* (1999) 354:1691–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99) 02429-0
- Mandac JC, Chaudhry S, Sherman KE, Tomer Y. The clinical and physiological spectrum of interferon-alpha induced thyroiditis: toward a new classification. *Hepatology* (2006) 43:661–72. doi:10.1002/hep.21146
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P. Hepatitis C: thyroid dysfunction in patients with hepatitis C on IFN-alpha therapy. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2009) 6:633–5. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2009.168
- Atzeni F, Doria A, Ghirardello A, Villalta D, Zampieri S, Carrabba M, et al. Organ-specific autoantibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with adalimumab: a prospective long-term follow-up. *Autoimmunity* (2008) 41:87–91. doi:10.1080/08916930701620050
- Caramaschi P, Biasi D, Colombatti M, Pieropan S, Martinelli N, Carletto A, et al. Anti-TNFalpha therapy in rheumatoid arthritis and autoimmunity. *Rheumatol Int* (2006) 26:209–14. doi:10.1007/s00296-004-0542-1

- Elkayam O, Burke M, Vardinon N, Zakut V, Yitzhak RB, Paran D, et al. Autoantibodies profile of rheumatoid arthritis patients during treatment with infliximab. *Autoimmunity* (2005) 38:155–60. doi:10.1080/ 08916930400021378
- Kaklamanos M, Thomas D, Pikazis D, Kaltsas G. Thyroid-specific changes following treatment with biological therapies in patients with rheumatic diseases. *Endocrine* (2015) 50:146–53. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0551-8
- Koszarny A, Majdan M, Suszek D, Wielosz E, Dryglewska M. Relationship between rheumatoid arthritis activity and antithyroid antibodies. *Pol Arch Med Wewn* (2013) 123:394–400.
- 22. Raterman HG, Jamnitski A, Lems WF, Voskuyl AE, Dijkmans BA, Bos WH, et al. Improvement of thyroid function in hypothyroid patients with rheumatoid arthritis after 6 months of adalimumab treatment: a pilot study. *J Rheumatol* (2011) 38:247–51. doi:10.3899/jrheum.100488
- Allanore Y, Bremont C, Kahan A, Menkes CJ. Transient hyperthyroidism in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis treated by etanercept. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2001) 19:356–7.
- van Lieshout AW, Creemers MC, Radstake TR, Elving LD, van Riel PL. Graves' disease in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis during treatment with anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Rheumatol* (2008) 35:938–9.
- Raterman HG, Simsek S, Lems WF, Meesters EW, Dijkmans BA, Nurmohamed MT. Rituximab and thyroid function. Arch Intern Med (2009) 169:1073–4. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2009.116
- 26. DeGroot LJ. Diagnosis and treatment of diseases of lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. In: De Groot LJ, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Feingold KR, Grossman A, Hershman JM, et al., editors. *Endotext*, [Internet]. South Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com, Inc. (2016).
- Salvi M, Vannucchi G, Beck-Peccoz P. Potential utility of rituximab for Graves' orbitopathy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98:4291–9. doi:10.1210/ jc.2013-1804
- Salvi M, Vannucchi G, Curro N, Campi I, Covelli D, Dazzi D, et al. Efficacy of B-cell targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with active moderate to severe Graves' orbitopathy: a randomized controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:422–31. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-3014
- Nakamura H, Usa T, Motomura M, Ichikawa T, Nakao K, Kawasaki E, et al. Prevalence of interrelated autoantibodies in thyroid diseases and autoimmune disorders. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2008) 31:861–5. doi:10.1007/ BF03346432
- Feldt-Rasmussen U. Increased risk of thyroid autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Endocrine* (2015) 50:4–5. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0671-1

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer, SF, and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Bliddal, Borresen and Feldt-Rasmussen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Daily Consumption of Cola Can Determine Hypocalcemia: A Case Report of Postsurgical Hypoparathyroidism-Related Hypocalcemia Refractory to Supplemental Therapy with High Doses of Oral Calcium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carla Giordano1*

Bernadette Biondi, University of Naples Federico II, Italv

Reviewed by:

Marco Centanni, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Giampaolo Papi, Ausl Modena, Italy

*Correspondence:

Carla Giordano carla.giordano@unipa.it

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 03 November 2016 Accepted: 10 January 2017 Published: 26 January 2017

Citation:

Guarnotta V, Riela S, Massaro M, Bonventre S, Inviati A, Ciresi A, Pizzolanti G, Benvenga S and Giordano C (2017) The Daily Consumption of Cola Can Determine Hypocalcemia: A Case Report of Postsurgical Hypoparathyroidism-Related Hypocalcemia Refractory to Supplemental Therapy with High Doses of Oral Calcium. Front. Endocrinol. 8:7. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00007 ¹Biomedical Department of Internal and Specialist Medicine (DIBIMIS), Section of Endocrine-Metabolic Diseases, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ²Department of Science and Technologies Biological Chemical and Pharmaceutical (STEBICEF), Section of Chemistry, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ³Department of General, Emergency and Transplant Surgery, Unit of General and Emergency Surgery, P. Giaccone Policlinico, Palermo, Italy, ⁴Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Endocrinology, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

Valentina Guarnotta^{1†}, Serena Riela^{2†}, Marina Massaro², Sebastiano Bonventre³, Angela Inviati³, Alessandro Ciresi¹, Giuseppe Pizzolanti¹, Salvatore Benvenga⁴ and

The consumption of soft drinks is a crucial factor in determining persistent hypocalcemia. The aim of the study is to evaluate the biochemical mechanisms inducing hypocalcemia in a female patient with usual high consumption of cola drink and persistent hypocalcemia, who failed to respond to high doses of calcium and calcitriol supplementation. At baseline and after pentagastrin injection, gastric secretion (Gs) and duodenal secretion (Ds) samples were collected and calcium and total phosphorus (Ptot) concentrations were evaluated. At the same time, blood calcium, Ptot, sodium, potassium, chloride, magnesium concentrations, and vitamin D were sampled. After intake of cola (1 L) over 180 min, Gs and Ds and blood were collected and characterized in order to analyze the amount of calcium and Ptot or sodium, potassium, magnesium, and chloride ions, respectively. A strong pH decrease was observed after cola intake with an increase in phosphorus concentration. Consequently, a decrease in calcium concentration in Gs and Ds was observed. A decrease in calcium concentration was also observed in blood. In conclusion, we confirm that in patients with postsurgical hypoparathyroidism, the intake of large amounts of cola containing high amounts of phosphoric acid reduces calcium absorption efficiency despite the high doses of calcium therapy.

Keywords: hypocalcemia, cola, hypoparathyroidism, hyperphosphatemia, calcium absorption

INTRODUCTION

The consumption of soft drinks, full of phosphoric acid, is a potential factor determining hypocalcemia, notably in patients with hypoparathyroidism. Postoperative hypoparathyroidism and subsequent hypocalcemia are the most frequent complications of total thyroidectomy. Generally, postoperative hypoparathyroidism is associated with transient hypocalcemia. Indeed about 60–70% of cases of postoperative hypocalcemia resolve within 4–6 weeks after surgery, while about 2–10% of patients develop chronic hypoparathyroidism and hypocalcemia (1). Only a small proportion of thyroidectomized patients receiving supplemental calcium therapy remains hypocalcemic (2, 3). Some patients' treatment fails to respond to calcium supplementation because of unrecognized celiac disease or, less frequently, through unknown causes.

In both the clinical (4, 5) and experimental settings (6), heavy consumption of cola soft drinks is associated with hypocalcemia, and with increased risk of bone fractures (7–9). Indeed, it is well known that in patients with normally functioning parathyroids, oral or parenteral phosphate intake can decrease serum calcium levels by reducing calcium intestinal absorption or increasing calcium excretion (10).

Therefore, patients with postoperative hypoparathyroidism may appear to be more fragile than other patients, if exposed to high doses of cola.

Here, we describe the case of a patient with postsurgical hypoparathyroidism-related hypocalcemia who was treated with high doses of oral calcium and calcitriol supplements, without reaching a good control of calcium levels.

BACKGROUND

A 28-year-old woman was hospitalized in our Section of Endocrinology with severe and recurrent hypocalcemic crises (12 times/year). She had undergone total thyroidectomy 8 months before our observation, with postsurgical hypoparathyroidism. She was treated with oral calcium carbonate (10 g/day), calcitriol (2 µg/day), and levo-thyroxine (125 µg/day). Serum total calcemia and phosphoremia were 6 and 5 mg/dL, respectively. Renal, hepatic functions, and serum electrophoretogram were normal. Urinary calcium and phosphorus ions were increased, while calcitonin levels were detectable, due to the persistence of a minimal micro thyroid tissue of 5 mm (Table 1). Celiac disease was excluded based on negativity for serum antibodies (anti-tissue transglutaminase and anti-endomysial), small bowel biopsy, and genetic testing (human leukocyte antigen test). Attempts to normalize calcemia with other calcium formulations (calcium carbonate plus gluconate, calcium lactate, and calcium citrate) were unsuccessful.

Careful evaluation of the patient's history revealed satisfactory compliance with the medical treatment but also habitual heavy daily cola consumption (about 2 L/day). We attempted a complete withdrawal of cola for 2 weeks, and the patient restored normal concentrations of both calcium and phosphorus ions in serum and urine (**Table 1**). Accordingly, the daily dose of calcium carbonate and calcitriol was decreased from 10 to 5 g/day and from 2 to 1 μ g/day, respectively.

To understand the reasons for this significant decrease in calcium supplementation treatment, we designed a protocol evaluating the effect of oral diet cola intake on calcium absorption in the stomach and duodenum. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the University of Palermo/Policlinico Paolo Giaccone committee with written informed consent from the subject. Patient gave written informed $\label{eq:table_table_table} \textbf{TABLE 1} \mid \textbf{Baseline clinical and biochemical parameters at first observation and after the interruption of cola's intake.$

Parameters	Baseline	After cola's interruption
Weight (kg)	66	67
BMI (kg/m²)	25.2	25.6
Urea (mg/dL)	24	34
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.9	0.8
Na+ (mEq/L)	138	140
K+ (mEq/L)	3.9	4.7
Cl+ (mEq/L)	98	105
Ca ²⁺ (mg/dL)	7	9.4
P (mg/dL)	6.5	4.7
Mg ²⁺ (mg/dL)	1.6	1.7
Albumin (g/dL)	4.1	4.2
Total proteins (g/dL)	7.2	7.4
25 hydroxy vitamin D (ng/mL)	9.7	15.6
Parathyroid hormone (pg/mL)	1	1
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	16	19.6
Osteocalcin (ng/mL)	15	12
Glycemia (mg/dL)	84	78
Urinary calcium/24 h (g/day)	45	30
Urinary phosphorus/24 h (g/day)	70	29
AST (U/L)	15	14
ALT (U/L)	16	18
Beta C-terminal telopeptide (ng/mL)	0.2	0.2
TSH (µU/mL)	2.1	1.8
FT4 (ng/dL)	0.9	1
FT3 (pg/mL)	3.5	3.9
Calcitonin (pg/mL)	1.9	1.6

consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the recommendations of the University of Palermo/Policlinico Paolo Giaccone committee.

After an overnight fast, multilumen manometric probes in combination with an open-end tip were endoscopically placed *via* the nasal passage to take gastric secretion (Gs) and duodenal secretion (Ds). The baseline Gs pH was 2.6.

An hour before the experimental procedure, a single dose of calcium carbonate (2 g) was administered orally to the patient. At baseline, 10 mL of Gs and Ds samples were obtained, and calcium and total phosphorus ($P_{tot} = H_3PO_4$, $H_2PO_4^-$, HPO_4^{2-} , and PO_4^{3-}) concentrations were evaluated. In addition, the calcium, P_{tot} , sodium, potassium, magnesium, chloride, and vitamin D concentrations in the blood were evaluated.

Pentagastrin (6 μ g/kg) was injected to stimulate Gs. After 5 and 30 min, Gs and blood samples were collected and the concentrations of calcium, P_{tot}, sodium, potassium, magnesium, and chloride ions were estimated.

Afterward, the patient orally took 1 L of diet cola, without sugar, to avoid the simulation of endogenous insulin secretion and intracellular phosphate shift, over 180 min (330 mL every 60 min). Gs was drawn from the stomach every 15 min over 180 min after administration of cola, whereas Ds was collected at times 60, 75, 120, and 180 min. In addition, blood samples were obtained every 30 min over 180 min (**Figure 1**). At the end of the procedure, a urine sample was collected for determination of the urinary calcium and phosphorus.

The day after, pH monitoring was done by placing a pH probe (5 cm) above the upper border of the manometrically determined lower esophageal sphincter.



FIGURE 1 | Gastric secretion (Gs) analysis during pentagastrin stimulation (a) and cola intake (b). (A) pH changes in gastric content. (C) Ca changes in gastric content. (E) Total phosphorus (P_{tot}) changes in gastric content. Duodenal secretion (Ds) changes before (time 0) and after cola intake. (B) pH changes in duodenal content. (D) Ca changes in duodenal content. (F) P_{tot} changes in duodenal content.

In basal conditions, serum calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, sodium, potassium, chloride, glycemia, and urinary calcium and phosphorus were in the normal range (results not shown), as were the gastric and duodenal P_{tot} levels (**Figure 1**). A pentagastrin injection caused a slight decrease in pH after 5 min followed by an increase over 60 min (**Figure 1**). No differences were observed for serum and urinary parameters (results not shown). A slight change in gastric calcium and phosphorus was observed from 5 to 30 min after a pentagastrin injection, whereas a remarkable increase in P_{tot} level was observed after 60 min (**Figure 1**).

Cola drinking caused a strong decrease in pH value (**Figure 1**), and both in stomach and in duodenum, a strong reduction of calcium concentration and a concomitant increase of phosphorus concentration (**Figure 1**) were detected.

A similar trend was observed in serum, namely a decrease in calcium concentration (9.4 vs. 8.0 mg/dL) and an increase in the phosphorus one (3.8 vs. 5.6 mg/dL). In addition, increases in the calcium/creatinine ratio (29.2 vs. 48.4) and phosphorus/ creatinine ratio (67.8 vs. 109.8) were observed. No differences in sodium, potassium, chloride, magnesium, and glycemia levels were detected (results not shown).

Slight but not significant gastroduodenal reflux was detected by the pH meter.

DISCUSSION

This report describes a case of a patient with severe hypocalcemia secondary to iatrogenic hypoparathyroidism, who because of cola consumption was not responsive to high doses of oral calcium and calcitriol supplementation.

As is well known, calcium is generally absorbed by two general mechanisms in the small intestine. The transcellular active process, located in the duodenum and upper jejunum, involves three major steps: calcium entry across the brush border by calcium transport protein (CaT1); intracellular diffusion, mediated largely by calbindin; and extrusion, mediated by calcium pumps ATPase dependent calcium pumps. The paracellular, passive mechanism occurs in the entire intestine. When calcium intake is low, transcellular calcium transport accounts for a large fraction of the absorbed calcium. When calcium intake is high, transcellular transport accounts for a small part of the absorbed calcium, because CaT1 and calbindin are downregulated (11).

It has been reported that the precipitation of calcium phosphate salts is initiated by a reaction of the calcium and hydrogen phosphate ions, leading to calcium hydrogen phosphate (12–14). The maximal product of the molar concentrations of these ions, which can exist in solution without precipitation, defines their solubility product. When this solubility product exceeds the normal value, precipitation occurs. The solubility product for calcium hydrogen phosphate has been estimated *in vitro* under physiological conditions of temperature, ionic strength, pH, and comparable Ca/P molar concentration ratios (11, 12), and the estimates range from 2.4 to 2.5×10^{-6} mol/L.

As is well known, cola represents a strong exogenous source of phosphate, due to high phosphorus content (about 15-20 mg/ dL), more than other carbonated soft drinks (15). In this case, the consumption of cola (330 mL every 60 min) caused a sudden change in the pH gastric values as a consequence of the strong cola acidity (pH 1.8). The effect of cola on the calcium concentration seems to be connected to its high phosphate concentration. Indeed, when the cola drink was ingested a considerable decrease in the calcium concentration and, of course, an increase in the phosphorus concentration was observed. After this effect, due to the formation of calcium phosphate species, an increase in both calcium and phosphorus concentrations was detected, probably due to slow release (dissociation) of calcium and phosphorus species. The intake of a second (after 60 min) and third (after 120 min) cola drink caused a qualitatively comparable effect on the calcium and phosphorus ions. Notably, only a small concentration of Ca²⁺ ions is available during the consumption of cola. These effects were observed both in stomach and in duodenum. Indeed, the intestinal content variations largely reflect those of the stomach.

Unexpectedly, a small pH variation was observed during the experimental procedure. Indeed, after the first significant change from 2.54 up to 1.92, the pH value seems to fluctuate around 2.2 ± 0.2 .

A comparison between the gastric calcium and phosphorus levels after pentagastrin stimulation and cola intake might suggest that cola has the effect of slowing down the reset of the initial calcium concentration and increasing phosphorus levels, more

REFERENCES

- Lorente-Poch L, Sancho JJ, Munoz-Nova JL, Sanchez-Velazquez P, Sitges-Serra A. Defining the syndromes of parathyroid failure after total thyroidectomy. *Gland Surg* (2015) 4:82–90. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2227-684X.2014.12.04
- Bhattacharyya N, Fried MP. Assessment of the morbidity and complications of total thyroidectomy. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* (2002) 128:389–92. doi:10.1001/archotol.128.4.389
- 3. Moore FD. Oral calcium supplements to enhance early hospital discharge after bilateral surgical treatment of the thyroid gland or exploration of the parathyroid glands. *J Am Coll Surg* (1994) 178:11–6.

than pentagastrin (**Figure 1**). Consequently, the low intestinal calcium absorption caused a sudden decrease in serum calcium levels and an increase in phosphorus serum levels. As expected, the absence of parathyroid glands caused a sharp increase in tubular phosphate reabsorption during cola intake.

Our data show that phosphorus ions lower serum calcium levels by a simple physicochemical precipitation of calcium hydrogen phosphate as its solubility product exceeds the normal value.

Other previous reports described a significant effect of cola on bone (9). Indeed, diets full of phosphorus and low in calcium lead to complexes that reduce serum calcium, stimulating PTH, which, in turn, causes bone resorption. High dietary phosphorus has been demonstrated to cause bone loss in animals (16). In addition, in another study, cola was given to ovariectomized rats with subsequent hypocalcemia and loss of bone mineral density. However, a limit of the current study is not to have evaluated the direct effect of caffeine on hypocalcemia, using a decaffeinated cola. Both caffeine and coffee can stimulate gastric acid secretion and decaffeinated coffee raises serum gastrin levels (17–19), even though the amount of caffeine in cola is not very high.

These findings suggest that in patients with postsurgical hypoparathyroidism, the intake of large amounts of phosphoric acid may reduce calcium absorption efficiency despite the high doses of calcium therapy, because the deficient PTH cannot balance hyperphosphatemia. However, further research is required in order to confirm the results observed.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The evidence of severe hypocalcemia in patients with hypoparathyroidism requires evaluation of the causal factors. In patients taking high doses of calcium without benefits, the intake of cola drinks should always be considered, and when hypoparathyroidism is also present, a low phosphorus diet is advisable.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VG, AC, GP, SB, and CG analyzed and interpreted the patient data regarding the clinical and hematological aspects. SR and MM analyzed the chemical data from Gs and Ds samples. SB and AI performed the experimental procedure introducing the probes in the stomach and duodenum. VG, SR, and SB contributed in writing the manuscript. All the authors revised and approved the final manuscript and agreed to be accountable for the content of the work.

- Docimo G, Tolone S, Pasquali D, Conzo G, D'Alessandro A, Casalino G, et al. Role of pre and post-operative oral calcium and vitamin D supplements in prevention of hypocalcemia after total thyroidectomy. *G Chir* (2012) 33:374–8.
- Mazariegos-Ramos E, Rodriguez-Moran M, Guerrero-Romero JF, Paniagua R, Amato D. Consumption of soft drinks with fosforic acid as a risk factor for the development of hypocalcemia in children, a case control study. *J Pediatrics* (1995) 126:940–2. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(95)70215-6
- Guerrero-Romero F, Rodriguez-Moran M, Reyes E. Consumption of soft drinks with phosphoric acid as a risk factor for the development of hypocalcemia in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Epidemiol* (1999) 52:1007–10. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(99)00097-9

- Amato A, Maravilla Montoya C, Gaja O, Revilla C, Guerra R. Acute effects of soft drink intake on calcium and phosphate metabolism in immature and adults rats. *Rev Invest Clin* (1998) 50:185–9.
- Wyshak G, Frisch RE. Carbonated beverages, dietary calcium, the dietary calcium/phosphorus ratio, and bone fractures in girls and boys/carbonated beverage consumption and bone density among older women: the Rancho Bernardo Study. J Adolesc Health (1994) 15:210–5. doi:10.1016/1054-139X(94)90506-1
- Moran JM, Lopez-Arza LG, Lavado-Garcia JM, Pedrera-Canal M, Rey-Sanchez P, Rodriguez-Velasco FJ, et al. Hormonal relationships to bone mass in elderly Spanish men as influenced by dietary calcium and vitamin D. *Nutrients* (2013) 5:4924–37. doi:10.3390/nu5124924
- Tucker KL, Morita K, Qiao N, Hannan MT, Cupples LA, Kiel DP. Colas, but not other carbonated beverages, are associated with low bone mineral density in older women: the Framingham Osteoporosis Study. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2006) 84:936–42.
- Herbert L, Lemann J, Petersen J, Lennon E. Studies of the mechanism by which phosphate infusion lowers serum calcium concentration. *J Clin Invest* (1966) 45:1886–94. doi:10.1172/JCI105493
- 12. Shear MJ, Kramer B. Composition of bone. III. Physicochemical mechanism. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 79:125–45.
- 13. McLean FC, Hinrichs MA. The formation and behavior of colloidal calcium phosphate in the blood. *Amer J Physiol* (1938) 121:580–8.
- Harris VW, Jan De Beur S. Postoperative hypoparathyroidism: medical and surgical therapeutic options. *Thyroid* (2009) 19:967–73. doi:10.1089/ thy.2008.0306

- Hebert LA, Lemann J Jr, Petersen JR, Lennon EJ. Studies of the mechanism by which phosphate infusion lowers serum calcium concentration. *J Clin Invest* (1966) 45:1886–94. doi:10.1172/JCI105493
- Massey LK, Strang MM. Soft drink consumption, phosphorus intake, and osteoporosis. J Am Diet Assoc (1982) 80:581–558.
- Coffey RJ, Go VL, Zinsmeister AR, DiMagno EP. The acute effects of coffee and caffeine on human interdigestive exocrine pancreatic secretion. *Pancreas* (1986) 1:55–61. doi:10.1097/00006676-198601000-00011
- Borger HW, Schafmayer A, Arnold R, Becker HD, Creutzfeldt W. The influence of coffee and caffeine on gastrin and acid secretion in man. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* (1976) 101:455–7.
- Calvo MS. Dietary phosphorus, calcium metabolism and bone. J Nutr (1993) 123:1627–33.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Guarnotta, Riela, Massaro, Bonventre, Inviati, Ciresi, Pizzolanti, Benvenga and Giordano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Autoimmune Abnormalities of Postpartum Thyroid Diseases

Flavia Di Bari^{1*}, Roberta Granese², Maria Le Donne², Roberto Vita¹ and Salvatore Benvenga^{1,3,4}

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Hospital "G. Martino", Messina, Italy, ³Master Program on Childhood, Adolescent and Women's Endocrine Health, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴Interdepartmental Program of Molecular & Clinical Endocrinology, and Women's Endocrine Health, University Hospital "G. Martino", Messina, Italy,

The year following parturition is a critical time for the *de novo* appearance or exacerbation of autoimmune diseases, including autoimmune thyroid disease. The vast majority of postpartum thyroid disease consists of postpartum thyroiditis (PPT) and the minority by Graves' disease and non-autoimmune thyroiditis. PPT has a worldwide prevalence ranging from 1 to 22% and averaging 5% based on a review published in 2012. Several factors confer risk for the development of PPT. Typically, the clinical course of PPT is characterized by three phases: thyrotoxic, hypothyroid, and euthyroid phase. Approximately half of PPT women will have permanent hypothyroidism. The best humoral marker for predictivity, already during the first trimester of gestation, is considered positivity for thyroperoxidase autoantibodies (TPOAb), though only one-third to half of such TPOAbpositive pregnant women will develop PPT. Nutraceuticals (such as selenium) or omega-3-fatty acid supplements seem to have a role in prevention of PPT. In a recent study on pregnant women with stable dietary habits, we found that the fish consumers had lower rates of positivity (and lower serum levels) of both TPOAb and thyroglobulin Ab compared to meat eaters. Finally, we remind the reader of other diseases that can be observed in the postpartum period, either autoimmune or non-autoimmune, thyroid or non-thyroid.

OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Yuji Nagayama, Nagasaki University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Michele Colaci, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Eijun Nishihara, Kuma Hospital, Japan

> *Correspondence: Flavia Di Bari flaviadb1983@libero.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 23 February 2017 Accepted: 27 June 2017 Published: 13 July 2017

Citation:

Di Bari F, Granese R, Le Donne M, Vita R and Benvenga S (2017) Autoimmune Abnormalities of Postpartum Thyroid Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 8:166. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00166 Keywords: postpartum thyroiditis, thyroid autoimmunity, non-autoimmune thyroiditis, Graves' disease, thyroid autoantibodies

INTRODUCTION

The postpartum period, especially its first year, is a critical time for the onset, exacerbation, or relapse of autoimmune diseases. The literature on this topic is relatively scarce, as a PubMed search run on February, 2017 by using the string "postpartum and autoimmunity" yielded only 139 articles. Before discussing of postpartum thyroid diseases (PPTDs) and especially of postpartum thyroiditis (PPT), we would like to remind the existence of autoimmune endocrine diseases involving glands other than thyroid (1–20) as well as of thyroid diseases of non-autoimmune nature (21–27), as summarized in **Table 1**.

POSTPARTUM THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY

Postpartum Graves' Disease (GD)

As well known, GD is an autoimmune disorder characterized by hyperthyroidism, with or without associated ophthalmopathy. Its pathogenesis is related to loss of tolerance to autoantigen thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor that leads to the infiltration of the gland.

TABLE 1 | Endocrinopathies in the postpartum period.

Endocrinopathy	Comments
Postpartum Addison's disease (1–7)	It is a rare disease. Its diagnosis can be overlooked during pregnancy and after parturition. Indeed, fatigue, anorexia, vomiting, and hyperpigmentation can be easily confused with similar symptoms that occur frequently during gestation and/or postpartum. Because unrecognized, acute, and frequently fatal addisonian crises may occur in the postpartum period
Hypopituitarism [Postpartum lymphocytic hypophysitis (PPLH) and Sheehan's syndrome] (8–20)	PPHL or autoimmune hypophysitis is mostly observed in women during pregnancy or after delivery, though it may also occur in males and children. PPLH is frequently associated with autoimmune diseases, particularly with Hashimoto's thyroiditis
	Either PPLH or the non-autoimmune postpartum pituitary gland ischemic necrosis (Sheehan's syndrome) can be associated with postpartum thyroiditis (PPT)
Non-autoimmune thyroiditis (21–27)	This form of thyroiditis is far less frequent than PPT
	Infective forms of thyroiditis with subacute or acute course have been reported in the postpartum setting caused by <i>Brucella melitensis</i> or <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> . The symptoms reproduce a thyrotoxic picture (nervousness, palpitations, and loss of weight) with moderately painful goiter and fever (37.5°C). It is important to emphasize that in some cases inflammatory changes seen in subacute thyroiditis can obscure sonographic evidence of underlying papillary thyroid cancer. Also, a clinical picture of painful thyroid enlargement, even with fever, and local mechanical complications can be due to intrathyroid hemorrhages

Studies indicate that new-onset autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) "occurs in up to 10% of all women in the postpartum period and that up to 60% of GD patients in the reproductive years give a history of postpartum onset" (28).

Two contemporary Canadian studies in the same province (Ontario) but in different areas and on different categories of women found different frequencies of PPT and postpartum GD (29, 30). The Toronto area study on 1,372 unselected women found that 78 (5.7%) had PPT and 3 (0.22%) GD; in addition, 1 other woman (0.07%) had postpartum thyrotoxicosis due to toxic nodular goiter (29). Thus, the PPT to postpartum GD ratio was 78:3 (26:1). Instead, in 40 Canadian women with type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1) residing in the Hamilton area, the ratio was 9:1, since PPTD consisted of PPT in 9 patients (22.5%) and postpartum GD in 1 patient (2.5%) (30). The ratio between PPT and postpartum GD can be inferred from additional studies. In one Iranian investigation on 1,040 pregnant women (31), 119 had PPT (11.4%) and only 1 GD (1%), with a ratio of 119:1. Instead, a Spanish study on 641 pregnant women (32), not all of whom sampled at all-time points throughout 12 months postpartum, found that 45 developed PPT [incidence rate 7.8%; confidence interval (CI) 5.6-10%], 8 developed GD (incidence rate 1.5%; CI 0.5-2.5%) and 3 developed non-palpable toxic thyroid adenoma-associated hyperthyroidism (incidence rate 0.5%; CI 0-1.5%). Thus, the ratio between PPT and postpartum GD was 6:1. Incidentally, this 8:3 (2.7:1) ratio between postpartum GD and postpartum toxic adenoma matches the 3:1 ratio of the aforementioned Canadian study (29). According to Japanese authors (33), the frequency of postpartum GD in the general population is estimated at around 0.5%, that is, 1 in 200 postpartum women.

In two retrospective Italian studies (34, 35), the postpartum period was a risk factor for relapse(s) of GD, not for the onset. Instead, an earlier Swedish study concluded for a risky role of the postpartum period in the onset of GD (36). In this study (36), 93 consecutive women with GD aged 20–40 years were examined for a possible relation between onset of GD and previous pregnancy.

An increased relative risk of developing GD within 1 year following delivery was found (RR = 6.5, CI 3.8–11.0). After excluding the nulliparous women, almost two out of three women who developed GD in the childbearing age of 20-35 years had a postpartum onset, suggesting an important role of immunomodulatory events following delivery for the development of this disease in young women. A similar relative risk (that is, RR = 5.6) was reported for American women aged 35-39 years (37). This is retrospective study on 152 consecutive women, aged 18-39 years when diagnosed with GD (37). The authors found that, in parous women, 45% were diagnosed with GD in the postpartum period and 55% had an onset in subsequent years. The risk of developing post-pregnancy GD was the greatest in the age band 35–39 years, with 56% of them developing GD compared to 42% of nulliparous women (37). In a Japanese retrospective study on 289 consecutive women with GD, 92 were of childbearing age (20-39 years) and had one or more deliveries (38). At least 37 patients had evident postpartum onset of the disease. Thus, at least 40% of GD women aged 20-39 years developed their disease during the postpartum period (38). In another study, in women diagnosed with GD during the ages of 20-35 years, 66% had a postpartum onset, and women with a previous history of GD relapsed frequently in the postpartum period (39).

In a French study (40), 98 patients with GD were compared to 95 patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and to 97 patients with benign thyroid nodules (control group) in order to evaluate the triggering role of pregnancy and other major stressors in the occurrence of AITDs. A stress factor was encountered in 11% of GD women and 6% of HT or thyroid nodularity women, an insignificant difference. Instead, in women of childbearing age, GD after a pregnancy occurred more frequently than HT or benign thyroid nodules (25 vs. 10 or 13%, p < 0.05). The author concluded that the role of stressors, if any, in triggering GD seems to be weak and dubious compared to the role of pregnancy and postpartum.

Concerning possible prevention of GD relapse in the postpartum, continuing antithyroid drugs therapy throughout pregnancy prevents recurrence of GD without neonatal hypothyroidism or malformations (41). However, the use of methimazole is related to its potential teratogenic effects, especially in the first trimester of pregnancy (42).

Concerning medical therapy of GD and in view of the reference made to the omega-3 fatty acids-rich fish in the next heading, it is noteworthy mentioning the following case (43). A professor of physiology self-reported her GD developed 4 months postpartum with a TSH normalization, within 8 weeks of beginning flaxseed oil supplement (5–1,000 mg tablets twice a day). Flaxseed oil is over 50% omega-3 fatty acids (mainly alpha-linolenic acid), but it also contains about 15% omega-6 fatty acids (mainly linoleic acid) (43).

It is noteworthy that GD and PPT may affect the same woman, at different times. A clear case of PPT (in the form of transient thyrotoxicosis) in a young woman in whom GD had appeared 6 years earlier was reported (44). Shortly prior to becoming pregnant, an increase in thyroperoxidase autoantibodies (TPOAb) was observed in this woman. In another Japanese woman with thyroid hemiagenesis, GD was present in the pregnancy that preceded the postpartum period during which PPT appeared (45). Other case reports of PPT following GD have appeared in the literature (46, 47), one being noteworthy because of the sequence onset of $GD \rightarrow PPT \rightarrow relapse of GD$ (47). The chronological sequence of PPT preceding GD was described in three young Caucasian women (48, 49). Based on the different pattern of radioiodine thyroid uptake, rate of positivity and mean levels of TSH-binding inhibiting antibodies, and evolution of hyperthyroidism in almost 100 women with GD followed up in the postpartum period, it was concluded that PPTD develops frequently in the postpartum period of patients with GD (50).

Finally, concurrent Sheehan's syndrome and GD in the postpartum has been reported (51). In this case report, GD appeared first and Sheehan's syndrome later.

Postpartum Thyroiditis

In this minireview, we will focus on the endocrine and autoimmune side of PPT, with no reference to the neuropsychological disturbances, particularly the association with postpartum depression (52, 53). Neuropsychological disturbances, such as acute psychosis, can also occur in association with postpartum GD (54). Very recently, we have reviewed the postpartum mood disorders (55).

Postpartum thyroiditis is a thyroid dysfunction, characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of the gland, which appears in the first postpartum year in women who were euthyroid prior to pregnancy (42, 53). The just released guidelines of the American Thyroid Association (42) endorse the original definition by Amino et al. (56), namely PPT is "the occurrence of thyroid dysfunction, excluding GD, in the first postpartum year in women who were euthyroid prior to pregnancy."

Epidemiology and Risk Factors

Based on a review published in 2012 (53), PPT has a worldwide prevalence of approximately 5%, but ranging from 1 to 22%. Because of its autoimmune nature, other autoimmune disorders may appear years after PPT. In one study, 40 women (mean age 36 years) with documented PPT 5 years earlier and 30 agematched healthy women who all had undergone normal delivery an average of 5 years previously, were investigated (57). Women with previous PPT had symptoms of dry eyes, caries, arthralgias, swollen joints, and fatigue significantly more often than control group (p < 0.05). One-third (34%) of the women were anti-SSB positive and 46% were anti-SSA positive at follow-up. Furthermore, 15/35 women with a history of PPT had objectively reduced tear and/or saliva secretion; 5/24 investigated women had keratoconjunctivitis sicca, and 2/7 salivary gland biopsies showed chronic lymphocytic sialadenitis. Three women (8.6%) had both xerophthalmia and xerostomia. The authors concluded that features of Sjögren's syndrome are frequent in young women with previous PPT (57).

Several factors confer risk for the development of PPT, a major one being serum positivity for thyroid autoantibodies (TAb) during gestation (53). Furthermore, based on a systematic review (58), the risk for PPT conferred by positivity for TAb during gestation is much greater than the risk for other outcomes. Indeed, compared with women who are TAb negative, odds ratio (OR) for maternal PPT was 11.5, greater than the OR for miscarriage (3.73), recurrent miscarriage (2.3), preterm birth (1.9), or unexplained subfertility (1.5) (58). Paralleling GD, parturition can be a risk factor for autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) (59). Women with at least one pregnancy had increased likelihood for AIT (OR 4.6, p < 0.05) compared to women who have never been pregnant. Similar results were observed using hypoechogenic thyroid pattern (OR 1.7, p < 0.05) and positive TPOAb levels (OR 1.8, p = 0.05) as separate dependent variables or using number of births as alternate independent variable. Furthermore, immune rebound after parturition may cause not only AITD, including PPT, but other autoimmune diseases: postpartum renal failure or postdelivery hemolytic-uremic syndrome, postpartum idiopathic polymyositis, postpartum syndrome with antiphospholipid antibodies, and postpartum autoimmune myocarditis (60).

Women with other autoimmune disorders as systemic lupus erythematosus (61), chronic viral hepatitis (62), DM1 (63–66), multiple sclerosis (67), and antipituitary antibodies positivity (19) have an increased risk of PPT (42) (**Table 2**). Other conditions that can predispose to develop PPT, such as gestational diabetes (68), are summarized in **Table 2**. Also, PPT may develop years after irradiation of the neck for lymphoma (69).

Considering the relative rarity of the thyroid hormone resistance (RTH) syndrome, a non-autoimmune genetic disorder in which elevated circulating levels of thyroid hormones fail to suppress serum TSH, it is worthwhile mentioning two cases of association between RTH and PPT (70, 71) (**Table 2**). This association has been reported also outside of the postpartum setting (72). Concerning the role of cigarette smoking as a risk factor for PPT, data are controversial (73–75) (**Table 2**).

Postpartum Thyroid Hormone Autoantibodies

Positivity for TPOAb, already during the first trimester of gestation, is the best humoral marker for predictivity of PPT; nonetheless, only 33–50% of these women will develop PPT, whereas TAb-negative women have a very low incidence of PPT (53).

TABLE 2 Frequency of postpartum th	ovroiditis (PPT) in women with the	indicated disease or condition

Reference	Disease/condition	Population studied	Frequency of PPT	Comments
Stagnaro-Green et al. (61)	Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)	63 pregnant women with SLE	14%	
Elefsiniotis et al. (62)	Chronic viral hepatitis (HCV and HBV)	21 women with chronic HCV infection and 74 women with chronic HBV, of whom 16 and 64 finally included in the study	Four of 16 chronic HCV-infected women (25%) and none of 64 chronic HBV infected women developed PPT	All chronic HBV-infected women had never been treated before whereas 3 of 16 chronic HCV-infected women had been treated in the past with pegylated- interferon alpha plus ribavirin
Bech et al. (63)	Type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1)	85 pregnant women with DM1	10.5%	
Gallas et al. (64)	DM1	126 pregnant women with DM1	15.9%	Patients with postpartum thyroid disease (PPTD) were slightly older than those without PPTD and the prevalence of TPO-Ab was higher in these women
Alvarez-Marfany et al. (65)	DM1	41 pregnant women with DM1	25%	25% was threefold greater in a non-diabetic population studied by the same group of authors. Forty-three percent of the women (3/7) who developed PPTD required treatment in the immediate postpartum period and at long-term follow-up (permanent hypothyroidism)
Gerstein (30)	DM1	51 pregnant women with DM1, 40 of whom completed follow-up	22%	Postpartum thyroid dysfunction occurred in 10 of 40 patients (25%; 95% confidence interval, 12.7– 41.2%); PPT developed in 9 patients (22.5%) and postpartum Graves' disease developed in 1 patient (2.5%)
Triggiani et al. (66)	DM1	15 DM1 pregnant women vs 10 age-matched healthy controls	13.3% in DM1 women vs 20% in healthy controls	
Jalkanen et al. (67)	Multiple sclerosis (MS)	46 MS pregnant women vs 35 age-matched healthy controls	3.4% in MS women vs 2.9% in healthy controls	PPT rate in MS and controls was similar (3.4 and 2.9%) despite the fact that the rate of elevated serum levels for thyroid autoantibodies (TAb) at 6 months postpartum was sixfold greater in MS (35.3 vs 5.7%)
Komatsu et al. (69)	Irradiation of the neck	Case of a 30-year-old Japanese woman		Irradiation therapy to the neck for malignant lymphoma 9 years earlier
Paragliola et al. (70)	Thyroid hormone resistance (RTH)	Case of a 30-year-old Italian woman		RTH was due to a mutation of thyroid hormone receptor β , but occurring at different codons in these
Taniyama, et al. (71)	syndrome	Case of a 44-year-old Japanese woman		two women
Galanti et al. (73)	Smoking cigarettes	874,507 parous women smoking during pregnancy	Thyroiditis within 6 months from childbirth was positively associated with smoking (adjusted HR = 1.88)	Smoking may increase the risk of thyroiditis occurring in the postpartum
Balázs and Farid (74)	Smoking cigarettes	22 pregnant women with previous PPT vs 21 pregnant women without thyroid disease	12/22 women with previous PPT had recurrent disease. Half of these women had high thyroglobulin Ab or thyroperoxidase autoantibodies in the first trimester compared to none among those without recurrent PPT and 2/21 controls	Women with recurrent PPT were more likely to be smokers
Stagnaro-Green et al. (75)	Smoking cigarettes	4,394 women screened for thyroid function and TAb at 6 and 12 months postpartum	3.9%	No increased risk for PPT by smoking was found

Some studies have reported the appearance of thyroid hormones autoantibodies (THAb) in postpartum period that can interfere with the evaluation of thyroid function. Jansson and Forberg described the presence of Ab against T3 in a woman who developed biphasic PPT, namely thyrotoxicosis followed by transient hypothyroidism after childbirth (76). In another study, three women with PPT had spuriously increased concentrations of free thyroid hormones because of antibody binding of radiolabeled T4 and T3 analogs. The antibody binding of radiolabeled analogs disappeared by 48 weeks postpartum. Postpartum women who develop THAb have about 2% prevalence of increased binding of radiolabeled analogs, which can result in an interference in thyroid hormone assays (77). Thus, it was suggested that women with PPT should receive full thyroid-function testing and be checked for possible antibody binding of analog tracers if free thyroid hormone levels are inappropriately increased (77).

Recently, the first case of transient appearance of THAb in pregnancy was reported (78). A 35-year-old pregnant woman, with a known diagnosis of HT, and under levothyroxine (L-T4) replacement therapy, was clinically euthyroid with normal TSH but elevated free triiodothyronine (FT3) and free thyroxine (FT4). Serum FT4 and FT3 returned progressively normal postpartum. The presence of circulating THAb was confirmed by demonstrating THAb against the two hormones (78).

In a Welsh larger study, THAb were searched, from week 4 through week 48 postpartum, in 148 thyroid antibody-positive women and 261 thyroid antibody-negative women (77). The study started with selecting, in the 409 women, those showing interference in the FT4 and/or FT3 assays using the corresponding free thyroid hormone Amerlex assay (77). Only 3 of the 148 women thyroid antibody-positive women (2.0%) had THAb, particularly T3-analog Ab (n = 1), T3-analog and T4-analog Ab (n = 2). Only two of the three women had PPT. Previously, the same group (79) found that the rate of THAb, as estimated by the interference (overestimation) of FT4 and/or FT3 by the Amerlex analog method, was 0.04% (1/2460), 50-fold less than the above 2.0%.

In these three women (77), THAb measured by non-specific precipitation of serum enriched with radiolabeled Amerlex-T4 analog or Amerlex T3-analog immunoglobulin classes, could not be identified. In the same three women (77), antibody binding of radiolabeled analogs and its effect (overestimation) on free T4 and free T3 assays disappeared by 48 weeks postpartum. However, there is the extreme variability of the THAb in causing interference.

In brief, one cannot predict the presence of THAb based simply on the interference (overestimation) in the assay of free thyroid hormones, since this interference is frequently absent. Furthermore, the greater the frequency of sampling and associated THAb search over a given time course, the greater the chances to detect THAb. Until now, there is no study that has evaluated their role as predictors for future development of PPT. However, it is noteworthy that THAb (at least one among T3IgM, T3IgG, T4IgM, and T4IgG) are highly prevalent in patients with DM1 (80), an autoimmune endocrine disorder that confers high risk for PPT (**Table 2**).

Clinical Picture

The clinical course of PPT is similar to subacute thyroiditis but in absence of anterior neck pain or tenderness of the thyroid (53). The classic form is characterized by transient hyperthyroidism (8–24 weeks postpartum), followed by a phase of transient hypothyroidism (3–12 months postpartum), and then by return to euthyroidism at the end of the initial postpartum year. However, the clinical course of PPT is variable because about 25% of women presenting the classical form, 25% isolated thyrotoxicosis, and one-half presenting isolated hypothyroidism (53). In the thyrotoxic phase, asthenia and irritability are the most frequent symptoms; instead, lack of energy, aches and pains, poor memory,

dry skin, paresthesias, and cold intolerance are the most frequent hypothyroid features (81).

Approximately half of PPT women will have permanent hypothyroidism (53). Unless evolved into permanent hypothyroidism, PPT tends to recur after subsequent deliveries. A Welsh study (82) reported a 70% chance of developing recurrent PPT after the first PPT attack, and a 25% risk even in women who were only TPOAb positive without thyroid dysfunction during the first postpartum period.

Diagnosis

The diagnostic procedures depend on the phases of the disease. In the thyrotoxic phase (TSH suppressed with increased serum FT3 and FT4), it may be necessary to differentiate PPT from GD. In GD, radioactive iodine uptake is high, while it is low in PPT, but this test is contraindicated during breastfeeding. Therefore, in these cases, the dosage of thyroid receptor antibodies is useful: in PPT, they are absent in almost all cases. Also, the thyroid echography can to show an increased hypoechogenicity in many cases of PPT. In the hypothyroid phase, TSH levels are increased with low or normal FT4 concentrations (81). However, during postpartum, the susceptible period to develop GD and PPT is different: around 3 months for PPT vs later than 6 months for GD (83).

Nutraceuticals, Food, and Prevention Strategy of PPT

Selenium, through selenoproteins, has a key action on thyroid function by protecting thyrocytes from oxidative damage (84). Moreover, selenium supplementation can ameliorate thyroid autoimmunity in patients with mild-form or early-stage HT (85). Also, when given to pregnant women, selenium reduced serum levels of TPOAb and prevalence of PPTD and permanent hypothyroidism (85, 86).

Omega-3-fatty acid supplements can diminish the inflammation associated with certain autoimmune disorders, so that they could be used to treat AIT (43).

Concerning food, small oily fish consumption was reported to cure and/or prevent autoimmune disorders, and improve certain maternal and neonatal outcomes (87, 88). Small oily fish are a source of long-chain polyunsaturated *n*-3 fatty acids, while large predator fish contain a number of pollutants (87). Recently, in a study on pregnant women with stable dietary habits who were sampled throughout gestation and day 4 postpartum, fish consumers had lower rates of positivity of both TPOAb and thyroglobulin Ab compared to meat eaters. Furthermore, within the fish-eater women, those consuming small oily fish had lower rates of either Ab compared to those consuming large fish. Hence, pregnant women should avoid consuming swordfish and increase consumption of oily fish (87, 88).

Therapy and Follow-up of PPT

As appropriately underscore (53), "treatment of PPT is based on clinical experience because there have been no trials comparing therapeutic alternatives."

In the thyrotoxic phase, if necessary, can be administered betablocker drugs, while antithyroid drugs are not recommended. During the hypothyroid phase, symptomatic women could be treated with L-T4 at replacement doses and L-T4 therapy is recommended in hypothyroid women who are attempting pregnancy or who are breastfeeding. If treatment is not initiated, TSH dosage should be repeated every 4–8 weeks until thyroid function normalizes. L-T4 therapy should be continued for 12 months (42).

REFERENCES

- Wälinder O. Addison disease during pregnancy a diagnostic dilemma. Symptoms are similar to normal pregnancy problems. *Lakartidningen* (2005) 102:1988–90.
- Glazier MG, Waldron WM. An unusual cause of postpartum vomiting. Arch Fam Med (2000) 9:284–6. doi:10.1001/archfami.9.3.284
- Xia Y, Pan M, Zhang Z. Addison's disease in pregnancy: a report of six cases. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi (1996) 31:226–8.
- Drucker D, Shumak S, Angel A. Schmidt's syndrome presenting with intrauterine growth retardation and postpartum addisonian crisis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (1984) 149:229–30. doi:10.1016/0002-9378(84)90206-0
- Goldman MH, Sfedu E, Aboul-Hosn H, Nutt R. Addison's disease presenting in the postpartum state. J Med Soc N J (1983) 80:1030–1.
- McGill IG. Addison's disease presenting as a crisis in the puerperium. *Br Med J* (1971) 2:566. doi:10.1136/bmj.2.5761.566
- Peschel G. Addison's disease in the puerperium. Z Gesamte Inn Med (1955) 10:810–4.
- De Bellis A, Kelestimur F, Sinisi AA, Ruocco G, Tirelli G, Battaglia M, et al. Anti-hypothalamus and anti-pituitary antibodies may contribute to perpetuate the hypopituitarism in patients with Sheehan's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2008) 158:147–52. doi:10.1530/EJE-07-0647
- Watanobe H, Kawabe H. Painless thyroiditis developed in a patient with Sheehan's syndrome. Painless thyroiditis developed in a patient with Sheehan's syndrome. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1997) 20:335–7. doi:10.1007/ BF03350313
- Takasu N, Nakayama Y. A patient with postpartum hypopituitarism (Sheehan's syndrome) developed postpartum autoimmune thyroiditis (transient thyrotoxicosis and hypothyroidism): a case report and review of the literature. *J Thyroid Res* (2011) 2011:413026. doi:10.4061/2011/413026
- Sasaki H, Ohnishi O, Okudera T, Okumura M. Simultaneous occurrence of transient resolving thyrotoxicosis due to painless thyroiditis, hypopituitarism and diabetes insipidus following pituitary apoplexy. *Postgrad Med J* (1991) 67:75–7. doi:10.1136/pgmj.67.783.75
- Zantour B, Chadli-Chaieb M, Maaroufi A, Ach K, Zaouali-Ajina M, Tabka Z, et al. Post-partum autoimmune thyroiditis in a patient presenting with Sheehan's syndrome. *Ann Endocrinol (Paris)* (2002) 63:223–5.
- Yoshida M, Murakami M, Ueda H, Miyata M, Takahashi N, Oiso Y. An unusual case of hypopituitarism and transient thyrotoxicosis following asymptomatic pituitary apoplexy. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* (2014) 35:342–6.
- Punnose J, Agarwal MM, Premchandran JS. Transient diabetes insipidus and hypopituitarism after pituitary apoplexy: a rare association with pericardial effusion and painless thyroiditis. *Am J Med Sci* (2000) 319:261–4. doi:10.1097/00000441-200004000-00012
- De Bellis A, Colella C, Bellastella G, Lucci E, Sinisi AA, Bizzarro A, et al. Late primary autoimmune hypothyroidism in a patient with postdelivery autoimmune hypopituitarism associated with antibodies to growth hormone and prolactin-secreting cells. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:1037–41. doi:10.1089/thy. 2012.0482
- Ertek S, Erdogan G. Postpartum thyroiditis and hypothalamo-hypophysial insufficiency in the same woman with successive pregnancies: a case report. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2010) 26:105–8. doi:10.3109/09513590903215532
- Bevan JS, Othman S, Lazarus JH, Parkes AB, Hall R. Reversible adrenocorticotropin deficiency due to probable autoimmune hypophysitis in a woman with postpartum thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1992) 74:548–52. doi:10.1210/jcem.74.3.1310997
- Ozawa Y, Shishiba Y. Recovery from lymphocytic hypophysitis associated with painless thyroiditis: clinical implications of circulating antipituitary antibodies. *Acta Endocrinol (Copenh)* (1993) 128:493–8.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FDB, RG, MLD, RV, and SB designed the study and reviewed the literature on postpartum and thyroid autoimmunity. SB and FDB wrote the manuscript. All the authors have revised the paper and approved the final edition.

- Manetti L, Parkes AB, Lupi I, Di Cianni G, Bogazzi F, Albertini S, et al. Serum pituitary antibodies in normal pregnancy and in patients with postpartum thyroiditis: a nested case-control study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2008) 159:805–9. doi:10.1530/EJE-08-0617
- Landek-Salgado MA, Gutenberg A, Lupi I, Kimura H, Mariotti S, Rose NR, et al. Pregnancy, postpartum autoimmune thyroiditis, and autoimmune hypophysitis: intimate relationships. *Autoimmun Rev* (2010) 9:153–7. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2009.06.001
- Sakinah SO, Sharifah NA, Yusoff K. Painful thyroiditis in postpartum period. Med J Malaysia (1993) 48:83–5.
- Akdemir Z, Karaman E, Akdeniz H, Alptekin C, Arslan H. Giant thyroid abscess related to postpartum *Brucella* infection. *Case Rep Infect Dis* (2015) 2015:646209. doi:10.1155/2015/646209
- Hizawa K, Okamura K, Sato K, Kuroda T, Yoshinari M, Ikenoue H, et al. Tuberculous thyroiditis and miliary tuberculosis manifested postpartum in a patient with thyroid carcinoma. *Endocrinol Jpn* (1990) 37:571–6. doi:10.1507/ endocrj1954.37.571
- Carruthers DJ, Peicher K, Cabo Chan A. Papillary thyroid carcinoma and subacute thyroiditis (Poster 223). Program & Meeting Abstracts, 86th Annual Meeting of the American Thyroid Association; 2016 Sept 21–25; Denver, Colorado (2016). p. 216, A-74.
- Park HK, Kim DW, Lee YJ, Ha TK, Kim DH, Bae SK, et al. Suspicious sonographic and cytological findings in patients with subacute thyroiditis: two case reports. *Diagn Cytopathol* (2015) 43:399–402. doi:10.1002/ dc.23230
- Ucan B, Delibasi T, Cakal E, Arslan MS, Bozkurt NC, Demirci T, et al. Papillary thyroid cancer case masked by subacute thyroiditis. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2014) 58:851–4. doi:10.1590/0004-273000003222
- Best CA, Dhaliwal S, Tam S, Low TH, Hughes B, Fung K, et al. Spontaneous intrathyroidal hematoma causing airway obstruction: a case report. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*) (2016) 95:e3209. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000003209
- Davies TF. The thyroid immunology of the postpartum period. *Thyroid* (1999) 9:675–84. doi:10.1089/thy.1999.9.675
- Walfish PG, Meyerson J, Provias JP, Vargas MT, Papsin FR. Prevalence and characteristics of post-partum thyroid dysfunction: results of a survey from Toronto, Canada. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1992) 15:265–72. doi:10.1007/ BF03348726
- Gerstein HC. Incidence of postpartum thyroid dysfunction in patients with type I diabetes mellitus. Ann Intern Med (1993) 118:419–23. doi:10.7326/ 0003-4819-118-6-199303150-00004
- Shahbazian HB, Sarvghadi F, Azizi F. Prevalence and characteristics of postpartum thyroid dysfunction in Tehran. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2001) 145:397–401. doi:10.1530/eje.0.1450397
- Lucas A, Pizarro E, Granada ML, Salinas I, Sanmartí A. Postpartum thyroid dysfunction and postpartum depression: are they two linked disorders? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2001) 55:809–14. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001.01421.x
- Hidaka Y, Tamaki H, Iwatani Y, Tada H, Mitsuda N, Amino N. Prediction of post-partum Graves' thyrotoxicosis by measurement of thyroid stimulating antibody in early pregnancy. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1994) 41:15–20. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2265.1994.tb03778.x
- Rotondi M, Pirali B, Lodigiani S, Bray S, Leporati P, Chytiris S, et al. The post partum period and the onset of Graves' disease: an overestimated risk factor. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2008) 159:161–5. doi:10.1530/EJE-08-0236
- Rotondi M, Cappelli C, Pirali B, Pirola I, Magri F, Fonte R, et al. The effect of pregnancy on subsequent relapse from Graves' disease after a successful course of antithyroid drug therapy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93:3985–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0966
- 36. Jansson R, Dahlberg PA, Winsa B, Meirik O, Säfwenberg J, Karlsson A. The postpartum period constitutes an important risk for the development of

clinical Graves' disease in young women. *Acta Endocrinol (Copenh)* (1987) 116:321–5.

- Benhaim Rochester D, Davies TF. Increased risk of Graves' disease after pregnancy. *Thyroid* (2005) 15:1287–90. doi:10.1089/thy.2005.15.1287
- Tada H, Hidaka Y, Tsuruta E, Kashiwai T, Tamaki H, Iwatani Y, et al. Prevalence of postpartum onset of disease within patients with Graves' disease of child-bearing age. *Endocr J* (1994) 41:325–7. doi:10.1507/endocrj.41.325
- Ford HF, Spies A. Postpartum proptosis with ophthalmopathy. Optom Vis Sci (2001) 78:75–8. doi:10.1097/00006324-200102000-00006
- Martin-du Pan RC. Triggering role of emotional stress and childbirth. Unexpected occurrence of Graves' disease compared to 96 cases of Hashimoto thyroiditis and 97 cases of thyroid nodules. *Ann Endocrinol (Paris)* (1998) 59:107–12.
- Nakagawa Y, Mori K, Hoshikawa S, Yamamoto M, Ito S, Yoshida K. Postpartum recurrence of Graves' hyperthyroidism can be prevented by the continuation of antithyroid drugs during pregnancy. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 57:467–71. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01615.x
- Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. 2017 guidelines of the American thyroid association for the diagnosis and management of thyroid disease during pregnancy and the postpartum. *Thyroid* (2017) 27:315–89. doi:10.1089/thy.2016.0457
- Breese McCoy SJ. Coincidence of remission of postpartum Graves' disease and use of omega-3 fatty acid supplements. *Thyroid Res* (2011) 4:16. doi:10.1186/1756-6614-4-16
- 44. Agard C, Chaillous L, Murat A, Tranchant D, Charbonnel B. Postpartum thyroiditis and Basedow disease. *Presse Med* (1997) 26:1095–7.
- Nakamura S, Isaji M, Ishimori M. Thyroid hemiagenesis with postpartum silent thyroiditis. *Intern Med* (2004) 43:306–9. doi:10.2169/internalmedicine.43.306
- 46. Shigemasa C, Mitani Y, Taniguchi S, Ueta Y, Urabe K, Tanaka T, et al. Development of postpartum spontaneously resolving transient Graves' hyperthyroidism followed immediately by transient hypothyroidism. *J Intern Med* (1990) 228:23–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.1990.tb00187.x
- Misaki T, Miyamoto S, Kasagi K, Mori T, Konishi J. Serial occurrence of two types of postpartum thyroid disorders. Usefulness of Tc-99m pertechnetate uptake. *Clin Nucl Med* (1996) 21:460–2. doi:10.1097/00003072-199606000-00005
- Papi G, Corrado S, Carapezzi C, Corsello SM. Postpartum thyroiditis presenting as a cold nodule and evolving to Graves' disease. *Int J Clin Pract* (2003) 57:556–8.
- Shorey S, Badenhoop K, Walfish PG. Graves' hyperthyroidism after postpartum thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (1998) 8:1117–22. doi:10.1089/thy.1998.8.1117
- Momotani N, Noh J, Ishikawa N, Ito K. Relationship between silent thyroiditis and recurrent Graves' disease in the postpartum period. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1994) 79:285–9. doi:10.1210/jcem.79.1.7913091
- Arpaci D, Cuhaci N, Saglam F, Ersoy R, Cakir B. Sheehan's syndrome coexisting with Graves' disease. Niger J Clin Pract (2014) 17:662–5. doi:10.4103/ 1119-3077.141447
- Le Donne M, Settineri S, Benvenga S. Early pospartum alexithymia and risk for depression: relationship with serum thyrotropin, free thyroid hormones and thyroid autoantibodies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37:519–33. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.08.001
- Stagnaro-Green A. Approach to the patient with postpartum thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97:334–42. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-2576
- Dahale AB, Chandra PS, Sherine L, Thippeswamy H, Desai G, Reddy D. Postpartum psychosis in a woman with Graves' disease: a case report. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (2014) 36:761.e7–8. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2014.07.003
- Le Donne M, Mento C, Settineri S, Antonelli A, Benvenga S. Postpartum mood disorders and thyroid autoimmunity. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:91. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00091
- Amino N, Mori H, Iwatani Y, Tanizawa O, Kawashima M, Tsuge I, et al. High prevalence of transient post-partum thyrotoxicosis and hypothyroidism. *N Engl J Med* (1982) 306:849–52. doi:10.1056/NEJM198204083061405
- 57. Gudbjörnsson B, Karlsson-Parra A, Karlsson E, Hällgren R, Kämpe O. Clinical and laboratory features of Sjögren's syndrome in young women with previous postpartum thyroiditis. *J Rheumatol* (1994) 21:215–9.
- 58. van den Boogaard E, Vissenberg R, Land JA, van Wely M, van der Post JA, Goddijn M, et al. Significance of (sub)clinical thyroid dysfunction and thyroid autoimmunity before conception and in early pregnancy: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2011) 17:605–19. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmr024

- Friedrich N, Schwarz S, Thonack J, John U, Wallaschofski H, Völzke H. Association between parity and autoimmune thyroiditis in a general female population. *Autoimmunity* (2008) 41:174–80. doi:10.1080/08916930701777629
- Amino N, Tada H, Hidaka Y. Postpartum autoimmune thyroid syndrome: a model of aggravation of autoimmune disease. *Thyroid* (1999) 9:705–13. doi:10.1089/thy.1999.9.705
- Stagnaro-Green A, Akhter E, Yim C, Davies TF, Magder L, Petri M. Thyroid disease in pregnant women with systemic lupus erythematosus: increased preterm delivery. *Lupus* (2011) 20:690–9. doi:10.1177/0961203310394894
- Elefsiniotis IS, Vezali E, Pantazis KD, Saroglou G. Post-partum thyroiditis in women with chronic viral hepatitis. *J Clin Virol* (2008) 41:318–9. doi:10.1016/j. jcv.2007.12.010
- Bech K, Høier-Madsen M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Jensen BM,Mølsted-Pedersen L, Kuhl C. Thyroid function and autoimmune manifestations in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus during and after pregnancy. *Acta Endocrinol (Copenh)* (1991) 124:534–9.
- 64. Gallas PR, Stolk RP, Bakker K, Endert E, Wiersinga WM. Thyroid dysfunction during pregnancy and in the first postpartum year in women with diabetes mellitus type 1. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2002) 147:443–51. doi:10.1530/eje.0.1470443
- Alvarez-Marfany M, Roman SH, Drexler AJ, Robertson C, Stagnaro-Green A. Long-term prospective study of postpartum thyroid dysfunction in women with insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1994) 79:10–6. doi:10.1210/jcem.79.1.8027213
- 66. Triggiani V, Ciampolillo A, Guastamacchia E, Licchelli B, Fanelli M, Resta F, et al. Prospective study of post-partum thyroid immune dysfunctions in type 1 diabetic women and in a healthy control group living in a mild iodine deficient area. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* (2004) 26:215–24. doi:10.1081/ IPH-120037717
- Jalkanen A, Saraste M, Gfeller A, Surcel HM, Airas L. Increased thyroid autoimmunity among women with multiple sclerosis in the postpartum setting. *Mult Scler* (2013) 19:1734–42. doi:10.1177/1352458513485148
- Maleki N, Tavosi Z. Evaluation of thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity in gestational diabetes mellitus and its relationship with postpartum thyroiditis. *Diabet Med* (2015) 32:206–12. doi:10.1111/dme.12580
- Komatsu M, Kobayashi S, Ito N, Miyakawa M, Senga O, Sugenoya A, et al. A case of postpartum silent thyroiditis misapprehended as malignant lymphoma of the thyroid. *Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi* (1993) 94:645–7.
- Paragliola RM, Concolino P, De Rosa A, Mello E, Zuppi C, Pontecorvi A, et al. The first case of association between postpartum thyroiditis and thyroid hormone resistance in an Italian patient showing a novel p.V283A THRB mutation. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:506–10. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0080
- Taniyama M, Otsuka F, Tozaki T, Ban Y. Thyroid profiles in a patient with resistance to thyroid hormone and episodes of thyrotoxicosis, including repeated painless thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:898–901. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0004
- Aksoy DY, Gurlek A, Ringkananont U, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Resistance to thyroid hormone associated with autoimmune thyroid disease in a Turkish family. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2005) 28:379–83. doi:10.1007/BF03347207
- Galanti MR, Cnattingius S, Granath F, Ekbom-Schnell A, Ekbom A. Smoking and environmental iodine as risk factors for thyroiditis among parous women. *Eur J Epidemiol* (2007) 22:467–72. doi:10.1007/s10654-007-9142-1
- Balázs C, Farid NR. Soluble CD4 concentrations predict relapse of post-partum thyroiditis. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2002) 25:11–7. doi:10.1007/ BF03343955
- Stagnaro-Green A, Schwartz A, Gismondi R, Tinelli A, Mangieri T, Negro R. High rate of persistent hypothyroidism in a large-scale prospective study of postpartum thyroiditis in southern Italy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:652–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-1980
- Jansson R, Forberg R. Influence of endogenous T3-autoantibodies on thyroid hormone measurements in a woman with transient postpartum thyroiditis. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1985) 8:253–6. doi:10.1007/BF03348488
- 77. John R, Othman S, Parkes AB, Lazarus JH, Hall R. Interference in thyroidfunction tests in postpartum thyroiditis. *Clin Chem* (1991) 37:1397–400.
- Teti C, Nazzari E, Galletti MR, Mandolfino MG, Pupo F, Pesce G, et al. Unexpected elevated free thyroid hormones in pregnancy. *Thyroid* (2016) 26:1640–4. doi:10.1089/thy.2016.0112
- 79. John R, Henley R, Shankland D. Concentrations of free thyroxin and free triiodothyronine in serum of patients with thyroxin- and triiodothyronine-binding autoantibodies. *Clin Chem* (1990) 36:470–3.

- Benvenga S, Pintaudi B, Vita R, Di Vieste G, Di Benedetto A. Serum thyroid hormone autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:1870–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-3950
- Lazarus JH. Clinical manifestations of postpartum thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (1999) 9:685–9. doi:10.1089/thy.1999.9.685
- Lazarus JH, Ammari F, Oretti R, Parkes AB, Richards CJ, Harris B. Clinical aspects of recurrent postpartum thyroiditis. *Br J Gen Pract* (1997) 47:305–8.
- Ide A, Amino N, Kang S, Yoshioka W, Kudo T, Nishihara E, et al. Differentiation of postpartum Graves' thyrotoxicosis from postpartum destructive thyrotoxicosis using antithyrotropin receptor antibodies and thyroid blood flow. *Thyroid* (2014) 24:1027–31. doi:10.1089/thy.2013.0585
- Duntas LH, Benvenga S. Selenium: an element for life. *Endocrine* (2015) 48:756–75. doi:10.1007/s12020-014-0477-6
- Wu Q, Rayman MP, Lv H, Schomburg L, Cui B, Gao C, et al. Low population selenium status is associated with increased prevalence of thyroid disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:4037–47. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-2222
- 86. Negro R, Greco G, Mangieri T, Pezzarossa A, Dazzi D, Hassan H. The influence of selenium supplementation on postpartum thyroid status in pregnant

women with thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92:1263-8. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-1821

- Benvenga S, Vigo MT, Metro D, Granese R, Vita R, Le Donne M. Type of fish consumed and thyroid autoimmunity in pregnancy and postpartum. *Endocrine* (2016) 52:120–9. doi:10.1007/s12020-015-0698-3
- Le Donne M, Alibrandi A, Vita R, Zanghì D, Triolo O, Benvenga S. Does eating oily fish improve gestational and neonatal outcomes? Findings from a Sicilian study. *Women Birth* (2016) 29:e50–7. doi:10.1016/j.wombi.2015.12.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Di Bari, Granese, Le Donne, Vita and Benvenga. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Postpartum Mood Disorders and Thyroid Autoimmunity

Maria Le Donne^{1*}, Carmela Mento², Salvatore Settineri³, Alessandro Antonelli⁴ and Salvatore Benvenga^{5,6}

¹ Unit of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Department of Human Pathology in Adulthood and Childhood "G. Barresi", University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ²Department of Cognitive Sciences, Psychology, Educational and Cultural Studies (COSPECS), University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ³Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging (BIOMORF), University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁵Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Italy, ⁶Interdept. Program of Molecular & Clinical Endocrinology and Women's Endocrine Health, University Hospital Policlinico G. Martino, Messina, Italy

Keywords: postpartum, mood disorders, autoimmunity, thyroid hormones, depression

INTRODUCTION

Because of the rapid emotional and endocrine changes in the postpartum period (1), postpartum mood disorders represent the most frequent form of maternal psychiatric morbidity (2–4). Postpartum mood disorders vary from a mild form of transient depression (maternity blues) to fullblown postpartum depression and severe psychosis (5, 6). Postpartum depression affects 10–30% of women within 1 year after delivery (7), and its risk is measurable already at 3 (8) or 7 days (2) postpartum. This risk predicts depression development in the following months (9, 10).

Thyroid function abnormalities exhibit comorbidity with various psychiatric disorders, including maternal depression. There are one-tenth of a million studies on mood disorders, but fewer than 5,000 (3.9% of almost 125,000) concern mood disorders in the postpartum period. Similarly, studies on autoimmune thyroid disease are almost 20,000, but only 72 (3.7% of 19,360) concern postpartum mood disorders and thyroid disorders, and merely 5 focus on postpartum mood disorders and thyroid autoimmunity. Thus, we hope that our opinion will stimulate interest.

POSTPARTUM AFFECTIVE DISORDERS AND THYROID DYSFUNCTION

Affective disorders and autoimmune thyroiditis are well known to affect women during puerperium. Up to 23% of all new mothers experiences thyroid dysfunction postpartum (11), compared with a prevalence of 3–4% in the general population (12). Maternal thyroid autoimmunity refers to the detection of thyroid autoantibodies against thyroperoxidase (TPOAb) and/or thyroglobulin (TgAb) in combination with normal thyroid function, and it has been reported to affect between 8 and 14% women in reproductive age (13). Concerning positivity for TPOAb, approximately 10% of pregnant women are TPOAb positive, and around one-third to half of them will develop postpartum thyroiditis (PPT) within 12 months after delivery (11, 14).

At least 2–3% of women have some form of thyroid dysfunction during pregnancy, and 10–17% of women have thyroid autoimmune disease despite euthyroidism (15, 16). Thyroid dysfunction in pregnancy is classified as (i) primary overt hypothyroidism (elevated TSH and a decreased FT4 during gestation with both concentrations outside the trimester-specific reference ranges) or subclinical hypothyroidism (with a TSH elevated beyond the upper limit of the pregnancy-specific reference range); (ii) hyperthyroidism (autoimmune Graves' disease or gestational transient thyrotoxicosis) (17); and (iii) positivity of thyroid autoantibodies, which increases the risk of thyroid dysfunction

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alex Stewart Stagnaro-Green, University of Illinois Rockford College of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by: Bijay Vaidya,

University of Exeter, UK

*Correspondence: Maria Le Donne mledonne@unime.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 20 February 2017 Accepted: 06 April 2017 Published: 04 May 2017

Citation:

Le Donne M, Mento C, Settineri S, Antonelli A and Benvenga S (2017) Postpartum Mood Disorders and Thyroid Autoimmunity. Front. Endocrinol. 8:91. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00091

106

following delivery and during the postpartum period. PPT is an inflammatory autoimmune condition, which occurs within the first year after delivery or miscarriage (a period when the immunosuppressive effect of pregnancy disappears), in women who were euthyroid prior to pregnancy (16, 18).

MOOD DISORDERS AND THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY IN GENERAL POPULATION

The association between subclinical hypothyroidism, with and without raised TPOAb, and well-being or depression is still controversial, in spite of many studies on this topic. Before moving to the abnormal setting, it is appropriate to mention the prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in the general population and their association with mood disorders outside of the postpartum context.

An interaction between thyroid autoantibodies and mood disorders was first valuated in the early 1980s (19). Prevalence rates of thyroid autoantibodies in the general population vary widely, depending on several reasons, including sex and age distribution, geographic origin, variations in the cutoff level for antibody positivity (20–22). In an Italian survey, the overall prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies, using a cutoff of 1:100 for both microsomal antibodies and/or thyroid autoantibodies was 12.6% (females, 17.3%; males, 7.0%) (23). The reported prevalence in the United States healthy population was 13% for TPOAb (threshold at \geq 0.5 IU/ml) and 11.5% for TgAb (threshold at \geq 1.0 IU/ml) (21). Overall, the association of circulating thyroid autoantibodies with not otherwise specified mood disorders cannot be considered clearly established.

On the contrary, increased prevalence of circulating thyroid autoantibodies is shown in the following forms of mood disorders: treatment-refractory cases (24, 25), severe (26–28), atypical depression (29), anxiety disorders or mood disorders (30), and depression during early gestation, postpartum, and perimenopause (31–36).

In a population-based study, depression and anxiety were not associated with thyroid autoantibodies (37). In 2,049 subjects, autoimmune markers (TPOAb, anti-nuclear autoantibodies, and several other autoantibodies) were not associated with depression symptoms (38). Elevated TPOAb levels cannot be used as a general marker of poor well-being or depression, as shown in a large population-based Danish study of 8,214 individuals (39).

With regard to bipolar disorder, sample size was small in several studies (40–43). Offspring of bipolar subjects were found more susceptible to develop thyroid autoantibodies independently from the susceptibility to develop psychiatric disorders (44). Autoimmune thyroiditis was suggested as a possible genetic biomarker for bipolar disorder in a twin study (45). Hashimoto's encephalopathy can also occur with a bipolar disorder (46, 47), being vasculitis-related abnormalities in cortical perfusion one of the possible mechanisms (48). High levels of TPOAb were detected by Blanchin et al. (49) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy. Both sera from their patients and monoclonal TPOAb were able to link monkey cerebellar cells. Moreover, normal human astrocytes from primary cultures binded monoclonal TPOAb. The presence of antigenic targets for anti-TSH-receptor IgG on human cortical neurons and TgAb IgG in cerebral vasculature was described by Moodley et al. (50).

POSTPARTUM MOOD DISORDERS AND THYROID AUTOIMMUNITY

Risk for postpartum depression and alexithymia showed a direct borderline statistically significant correlation with serum TPOAb, suggesting that these mood disorders could be neurobehavioral consequences of an autoimmune attack (because of the TPOAb circulation in the CSF and of their possible cross-reaction with cerebral autoantigens) (3).

The PPT is more likely to occur in pregnant thyroid autoantibodies positive women compared to negative women (11). Most PPT women develop thyroid dysfunction during the first 6 months postpartum with initial mild symptoms of hyperthyroidism (heat intolerance, palpitations, weight loss, and fatigue) and a subsequent hypothyroid phase, frequently associated with depression (51). Approximately 50% of PPT women return euthyroid by 12 months PP (52).

Much uncertainty remains regarding the relationship between PPT and non-psychotic depression in thyroid autoantibodies positive euthyroid women. Harris et al. (53) found no difference in the rate of postpartum depression between thyroid autoantibodies positive women and thyroid autoantibodies negative women. However, the same author in 1992 reported an association between thyroid autoantibodies positivity and PPT (35). Subsequent studies on TPOAb positivity and postpartum depression in euthyroid women are controversial, founding no association (31, 54) or an association (34, 55). For instance, Kuijpens et al. studied prospectively 310 unselected women during gestation and up to 36 weeks postpartum (34). The presence of TPOAb was independently associated with depression at 12-week gestation and at 4 and 12 weeks postpartum (odds ratios between 2.4 and 3.8) in a prospective study on 310 unselected women (34).

A summary of the English-language literature in the last 25 years, which addressed the relationship between postpartum mood disorders and thyroid autoantibodies, is summarized in (Table 1).

In a follow-up study, Harris et al. (35) showed a significantly greater depression incidence in 110 thyroid autoantibodies positive women (47%) compared with 132 negative women (32%) regardless of thyroid dysfunction (Table 1). The same author in 2002 reported no difference in postpartum depression in TPOAb positive women treated with levothyroxine compared with TPOAb positive women given placebo and overall rates of major depression of 18.5% and depression in general of 38%, providing further evidence linking PPT and TPOAb positivity (60). No association was found between thyroid autoantibodies and postpartum mood disorders by Lambrinoudaki et al. (59). In another study, lower levels of serum FT3 were associated with increased incidence of mood disorders in the first postpartum week; only TPOAb and TgAb were significantly higher in women at risk for postpartum depression compared to women not at risk, using EPDS cutoff values of ≥ 13 or ≥ 14 (3). The presence of

Postpartum Mood Disorders, Thyroid Autoimmunity

Reference	(56)	(57)	(58)	(35)	(34)	(59)	(3)
Country	USA	USA	Sweden	United Kingdom	The Netherlands	Greece	Italy
No. of women	51	119	27	242	291	55	74
Age (years)	18 or older	18–45	Not specified	26.6–25.9	30.8–29.5	32.6 ± 4.2	31.8 ± 4.64
Pregnancy evaluation	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Postpartum evaluation	Month 1	Month 6	Day 5, week 6,	Week 6-8	Weeks 4, 12, 20, 28, 36	Day 1-4, week 4-6	Day 3
Maternity blues scale (and cutoff)	Not evaluated	Not evaluated	Month 6	Not evaluated	Not evaluated	PBQ (≥8.2)	Not evaluated
Depression scale (and cutoff score)	EPDS (≥13)	POMS (>20)	EPDS (≥12)	RDC EPDS (\geq 13) Hamilton (\geq 15) HAS HDS (\geq 11)	Not specified	EPDS (≥11)	EPDS (≥13; ≥14) MADRS (≥15)
Depression score, mean ± SD			$6.3 \pm 4.8, 5.8 \pm 4.4,$ 5.1 ± 4.7				EPDS: 8.45 ± 4.4 MADRS: 14.3 ± 12.3
Depression rate	16.36%	POMS-D: 10.9%	15.3% (day 5) 11.7% (week 6) 11.5% (month 6)	RDC depression 47% TAb+ vs 32% TAb-, major depression 16% TAb+ vs 11% TAb- Hamilton 18% TAb+ vs 13% TAb- EPDS 39% TAb+ vs 27% TAb- HAS 34% TAb+ vs 30% TAb- HDS 22% TAb+ vs 17% TAb-	59% TPOAb+ vs 38% TPOAb–	24.19% (week 1) 22.8% (week 6)	EPDS (≥13): 20.3%, EPDS (≥14): 13.5% MADRS: 30%
Thyroid function	TSH, FT3, FT4	TSH	TSH, FT3, FT4	TSH, FT3, FT4	TSH, FT4	TSH, FT3, FT4	TSH, FT3, FT4
Thyroid antibodies	TgAb, TPOAb	TPOAb	TPOAb	Tab (not specified)	TPOAb	TgAb, TPOAb	TgAb, TPOAb
Correlation of PPD with thyroid indices	EPDS, TSH ($P = 0.042$) EPDS, TAb not specified ($P = 0.043$)	POMS, TPOAb+ ($P = 0.023$) POMS-D, TPOAb+ ($P = 0.003$) POMS-A, TPOAb+ ($P = 0.013$)	EPDS, FT3 (OR = 0.8) EPDS, TSH (OR = 11.30) EPDS, TPOAb (no association)	Hamilton, TAb+ ($P = 0.0002$) EPDS, Tab+ ($P = 0.031$) HDS, TAB+ ($P = 0.003$)	PPD%, TPOAb+ (<i>P</i> = 0.03)	Mood score, FT4 (rho -0.3 , $P \le 0.05$) Mood score, TAb (no association)	EPDS, TPOAb ^a ($P = 0.056$) EPDS, TgAb ($P = 0.05$)

TABLE 1 Schematic comparison of the last 25 years studies on the relationship between postpartum mood disorders and thursid autoantibadies

EPDS, Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; GHQ, General Health Questionnaire; HAS, Hospital Anxiety Score; HDS, Hospital Depression Score; MADRS, Montgomery and Asberg Depression Rating Scale; OR, odds ratio; PBQ, Postpartum Blues Questionnaire; POMS, Profile of Mood States Scale (POMS-A, Anger; POMS-D, Depression); RDC, research diagnostic criteria; TgAb, thyroglobulin; TPOAb, thyroid autoantibodies against thyroperoxidase. ^aBoth TgAb and TPOAb levels were greater in depressed vs non-depressed women regardless of EPDS score threshold. Indeed, upon comparing score ≥13 vs score ≤12, TgAb was 38.5 ± 66.3 vs 16.6 ± 35.6 Ul/ml (P = 0.05), and TPOAb was 26.2 ± 41.7 vs 10.5 ± 19.2 UI/mI (P = 0.05). Upon comparing score ≥14 vs score ≤13, TgAb was 29.9 ± 34.3 vs 19.7 ± 45.3 UI/mI (P = 0.045), and TPOAb was 34.3 ± 49.6 vs 10.5 ± 18.6 UI/mI (P = 0.023). The rate of TPOAb positiveness in the 10 women with an EPDS score ≥14 was 6.4-fold greater than in 64 women with an EPDS score ≥13 (30.0 vs 4.7%, χ^2 = 7.437, P = 0.022).

thyroid autoantibodies or higher TSH levels during the postpartum period may be related to depressive symptoms or dysphoric mood (56). Pregnant TPOAb positive women were shown to have higher depressive symptoms during pregnancy, and higher depression, anger, and total mood disturbance postpartum, regardless of the development of PPT (57).

Sylvén et al. (58) found an association between the TSH level over the clinical cutoff of 4.0 mU/l and the increased risk for depressive symptoms at 6 months postpartum in a Swedish population-based cohort (OR 11.30, 95% CI 1.93—66.11) (**Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Tryptophan catabolites, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, serotonin, and autoimmunity, as possible mediators of the immunoinflammation consequences and the oxidative and nitrosative stress, may induce postpartum depression (61).

In summary, there is scanty literature on the relationship between postpartum mood disorders and thyroid autoantibodies, with data available for the United States and a few European countries. Furthermore, these available data stem from differing methodologies (e.g., psychometric scales, thyroid autoantibodies assays, time and frequency of measurements). Nevertheless, a direct, positive, unfavorable relationship does appear. Also studies evaluating the relationship between thyroid autoantibodies' positivity and postpartum in euthyroid women have been mixed, with most of the studies demonstrating a significant association, confirmed also by a recent review of Dama et al. (62), who reported four of five studies finding a significant associations between TPOAb during gestation and postpartum depression (34–36, 57) and two of four studies finding links between postpartum TPOAb and depression (3, 34).

The cost-effectiveness of integrated perinatal mental health care has not been fully evaluated (63, 64) and is still controversial. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (at a cut point of 16)

REFERENCES

- Bloch M, Daly RC, Rubinow DR. Endocrine factors in the etiology of postpartum depression. *Compr Psychiatry* (2003) 44:234–46. doi:10.1016/ S0010-440X(03)00034-8
- Dennis CL. Can we identify mothers at risk for postpartum depression in the immediate postpartum period using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale? J Affect Disord (2004) 78:163–9. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(02) 00299-9
- Le Donne M, Settineri S, Benvenga S. Early Postpartum alexithymia and risk for depression: relationship with serum thyrotropin free thyroid hormones and thyroid autoantibodies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37:519–33. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.08.001
- Mento C, Le Donne M, Crisafulli S, Rizzo A, Settineri S. BMI at early puerperium: body image, eating attitudes and mood states. *J Obstet Gynaecology* (2017) 21:2017. doi:10.1080/01443615.2016.1250727
- Miller LJ. Postpartum depression. JAMA (2002) 287:762–5. doi:10.1001/ jama.287.6.762
- Henshaw C, Foreman D, Cox J. Postnatal blues: a risk factor for postnatal depression. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol (2004) 25:267–729. doi:10.1080/01674820400024414
- Fergerson SS, Jamieson DJ, Lindsay M. Diagnosing postpartum depression: can we do better? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2002) 186:899–902. doi:10.1067/ mob.2002.123404

had an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of £41,103 (€45,398, \$67,130) per quality-adjusted life years (QALY) compared with routine care only. The ICER for all other strategies ranged from £49,928 to £272,463 per QALY vs routine care only, while the probability that no formal identification strategy was cost effective was 88% (59%) at a cost-effectiveness threshold of £20,000 (£30,000) per QALY. The major determinant of cost-effectiveness seems to be the potential additional costs of managing women incorrectly diagnosed as depressed (65). Leung et al. (66) showed that the use of EPDS as the screening tool and the provision of follow-up care had resulted in an improvement in maternal mental health at 6 months.

CONCLUSION

Negative emotions during pregnancy should be recognized using self-report questionnaires as Profile of Mood States Scale, to select women at risk for deflected postpartum mood and requiring psychological support. However, more research is required to clarify the predictive value and pathophysiological implications of the associations between TgAb and/or TPOAb positivity and postpartum depression and to support solid evidence of benefit and cost-effectiveness of a careful neuropsychological evaluation in more 10% of all pregnant women (positive for TPO or Tg antibodies).

Future research on postpartum mood disorders should target genetic variations of the deiodinases, thyroid hormone transporters, and identification of central nervous system-expressed targets of TPOAb (or other coexisting Ab which are specifically directed against these targets), particularly in CNS areas engaged in depression and/or alexithymia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors have participated in drafting and revising the manuscript submitted whose contents they approve.

- Teissedre F, Chabrol H. A study of the Edimburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) on 859 mothers: detection of mothers at risk for postpartum depression. *Encephale* (2004) 30:376–81. doi:10.1016/S0013-7006(04) 95451-6
- Beck CT, Reynolds MA, Rutowski P. Maternity blues and postpartum depression. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs (1992) 21:287–93. doi:10.1111/ j.1552-6909.1992.tb01739.x
- Reck C, Stehle E, Reinig K, Mundt C. Maternity blues as a predictor of DSM-IV depression and anxiety disorders in the first three months postpartum. J Affect Disord (2009) 113:77–87. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.05.003
- 11. Stagnaro-Green A. Approach to the patient with postpartum thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97:334–42. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-2576
- Basraon S, Costantine MM. Mood disorders in pregnant women with thyroid dysfunction. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* (2011) 54:506–14. doi:10.1097/ GRF.0b013e3182273089
- Vissenberg R, Goddijn M, Mol BW, van der Post JA, Fliers E, Bisschop PH. Thyroid dysfunction in pregnant women: clinical dilemmas. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd* (2012) 156:A5163.
- Abalovich M, Mitelberg L, Allami C, Gutierrez S, Alcaraz G, Otero P, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmunity in women with infertility. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2007) 23:279–83. doi:10.1080/09513590701259542
- Milanesi A, Gregory AB. Management of hypothyroidism in pregnancy. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2011) 18:304–9. doi:10.1097/ MED.0b013e32834a91d1

- Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. 2017 Guidelines of the American Thyroid Association for the diagnosis and management of thyroid disease during pregnancy and the postpartum. *Thyroid* (2017) 27:315–89. doi:10.1089/thy.2016.0457
- Cooper DS, Laurberg P. Hyperthyroidism in pregnancy. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol (2013) 1:238–49. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70086-X
- Medenica S, Nedeljkovic O, Radojevic N, Stojkovic M, Trbojevic B, Pajovic B. Thyroid dysfunction and thyroid autoimmunity in euthyroid women in achieving fertility. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2015) 19:977–87.
- Gold MS, Pottash AL, Extein I. "Symptomless" autoimmune thyroiditis in depression. *Psychiatry Res* (1982) 6:261–9. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(82)90015-4
- Vanderpump MP, Tunbridge WM, French JM, Appleton D, Bates D, Clark F, et al. The incidence of thyroid disorders in the community: a twenty-year follow-up of the Whickham survey. *Clin Endocrinol* (1995) 43:55–68. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.1995.tb01894.x
- Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, et al. Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988–1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:489–99. doi:10.1210/ jcem.87.2.8182
- McGrogan A, Seaman HE, Wright JW, de Vries CS. The incidence of autoimmune thyroid disease: a systematic review of the literature. *Clin Endocrinol* (2008) 69:687–96. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03338.x
- Aghini-Lombardi F, Antonangeli L, Martino E, Vitti P, Maccherini D, Leoli F, et al. The spectrum of thyroid disorders in an iodine-deficient community: the Pescopagano survey. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1999) 84:561–6. doi:10.1210/ jcem.84.2.5508
- Browne JL, Rice JL, Evans DL, Prange AJ. Triiodothyronine augmentation of the antidepressant effect of the nontricyclic antidepressant trazodone. J Nerv Ment Dis (1990) 178:598–9. doi:10.1097/00005053-199009000-00010
- Eller T, Metsküla K, Talja I, Maron E, Uibo R, Vasar V. Thyroid autoimmunity and treatment response to escitalopram in major depression. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2010) 64:253–7. doi:10.3109/08039480903487533
- Custro N, Scafidi V, Lo Baido R, Nastri L, Abbate G, Cuffaro MP, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism resulting from autoimmune thyroiditis in female patients with endogenous depression. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1994) 17:641–6. doi:10.1007/BF03349679
- 27. König F, von Hippel C, Petersdorff T, Kaschka W. Thyroid autoantibodies in depressive disorders. *Acta Med Austriaca* (1999) 26:126–8.
- Leyhe T, Hügle M, Gallwitz B, Saur R, Eschweiler GW. Increased occurrence of severe episodes in elderly depressed patients with elevated anti-thyroid antibody levels. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2009) 24:779–81. doi:10.1002/gps.2260
- Fountoulakis KN, Iacovides A, Grammaticos P, Kaprinis G, Bech P. Thyroid function in clinical subtypes of major depression: an exploratory study. *BMC Psychiatry* (2004) 4:6. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-4-6
- 30. Carta MG, Loviselli A, Hardoy MC, Massa S, Cadeddu M, Sardu C, et al. The link between thyroid autoimmunity (antithyroid peroxidase autoantibodies) with anxiety and mood disorders in the community: a field of interest for public health in the future. *BMC Psychiatry* (2004) 4:25. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-4-25
- Pop VJ, de Rooy HA, Vader HL, van der Heide D, van Son MM, Komproe IH. Microsomal antibodies during gestation in relation to postpartum thyroid dysfunction and depression. *Acta Endocrinol (Copenh)* (1993) 129:26–30.
- Pop VJ, Maartens LH, Leusink G, van Son MJ, Knottnerus AA, Ward AM, et al. Are autoimmune thyroid dysfunction and depression related? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1998) 1998(83):3194–7. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.9.5131
- Pop VJ, Wijnen HA, Lapkienne L, Bunivicius R, Vader HL, Essed GG. The relation between gestational thyroid parameters and depression: a reflection of the downregulation of the immune system during pregnancy? *Thyroid* (2006) 16:485–92. doi:10.1089/thy.2006.16.485
- Kuijpens JL, Vader HL, Drexhage HA, Wiersinga WM, van Son MJ, Pop VJ. Thyroid peroxidase antibodies during gestation are a marker for subsequent depression postpartum. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2001) 145:579–84. doi:10.1530/eje.0.1450579
- Harris B, Othman S, Davies JA, Weppner GJ, Richards CJ, Newcombe RG, et al. Association between postpartum thyroid dysfunction and thyroid antibodies and depression. *BMJ* (1992) 305:152–6. doi:10.1136/bmj.305.6846.152
- Lazarus JH, Hall R, Othman S, Parkes AB, Richards CJ, McCulloch B, et al. The clinical spectrum of postpartum thyroid disease. *QJM* (1996) 1996(89):429–35. doi:10.1093/qjmed/89.6.429

- Engum A, Bjøro T, Mykletun A, Dahl AA. Thyroid autoimmunity, depression and anxiety; are there any connections? An epidemiological study of a large population. *J Psychosom Res* (2005) 59:263–8. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychores.2005.04.002
- Iseme RA, McEyoy M, Agnew L, Kelly B, Attia J, Walker FR, et al. Autoantibodies are not predictive markers for the development of depressive symptoms in a population-based cohort of older adults. *Eur Psychiatry* (2015) 30:694–700. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.06.006
- Fiaallegaard K, Kventhy J, Allerup PN, Bech P, Ellervik C. Well-being and depression in individuals with subclinical hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmunity – a general population study. *Nord J Psych* (2015) 68:73–8. doi:10.3109/08039488.2014.929741
- Nemeroff CB, Simon JS, Haggerty JJ Jr, Evans DL. Antithyroid antibodies in depressed patients. Am J Psychiatry (1985) 142:840–3. doi:10.1176/ ajp.142.7.840
- Haggerty JJ Jr, Evans DL, Golden RN, Pedersen CA, Simon JS, Nemeroff CB. The presence of antithyroid antibodies in patients with affective and nonaffective psychiatric disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (1990) 27:51–60. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(90)90019-X
- Bartalena L, Bogazzi F, Donadel G, Martino E, Gabrielli F, Pinchera A. The differentiation-inducing agent sodium butyrate produces divergent effects on albumin and thyroxine-binding globulin synthesis by human hepatoblastoma-derived (Hep G2) cells. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1990) 13:917–22. doi:10.1007/ BF03349656
- Degner D, Haust M, Meller J, Rüther E, Reulbach U. Association between autoimmune thyroiditis and depressive disorder in psychiatric outpatients. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2015) 265:67–72. doi:10.1007/ s00406-014-0529-1
- Hillegers MH, Reichart CG, Wals M, Verhulst FC, Ormel J, Nolen WA, et al. Signs of a higher prevalence of autoimmune thyroiditis in female offspring of bipolar parents. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2007) 17:394–9. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2006.10.005
- Vonk R, van der Schot AC, Kahn RS, Nolen WA, Drexhage HA. Is autoimmune thyroiditis part of the genetic vulnerability (or an endophenotype) for bipolar disorder? *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62:135–40. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2006.08.041
- Müssig K, Bartels M, Gallwitz B, Leube D, Häring HU, Kircher T. Hashimoto's encephalopathy presenting with bipolar affective disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2005) 7(3):292–7. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00196.x
- Bocchetta A, Tamburini G, Cavolina P, Serra A, Loviselli A, Piga M. Affective psychosis, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, and brain perfusion abnormalities: case report. *Clin Pract Epidemol Ment Health* (2007) 3:31. doi:10.1186/1745-0179-3-31
- Bocchetta A, Traccis A, Mosca A, Serra A, Tamburini G, Loviselli A. Bipolar disorder and antithyroid antibodies: review and case series. *Int J Bipolar Disord* (2016) 4:5. doi:10.1186/s40345-016-0046-4
- Blanchin S, Coffin C, Viader F, Ruf J, Carayon P, Potier F, et al. Antithyroperoxidase antibodies from patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy bind to cerebellar astrocytes. *J Neuroimmunol* (2007) 192:13–20. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2007.08.012
- Moodley K, Botha J, Raidoo DM, Naidoo S. Immuno-localisation of anti-thyroid antibodies in adult human cerebral cortex. *J Neurol Sci* (2011) 302:114–7. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2010.11.027
- Muller AF, Drexhage HA, Berghout A. Postpartum thyroiditis and autoimmune thyroiditis in women of childbearing age: recent insights and consequences for antenatal and postnatal care. *Endocr Rev* (2001) 22(5):605–30. doi:10.1210/edrv.22.5.0441
- Stagnaro-Green A, Glinoer D. Thyroid autoimmunity and risk of miscarriage. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 18:167–81. doi:10.1016/j. beem.2004.03.007
- Harris B, Fung H, Johns S, Kologlu M, Bhatti R, McGregor AM, et al. Transient post-partum thyroid dysfunction and postnatal depression. J Affect Disord (1989) 17:243–9. doi:10.1016/0165-0327(89)90006-2
- Kent GN, Stuckey BG, Allen JR, Lambert T, Gee V. Postpartum thyroid dysfunction: clinical assessment and relationship to psychiatric affective morbidity. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1999) 51:429–38. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.1999. 00807.x
- Lazarus JH. Clinical manifestations of postpartum thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (1999) 9:685–9. doi:10.1089/thy.1999.9.685

- McCoy SJ, Beal M, Payton E, Stewart AL, DeMers AM, Watson GH. Postpartum thyroid measures and depressive symptomology: a pilot study. *J Am Ostheopath Assoc* (2008) 1088:503–7.
- Groer MW, El-Badri N, Djeu J, Williams SN, Kane B, Szekeres K. Suppression of natural killer cell cytotoxicity in postpartum women: time course and potential mechanisms. *Biol Res Nurs* (2013) 16:320–6. doi:10.1177/1099800413498927
- Sylvén SM, Elenis E, Michelakos T, Larsson A, Olovsson M, Poromaa IS, et al. Thyroid function tests at delivery and risk for postpartum depressive symptoms. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2013) 38:1007–13. doi:10.1016/j. psyneuen.2012.10.004
- Lambrinoudaki I, Rizos D, Armeni E, Pliatsika P, Leonardou A, Sygelou A, et al. Thyroid function and postpartum mood disturbances in Greek women. J Affect Disord (2010) 121:278–82. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2009.07.001
- Harris B, Oretti R, Lazarus J, Parkes A, John R, Richards C, et al. Randomised trial of thyroxine to prevent postnatal depression in thyroid-antibody-positive women. *Br J Psychiatry* (2002) 180:327–30. doi:10.1192/bjp.180.4.327
- Anderson G, Maes M. Postpartum depression: psychoneuroimmunological underpinnings and treatment. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2013) 9:277–87. doi:10.2147/NDT.S25320
- Dama M, Steiner M, Lieshout RV. Thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies and perinatal depression risk: a systematic review. J Affect Disord (2016) 198:108–21. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.021
- 63. Stevenson MD, Scope A, Sutcliffe PA, Booth A, Slade P, Parry G, et al. Group cognitive behavioural therapy for postnatal depression: a systematic review

of clinical effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and value of information analyses. *Health Technol Assess* (2010) 14:1-iv. doi:10.3310/hta14440

- Hewitt CE, Gilbody SM. Is it clinically and cost effective to screen for postnatal depression: a systematic review of controlled clinical trials and economic evidence. *BJOG* (2009) 116:1019–27. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2009. 02148.x
- Paulden M, Palmer S, Hewitt C, Gilbody S. Screening for postnatal depression in primary care: cost effectiveness analysis. *BMJ* (2009) 339:b5203. doi:10.1136/bmj.b5203
- 66. Leung SS, Leung C, Lam TH, Hung SF, Chan R, Yeung T, et al. Outcome of a postnatal depression screening programme using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale: a randomized controlled trial. *J Public Health (Oxf)* (2011) 33:292–301. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdq075

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Le Donne, Mento, Settineri, Antonelli and Benvenga. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Involvement in Hepatitis C Virus-Infected Patients with/without Mixed Cryoglobulinemia

Clodoveo Ferri^{1*}, Michele Colaci¹, Poupak Fallahi², Silvia Martina Ferrari², Alessandro Antonelli² and Dilia Giuggioli¹

¹ Chair and Rheumatology Unit, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Modena, Medical School, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy, ²Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

Thyroid involvement is a common condition that can be recorded during the natural course of different systemic rheumatic diseases, including the mixed cryoglobulinemia (MC) syndrome or cryoglobulinemic vasculitis. MC is triggered by hepatitis C virus (HCV) chronic infection in the majority of cases; it represents the prototype of autoimmune-lymphoproliferative disorders complicating a significant proportion of patients with chronic HCV infection. HCV is both hepato- and lymphotropic virus responsible for a great number of autoimmune/lymphoproliferative and/or neoplastic disorders. The complex of HCV-related hepatic and extrahepatic manifestations, including MC and thyroid involvement, may be termed "HCV syndrome." Here, we describe the prevalence and clinico-serological characteristics of thyroid involvement, mainly autoimmune thyroiditis and papillary thyroid cancer, in patients with HCV syndrome with or without cryoglobulinemic vasculitis.

Keywords: hepatitis C virus, thyroid, autoimmune thyroiditis, autoimmunity, cryoglobulinemia, cryoglobulinemic vasculitis, cancer, lymphoma

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroiditis (AT) includes a group of thyroid diseases whose etiopathogenesis is characterized by chronic inflammatory response specifically self-directed against thyroid gland (1–3). Hashimoto's thyroiditis and Graves' disease represent the main pathophysiological and clinical entities of this single organ autoimmune disorder; nonetheless, subclinical thyroid dysfunctions should be considered in the disease spectrum (1, 2). Clinically, AT can lead to both hyper- and hypothyroidism, more often the latter, or it can produce slight, insidious variations of the TSH levels, without overt manifestations (1, 2). Presence of AT in the course of autoimmune systemic diseases, including mixed cryoglobulinemia (MC), is very frequent.

Mixed cryoglobulinemia is a small-vessel vasculitis due to vessel deposition of cryo- and noncryoprecipitable IgG–IgM immune complexes (ICs) and complement, which represent the main pathogenetic mechanism of disease manifestations, such as palpable purpura of the legs, skin ulcers, peripheral polyneuropathy, or glomerulonephritis; moreover, arthralgias, fatigue, sicca syndrome are frequently associated (4–7). The abnormal production of ICs is determined by B cell clone proliferation triggered by hepatitis C virus (HCV) in a small proportion of infected patients (**Figure 1**, left). Besides its well-known hepatic tropism, HCV is able to infect several cell types (including B cells and thyrocytes); therefore, HCV lymphotropism can stimulate autoimmunity due to benign B-lymphocyte expansion or malignant B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [(5–7);

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rauf Latif, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Yoshiyuki Ban, Teikyo University Chiba Medical Center, Japan Syed A. Morshed, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*Correspondence:

Clodoveo Ferri clferri@unimore.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 May 2017 **Accepted:** 23 June 2017 **Published:** 07 July 2017

Citation:

Ferri C, Colaci M, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Antonelli A and Giuggioli D (2017) Thyroid Involvement in Hepatitis C Virus-Infected Patients with/without Mixed Cryoglobulinemia. Front. Endocrinol. 8:159. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00159

112

Ferri et al.



FIGURE 1 | Etiopathogenesis of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-related disorders and HCV syndrome. Left: the etiopathogenesis of HCV syndrome includes both hepatic and extrahepatic disorders. They may develop through a multifactorial and multistep process that includes chronic HCV infection, other potential environmental/toxic triggers, genetically driven host predisposition (particularly HLA alleles, metabolic, and/or hormonal factors), and complex cellular and molecular alterations. From one side, we can observe HCV-driven immune-system alterations with prominent "benign" lymphoproliferation and autoantibody production, from the other side, deeper oncogenetic alterations leading to frank B-cell neoplasias and other malignancies (B-NHL, HCC, and papillary thyroid cancer). These different pathogenetic mechanisms are not mutually exclusive; during long-term follow-up, we can assist in the same HCV-infected patient to the appearance of different organ- and non-organ-specific autoimmune/neoplastic diseases, among which thyroid involvement. HCV antigens (core, envelope E2, NS3, NS4, NS5A proteins) may exert a chronic stimulus on the host immune system. Important pathogenetic steps include high-affinity binding between HCV-E2 and CD81 and consequent t(14;18) translocation with bcl-2 proto-oncogene activation, cross-reaction between particular HCV antigens and host autoantigens (molecular mimicry mechanism), and direct cell infection by HCV responsible for neoplastic cell transformation. The "benign," often subclinical, B-cell proliferation with production of various autoantibodies, among which RF and cryo- and non-cryoprecipitable immune complexes may be frequently observed in chronically HCV-infected individuals. This condition may be the pathological substrate of various organ- and non-organ-specific autoimmune disorders, including thyroid involvement with/without mixed cryoglobulinemia (MC) syndrome or cryoglobulinemic vasculitis. Complicating malignancies can be observed in a small but significant percentage of patients, usually as a late complication of chronic HCV infection; moreover, both autoimmune and neoplastic disorders show a clinico-serological and pathological overlap. Right: schematic reproduction of the so-called "HCV syndrome" that encompasses the variety of HCV-related diseases. The majority of HCV-infected patients may remain totally asymptomatic or complicated by isolated liver involvement; however, a significant proportion of subjects may develop various extrahepatic manifestations that may include a variety of autoimmune/lymphoproliferative and neoplastic disorders; therefore HCV-positive patients are commonly referred to different specialists according the prevalent clinical manifestation(s). A number of HCVinfected patients may be referred early to the rheumatologist because of mild clinical manifestations such as arthralgias/mialgias, sicca syndrome, and/or RF seropositivity. MC syndrome, also termed cryoglobulinemic vasculitis, represents the prototype of extrahepatic, immune-mediated systemic disorder characterized by multiple organ involvement. In this scenario, HCV-related thyroid involvement is one of the most frequent manifestations, isolated or in association with other extrahepatic disorders, mainly cryoglobulinemic vasculitis. RF, rheumatoid factor; NHL, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma; HCC, hepatocellular carcinoma; PCT, porphyria cutanea tarda.

Figure 1, left]. Therefore, HCV patients frequently present a variable combination of different organ and/or systemic autoimmune diseases and neoplasias. The proposed "HCV syndrome" encompasses the complex of both hepatic and extrahepatic disorders [(7); **Figure 1**, right] among which the MC, also called cryoglobulinemic vasculitis, is the pathophysiological and clinical prototype (8).

As deeply described below, AT may be frequently found in HCV patients, with or without MC syndrome, suggesting an

etiopathogenetic role of the virus in a subset of predisposed subjects (9-12).

THYROID DISEASE ASSOCIATED WITH HCV

Thyroid involvement is considered one of the most frequent endocrine disorders in association with chronic HCV infection, independently from the presence of MC (13); in particular, AT may represent a frequent extrahepatic disease in the spectrum of HCV syndrome (4, 7, 13).

A large Italian population-based study published in 2004 (14) investigated the prevalence of AT (including thyroid dysfunction) in a series of 630 HCV patients not treated with interferon (IFN)-alpha, compared with three control groups: 389 individuals from an iodine-deficient area, 268 individuals from an area of iodine sufficiency, and 86 patients with chronic hepatitis B. HCV patients were more likely to have hypothyroidism (13%), anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (TgAb) (17%), and anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies (TPOAb) (21%) than the control groups (14).

A retrospective cohort study (15) analyzing data of users of US Veterans Affairs health-care facilities from 1997 to 2004 (146,394 HCV-infected patients vs. 572,293 HCV negatives) found that thyroiditis risk was slightly increased (adjusted hazard ratio 1.13, 95% CI 1.08–1.18; p < 0.001). It is supposable that the increased AT prevalence was underestimated because of 97% of cases were males, considering that both AT and hypothyroidism are associated with the female gender (12).

Other studies investigating the frequency of AT in smaller HCV patient cohorts were analyzed by Shen et al. in a recent meta-analysis of the world literature on the topic (16). Totally, 1,735 HCV-infected and 1,868 non-HCV subjects were pooled; prevalence of TgAb, TPOAb, and anti-thyroid microsomal antibody were 2.40-, 1.96- and 1.86-fold higher in HCV-positive subjects than in controls. Moreover, the hypothyroidism risk is 3.10 (95% CI 2.19–4.40) in HCV-infected patients.

Up to the recent introduction of new antivirals, the mainstay of HCV treatment was the IFN-alpha in combination with ribavirin. Several HCV patients developed AT as a consequence of IFN therapy, possibly due to the stimulation of antithyroid antibodies production in predisposed subjects (17). Frequently, IFN-related AT resolves within a few months (9).

THYROID DISEASE ASSOCIATED WITH MC

The coexistence of AT and MC has been reported in large cohort studies evaluating the clinico-serological characteristics of HCVinfected patients (15, 18). However, a definite association between these two diseases was first investigated by an Italian case-control prospective study (19), including 93 patients affected by HCVrelated MC, 93 patients with isolated type C hepatitis, and 93 age/sex-matched healthy subjects from the same geographical area as controls. AT, subclinical hypothyroidism, and the presence of isolated specific serum autoantibodies, i.e., TPOAb and/ or TgAb, were more frequent in the first group than the controls (35 vs. 16%, 11 vs. 2%, 31 vs. 12%, respectively). Moreover, higher frequency of AT was recorded among MC patients in comparison with hepatopathic patients (35 vs. 22%), with a significant high prevalence of TPOAb in MC (28 vs. 14%). Finally, hypothyroidism was associated with higher cryocrit and with the presence of other autoantibody positivity, as well as with longer MC duration, presence of proteinuria, or active hepatitis (19).

These findings showed that AT patients exhibited more pronounced autoimmune phenomena and severity of MC, which represents the prototype of autoimmunity in HCV patients (7).

Moreover, a longitudinal study investigating the incidence of AT during the follow-up of 112 MC patients vs. 112 matched controls was recently carried out (20). Of interest, the appearance of new cases of AT were evidenced during the course of HCV infection besides the observed AT at baseline; in particular, after a median of 67 and 96 months of follow-up in the two groups of HCV-positive patients with or without MC, AT was newly reported in 14 MC patients and in three controls; consequently, the overall prevalence of AT was increased up to 33 and 16%, respectively. Moreover, hypothyroidism that was invariably absent at baseline developed in 11 MC patients and three controls (subclinical in 9/11 vs. 2/3, respectively), while no cases of Grave's disease were registered. Interestingly, the logistic regression analysis confirmed that the appearance of hypothyroidism was related to female gender, a well-known risk factor for autoimmunity.

Noteworthy, even the prevalence of papillary thyroid cancer resulted higher in MC compared to hepatitis C patients; namely, the same study found two cases of cancer among MC patients, but none in hepatitis C and healthy controls (19). Subsequently, thyroid cancer was first reported also in patients with HCV infection regardless of the presence of other HCV-related manifestations (21); this finding supported the hypothesis of the oncogenic potential of HCV through the direct infection of thyrocytes with the possible contribution of the pathogenetic process responsible for AT (22, 23). Essentially, this latter reproduces the same multistep process already demonstrated for HCV lymphotropism with "benign" B-cell proliferation and subsequent lymphomagenesis (6, 7).

PATHOGENESIS

Clinico-epidemiological studies largely demonstrated that chronic HCV infection is a relevant risk factor for the development of a number of autoimmune or neoplastic diseases, including thyroid involvement, mainly AT (4, 5, 7–10). Considering this latter manifestation, an important contribute to understand the mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of thyroid disorders was given by Blackard et al. (24), who demonstrated that HCV may infect a human thyroid cell line (ML1), which presents the membrane expression of the important HCV receptor CD81.

Furthermore, several studies by our group reported the upregulation of the CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11 chemokines, as well as IL-6 in the serum of MC patients who also presented AT (25–29). Therefore, it could be hypothesized that HCV may lead toward chronic stimulation of the immune system (**Figure 1**, left), namely the T-helper 1 lymphocytes, which secrete interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha, that in turn perpetuate the immune cascade increasing the levels of the chemokines cited above (**Figure 2**). Finally, the sustained activation of the immune system is at the basis of thyroid immune-mediated damage, leading to AT and other important disorders such as papillary thyroid cancer (21, 22).



chronically HCV-infected patients; the possible etiopathogenetic mechanisms are schematically described in the figure. In genetically predisposed subjects, HCV thyroid infection (1) may lead to the upregulation of CXCL10 gene expression and secretion in thyrocytes (2); this chemokine may promote the recruitment of Th1 lymphocytes, which secrete interferon- γ (IFN γ) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α). These cytokines may in turn induce CXCL10 secretion by thyrocytes (3), thus perpetuating the immune-mediated pathogenetic cascade. The consequence may be the appearance of thyroid disorders; a comparable pathogenetic mechanism may be hypothesized for HCV-driven diabetes type 2.

CONCLUSION

Autoimmune thyroiditis diagnosis is relatively simple and is based on typical laboratory and instrumental findings. The main autoantibodies of AT are the TPOAb and TgAb, while those directed against the TSH receptor are typical of Graves disease (1-3, 8). Histologically, lymphocytes infiltrate the thyroid parenchyma, even forming lymphoid follicles, progressively leading to parenchymal destruction and glandular fibrosis (3); anyway, thyroid biopsy is generally not required for the diagnosis. Instead, ultrasounds are usually important to support the AT diagnosis, identifying heterogeneous pattern of the gland, up to pseudo-nodular feature (1-3). The instrumental followup is obviously important to precociously diagnose the cases of thyroid cancer.

Considering the relative feasibility of AT diagnosis using not expensive or invasive exams, all HCV patients, mainly

REFERENCES

- Yoo WS, Chung HK. Recent advances in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 31:379–85. doi:10.3803/EnM.2016.31.3.379
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Corrado A, Di Domenicantonio A, Fallahi P. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14:174–80. doi:10.1016/ j.autrev.2014.10.016

if affected by MC, should undergo thyroid evaluation periodically.

In the majority of MC patients, AT is a silent part of the clinical picture; otherwise, hypothyroidism, more frequently subclinical, may develop (9, 19, 20). The standard hormone replacement therapy is indicated in symptomatic HCV-associated AT with/ without MC syndrome. HCV eradication is an important therapeutical/preemptive approach to several manifestations of HCV syndrome (30), including thyroid involvement, in particular the rare HCV-related papillary thyroid cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CF: general revision and images drawing. MC: literature review and article writing. PF: literature revision. SF: literature revision. AA: general revision as regards endocrinology. DG: literature review and article writing.

- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. *Autoimmun Rev* (2014) 13:391–7. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2014.01.007
- 4. Ferri C. Mixed cryoglobulinemia. Orphanet J Rare Dis (2008) 3:25. doi:10.1186/1750-1172-3-25
- 5. Ferri C, Sebastiani M, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, Fallahi P, Piluso A, et al. Hepatitis C virus syndrome: a constellation of organ- and non-organ specific

autoimmune disorders, B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and cancer. World J Hepatol (2015) 7:327–43. doi:10.4254/wjh.v7.i3.327

- Zignego AL, Gragnani L, Piluso A, Sebastiani M, Giuggioli D, Fallahi P, et al. Virus-driven autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation: the example of HCV infection. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2015) 11:15–31. doi:10.1586/17446 66X.2015.997214
- Ferri C, Antonelli A, Mascia MT, Sebastiani M, Fallahi P, Ferrari D, et al. HCV-related autoimmune and neoplastic disorders: the HCV syndrome. *Dig Liver Dis* (2007) 39(Suppl 1):S13-21. doi:10.1016/S1590-8658(07)80005-3
- Ferri C, Ramos-Casals M, Zignego AL, Arcaini L, Roccatello D, Antonelli A, et al. International diagnostic guidelines for patients with HCV-related extrahepatic manifestations. A multidisciplinary expert statement. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15:1145–60. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.006
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Corrado A, Fabiani S, Marchi S, et al. Mixed cryoglobulinemia and thyroid autoimmune disorders. *Clin Ter* (2013) 164:e337–41. doi:10.7417/CT.2013.1598
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Politti U, Giuggioli D, Ferri C, Antonelli A. Autoimmune and neoplastic thyroid diseases associated with hepatitis C chronic infection. *Int J Endocrinol* (2014) 2014:935131. doi:10.1155/2014/935131
- Ferrari SM, Fallahi P, Mancusi C, Colaci M, Manfredi A, Ferri C, et al. HCVrelated autoimmune disorders in HCV chronic infection. *Clin Ter* (2013) 164(4):e305–12. doi:10.7417/CT.2013.1594
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Giuggioli D, Manfredi A, Mancusi C, Fabiani S, et al. Thyroid involvement in hepatitis C-associated mixed cryoglobulinemia. *Hormones* (2014) 13:16–23.
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Ferrari SM, Colaci M, Sansonno D, Fallahi P. Endocrine manifestations of hepatitis C virus infection. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 5:26–34. doi:10.1038/ncpendmet1027
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Pampana A, Fallahi P, Nesti C, Pasquini M, et al. Thyroid disorders in chronic hepatitis C. *Am J Med* (2004) 117:10–3. doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2004.01.023
- Giordano TP, Henderson L, Landgren O, Chiao EY, Kramer JR, El-Serag H, et al. Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and lymphoproliferative precursor diseases in US veterans with hepatitis C virus. *JAMA* (2007) 297:2010–7. doi:10.1001/jama.297.18.2010
- Shen Y, Wang XL, Xie JP, Shao JG, Lu YH, Zhang S, et al. Thyroid disturbance in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis (2016) 25:227–34. doi:10.15403/jgld.2014.1121.252.chc
- Tomer Y, Blackard JT, Akeno N. Interferon alpha treatment and thyroid dysfunction. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2007) 36:1051–66. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2007.07.001
- Codes L, de Freitas LA, Santos-Jesus R, Vivitski L, Silva LK, Trepo C, et al. Comparative study of hepatitis C virus genotypes 1 and 3 in Salvador, Bahia Brazil. *Braz J Infect Dis* (2003) 7:409–17. doi:10.1590/S1413-86702003000600009
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Fallahi P, Giuggioli D, Nesti C, Longombardo G, et al. Thyroid involvement in patients with overt HCV-related mixed cryoglobulinaemia. QIM (2004) 97:499–506. doi:10.1093/qjmed/hch088
- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Giuggioli D, Colaci M, et al. Incidence of thyroid disorders in mixed cryoglobulinemia: results from a longitudinal follow-up. Autoimmun Rev (2016) 15:747–51. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2016.03.012

- Wang P, Jing Z, Liu C, Xu M, Wang P, Wang X, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection and risk of thyroid cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arab J Gastroenterol* (2017) 18:1–5. doi:10.1016/j.ajg.2017.01.003
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Ferrari SM, Colaci M, Fallahi P. Immunopathogenesis of HCV-related endocrine manifestations in chronic hepatitis and mixed cryoglobulinemia. *Autoimmun Rev* (2008) 8:18–23. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2008.07.017
- Akeno N, Blackard JT, Tomer Y. HCV E2 protein binds directly to thyroid cells and induces IL-8 production: a new mechanism for HCV induced thyroid autoimmunity. J Autoimmun (2008) 31:339–44. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2008.08.001
- 24. Blackard JT, Kong L, Huber AK, Tomer Y. Hepatitis C virus infection of a thyroid cell line: implications for pathogenesis of HCV and thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (2012) 23:863–70. doi:10.1089/thy.2012.0507
- 25. Antonelli A, Ferri C, Ferrari SM, De Marco S, Di Domenicantonio A, Centanni M, et al. Interleukin-1β, C-x-C motif ligand 10, and interferon-gamma serum levels in mixed cryoglobulinemia with or without autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2010) 30:835–42. doi:10.1089/jir.2010.0024
- Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Colaci M, Giuggioli D, Saraceno G, et al. Increased CXCL9 serum levels in hepatitis C-related mixed cryoglobulinemia, with autoimmune thyroiditis, associated with high levels of CXCL10. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2013) 33:739–45. doi:10.1089/jir.2012.0091
- 27. Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Sebastiani M, Manfredi A, Mazzi V, et al. Circulating CXCL11 and CXCL10 are increased in hepatitis C-associated cryoglobulinemia in the presence of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Mod Rheumatol* (2012) 22:659–67. doi:10.1007/s10165-011-0565-x
- Antonelli A, Ferri C, Ferrari SM, Di Domenicantonio A, Ferrari P, Pupilli C, et al. The presence of autoimmune thyroiditis in mixed cryoglobulinemia patients is associated with high levels of circulating interleukin-6, but not of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2011) 29(1 Suppl 64):S17–22.
- Antonelli A, Ferrari SM, Frascerra S, Pupilli C, Mancusi C, Metelli MR, et al. CXCL9 and CXCL11 chemokines modulation by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha agonists secretion in Graves' and normal thyrocytes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95(12):E413–20. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-0923
- Zignego AL, Ramos-Casals M, Ferri C, Saadoun D, Arcaini L, Roccatello D, et al. International therapeutic guidelines for patients with HCV-related extrahepatic disorders. A multidisciplinary expert statement. *Autoimmun Rev* (2017) 16:523–41. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2017.03.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: All the authors declare the absence of any relationship with a commercial company that has a direct financial interest in subject matter or materials discussed in article or with a company making a competing product.

The reviewer, SM, and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Ferri, Colaci, Fallahi, Ferrari, Antonelli and Giuggioli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

